Risk Assessment Report Arsenic in foods (Chemicals and Contaminants)

Food Safety Commission Japan (FSCJ) October 2013

Contents

	Page
Chronology of Discussions	
List of members of the Food Safety Commission	
List of members of the EPCC, the Food Safety Commission	
Executive summary	
I. Background	
II. Outline of the Substances under Assessment	
1. Physiochemical properties	
(1) Metallic arsenic	
(2) Inorganic arsenic compounds	
(3) Organic arsenic compounds	
(4) Analytical methods for arsenic	
2. Major use and production	
3. Distribution and dynamics in the environment	
(1) Air	
(2) Soil	
(3) The waters, bottom sediment, ground water	
(4) House dust	
(5) Arsenic circulation in ecosystem	
4. Current regulations and others	
III. Exposure in human	
1. Oral exposure	32
(1) Exposure from food	
(2) Estimation of oral exposure	
2. Inhalation exposure	
IV. Summary of safety data	
1. Pharmacokinetics	
(1) Absorption	
(2) Distribution	45
(3) Metabolism	47
(4) Excretion	
2. Effect of inorganic arsenic compounds	
(1) Effect in humans	
(2) Effect on experimental animals	
3. Effect of organic arsenic compounds	
(1) Effect on humans	
(2) Effect on experimental animals	
4. Effect of synthetic organic arsenic compounds	
(1) Effect on humans	
(2) Effect on experimental animals	102
5. Genotoxicity	105
(1) Effect on humans	105
(2) Effect on experimental animals	
6. Mechanism of toxicity	
(1) Gene mutation, chromosome aberration, DNA damage	
(2) Changes in DNA repair	138

(3) Changes in DNA methylation	
(4) Cell transformation	
(5) Changes in cell proliferation	
(6) Changes in cellular signal transduction	
(7) Changes in binding to steroid receptors and gene expression	
(8) Gene amplification	
(9) Acceleration of mutation and genotoxicity	141
V. Evaluation in international organizations	
1. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)	
2. FAO/WHO Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA)	
3. World Health Organization (WHO) Guidelines for drinking-water	
4. United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)	
(1) Inorganic arsenic	
(2) Organic arsenic	
5. European Food Safety Authority (EFSA)	
6. Japan	
(1) The Revision of Drinking-water Quality Standards, the Health Science	e Council,
Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare	
(2) New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization (N	· · · ·
(3) Health Risk Subcommittee, Atmospheric Environment Committee, the	
Environment Council, Ministry of the Environment (reference)	
(4) Committee for Recommendation of Occupational Exposure Limits, Ja	-
Society for Occupational Health (reference)	
VI. Risk Assessment (extracted from Part III of the original risk assessment repo	rt) 151
1. Pharmacokinetics	
2. Toxicity	
3. Exposure level	
4. Dose-dependent assessment	
(1) Applying the NOAEL/LOAEL method and BMD method	
(2) Non-carcinogenic effects	
(3) Carcinogenic effects	
(4) Estimation of daily intake of inorganic arsenic in the area with contain	
drinking-water	
5. Summary and issues to be solved	
<appendix: abbrebiation.=""></appendix:>	
<references></references>	

Chronology of Discussions

Revision of Drinking-water Quality Standards

1	July	2003	Risk assessment of the Revision of Drinking-water Quality Stand- ards was requested from the Health Science Council, Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (Shokuan-No. 0701015 notified by the
			Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare)
3	July	2003	Relevant documents were received.
18	July	2003	The 3rd Meeting of the Food Safety Commission (explanation of
	-		MHLW's request outline)
8	October	2003	Additional documents were accepted
			-

Self-tasking risk assessment

0011			
19	March	2009	The 278th Meeting of the Food Safety Commission (decided to con-
			duct as self-tasking risk assessments)
11	June	2009	The 5th Board Meeting of the Expert Panel on Chemicals and Con-
			taminants (EPCC)
20	August	2009	The 3rd Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
27	January	2010	The 4th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
19	January	2011	The 5th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
10	March	2011	The 6th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
15	February	2012	The 7th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
4	July	2012	The 8th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
15	March	2013	The 5th Meeting of the EPCC
25	June	2013	The 9th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
30	July	2013	The 10th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
30	August	2013	The 11th Meeting of the Division of Contaminants, EPCC
30	August	2013	The 11th Board Meeting of the EPCC
28	October	2013	The 492nd Meeting of the Food Safety Commission (Report)
			(Notice to the Minister of Health, Labour and Welfare dated the
			same date)

List of members of the Food Safety Commission Japan (FSCJ)

Up to 30 June 2009

Takeshi Mikami, Chairperson of FSCJ Naoko Koizumi, Deputy Chairperson Taku Nagao Masao Hirose Kazumasa Nomura Keiko Hatae Seiichi Honma

Up to 30 June 2012

Naoko Koizumi, Chairperson of FSCJ Susumu Kumagai, Deputy Chairperson Taku Nagao

Up to 6 January 2011

Naoko Koizumi, Chairperson of FSCJ Takeshi Mikami, Deputy Chairperson Taku Nagao Masao Hirose Kazumasa Nomura Keiko Hatae Masatsune Murata

From 1 July 2012

Susumu Kumakgai, Chairperson of FSCJ Hiroshi Satoh, Deputy Chairperson Yasushi Yamazoe, Deputy Chairperson Masao Hirose Kazumasa Nomura Keiko Hatae Masatsune Murata Kunitoshi Mitsumori, Deputy Chairperson Katsue Ishii Kiyoko Kamiyasuhira Masatsune Murata

List of members of the EPCC, the Food Safety Commission Japan (FSCJ)

Up to 30 September, 2011

Hiroshi Satoh, Chairperson Masae Tatematsu, Deputy Chairperson Yasunobu Aoki Masanori Ando Ginji Endo Yoko Endo Toshihiro Ohta Takashi Kawamura Yoshito Kumagai Makoto Shibutani Tomoyuki Shirai Shoichiro Tsugane Keiko Teramoto Chiharu Tohyama Katsuhiko Nakamuro Ryuich Hasegawa Ken'ichi Hanaoka Akihiko Hirose Katsuyuki Murata Akemi Yasui Hiroshi Yamauchi Kenzo Yamanaka Jun Yoshinaga Hideki Wanibuchi

Up to 26 November 2012

Hiroshi Satoh, Chairperson Ryuichi Hasegawa, Deputy Chairperson Yasunobu Aoki Ginji Endo Yoko Endo Fujio Kayama Yoshito Kumagai Makoto Shibutani Tomoyuki Shirai Tomotaka Sobue Ryota Tanaka Keiko Teramoto Chiharu Tohyama Katsuhiko Nakamuro Akihiko Hirose Kenichi Masumura Katsuyuki Murata Akemi Yasui Jun Yoshinaga Hideki Wanibuchi

Up to 30 September 2013

Ginji Endo, Chairperson Ryuichi Hasegawa, Deputy Chairperson Yasunobu Aoki Yoko Endo Fujio Kayama Yoshito Kumagai Makoto Shibutani Tomoyuki Shirai Tomotaka Sobue Ryota Tanaka Keiko Teramoto Chiharu Tohyama Katsuhiko Nakamuro Akihiko Hirose Tetsuhito Fukushima Kenichi Masumura Katsuyuki Murata Akemi Yasui Jun Yoshinaga Hideki Wanibuchi

Special Advisers, the EPCC

The 7th Meeting of the EPCC Takashi Kawamura Ken'ichi Hanaoka Hiroshi Yamauchi Kenzo Yamanaka

The 9th Meeting of the EPCC Kazuhiko Takahashi Ken'ichi Hanaoka Kenzo Yamanaka

The 11th Meeting of the EPCC Takashi Kawamura Kazuhiko Takahashi Ken'ichi Hanaoka The 8th Meeting of the EPCC Takashi Kawamura Ken'ichi Hanaoka Kenzo Yamanaka

The 10th Meeting of EPCC Takashi Kawamura Kazuhiko Takahashi Ken'ichi Hanaoka

Executive Summary

FSCJ conducted risk assessment of arsenic in food, as a self-tasking assessment and as a risk assessment related to revision of the standards for beverages, based on data from various studies, epidemiological surveys and others.

The data used in the assessment were on toxicokinetics, acute toxicity, chronic toxicity, carcinogenicity reproductive and developmental toxicity, genotoxicity and others of inorganic arsenic compounds, organic arsenic compounds and synthesized organic arsenic compounds.

According to the epidemiologic surveys in the area with a long term intake of drinking water contaminated with arsenic, noncarcinogenic effects of inorganic arsenic exposure, such as skin lesion, neurodevelopmental, reproductive and developmental effects, were observed depending on the inorganic arsenic concentration in drinking-water. Among these, skin lesion was the adverse effect observed at the lowest concentration. The lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) was 7.6-125 μ g/L and the 95% confidence limit of benchmark concentration at which the incident rate increases 5% (BMCL₀₅) was 19.5-54.1 μ g/L.

Also, cancers such as lung tumor, urinary bladder tumor and others and genotoxicity such as chromosomal aberration due to inorganic arsenic exposure were observed in human. Although implication of genotoxicity in the carcinogenic effect of inorganic arsenic exposure is suggested, none of the currently available data is conclusive for the direct effect of arsenic on DNA. In addition, animal study in rodents suggested that the carcinogenesis by arsenic exposure is attributable to DNA aberration induced by indirect interaction of arsenic but not to the direct interaction of arsenic with DNA which produces an adduct such as point mutation. Although a threshold mechanism may be assumed on the basis of these points, the data is insufficient at this particular stage.

Hence, FSCJ concluded that threshold of carcinogenicity in arsenic exposure cannot be determined.

In this assessment, the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) (or LOAEL) and the 95% confidence limit of benchmark dose (BMDL) of inorganic arsenic were calculated by adding arsenic intake via diet to the intake by drinking-water based on the above mentioned epidemiologic surveys of long-term intake of arsenic contaminated water as follows. LOAEL of 4.3-5.2 µg/kg body weight/day and BMDL05 of 4.0-4.2 µg/kg body weight/day for skin lesion; NO-AEL of 3.0-4.1 µg/kg body weight/day for effect on nervous system (decreased IQ); NOAEL of 8.8-11.1 µg/kg body weight/day for effect on reproduction and development; NOAEL of 4.1-4.9 µg/kg body weight/day for lung tumor; NOAEL of 5.0-12.1 µg/kg body weight/day and BMDL01 of 9.7-13.5 µg/kg body weight/day for tumor of urinary bladder .

However, in calculation of the NOAEL or BMDL based on the epidemiological surveys, daily intake of inorganic arsenic generally tends to be underestimated, because food items used to estimate arsenic intake were limited. Moreover, in some cases of high exposure through drinking water, the exposure through foods is even higher. Thus FSCJ considered the estimated values to be possibly with non-negligible variation.

Meanwhile, the estimated intake of inorganic arsenic in the cases of the people having normal life and not being exposed excessively by accident or contaminations was 0.130-0.674 μ g/kg body weight/day as the average from several duplicated diet studies in Japan. The survey by FSCJ in 2013, which is one of these diet studies, showed the mean value of 0.315 μ g/kg body weight/day and 95 percentile value of 0.754 μ g/kg body weight/day.

Each value of NOAEL/LOAEL and the estimated intake of inorganic arsenic probably contain uncertainties. However, both values are close. Thus, some Japanese population with high exposure may have intake above the value of NOAEL or LOAEL that are estimated in this assessment.

It is necessary to examine whether it is appropriate to estimate the total inorganic arsenic intake from the arsenic concentration in drinking-water of the arsenic contaminated area. It is also necessary to examine whether it is appropriate to apply the result of dose-response assessment based on the surveys where exposure through drinking water is substantial to Japan where the people scarcely intake arsenic from drinking-water. Also, there are still many problems to be solved to conduct the detailed risk assessment in which tolerable daily intake (TDI) is evaluated by estimating NOAEL or BMDL and unit risk is calculated. For example, the effects from the several factors associated with the difference in dietary habit, environment, sanitation, medical care system, and lifestyles, may be related to the difference in health effects of inorganic arsenic exposure. The effects of smoking or other chemical compounds on the health effects which derived from inorganic arsenic exposure are mostly unknown.

If there is a lack of data on carcinogenic mechanism which is required for hazard assessment, and if the uncertainty in exposure assessment is high, unknown factors have been involved in the risk assessment even the latest scientific evidences are used. These situations are considered to be the cause of the gap between the estimation and the reality. If there is a discrepancy between the result of the assessment on a hazardous substance and the current situation in Japan, the real situation should be taken as a basis for the consideration.

Therefore, epidemiological studies on the population with arsenic exposure in an ordinary life and studies on mechanisms for the toxicity will be required to support the exposure assessment or the dose-response data, with evidences such as actual exposure situation in Japan and the arsenic exposure through food intake. Also, further information on the toxicities of organic arsenic compounds are required because the data on toxicological effects of organic arsenic compounds for assessment of food safety risk are insufficient.

I. Background

Food Safety Commission of Japan (FSCJ) conducts risk assessment at the requests from risk management organizations but occasionally it implements a risk assessment on its own decision, self-tasking risk assessments.

Candidate substances for FSCJ's self-tasking risk assessments are selected by the Planning Expert Panel based on priority in risk assessment on possible hazards in food, from among substances which are considered to have a major influence on public health, or which highly necessitate the identification of hazards, or whose assessment needs are particularly high. Substances for discretionary assessments are then determined by the FSCJ, after collecting opinions and information from the public and following other relevant procedures.

A risk assessment of arsenic in foods (organic arsenic and inorganic arsenic) as a chemical substance in the revision of the standards for soft drinks has been requested by the Minister of Health, Labour and Welfare in 2003. As arsenic is contained in various foods, it is required to target entire foods for assessment and to conduct risk assessment based on the forms of arsenic. Because of these reasons, FSCJ decided at the meeting of the 278th commission on March 19, 2009, to conduct self-tasking risk assessment of arsenic in foods and discussion and investigation were started.

II. Outline of the Substances under Assessment

1. Physicochemical property

Arsenic is metalloid and generally exists as a simple substance (metallic arsenic) and as compounds binding with other elements in the environment (ATSDR 2007). Arsenic compounds are classified into organic arsenic compounds in which carbon directly binds to arsenic, and into inorganic arsenic compounds, the compounds other than organic arsenic compounds. In this report, arsenic as a simple substance is expressed as metallic arsenic. The names in Table 2 are used for inorganic arsenic compounds, and the abbreviations in Table 3 are used for organic arsenic compounds. Trivalent arsenic and pentavalent arsenic are expressed as As(III) and As(V), respectively.

In addition, the weight of an arsenic element calculated from the weight of arsenic compound is expressed as μ g As.

(1) Metallic arsenic

Arsenic belongs to group 15 in the periodic table of elements and its chemical property is similar to that of phosphorus (EFSA 2009). Its property does not change in the air at room temperature. It has 3 allotropic forms of yellow, gray, and black (Iwanami rikagaku jiten 1998). Table 1 shows the physicochemical property of major metallic arsenic (NCBI 2004; NIH 1994; The Merck Index 2006; Iwanami rikagaku jiten 1998).

Substance name	Arsenic			
Substance name	Yellow arsenic	Grey arsenic	Black arsenic	
IUPAC name		Arsenic		
CAS registered number		7440-38-2		
Chemical for- mula		As		
Structural for- mula		As		
Molecular weight	74.9216			
Form	Cubic crystal	Trigonal crystal	Amorphous	
Color	Yellow	Gray with metallic lustre	Black	
Odor	Garlic odor	-	-	
Melting point (°C)	-	818 (36 atm)	-	
Boiling point (°C)	-	615 (Sublimation point)	-	
Density (m ³)	1.97	5.778 (25°C /4°C)	4.73	
Solubility	Carbon disulfide: Soluble 80 µg/g (20°C)	Water: Insoluble	_	
Others	Metastable, produced by cryocondensation of arse- nic steam, has a smell like garlic; is transparent, waxy and soft. It becomes gray arsenic by ultraviolet irra- diation.	It is formed into diarsenic tri- oxide or arsenic acid by nitric acid or hot sulfuric acid.		

Table 1 Physicochemical property of metallic arsenic

(Quoted from NCBI 2004; NIH 1994; The Merck Index 2006; Iwanami rikagaku jiten 1998)

(2) Inorganic arsenic compounds

Among inorganic arsenic compounds, diarsenic trioxide is a major compound that is produced and used (Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation, 2011). Diarsenic trioxide turns into weak acid, arsenite (H₃AsO₃), when it is dissolved and exists as arsenite in foods and *in vivo*. Therefore, in this report, diarsenic trioxide is assessed as arsenite.

Table 2 shows physicochemical property of major inorganic arsenic compounds. (NCBI 2004; NIH 1994; The Merck Index 2006; Iwanami rikagaku jiten 1998).

Valence				Trivalent	•
Substance name	Diarsenic trioxide (Arsenic trioxide)		(Arsenic trioxide) (hydrogen arsenide)		Gallium Arsenide
	Arsenolight	Claudetite	Amorphous		
IUPAC name	arser	nic(3+); oxyger	n(2-)	arsane	gallanylidynearsane
CAS registered number		1327-53-3		7784-42-1	1303-00-0
Chemical for- mula		As_2O_3		AsH ₃	GaAs
Structural for- mula		As As		H As I H	Ga <u>—</u> As
Molecular weight		197.84		77.95	144.64
Form	Cubic crys- tal	Monoclinic crystals	Amorphous with 8 rhombuses	Gas	Cubic crystal
Color	White	Colorless	Colorless	Colorless	Gray, Gray with metallic lus- tre
Odor	Odorless	-	-	Unpleasant garlic odor	Garlic odor when it is damp- ened
Melting point (°C°)	275	313	-	-117	1238
Boiling point (°C)	465	-	-	-62.5	-
Density (g/cm ³)	3.86	3.74	-	3,186 µg/L (gas)	5.3176 (25°C)
Solubility	Water: 20.5 g/L (25°C), 17 g/L (16°C) Cold water: Dissolved slowly 15 parts boiling water, dilute hydrochloric, alkali hydroxide solution, carbonate aque- ous solution: soluble Alcohol, chloroform, ether : practically insoluble Glycerin: soluble, Claudetite, dilute acid, alkali: soluble.			Water: 0.28 g/L (20°C) Absorbed in potassium permanganate solution or bromine water.	Water: < 1 g/L (20°C) DMSO, 95% ethanol, metha- nol, acetone: < 1 g/g hydrochloric acid: soluble
0.1	alkalı: soluble Ethanol: insolu	,			
Others	-			Oxidized in the air and produces As ₂ O ₂ . Decomposed to arsenic and hydrogen at 300°C.	-
				Vapor density: $2.7 (air = 1)$	

Table 2 Physicochemical property of major inorganic arsenic compounds

Valence		Pentavalent	
Substance name	Arsenic acid	Arsenic pentoxide	Calcium arsenate
IUPAC name	arsonic acid	-	-
CAS registered number	7778-39-4	1303-28-2	7778-44-1
Chemical for- mula	AsH ₃ O ₄	As ₂ O ₅	As ₂ Ca ₃ O ₈
Structural formula	O II HO-As-OH I OH	$\begin{array}{c} 0 > 0 \\ As \end{array} \xrightarrow{0} As \end{array} \xrightarrow{0} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0$	$3Ca^{2+}\begin{bmatrix}0\\\\\\\\-O-As-O-\\\\\\\\O-\end{bmatrix}_2$
Molecular weight	141.94	229.84	398.07
Form	Hygroscopic crystals (1/2 hy- drate)	Amorphous mass or powder	Amorphous powder
Color	White translucent (1/2 hydrate)	White	White
Odor	-	-	Odorless
Melting point (°C)	35	-	(Dissolved)
Boiling point (°C)	160 (1/2hydrate)	-	-
Density (g/cm ³)	2.2	4.32	3.620
Solubility	Water: 590 g/L, 3,020,000 µg/L (12.5 °C, 1/2 hy- drate) Water, alcohol, glycerin: easily soluble (1/2 hydrate)	Water: 658 g/L (20 °C), 2,300 g/L (20 °C) Ethanol: soluble Acid, alkali: soluble	Water: 0.13 g/L (25 °C) Dilute acid: soluble Organic solvent: insoluble
Others	Exists only as hydrate. Exists only in solvent. Hydrate loses water molecule at ≥ 160 °C.	Decomposed at 300 °C.	-

(Quoted from NCBI 2004; NIH 1994; The Merck Index 2006; Iwanami rikagaku jiten 1998)

(3) Organic arsenic compounds

(i) Organic arsenic compounds existing in animals and plants

In the world of nature, inorganic arsenic is methylated and monomethyl arsenic compound, dimethyl arsenic compound, trivalent methylated arsenic species, and tetramethyl arsenic compound exist in animals and plants. Table 3 shows physicochemical property of major organic arsenic compounds (NCBI 2004; NIH 1994; The Merck Index 2006; Kagakudaijiten 1963).

	Monomethyl ar- sonic acid	Methyl arsonous acidMMA(III)	Dimethyl arsenic acid (Cacodylic acid)	Dimethyl arsinous acid	Trimethyl arsine oxide	Arsenobetaine	Arsenocholine	Tetramethyl arsonium
IUPAC name	MMA(V) methylarsonic acid	methylarsonous acid	DMA(V) dimethylarsinic acid	DMA(III) dimethylarsinous acid	TMAO dimethylarsoryl methane	AsBe 2-trimethylarsoniumyl acetate	AsC 2-hydroxyethyl (trimethyl) arsanium	TeMA Tetramethyl arsanium
CAS registered number	124-58-3	-	75-60-5	-	4964-14-1	64436-13-1	39895-81-3	-
Chemical for- mula	CH ₅ AsO ₃	CH ₅ AsO ₂	C ₂ H ₇ AsO ₂	C ₂ H ₇ AsO	C ₃ H ₉ AsO	$C_5H_{11}AsO_2$	C ₅ H ₁₄ AsO	$C_4H_{12}As$
Structural for- mula	OH CH ₃ -As = 0 OH	-	CH ₃ I CH ₃ -As = O I OH	-	CH_{3} $CH_{3}^{-}As = O$ $CH_{3}^{-}H_{3}$	CH ₃ CH ₃ ⁻ As ⁺ -CH ₂ COO ⁻ CH ₃	СН ₃ - + СН ₃ -Аs ⁺ -СН ₂ СН ₂ ОН - СН ₃	CH ₃ ⊢ CH ₃ [−] As ⁺ − CH ₃ CH ₃
Molecular Wt.	139.97	123.95	138.00	122.00	136.03	178.06	165.09	135.06
Form	Monoclinic crys- tals, Leading frame shaped plate (from absolute alcohol)	-	Triclinic crystal	-		-	-	-
Color	White	-	Colorless	-		-	-	-
Odor	-	-	Odorless	-		-	-	-
Melting point (°C)	161	-	195-196	-		-	-	-
Boiling point (°C)	-	-	> 200	-		-	-	-
Density(g/cm ³)	-	-	-	-		-	-	-
Solubility	Water: 256 g/L (20°C) Ethanol: soluble	-	Water: 2,000 g/L (25°C) Acetic acid: soluble Ethanol: soluble diethyl ether: insoluble	-		-	-	-
Others	Acidity sourness Strong diprotic acid	-	-	-		Slightly soluble in acid	-	

TT 1 1 A D1 · 1 · 1		c ·	•	•	1
Table 3 Physicochemical	property	of major	organic ar	senic con	mounds
1 uole 5 1 hysicoenenneur	property	or major	organie ur	Senne com	ipounus

(Quoted from NCBI 2004; NIH 1994; The Merck Index 2006; Kagakudaijiten 1963)

(ii) Organic arsenic compounds in marine ecosystem

In a marine ecosystem, organic arsenic compounds exist in different chemical forms that are categorized into water-soluble and lipid-soluble organic arsenic compounds.

Liquid Chromatography Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (LC-AAS) and Liquid Chromatography-Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectrometry (LC-ICP-AES) has been used for analyzing various complicated chemical forms of organic arsenic compounds contained in marine organisms. Recently, Liquid Chromatography-Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (LC-ICP-MS) with higher sensitivity has been developed and widely used (Inoue et al. 1996). Arsenic contained in marine organisms has been studied for many years as one of major sources for arsenic intake form food in Japan. Although these studies for years has accumulated information on arsenic in marine organisms, it is not sufficient yet. Figure 1 shows major organic arsenic compounds that exist in marine ecosystem (Hanaoka 2011). Among these, arsenosugar is known to exist as tertiary alkylarsine oxides and quaternary alkylarsoniums.







Figure 1 Major organic arsenic compounds in marine ecosystem

(Quoted from Hanaoka 2011)

(4) Analytical methods for arsenic

There are two main methods for analysis of arsenic: the method for total arsenic and the method for arsenic by different chemical forms. In both analysis, arsenic is detected mainly by atomic spectrometry such as atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS), atomic fluorescence spectrometry (AFS), ICP-atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES), and ICP-MS

(i) Analytical methods for total arsenic

While chemical staining techniques such as the Gutzeit method or the silver diethyldithiocarbamate method have been used as the official analytical method for the total arsenic in beverages or crops, the Food Sanitation Act designated to enable the use of methods that are confirmed to have the same or higher efficiency. Thus, hydride generation AAS (HGAAS) and hydride generation ICP (HGICP) -AES have been used for a long period as an analytical method for total arsenic in foods. Product standards for beverages designated HGAAS or flameless-AAS as test methods. In analysis of total arsenic in foods, generally the samples are decomposed by acidic cleavage to change all forms of arsenic into inorganic arsenic ion, and the arsenic ions are detected following hydride generation or without hydride generation. In addition, a direct analysis method by ICP-MS which is not coupled with hydride generation has been available more recently.

The selection of decomposition method for pretreatment of samples is very critical in the total arsenic analysis by HGAAS or HGICP. Some organic arsenic compounds are hardly decomposable to inorganic arsenic in ordinal temperature of acidic cleavage (up to 200°C). AsBe compounds cannot be decomposed by 100% unless the compounds are decomposed by heating with nitric acid, sulfuric acid, or perchloric acid at a temperature around 320°C (Narukawa et al. 2005). If acidic cleavage of a sample is insufficient, total arsenic analysis by HGAAS or HGICP will underestimate arsenic because undecomposed organic arsenic compounds do not form hydride. In contrast, the analysis method which does not depend on hydride generation does not require such complete decomposition.

a. Atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS)

In AAS, arsenic compounds in the samples are atomized in chemical flame or an electrothermal quartz tube or in a graphite furnace, and the absorption of light of a specific wave length which is absorbed by arsenic is measured. In HGAAS, inorganic arsenic in the sample is converted to gaseous arsine (AsH₃) by a strong reducing agent and is led into an electrothermal quartz tube where it is atomized and then atomic absorption by arsenic is measured. HGAAS is advantageous in terms of high efficiency of transferring gaseous substances into metal atomizer and of high sensitivity. Also it is advantageous to exhibit no spectral interference because it is separated from other sample matrix.

HGAAS has been the most common method for measurement of the total arsenic amount in foods since the 1970's to 1980's, and is still widely used. The lower detection limit for arsenic in food by HGAAS is approximately $0.02 \ \mu g \ As/g$ (dry weight).

Two types of methods for measuring arsenic in foods by HGAAS are used as the standard in Europe (CEN 2005; CEN 2006). These 2 types of methods are different only in their procedures for decomposition of samples.

Electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry (ETAAS) is also called graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry (GFAAS). It is a method where arsenic in the small amount of sample solution (in general 10-20 μ L) is atomized in an electrothermal graphite tube. Although ETAAS is generally regarded as a highly sensitive analysis method, a time-consuming

and careful pretreatment is required due to the effect of sample matrix. This method is recognized in Europe as a standard method of measuring total arsenic in marine products, and it has been used in a joint study where the arsenic in 8 types of marine product samples were detected within the range of 2.3-79 μ g As/g (dry weight) (Julshamn et al. 2000). The lower detection limit of this analytical method is 0.1 μ g As/g (dry weight) (Julshamn et al. 2000). In Japan, this method is used for analysis of tap water but it has not been applied to drainage with complicated sample composition, environment samples, or to foods.

b. Atomic fluorescence spectrometry (AFS)

In AFS, the fluorescence of a specific wavelength emitted from the atom in vapor, which is exited to a high energy state by the excitation wave of specific wavelength, is measured.

Combination of HGAFS with a hydride generation process provides highly sensitive quantitative measurement of arsenic at the concentration as low as 0.01 μ g As/g or less (Vilano and Rubio 2001). However, this method is not popular in Japan and the use is limited.

c. Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectrometry (ICP-AES)

Inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) is a method widely used for trace element analysis, although it is not particularly sensitive to arsenic, and is not commonly used for the measurement of arsenic in foods. Principle of atomic emission spectrometry is to detect light of the atom specific wave length which is emitted by the atom when the objective atom returns to a low energy state from a high energy state brought by thermal excitation in excitation source. Because of its high temperature, ICP is superior as an excitation source. It has been reported that ICP combined with hydride generation, HGICP, is highly sensitive and hardly affected by spectrum interference, and has a lower detection limit of approximately $0.015 \ \mu g \ As/g (dry weight)$ (Boutakhrit et al. 2005).

d. Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS)

Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) has been established as a principle method for trace element analysis in foods because of its high sensitivity and its wide and dynamic range. An element in samples is dissociated, atomized, and ionized by high energy argon plasma (8,000 K) and detected selectively by mass spectrometer. Arsenic is monoisotopic with a mass number of 75.

ICP-MS is widely used for the measurement of arsenic in foods. For example, from the result of statistical analysis in the recent study which analyzed arsenic in foods by ICP-MS, ICP-MS was considered to be relevant for analysis of elements (Julshamn et al. 2007). ICP-MS is a highly sensitive method for arsenic which can detect arsenic at the level of 0.01 µg

As/g (dry weight), and it is an easy and highly reliable method for analysis of arsenic in foods (EFSA 2009).

In general, the effect from matrix is not a big problem to the arsenic measurement by ICP-MS. However, the sample solution with total salt concentration of $\geq 0.1\%$ (mass/volume) may have non-spectral interference and may cause spectral interference by coexisting chloride ion by forming ArCl⁺ (m/z 75, same nominal mass of As⁺) in argon plasma of ICP-MS. This interference can be eliminated by collision and reaction cell technologies and this technology was introduced to many ICP-MS in recent years. In order to eliminate the effect of chloride interference as much as possible, ICP-MS may be used with hydride formation. The lower quantitative limit can be obtained by HG-ICP-MS as compared to the conventional ICP-MS. However, not much improvement can be found as compared to the drastic improvement found in the comparison in sensitivity between HG-AAS and conventional AAS (EFSA 2009).

(ii) Chemical speciation

Since toxicity of arsenic largely differs by its chemical species, the determination of arsenic in foods by chemical species has been recognized to be necessary for years. Chemical speciation of arsenic has two steps: separation of arsenic compounds and detection of compounds which has been separated. There are 2 methods for separation, i.e. hydride generation and liquid chromatography. Generally, one of the atomic spectrometry mentioned in (i) is used for detection.

a. Chemical speciation by hydride generation method

A hydride generation method had been used for chemical speciation of arsenic in the 1970's and 1980's. Reduction of inorganic arsenic (arsenic acid, arsonous acid), MMA, and DMA with sodium tetraborate produces gaseous hydrides such as arsine (AsH₃), methylarsine (CH₃AsH₂), and dimethylarsine ((CH₃)₂AsH) respectively. Boiling points of these gaseous hydrides are -55°C, 2°C and 35.6°C respectively, and principle of HG method is based on this difference in the boiling point of each. In this chemical speciation method, hydride generated from sample solution is trapped at the liquid nitrogen temperature first, and then hydride of each form is led to the detector by gradual rising in temperature for quantification (Anawar 2012). TMAO also forms hydride. Instead of separation by boiling point, gas chromatograph may be used. Arsenic acid and arsenous acid can be separated by adjusting pH of the sample solution. However, it is disadvantage of this method that the optimal condition for hydridegeneration of each chemical species are different, and that actual biological and environmental samples have constituents which inhibit hydride generation. In addition, major arsenic compounds in foods such as AsBe or arsenosugar do not

produce hydride so that this method is not applicable to these arsenic compounds. Therefore, TMAO and DMA are only detectable indirectly as trimethylarsine and dimethylarsine respectively, after preprocessing such as alkalinolysis (Nakahara 1997). Because of these disadvantages, this method is hardly used except in the case where hydride generation method is used for the detection of arsenic after the separation by liquid chromatography as follows.

b. Chemical speciation by liquid chromatography

LC is adequate for the separation of water-soluble arsenic compounds. The flow rate of a mobile phase around 1mL/min employed commonly in LC matches well with flow rate for injection of sample solutions into the detector such as AAS, ICPAES, ICP-MS and others. Because of this advantage, the system can be easily set up by connecting outlet of LC column directly to a sample introducing system for AAS and other detector systems.

Currently, ICP-MS is the major detector because of its high sensitivity. However, since a mobile phase containing salt or organic solvent at a high concentration is not suitable for ICP-MS, this method has a certain limit for the selection of mobile phase and of separation mode. Thus, the method where arsenic compounds are converted to hydride after LC separation has been commonly used to detect arsenic with AAS or AFS of high sensitivity. However, as mentioned above, for the detection of major arsenic compounds in foods such as AsBe or arsenosugar, a system to mineralize AsBe and other compounds by microwave digestion or by photo-oxidation (PO) should be connected prior to the HG. Such an arrangement will make the system disadvantageously complicated like LC-PO-HG-AFS.

In order to analyze arsenic compounds in solid samples such as foods, arsenic compounds need to be extracted from samples without changing tis chemical form prior to the analysis. For example, arsenic compounds are extracted from marine animals and algae by supersonic wave in chloroform:methanol:water (Beauchemin et al. 1988), or in methanol:water (Milstein et al. 2003). Arsenic compounds are also extracted by decomposing the sample tissue by enzymes (trypsin, amylase and others) (e.g. Lamble & Hill 1996). Following methods have been also proposed. Such as, extraction of inorganic arsenic from seaweed by dilute hydrochloric acid (CEN, 2008; Nakamura et al. 2008), hot water extraction of arsenic compounds in rice (Narukawa et al. 2008); and by dilute nitric acid extraction (Hamano-Nagaoka et al. 2008).

The separation methods which are commonly used for the analysis of arsenic compounds are ion-pair reversed-phase chromatography and ion exchange chromatography. However, it is difficult to separate and quantify many species of arsenic compounds at one time under the same chromatographic condition since each arsenic compound exists in various forms such as cation, anion, or amphoteric ion in certain pH conditions. For separation of these arsenic compounds, generally, anion exchange columnchromatography and cation exchange columnchromatography are employed depend on the chemical species. Arsenic acid, arsonous acid, MMA and DMA are separated by the former columnchromatography, and AsBe, AsC, and tetramethyl arsonium ion are separated by the latter columnchromatography (e.g. Larsen et al. 1993). Shibata & Morita (1989) separated and determined the total 15 species of arsenic compounds including inorganic arsenic, methylated arsenic and 6 types of arsenosugar, by using 3 different separation conditions such as cation-pair, reversed-phase chromatography, anion-pair reversed-phase chromatography, and gel filtration chromatography. The most popular condition which has been used for quantification of arsenic compounds contained in foods such as seaweed and rice in recent years in Japan is the condition using a C18 reversed-phase column with butanesulfonic acid as an ion pair reagent which is based on the condition used by Shibata and Morita (Narukawa et al., 2006; Hamano- Nagaoka et al., 2008).

Sensitivity of ICP-MS, though it is high in general, may not sufficient for the analysis of arsenic compounds of low concentration such as inorganic arsenic in a duplicate diet method. Although the system becomes complicated, a detection limit of less than 0.001 μ g/g for inorganic arsenic in a duplicate diet study was achieved by LC-HEPO-HG-ICPMS system where a series of a high efficiency photo-oxidation (HEPO) system and a hydride generation method had been used (Oguri et al. 2011).

c. Analysis of lipid-soluble arsenic

Classically, the arsenic which was extracted from samples by solvents such as chloroform has been generically called lipid-soluble arsenic. For classifying their chemical species, chloroform-extracts used to be further partitioned into methanol/hexan soluble fractions which are designated as polar and nonpolarlipid soluble arsenic, respectively. Alternatively, their chemical species used to be assumed from relevant hydrolysate. Recently, by minimizing the flow rate of LC and by mixing oxygen into plasma, the introduction of solvent into ICP became possible. As the consequence, analysis of fish oil was achieved by LC-ICPMS (Schmeisser et al. 2005; Amayo et al. 2011) using normal-phase chromatography column or reverse-phase column. Moreover, structural analysis (Arroyo-Abad et al. 2010) of lipid-soluble arsenic compounds in the liver of cod based on the concomitant analysis with gas-chromatography (GC) -ICPMS or Helium Microwave-induced Plasma Atomic Emission Spectrometry, GC-MS, GC-TOFMS have been also conducted.

2. Major use and production

Metallic arsenic is mainly used for the synthesis of compound semiconductors such as gallium arsenide and others, and it is also used for synthesis of semiconducting glasses as well as additives to copper and lead. Arsenic compounds have been used for pesticide, rat poison and wood preservative. Arsine has been used as a material for epitaxial growth GaAs thin film on a GaAs substrate. Diarsenic trioxide has been used as a therapeutic agent for acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL). It is also used as a clarifier at the manufacturing of LC glass and lead glass.

The production of diarsenic trioxide in Japan is around 40 t/year (Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation 2012) (Table 4), but most of diarsenic trioxide used as materials for domestic demand were imported from China (Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation 2012). In addition, the disposition of high-purity metallic arsenic which has been used as material for semiconductor in 2010 was, 64.0 t for domestic production, 12.6 t for export, and 33.4 t was imported from Germany (Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation 2011).

Table 4 Major producing nation and production quantity of diarsenic trioxide (Unit: t)						
Country name	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Japan	40	40	40	40	40	40
China	30,000	30,000	25,000	25,000	25,000	25,000
Chile	11,500	11,800	11,400	10,000	11,000	11,500
Morocco	6,900	6,900	8,950	8,800	7,000	8,000
Peru	3,600	3,500	4,320	4,000	4,850	4,500
Mexico	1,650	1,750	1,600	513	500	1,000
Kazakhstan	1,500	1,500	1,500	1,500	1,500	1,500
Russia	1,500	1,500	1,500	1,500	1,500	1,500
Belgium	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000
Others	1,960	1,760	590	360	465	460
World total	59,400	59,800	55,900	52,700	54,400	54,500

Table 4 Major producing nation and production quantity of diarsenic trioxide (Unit: t)

(Quoted from Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation 2012)

In the U.S., 4 aromatic arsenic compounds such as 4-aminophenylarsonic acid (*p*-Arsanilic acid, CAS registered number: 98-50-0), 4-Nitrophenylarsonic acid (nitarsone, CAS registered number: 98-72-6), *N*-Acetyl-4-aminophenylarsonic acid (arsacetin, CAS registered number: 618-22-4) and 4-Hydroxy-3-nitrophenylarsonic acid (roxarsone, CAS registered number: 121-19-7) have been used as feed additives for poultry or pigs. However, these compounds are not designated as feed additives in Japan.

In Japan, all of the organic arsenic compounds which had been registered as pesticides based on the Agricultural Chemicals Control Act were expired in 1998.

Diphenylarsinic acid (DPAA, CAS registered number 4656-80-8), an organic arsenic compound, had been used as the material for poison gas shells in former Japanese army. Generally, it does not exist in nature. However, the illegal dumping of waste containing diphenylarsinic acid in Kamisu, Ibaraki, contaminated the soil and well water, and caused a health hazard in the population (Nakashima et al. 2006; Ministry of the Environment 2008a).

3. Distribution and dynamics in the environment

(1) Air

Naturally occurring arsenic in the air is derived from weathering of mineral and from volcanic activity. Arsenic is also contained in seawater and in plants, so the blow-up of sea salt grain or a forest fire releases the arsenic into the air (ATSDR 2007). Meanwhile, anthropogenic arsenic is derived from industrial activities such as thermal power generation, metal refining, and incineration of waste containing antiseptic wood and others.

Both naturally occurring and anthropogenic arsenic compounds in the air are mainly inorganic arsenic and there are a few methylated compounds (Pacyna 1987; ATSDR 2000). Most of arsenic in the air is As(III) and mainly diarsenic trioxide (WHO 2001). A part of this As(III) becomes As(V) by oxidation and As(III) and As(V) are coexisting in the air (WHO 2001). The Pollutant Release and Transfer Register (PRTR) survey in Japan revealed that a large amount of fine particles were discharged in the refining process of non-ferrous metal. It is known that the arsenic in those fine articles is mainly diarsenic trioxide (Cheng and Focht 1979).

According to the review of Schroeder et al. (1987), concentration of arsenic in the air is reported to be 2-2,320 ng As/m³ in urban areas, 1.0-28 ng As/m³ in the other areas, and 0.007-1.9 ng As/m³ in the polar region, and the concentration is especially high in urban areas (Schroeder et al. 1987).

In Japan, the mean concentration of arsenic and its compound in the air were 1.6 ng/m³ in fiscal year 2011 according to the "atmospheric pollution in fiscal year 2011 (data from monitoring survey on hazardous air contaminated substance)" published by the Ministry of the Environment (Ministry of the Environment 2013).

(2) Soil

Arsenic is known to present in soil of various earth crust widely at the concentration of approximately 3.4 μ g/g (Wedepohl 1991). However, the arsenic concentration in the soil varies from several μ g/g to \geq 100 μ g/g in the area where mineral deposit exist (ATSDR 2007). According to a survey in Japan by Oguri et al. (2013), the median value of total arsenic contained in soil which was collected from Japanese ordinary homes was 10 μ g/g (4.6-36 μ g/g, n = 38).

The same authors reported concentration of bioaccessible inorganic arsenic which is extractable with dilute hydrochloric acid (0.07mol/L), an imitation gastric juice, as follows. Inorganic arsenic (As(V)+As(III)) was < 0.02 μ g/g (< 0.02-0.33 μ g/g, n = 20), As(III) was < 0.01 μ g/g (< 0.01-0.02 μ g/g, n = 20), As(V) was < 0.02 μ g/g (< 0.02-0.32 μ g/g, n = 20), methylarsonic acid was < 0.01 μ g/g (n = 20), dimethyl arsenic acid was < 0.01 μ g/g (< 0.01-0.12 μ g/g, n = 20) (Oguri et al.2013).

As for chemical form in soils, arsenic exists mainly as diarsenic trioxide in anaerobic soil in general, butmetallic arsenic and arsine also exist (Bhumbla and Keefer 1994). These arsenic compounds become less soluble by binding to iron, aluminum, or manganese oxide, and remain on the surface of the earth. While in a reductive circumstance, it becomes water-soluble and infiltrates into ground water. In waters, inorganic arsenic mainly exists in oxidized form of As(V) and As(III). Moreover, arsenic concentration changes seasonally by the soil moisture (Bhumbla and Keefer 1994). Naturally occurring arsenic contamination in the soil is mainly due to weathering of minerals which contains arsenic, volcanic activity and biological activity, similarly to the situation in the air (WHO 2001).

In Soil Contamination Countermeasures Act (Act No. 53 of May 29, 2002), arsenic and its compounds are designated as a specific harmful substance and the soil elution standard of arsenic and the soil content standard for arsenic were $\leq 10 \ \mu g \ As/L$ and $\leq 150 \ \mu g \ As/g$, respectively. In "enforcement situation of Soil Contamination Countermeasures Act and the result of the survey on soil contamination and countermeasurement cases in fiscal year 2011" (Ministry of the Environment 2013), it was reported that 281 cases did not meet the designated standard for arsenic and its compounds.

Also, the arsenic contamination of the water for agricultural use is an example of soil contamination by anthropogenic arsenic. Currently, although pesticides including arsenic are not used in Japan, arsenic herbicide (sodium methylarsonate (MSMA), Cacodylic acid, Sodium Cacodylate) or feed additives for poultry (roxarsone and others) are used in the U.S. The unchanged roxarsone contained in the waste from poultry such as feces or bedding straw, is converted to inorganic arsenic by microorganisms in soil (Stolz et al. 2007; Makris et al. 2008).

Also in Japan, there are 2 cases of contamination in soil. One is the case of the surrounding area of arsenous acid production in Toroku, Takachiho, Miyazaki, and the other is the case of a smelter in Sasagadani, Shimane (Meeting of specialized groups on Environmental geology, The Geological Society of Japan 1998).

(3)The waters, bottom sediment, ground water

In general, arsenic concentration in seawater is 2 μ g/L and relatively stable (Andreae 1978). Naturally occurring arsenic in seawater is attributed to weathering of soil or rocks, and to flowing into the waters due to volcanic activity. Some arsenic is also attributed to naturalelution

from soil and following transit into ground water (Nriagu and Pacyna 1988). In addition, outflow of the dispersed pesticide from the soil into the water system (WHO 2001), and drainage of industrial effluent into river and sea waters are other potential sources of anthropogenic arsenic (Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry and Ministry of the Environment 2005).

Regarding chemical form of arsenic in seawater, As(V) is the major form of arsenic in oxygen rich seawater and brackish water. While As(III) is considered hardly exceed 20% of the total arsenic amount. Marine sediments which are not contaminated with arsenic contain 5-40 µg/g dry weight. A bottom sediment that is under oxidative circumstance contains As(V) more than As(III), while a bottom mud under reductive environment contains As(III) more than As(V). Arsenic in a bottom sediment which contains a high amount of sulfur under a reductive circumstance form realgar. If the realgar contains sulfide of copper or zinc, the solubility and transitivity of the realgar to the seawater is decreased (Neff 1997).

The contamination of ground water with naturally occurring inorganic arsenic is reported all over the world, such as in India (West Bengal), Bangladesh, Taiwan, northern China, Hungary, Mexico, Chile, Argentina, U.S.A. (especially in the south west area), Thai, and in Ghana (Hag-iwara et al. 2004).

Concentration of arsenic in river water has been reported to vary from 0.001 μ g/g and less which is far below the values designated in the Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality by WHO (0.01 μ g/g) to far above this level of the Guidelines (National Research Council 1985). When a high level of arsenic is detected in the river water, it is attributed to an unnatural pollution source such as drainage from mines or from hot springs besides natural sources (Tatsumi et al. 2002).

(4) House dust

Arsenic concentration in ordinary house dust has been reported by surveys conducted in different countries as follows: 2.1 μ g/g (Seifert et al. 2000) in Germany, 7.3 μ g/g (Butte and Heinzow 2002) in Canada, 12.6 μ g/g (2.6-57 μ g/g), 10.8 μ g/g (1.0-49 μ g/g) (Wolz et al. 2003), and 10.8 μ g/g (1.0-172 μ g/g) (Tsuji et al. 2005) in the U.S..

According to the survey of Oguri et al. (2013) which analyzed the arsenic compounds in house dust collected from ordinary homes in Japan, the median value of total arsenic was 2.5 $\mu g/g$ (0.3-7.8 $\mu g/g$, n = 40). They reported also concentration of bioaccessible inorganic arsenic which is extractable with an imitation gastric juice, dilute hydrochloric acid, as follows. Inorganic arsenic (As(V)+As(III)) was 0.24 $\mu g/g$ (0.08-1.2 $\mu g/g$, n = 20), As(III) was 0.02 $\mu g/g$ (< 0.01-0.25 $\mu g/g$, n = 20), As(V) was 0.21 $\mu g/g$ (0.06-0.99 $\mu g/g$, n = 20), methylarsonic acid was < 0.01 $\mu g/g$ (n = 20), dimethyl arsenic acid was 0.02 $\mu g/g$ (< 0.01-0.05 $\mu g/g$, n = 20) (Oguri et al.2013).

(5) Arsenic circulation in ecosystem

Humans living on land consume organic arsenic compounds which are biosynthesized in a marine ecosystem, through consumption of marine animals and plants as foods or through land animals which had consumed organic arsenic compounds through their feed. Supposedly the human also intake arsenic compounds derived from sedimentary rock directly from the air or indirectly through consumption of plants where arsenic compounds transferred from soils formed by weathering of sedimentary rocks.

Arsenic content differs between marine organisms and terrestrial organisms. The arsenic concentration of marine organisms is considered to be several μ g to 100 μ g/g wet weight, while the concentration hardly exceeds 1 μ g/g dry weight in terrestrial organisms. Also, there is a difference in chemical species of arsenic contained in marine organisms and in terrestrial organisms (Francesconi and Edmonds 1994). In this section, we describe the biological circulation of arsenic through marine and terrestrial ecosystem from the viewpoint of the difference in its chemical species and concentration between the two systems.

(i) Marine ecosystem

In the ocean, arsenic circulates through the complicated ecosystem of a food chain consisting of producer (phytoplankton or seaweed) and consumer which includes decomposer (microorganism such as bacteria) and abiotic environments as well. Figure 2 shows the hypothesis related to this biological circulation of arsenic (Hanaoka 2011).

As mentioned above, arsenic exists in seawater at the concentration of approximately 2 μ g/L. The mean residence time which is (the total amount of the substance in the oceanic system / the rate of the substance input to the system) of arsenic is estimated to be several million years (Matsuo 1991; Nishimura 1998).

AsBe, an organic arsenic compound detected universally in marine animals, and AsC which is the precursor of AsBe in marine ecosystem are not detected directly in seawater. However, these organic arsenic compounds have been detected in minute suspended solid precipitated by concentrating seawater which passed through plankton net of 5 μ m mesh (Hanaoka et al. 1997).

Most of arsenic exist in seawater is in the form of As(III) or As(V), and traces amount of MMA(V) and DMA(V) have been detected besides inorganic arsenic (Andreae 1983).

Arsenic acid in seawater is deoxidized to diarsenic trioxide by marine algae and then oxidized to organic compounds. Because of this biological activity, vertical distribution of arsenic acid shows a so-called nutrient type profile in which the distribution of arsenic acid is low in the marine surface layer and increasing in the middle and deep layer, while As(III), MMA (V) and DMA (V) are distributed in the surface to middle layer. Arsenic which has been incorporated into marine phytoplankton and seaweed is accumulated and undergoes metabolic conversion through the food chain.

Inorganic arsenic in seawater which is mainly composed of As(V) is incorporated into marine phytoplankton or seaweed and is concentrated and undergoes organification. The resulted organic arsenic compounds undergo biochemical conversion sequentially through the food chain and accumulated in marine animals as AsBe. As a result of metabolic conversion through the food chain, various organic arsenic compounds exist in marine organisms and the amount of inorganic arsenic in marine organism tissue is low. As for another pathway, microorganisms synthesize *in vivo* AsBe from inorganic arsenic in seawater and accumulate it. Then the AsBe containing microorganisms are incorporated to marine animals through feed, thereby AsBe is accumulated in marine animals. AsBe returned to original inorganic arsenic by gradual decomposition by microorganisms following the death of the marine animals.

Organic arsenic compounds derived from algae contain MMA (V) in the most cases, and inorganic arsenic is a major component only in the tissue of some types of brown algae. Seasonal change of DMA (V) concentration in seawater is attributed to deoxidization of arsenic acid which has been accumulated by phytoplankton, bacteria, and yeast and to subsequent methylation (Neff 1997).



Figure 2 Hypothetical arsenic cycle in marine ecosystem (Adapted from Hanaoka 2004; 2011)

(ii) Terrestrial ecosystems

Arsenic in terrestrial ecosystems is considered to be circulating along with changing chemical species mainly by deoxidization and methylation (Cullen and Reimer 1989; Ridley et al. 1977). However, some arsenic compounds in terrestrial ecosystems may be converted into the compounds with more complicated structure such as arsenosugar or AsBe like in marine organisms. In an analysis of mushrooms which contains arsenic at high concentration, it was reported that some mushrooms accumulate a high level of MMA (V) only, some accumulate As(III) and As(V) only, some mushrooms are mainly composed with DMA (V) and some contain AsBe (Byrne et al. 1995).

Arsenate-reducing bacteria and diarsenic trioxide-oxidizing bacteria have been suggested to exist in the environment with arsenic of high concentration (Oremland and Stolz 2003). Also, clostridium converts roxarsone into inorganic arsenic under anaerobic condition in the soil (Stolz et al. 2007). The role of the volatilization of arsenic through microorganisms is also considered to be important for arsenic in the air. A chain of such events has been visualized where dimethylarsinic acid scattered to soil was metabolized by microorganisms to

dimethylarsine which then volatilize and was further converted to DMA(V) by oxidation in the air, absorbed to dust, and floated in the air (Mukai et al. 1986).

4. Current regulations and others

As for regulation of arsenic in foods in Japan, Specifications and Standards for Food, Food Additives, Etc. (Ministry of Health and Welfare Notification No. 370, 1959) was established designating the requirement for good quality of food and food additives on December 28, 1959, following the Morinaga Arsenic Milk Poisoning Incident in 1955. Since then, arsenic various foods has been regulated by the Food Sanitation Act.

Table 5 shows the major regulations for arsenic contained in foods and non-food.

Name of law	Category of law	Relevant substances
Act on Confirmation, etc. of Re-	Class I Designated Chemical Sub-	Arsenic and its inorganic com-
lease Amounts of Specific Chemi-	stances	pounds
cal Substances in the Environment		
and Promotion of Improvements		
to the Management Thereof		
Poisonous and Deleterious Sub-	Toxic substance	Arsenic, arsenic compounds
stances Control Act		
Food Sanitation Act	Standards for pesticide residues 1.0-	Arsenic and its compounds
	3.5 µg As/g	
	(Value may differ depends on the	
	crop)	
	Standards and criteria for food: stand-	Arsenic and its compounds
	ards for ingredient in soft drinks	
	should not be detected as As	
	Specifications and standards for appa-	Arsenic and its compounds
	ratus, containers and packages: Leach-	
	ing standards of metallic cans; 0.15 μ g	
	As/g	
	Material standards for polyethylene	Arsenic and its compounds
	and polystyrene used for the area	
	where milk and milk products directly	
	touch the content : 1.51 μ g As/g	
	Leaching standards of metallic used	Arsenic and its compounds

Table 5 Current regulations in Japan

	T	
	for the area where milk and milk prod-	
	ucts directly touch the content :	
	0.076 µg As/g	
	Material standards for synthetic resin	Arsenic and its compounds
	contained in the processed aluminium	
	foil which is used as a stopper where	
	milk and milk products directly touch	
	the content: 1.51 µg As/g	
	Standards criteria for toy: Leaching	Arsenic and its compounds
	standards for the materials comprised	
	mostly of shadowgraph, folding pa-	
	pers, vinyl chloride resin coating, or	
	polyvinyl chloride; 0.076 µg As/g	
	Ingredient standards for washing	Arsenic and its compounds
	agent: 0.038 µg As/g	
Water Supply Act	Water-quality standard: 10 µg As/L	Arsenic and its compounds
The Environment Basic Act	Environmental standard related to wa-	Arsenic
	ter pollution: 10 µg As/L	
	Environmental standard related to wa-	Arsenic
	ter pollution of groundwater:	
	10 μg As/L	
	Environmental standard related to soil	Arsenic
	contamination: 10 µg As/L	
	(test liquid concentration for elution	
	test: < 15 mg As/kg soil [1mol/L ex-	
	tracted in hydrochloric acid] only for	
	agricultural land [limited to rice	
	fields])	
Sewerage Act	Water-quality standard: 100 µg As/L	Arsenic and its compounds
The Water Pollution Prevention	Effluent standard:	Arsenic and its compounds
Act	100 μg As/L	
Agricultural Land Soil Pollution	Requirements for designation of the	Arsenic
Prevention Law	agricultural land with soil pollution	
	control. : 15 mg As/kg (1mol/L ex-	
	tracted in hydrochloric acid)	
		Arcania and its compounds
	Soil Leachate Standard: 10 µg As/L	Arsenic and its compounds

Soil Contamination Countermeas- ures Act	Standard of soil content: 150 µg As/g	Arsenic and its compounds		
The Pharmaceutical Affairs Law	Poison	Arsenic, its compounds, and its products		
	Prescription drug	Diarsenic trioxide		
Labor Standards Act	Disease-related chemical substance	Arsenic and its compounds, ar- sine		
	Carcinogenic chemical substance	Inorganic arsenic compounds		
Industrial Safety and Health Act	Specified chemical substances	Arsenic and its compounds		
	(Group-2 substances, substance under	(Except for Arsine and Gal-		
	special supervision)	lium Arsenide)		
	Dangerous and toxic substances sub-			
	ject to indicate their names and others.			
	Standards for the harmful environ-			
	ment of business work which requires			
	a health check. Administrative: 3 µg			
	As/m ³			
	Hazardous and inflammable gas	Arsine		
	Dangerous and Toxic Substances Sub- ject to Notify Their Names	Arsenic and its compounds		

III. Exposure in human

1. Oral exposure

Arsenic compounds are mainly taken in through the food and drinking water in general environment. Food contains inorganic and organic arsenic compounds and drinking water mainly contains inorganic arsenic. Intake of inorganic arsenic from the soil or house dust is so small and is negligible (Oguri et al. 2013).

(1) Exposure from food

A large amount of arsenic is contained in seaweed and seafood (Suzuki, 1993). Since Japanese have a traditional dietary habit of taking seaweed and seafood, people intake a large amount of arsenic through food in Japan compared to other countries. A large amount of organic arsenic compounds such as Arsenobetaine (AsBe) and arsenosugar are contained in marine animals and algae.

Regarding the amount of arsenic contained in foods, the total arsenic concentrations in rice, wheat, corn, and in vegetables were less than 1 μ g/g at the 95 percentile, while the total concentration of arsenic in seaweed was approximately 20 μ g/g at the 50 percentile and over 140 μ g/g at the 95 percentile, which showed higher arsenic concentration. It is reported that the total concentration of arsenic was 30 μ g/g and more in fish and 40 μ g/g or more in shells at the 95 percentile, while the concentration of inorganic arsenic was approximately 0.1 μ g/g at the 75 percentile (Figure 3) (Uneyama et al. 2007).



The foods with lower concentration of (a) total arsenic, (b) inorganic arsenic, (c) inorganic arsenic have been shown magnified

Graphs show 5-95 percentile. The lower broken line is 25, the center line is 50, and upper broken line is 75 percentile.

Figure 3 Arsenic contained in foods (percentile) (Revised from Uneyama et al. 2007)

(I) Marine Animals and Algae

Concentration of arsenic contained in marine animals and algae is higher than that in terrestrial animals and plants, and its chemical forms are various (Figure 1).

The percentage of inorganic arsenic (As(III)+As(V)) in the total arsenic of brown sole, yellowtails, mackerel, chub mackerel, pacific saury and Japanese sardine is 0-4%, and that for seaweed are approximately 60%, 3%, 7% in hijiki, laminaria japonica, and undaria, respectively (Table 6). The abundance ratio of fat-soluble arsenic to water-soluble arsenic in this table may be higher depending on the analytical method (Shiomi, 1992).

AsBe is a major organic arsenic compound existing commonly in seafood (Edmonds et al. 1977; Hanaoka et al. 1988; Francesconi and Edmonds 1994; Francesconi and Edmonds 1997; Shiomi 1994). AsC is contained in shrimp or trumpet shell and others. TMAO is contained in a kind of catfish. TeMA is contained in meretrix lusoria and others. These are the major arsenic compounds contained in these species. (Francesconi and Edmonds 1994; Francesconi and Edmonds 1997; Shiomi 1994).

Arsenosugar is a major arsenic compound in seaweed. However, arsenosugar is found not only in tridacninae, a symbiont of algae (Edmonds et al. 1982), but also in various bivalve such as mytilus edulis and scallop which eat phytoplankton or algae (Shibata and Morita 1992), in snails (Morita and Shibata 1987), and in zooplankton which eats phytoplankton (Shibata et al. 1996; Edmonds et al. 1997).

Various accumulation of arsenic depending on body part of fish has been reported. A large amount of inorganic arsenic were reported to be accumulated in the area around the fisheye and on the body surface (Lunde 1977), and arsenic accumulation was observed in optic nerve of skipjack (Kuroiwa et al. 1999). Relative content of AsBe in total arsenic in edible fish products is higher in the fish having higher freshness, and the relative content decreases in the order of frozen food and preserved food, suggesting that the accumulation of arsenic is affected not only by species or part of fish but also by processing and preservation method (Velez et al. 1995; 1996).

The amount of inorganic/organic arsenic compounds in marine animals and algae and water soluble/lipid soluble arsenic contained in marine animals and algae are shown in Table 6 (Shinagawa et al. 1983; Shiomi 1992).

[tunited in	intarinie al	innais anu	uigue					
G		Analyzed	Content of arsenic µg/g dry weight							
Samples		part	Total ar- senic	As(III)	As(V)	Organic	Water soluble	lipid soluble		
	Brown sole	Muscle	36.0	0.00	0.00	34.2	34.4	0.22		
Fishes	Yellowtails	Muscle	5.0	0.05	0.12	4.2	4.2	0.24		
	Mackerel	Muscle	25.6	0.00	0.06	24.0	24.3	0.18		
	Chub macke- rel	Muscle	5.4	0.00	0.00	5.1	4.6	0.54		
	Pacific saury	Muscle	5.5	0.05	0.17	4.8	5.1	0.31		
	Japanese sar- dine	Muscle	17.3	0.00	0.28	15.0	15.1	0.23		
Protochordata	Ascidian	Muscle	25.0	0.00	0.05	24.3	17.3	7.6		
Echinodermata	Japanese com- mon seacu- cumber	Muscle	12.4	0.00	0.10	11.3	7.2	1.0		
pnytum	Purple sea urchin	Gonad	7.3*1	0.16*1	0.22*1	7.0*1	5.1*1	1.8*1		
Arthropoda	Yellow sea prawn	Muscle	41.3	0.00	0.00	39.2	39.8	1.0		
Arthropods	spotted shrimp	Whole body	7.6	0.07	0.00	7.2	6.0	1.0		
Arthropods Tu Ja Mollusks	Turban shell	Muscle	15.0	0.00	0.02	14.1	9.0	4.9		
	Japanese lit- tleneck	Whole body	17.5	0.04	0.01	15.9	11.7	5.0		
Malluala	North Pacific Giant Octo- pus	Muscle	49.0	0.00	0.00	48.8	47.3	0.20		
Mollusks	Japanese common squid	Muscle	17.2	0.00	0.00	16.1	15.9	0.22		
	Argentine shortfin squid	Muscle	9.5	0.00	0.00	9.0	9.0	0.26		
Annelida	Lugworm	Whole body	5.1	0.00	0.00	5.1	3.3	1.5		
	Hijiki	Whole body	61.3	36.7*2		15.2	_	_		
Phaeophyceae	Japanese sea-tangle	Whole body	25.4	0.	8*2	20.2	_	_		
	Wakame seaweed	Whole body	8.3	0.	6*2	6.5	_	—		

Table 6 Inorganic /organic arsenic compounds and water soluble/lipid soluble arsenic contained in marine animals and algae

*1On a wet weight basis *2As(III) inorganic + As(V) inorganic

(Revised from Shiomi, 1992)

The total arsenic concentration in seaweed is generally the highest in brown algae, followed by algae and green algae. Also, in general, the major chemical species of arsenic in seaweed is arsenosugar. Arsenic compounds contained in seaweed are shown in Table 7 (Francesconi and Edmonds 1997).

	Species	Arsenic concentra- tion (µg/g)		Water-sol-	Arsenic compound ^a			
		Wet weight	Dry weight	uble rate – %	Significant	Minor	Trace	
Brown	Ecklonia radiate (Kajime)	10		>80	3, 2, 7	-	-	
Laminaria japonica (Ma- konbu) Sphaerotrichia divaricate (Ishimozuku) Undaria pinnatifida (Wakame)	Sargassum fusiforme (hijiki)	10		>80	Arsenic acid, 1	3	7, 5	
	5 1	4		>80	3,4	2, 7	-	
	1	2		75	2	7, 3, 5	-	
		2.8		71	23 ^b	-	-	
	Sargassum thunbergii (Umito- ranoo)	4		51	1	-	13	
	Sargassum lacerifolium (No Japanese name) Spatoglossum pacificum (Ko- mongusa)	40		>80	1	7, 3, 4, 2	5, DMA(V) 6, 8, 15	
			16.3	69	3	2,7	-	
	Pachydictyon coriaceum (Sanadagusa)		16.7	72	3	27	-	
Green algae <i>Codium fragile</i> (Miru)	Codium fragile (Miru)	0.6		67	2	7, DMA(V)	-	
	Ulva pertusa (Anaaosa)		17.1	40	2	7	UK	
(Bryopsis maxima (Oohanema)		19.4	20	7	2	UK	
	<i>Caulerpa brachypus</i> (Heraiazuta)		11.6	32	UK	-	-	
Red al-	Corallina pilulifera (Pirihiba)		21.6	15	7	2, UK	-	
ae	Cyrtymenia sparsa (Hijirimen)		44.8	69	7	2	-	
	Ahnfeltia paradoxa (Harigane)		11.7	58	7, UK	2, 1	-	
	Coeloseira pacifica (Isomatsu)		23.1	35	7, UK	2	-	
	Laurencia okamurai (Mitsudesozo)		19.2	47	2, 1	7, UK	-	

T 11 7		1	1	•	1
Table /	Arcente er	mnounde	contained	1n	ceameede
		mpounds	contained	ш	scaweeus

a Arsenic compounds are indicated by a number which corresponds to the number of structure in Figure 1. Significant: 20% or more of the total water soluble arsenic; Minor: 1-19% of the total water soluble arsenic; Trace:1% or less of the total water soluble arsenic; UK: Unknown arsenic compound

b Lipid soluble arsenic

(Revised from Francesconi and Edmonds, 1997)

The proportion of inorganic arsenic such as arsenic acid is high in hijiki (*Sargassum fusi-forme*), sargassum, and sargassum ringgoldianum which belong to the Class Phaeophyceae Order Fucales Family Sargassaceae (Francesconi and Edmonds 1997).

The mean total concentration of arsenic in marketed dried hijiki was estimated to be approximately 110 μ g As/g and the maximum concentration was approximately 154 μ g As/g (FSA
2004; Almela et al. 2006; Ogawa et al.2006). The proportion of organic arsenic such as arsenosugar is high in the seaweed which belongs to the group other than family Sargassaceae (Sakurai et al. 1997; Andrewes et al. 2004).

UK Food Standards Agency (FSA) measured the total arsenic and inorganic arsenic concentrations in 5 species (hijiki, sea trumpet, undaria, tangle weed and laver). The total arsenic was detected in all samples and especially hijiki contained high amount of arsenic. The mean concentration of inorganic arsenic in 9 samples of hijiki was 77 mg As/kg (range: 67-96 mg As/kg) and the content of inorganic arsenic in other 4 species of seaweeds were below the detectable limit of 0.3 mg As/kg. The authors reported that the total arsenic concentration and inorganic arsenic concentration in hijiki were higher than those in other seaweed foods (Rose et al. 2007). According to the survey by FSA in 2004, the maximum inorganic arsenic concentration in dried hijiki which has been soaked in water was 22.7 μ g As/g (FSA 2004).

The arsenic concentration in hijiki which is consumed in Japan has been reported. Mohri et al. (1990) measured the arsenic concentration in marine animals and algae from the samples for duplicate diet study in 4 adults (2 males and 2 females), and reported that the total arsenic, inorganic arsenic, and DMA (V) in cooked hijiki were 1.204, 0.479, and 0.569 μ g/g, respectively. Also, Nakamura et al. (2008) measured the content of inorganic arsenic, As(III), As(V), MMA(V), DMA(V), and arsenosugar in cooked hijiki (total 15 samples) collected from home or supermarket using LC-ICPMS, and reported that the arsenic concentration were 1.2, 0.031, 1.2, 0.010, 0.030, and 0.028 μ g As/g (wet weight), respectively (Nakamura et al. 2008). According to the survey on hazardous chemical substance by Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, the mean value of the total arsenic contained in marketed dried hijiki and water soaked hijiki in Japan measured by HGAAS were 93 μ g/g (28-160 μ g/g) and 6 μ g/g (2.1-20 μ g/g), respectively. Also, inorganic arsenic was measured by HPLC-ICPMS and the mean values were reported to be 67 μ g/g (4.5-130 μ g/g) and 3.6 μ g/g (<0.5-17 μ g/g), respectively (MAFF 2012).

Although several reports have been made on the arsenic concentration in hijiki in Japan, the results are rather inconsistent because of the different conditions of the samples.

(ii) Agricultural and animal products

The arsenic concentration in marine organisms are known to range from several to a hundred and some tens μg per gram, while the arsenic concentration in different terrestrial plants are similar. (Lunde 1973).

The Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries conducted survey of the total arsenic in domestic agricultural products, and the results have been published (Table 8). According to this survey, the mean total arsenic in brown rice was 0.17 μ g/g (0.04-0.43 μ g/g). Also, the mean inorganic arsenic concentration in rice was 0.15 μ g/g (0.04-0.37 μ g/g) (MAFF, 2012). Hamano-

Nagaoka et al. (2008) reported that the total arsenic and inorganic arsenic in brown rice were 0.12-0.26 μ g/g dry weight and 0.11-0.23 μ g/g dry weight respectively, indicating that inorganic arsenic was 62.2-96.3% of the total arsenic in brown rice.

Total arsenic concentration in vegetables and fruits has been reported approximately to be 0.01 μ g/g (Yamauchi and Yamamura, 1980). Total arsenic (dry weight) and DMA (V) in mushrooms grown in the soil contaminated with arsenic were reported to be 1,420 μ g As/g and 970 μ g As/g, respectively (Larsen et al. 1998). Total arsenic concentration in meat of mammals was reported to be 0.024 μ g/g in beef and 0.018 μ g/g in pork (Yamauchi and Yamamura, 1980).

According to a report from FDA, apple juice and pear juice marketed in the United States from 2005 to 2011 contained arsenic. The total arsenic, range from undetected level to 0.045 μ g/g were contained in the 160 samples of apple juice and range from undetected level to 0.124 μ g/g were contained in the 142 samples of pear juice analyzed. Inorganic arsenic, MMA, and DMA were detected in the pear juice which contained more than 23 ppb (0.023 μ g/g) of the total arsenic, at the concentration of 0.005-0.06 μ g/g, undetected to 0.088 μ g/g, and undetected to 0.003 μ g/g, respectively (FDA 2011; 2012).

Regarding animal products, a case of roxarsone, an organic arsenic compound used abroad as a growth promotant of poultry has been reported about its excretion where the most of the dose administered in chicken were excreted in the undegraded form (Morrison 1969). However, according to the survey conducted by the Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy (IATP), arsenic was detected in approximately 55% of uncooked chicken purchased at the supermarket in the U.S., suggesting that chicken may be contaminated through arsenic containing feed additives such as roxarsone and arsanilic acid which have been approved in the U.S. (Wallinga 2006)

Crops	Number of ana- lyzed	Detection	Number	of samples con- enic at below de-	Number of sam- ples containing arsenic at above	Minimum value	Maximum value	Mean value	
	samples	limit mg/kg		% of total sam- ples	detection limit	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	
Rice (brown rice)	600	0.01	0		600	0.04	0.43	0.17	
Wheat	363	0.01	312	86	51	< 0.01	0.04	0.009	
Soybean	300	0.01	278	93	22	< 0.01	0.04	0.008	
Sugar cane	100	0.01	94	94	6	< 0.01	0.01	0.004	
Taro (With skin)	98	0.01	59	60	39	< 0.01	0.04	0.01	
Taro (without skin)	29	0.01	29	100	0	-	-	0.006	
Radish	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.004	
Carrot	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.004	
Solanum tuberosum	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.004	
Cabbage	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.003	
Broccoli	100	0.01	99	99	1	< 0.01	0.01	0.003	
Chinese cabbage	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.003	
Lettuce	99	0.01	99	100	0	-	-	0.003	
Spinach	160	0.01	126	79	34	< 0.01	0.12	0.01	
Leek	100	0.01	99	99	1	< 0.01	0.02	0.005	
Onion	100	0.01	100	100	100 0		-	0.005	
Cucumber	101	0.01	98	98	2	< 0.01	0.02	0.006	
Eggplant	100	0.01	97	97	97 3		0.01	0.006	
Tomato	Tomato 100		100	100	0	-	-	0.004	
Bell pepper	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.004	
Pumpkin	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.003	
String beans	100	0.01	100	100	0	-	-	0.003	
Shiitake mushroom	100	0.01	45	45	55	<0.01	0.14	0.02	
Strawberry	Strawberry 100 0.0		99	99	1	< 0.01	0.01	0.005	
Apple	99	0.01	96	97	3	< 0.01	0.03	0.004	
Tangerine (With skin)	40	0.01	40	100	0	-	-	0.004	
Tangerine (Without epicarp)	60	0.01	60	100	0	-	-	0.003	
Chinese citron (Without epicarp)	30	0.01	30	100	0	-	-	0.003	

Table 8 Concentration of total arsenic in agricultural products in Japan (Products in FY 2003 to 2005)

Chinese citron (With epicarp)	70	0.01	70	100	0	-	-	0.003
Persimmon	100	0.01	92	92	8	< 0.01	0.03	0.005
Kiwi fruit (With skin)	70	0.01	69	99	1	< 0.01	0.01	0.004
Kiwi fruit (Without skin)	30	0.01	30	100	0	-	-	0.003
Pear	100	0.01	99	99	1	< 0.01	0.02	0.004
Peach	100	0.01	98	98	2	< 0.01	0.01	0.004
Grape	100	0.01	99	99	1	< 0.01	0.01	0.004

Minimum value: The lowest value of analysis results in more than 1 sample. Value is not shown in case the all samples analyzed were below the detection limit.

Maximum value: The highest value of analysis results in more than 1 sample. Value is not shown in case the all samples analyzed were below the detection limit.

Mean value: Arithmetic mean of the analyzed results of more than 1 sample. The value was calculated according to the method suggested by GEMS/FOOD based on the analyzed value of the samples (WHO, 2003).

(Documented from MAFF 2012)

(iii) Drinking-water

Table 9 shows analytical data on the concentration of arsenic and its compounds in tap water detected in the samples from different sampling points in FY 2010. Although the maximum values in raw water from 28 sampling points were above the water quality standard for drinking-water as per the Waterworks Act (0.01 mg/L), most of the maximum values in raw water were 0.001 mg/L or less at 4,512 out of 5,319 sampling points. Also, most of the maximum values in clean water were 0.001 mg/L or less at 5,173 out of 5,679 sampling points.

People do not intake arsenic at the concentration beyond the water quality standard for drinking-water as per Waterworks Act (0.01 mg As/L) when the surface water is supplied as a source water to the tap water. However, when groundwater is used for drinking-water, all arsenic in groundwater is absorbed since people generally drink it directly. According to the analytical data on groundwater quality by Ministry of the Environment in FY 2011, approximately 2% of groundwater contains arsenic at the concentration above the water quality standard for drinkingwater of Waterworks Act and the maximum value which has been detected from groundwater in Japan was 0.65 mg As/L (Ministry of the Environment 2012).

It has been reported that only As(III) and As(V), inorganic arsenics, were detected in 81 samples of hot spring water used for drinking in Japan. The mean concentration of total arsenic was reported to be 120.1 (0.116-1,024) μ g As/L (Chiba et al. 2008).

			Frequency distribution in terms of target value									-)	
Clean wa- ter/ raw water	Water source	Number of sam- pling points	≤10%	>10% ≤20%	>20% ≤30%	>30% ≤40%	>40% ≤50%	>50% ≤60%	>60% ≤70%	>70% ≤80%	>80% ≤90%	>90% ≤100%	>100%
			up to 0.001 (mg/L)	up to 0.002 (mg/L)	up to 0.003 (mg/L)	up to 0.004 (mg/L)	up to 0.005 (mg/L)	up to 0.006 (mg/L)	up to 0.007 (mg/L)	up to 0.008 (mg/L)	up to 0.009 (mg/L)	up to 0.010 (mg/L)	from 0.011 (mg/L)
Raw water	Overall	5,319 ¹⁾	4,512 ¹⁾	408 ¹⁾	158	65	64	30	19	16	11	8	28
	Surface water	1,077	878	124	35	15	8	3	2	2	0	2	8
	Water from dam/ lake	281	231	27	15	1	4	0	1	0	1	0	1
	Groundwater	3,100	2,674	187	84	40	42	22	13	11	8	5	14
	Others	839	709	68	24	9	10	5	3	3	2	1	5
Clean water	Overall	5,679 ¹⁾	5,173 ¹⁾	242	121	56	39	14	14	11	5	4	0
	Surface water	1,052	996	29	12	6	4	1	2	2	0	0	0
	Water from dam/lake	267	258	4	3	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
	Groundwater	3,005	2,650	170	81	44	30	11	6	7	4	2	0
	Others	1,340	1,254	39	25	5	5	2	5	2	1	2	0

Table 9 Concentration of arsenic and its compounds in tap water (Japan Water Works Association 2010)

(Data from survey in FY 2010)

(2) Estimation of oral exposure

(i) Total arsenic

A survey on the total arsenic intake from food and drinking-water in Japan was conducted by duplicate diet method or by market basket method.

Mohri et al. (1990) measured the mean total arsenic intake for 3 days in 12 adults (6 males and 6 females) by duplicate diet method and the mean daily intake of total arsenic was $201.6\pm142.9 \ \mu g \ (31.0-682.0 \ \mu g)$. Also, the mean daily intake of total arsenic in 4 adults (2 males and 2 females) from 7 days survey was reported to be $182.3\pm114.0 \ \mu g \ (27.0-376.0 \ \mu g)$.

Yamauchi et al. (1992) reported that the mean daily intake of total arsenic in 35 adults (12 males and 23 females) estimated by duplicate diet method was $195\pm235 \ \mu g \ (15.8-1039 \ \mu g)$.

In the Total Diet Survey (2009) by Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, all foods including drinking-water were divided into 14 groups and purchased from retail stores etc. based on

¹⁾ Documented as in the survey results of Japan Water Works Association 2010, although there are some discrepancy between total number of surface water, dam, lake water, groundwater, and others, and overall numbers.

the food intake estimated by National Health and Nutrition Survey. The food was cooked if necessary. Arsenic was measured by HGAAS for each food group, and a mean daily intake per person was estimated by market basket method. As a result, the total daily intake of arsenic in Japanese was estimated to be 177.8 μ g (of that, drinking-water: 0.1 μ g) for the period from 2002 to 2006.

FSCJ (2013) conducted the analytical survey of total arsenic using the food samples collected in duplicate diet study in the Survey of the Exposure to Dioxins and other chemical compounds in Humans (conducted between 2006 and 2010) by Ministry of the Environment. Among the diet samples from the subjects for 3 consecutive days, the total of 319 samples (94 from males and 225 from females) were collected individually on random days and thereafter, analyzed. As a result, the mean daily intake of total arsenic and 95 percentile value per body weight were reported to be $199\pm272 \ \mu g (3.14-2170 \ \mu g)$ and 8.88 ($\mu g/kg \ bw/day$), respectively.

(ii) Inorganic arsenic

Mohri et al. (1990) measured inorganic arsenic in 12 adults (6 males and 6 females) by atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) using the samples for duplicate diet study for at least 3 days and reported that the inorganic arsenic intake per day was $13.7\pm7.8 \ \mu g$ (1.2-31.7 μg). In the same manner, the 7 days survey in 4 adults (2 males and 2 females) was conducted and the mean inorganic arsenic intake per day was $10.3\pm5.5 \ \mu g$ (1.8-22.6 μg). Yamauchi et al. (1992) measured inorganic arsenic in the samples for duplicate diet study from 35 adults (12 males and 23 females) by AAS and reported that the mean inorganic arsenic intake per day was $33.7\pm25.1 \ \mu g$ (8.34-101 μg).

Oguri et al. (2012) reported that the mean daily inorganic arsenic intake measured by duplicate diet method in 25 adult females living in metropolitan area was $6.52\pm11 \mu g$ (2.0-57 μg). The same authors estimated the daily intake from certified reference material (NIES CRM NO.27) which was prepared by mixing and uniforming the duplicate diet samples collected for 141 days from all over Japan. The estimated value was 27 μg according to the relevant report.

FSCJ (2013) analyzed inorganic arsenic in 319 samples (94 males and 225 females) that were collected in the duplicate diet study for the Survey of the Exposure to Dioxins and other chemical compounds in Humans (conducted between 2006 and 2010) by Ministry of the Environment. Consequently, FSCJ reported daily inorganic arsenic intake of $8.6\pm19.6 \ \mu g$ (2.18-161 μg) and 95 percentile value per body weight of 0.754 $\mu g/kg \ bw/day$.

Kawabe et al. (2003) estimated the exposure of Japanese to inorganic arsenic, by Monte Carlo method, based on the published representative value and distribution of total arsenic concentration in different medium. According to their estimation, the total exposure in a household where people drink tap water was $0.42 \mu g/kg bw/day$, and of that, 94.3% are from food, 1.3% are from direct intake of soil, and 0.1% are from atmosphere inhalation.

(iii) Organic arsenic

Mohri et al. (1990) analyzed organic arsenic concentration in the samples for duplicate diet studies by the same method as was described above. The mean amount per day detected in the samples for 3 days and more from 12 adults (6 males and 6 females) were MMA 7.6 \pm 7.9 µg (0.6-36.0 µg), DMA 34.0 \pm 34.7 µg (0-110 µg), and trivalent methylated arsenic species 120.4 \pm 97.8 µg (0-425 µg). Methylarsonic acid 6.5 \pm 4.6 µg (0.6-19.0 µg), DMA 49.9 \pm 49.8 µg (2.8-183.6 µg), and trivalent methylated arsenic species 87.3 \pm 76.8 µg (10-271.4 µg) per day were detected in 7 days survey in 4 adults (2 males and 2 females).

According to the report by Yamauchi et al. (1992), in the measurement of samples for duplicate diet study in 35 adults (12 males and 23 females), the mean daily intake of organic arsenic, MMA, DMA, and trivalent methylated arsenic species were $2.25\pm2.5 \ \mu g$ (0.16-9.63 $\ \mu g$), $12.9\pm11.1 \ \mu g$ (0.36-38.0 $\ \mu g$), and $148\pm226 \ \mu g$ (1.95-946 $\ \mu g$), respectively.

Oguri et al. (2012) analyzed daily intake of MMA (V), DMA (V), and TMAO by duplicate diet method in 25 adult females living in metropolitan area. They reported that the mean of daily intake detected in the duplicate diet samples were <0.18 μ g (<0.18-0.39 μ g), 1.8±2.3 μ g (0.35-12 μ g), and <0.053 μ g (<0.053-2.4 μ g), respectively. In addition, they estimated daily intake from certified reference material to be 3.9 μ g, 12 μ g, and 5.9 μ g, respectively. Also, the authors reported that daily intake of AsBe estimated from the certified reference material mentioned above was 140 μ g.

FSCJ (2013) analyzed inorganic arsenic in 319 samples (94 males and 225 females) that were collected in the duplicate diet study for the Survey of the Exposure to Dioxins and other chemical compounds in Humans (conducted between 2006 and 2010) by Ministry of the Environment. Consequently FSCJ reported that daily intake per day of DMA and AsBe were 6.47 ± 4.59 µg (1.97-39.7 µg) and 88.8 ± 205.8 µg (2.05-1,680 µg), respectively.

2. Inhalation exposure

One of routes of exposure of human to arsenic is exposure through air inhalation. In Japan, NEDO (2008) estimated the daily intake of arsenic by inhalation exposure to be 0.22 μ g As/per-son/day, based on atmospheric arsenic concentration of 0.011 μ g As/m³, and the daily intake per body weight in inhalation path to be 0.0044 μ g As/kg bow/day (NEDO 2008).

Oguri et al. (2013) estimated the daily arsenic exposure through respiratory tract in Japanese adult to be 0.02 μ g/day, from the national average (1.4 ng/m³) of toxic air pollutant monitoring in FY 2010 by assuming 15 m³ as amount of ventilation per day. Methylated arsenic is hardly detected in the air in general environment except in the area where the pesticide containing organic arsenic was scattered, and most of the detected arsenic has been estimated to be inorganic arsenic (especially As(V)) (Lewis et al. 2012). Therefore, the authors deemed the value

of 0.02 μ g/day to be daily exposure of inorganic arsenic, thus exposure level through respiratory tract to be approximately 0.1% of oral exposure.

When the pesticide containing organic arsenic was used, the maximum arsenic of 52 μ g/g used to be contained in tobacco, but it decreased to 3 μ g/g after the use was prohibited (Holland and Acevedo 1996; Becker and Wahrendorf 1993). The mean arsenic contained in 1 cigarette was reported to be 1.5 μ g (Small HG Jr. and McCants CB 1962). It has been reported that the mainstream tobacco smoke contained 0-1.4 μ g of arsenic per cigarette (Cogbill and Hobbs 1957) and sidestream smoke contained 0.015-0.023 μ g (mean: 0.018 μ g) of arsenic per cigarette (Landsberger and Wu 1995).

IV. Summary of safety data 1. Pharmacokinetics

(1) Absorption

(i) Inorganic arsenic compounds

In most animal species, 80-90% of orally administered As(III) and As(V) are rapidly absorbed through the gastrointestinal tract (NEDO 2008). The absorption rate of 55-87% and of 40-50% have been reported in human (Buchet 1981; Crecelius 1977; Kumana 2002; Mappes 1977; Tam 1979; ATSDR 2007) and in hamsters (NEDO 2008) respectively. It is also reported that arsenite (As(III)) and arsenate (As(V)) in drinking-water is rapidly and almost completely, by approximately 95%, absorbed after intake (Zheng 2002). However, the absorption of inorganic arsenic in food depends upon the solubility of the arsenic compounds, the existence of other food components and nutrients in the gastrointestinal tract, and upon food matrix (EFSA 2009). Gastrointestinal absorption of low soluble arsenic trisulfide such as arsenic selenide and gallium arsenide is considered to be low (Mappes 1977; Vahter 2002; ATSDR 2007). According to JECFA (2011), gastrointestinal absorption of pentavalent arsenic compounds in mice after oral administration was examined by Odanaka et al. (1980) and Vahter and Norin (1980). Odanaka et al. reported a low rate of the urinary excretion, 48.5%, while Vahter and Norin (1980) reported a high urinary excretion rate of 89%. This discrepancy is attributed to the fact that the animals were fed freely in the former study while the animals were fasted for at least 2 hours prior to the administration to 48 hours after the administration of arsenic in the study of Vahter and Norin (1980) (JECFA 2011).

With *in vivo* model in pigs, Juhasz et al. (2006) examined bioavailability of arsenic. They compared the bioavailability of arsenic contained in rice which was grown with water contaminated with disodium arsenate and was cooked with non-contaminated water to the bioavailability of arsenic contained in commercially available rice cooked with contaminated water. Bioavailability of arsenic contained in the former rice which contained mainly DMA (V) was low as $33.1\pm3.2\%$, while the latter which contained inorganic As(V) showed a high extent of bioavailability of 89.4 \pm 9.4%. The authors concluded that the extent of bioavailability of arsenic contained in rice provably depends on the chemical species of the arsenic and is also affected largely by the existence of arsenic in cooking water and its chemical species. Moreover, Juhasz et al. (2008) reported that while the bioavailability of arsenic contained in mung bean for pigs was almost 100%, the bioavailability of arsenic contained in lettuce and chard was 50%. Based on these data, they suggested effects of indigestible polysaccharide component of vegetables on gastrointestinal absorption of arsenic.

In addition, metabolism of arsenic in different strains of mouse (C57BL, C3H and B6C3F₁) was investigated and the difference in the gastrointestinal absorption rate of orally administered arsenic acid has been found (Hughes et al. 1999; Food Safety Commission of Japan (FSCJ) 2009).

(ii) Organic arsenic compounds

Little is known about gastrointestinal absorption of the orally administered organic arsenic in human (EFSA 2009). There is a study conducted by Buchet et al. (1981) where urinary excretion of either MMA (V) or DMA (V) which was administered to volunteers by a single oral dose (500 μ g As) was measured. The study demonstrated that the urinary excretion of the arsenic for up to 4 days after the administration was 78% and 75% respectively, suggesting that gastrointestinal absorption of pentavalent organic arsenic compounds was higher than 75%.

Francesconi et al. (2002) reported that approximately 80% of arsenosugar was excreted in urine 4 days after the intake of the arsenosugar in a male volunteer. However, very large individual difference in absorption of arsenosugar has been suggested recently from data based on the urinary excretion (Raml et al. 2009).

As for AsBe, Brown et al. (1990) reported the absorption of ⁷⁴As-AsBe administered into 6 volunteers, where the systemic content of ⁷⁴As-AsBe 1 day after the administration was approximately 50% of the intake amount and this decreased gradually for a few days afterwards. However, Brown et al. (1990) suggested that most of the absorbed AsBe was excreted in urine on the following day of the administration (EFSA 2009). Similarly, Yamauchi and Yamamura (1984) reported that AsBe contained in fish and seafood was absorbed rapidly from the gastrointestinal tract in humans, and most of them were excreted in urine within 72 hours after the administration.

In rodents, more than 40% of the intake amount of compounds such as MMA(V) or DMA(V) in which arsenic exists as a form of pentavalent is absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract, while the absorption rate of trivalent organic arsenic compounds is considered to be low (Goodman and Gilman 1980; Vahter 1994; Hughes et al. 2005; EFSA 2009). Juhasz et al. (2006) reported that gastrointestinal absorptions of MMA (V) and DMA (V) in pigs are 17% and 33%, respectively, according to EFSA (2009).

(2) Distribution

(i) Inorganic arsenic compounds

It has been reported that As(III) is insoluble at physiological pH and incorporated into liver cells more rapidly than ionized As(V) (Lerman et al.1983). And affinity of As(III) to thiol group is approximately 10 times high than that of As(V) (Jacobson-Kram and Montalbano 1985) (NEDO 2008).

The contents of arsenic in tissues of the victims (age, sex unknown) killed in the accident in Mumbai (old Bombay), India, has been reported, although there are big individual differences. The reported contents of arsenic were 3.9 ± 1.0 ng/g in the brain, 5.9 ± 3.9 ng/g in the blood, 12.4 ± 20.7 ng/g in the kidney, 14.5 ± 6.9 ng/g in the liver, 15.2 ± 16.6 ng/g in the spleen and 19.9 ± 22.7 ng/g in the lung (all expressed as per gram wet weight). Low level of arsenic in the brain was likely attributable to the effect of blood-brain barrier which might have prevented transition of arsenic to the brain (Dang et al. 1983). On the other hand, the study on the distribution of As and its metabolites in the tissues of Japanese adults (age: 36-79) who had died of cerebral hemorrhage, pneumonia, or of cancer reported that arsenic concentration in the brain was similar to that in the other tissues, and that big individual differences were observed in all tissues (Yamauchi and Yamamura 1983; NEDO 2008).

In addition, inorganic arsenic such as As(III), As(V)), MMA(III), MMA(V), DMA(III), DMA(V), AsBe and As has been detected in the plasma of the inhabitants of West Bengal which is the area contaminated with arsenic (Suzuki et al. 2002; NEDO 2008).

Rodriguez et al. (2005) studied arsenic concentration in the brain and liver in male CD1 mice after oral administration of disodium arsenate (As(V)) (0, 2.5, 5, 10 mg/kg bow/day) for 9 days. The data showed that the total arsenic concentration increased in the brain and liver in all dosed groups compared to the control group, and that it was approximately 2 and 3 times higher (in the brain and in the liver respectively) in the 10 mg/kg bw/day group, as compared to the controlled group. The arsenic which showed significant increase was DMA in the brain and inorganic arsenic in the liver, and the content of each in the 10 mg/kg bw/day group were approximately 9 times and 3 times higher than that in the controlled group, respectively (Rodriguez et al. 2005; ATSDR 2007). Kenyon et al. (2008) studied total accumulation of arsenic in tissues in female C57BL/6 mice after 12 weeks administration of disodium arsenate (As(V)) (0.5, 2, 10, 50 ppm as; 0.08, 0.35, 1.9, 7.0 mg as/kg bw/day) in drinking-water. Total accumulation of arsenic which was measured as a total of inorganic arsenic, MMA and DMA, was the highest in the kidneys, followed by the lungs, bladder, skin, blood, and then the liver, being the lowest. Among the detected metabolites of arsenic compounds, MMA was the highest in the kidney and DMA was the highest in the lung (Kenyon et al. 2008; EFSA 2009).

The excretion of arsenic in breast milk is known to be extremely low. According to the survey conducted in Bangladesh by Fangstrom et al. (2008), despite the high arsenic exposure through drinking-water where the median of urinary excretion amount was approximately 50 μ g/L, the arsenic concentration in the breast milk sample was low showing median

value of 1 μ g/kg, and the arsenic compound which transited to breast milk was mainly inorganic arsenic (EFSA 2009).

In mammals including humans, inorganic arsenic and its methylated metabolites, MMA and DMA, are known to pass through the placenta and to transfer to the fetus (Lindgren et al. 1984; Concha et al. 1998a; EFSA 2009).

(ii) Organic arsenic compounds

Vahter et al. (1984) studied the accumulation of organic arsenic, ⁷⁴As-DMA, after oral administration in mice and rats. The detected accumulation within 6 hrs after administration was the highest in the kidney, followed by the lung, intestinal mucosa, stomach and the least in the testis. In many organs, DMA concentration decreased rapidly, but was retained for the longest time in the lung, thyroid gland and intestinal mucosa (EFSA 2009, Vahter et al. 1984). Accumulation of MMA (III) and MMA (V) each in female B6C3F1 mice after a single oral administration (0.4, 40 mg As/kg body weight) was examined by Hughes et al. (2005). As a result, MMA (V) was accumulated the most in the bladder and kidney and MMA (III) was accumulated the most in the lung as being measured as MMA and DMA. The proportion of DMA in tissues of the MMA (V) administered animals (0.4mg As/kg body weight) were 0% in blood and 19% in the lung, while 75% in blood and 100% in the bladder, kidney and lung in the MMA (III) administered animals.

(3) Metabolism

(i) Inorganic arsenic compounds

As(V) in drinking-water is detected as As(III) in blood in most animal species (NEDO 2008). Inorganic arsenic absorbed *in vivo* is metabolized to methylated compounds and mainly DMA (V), MMA (V), arsenic acid and arsonous acid are excreted in urine in humans (JECFA 2011). In this regard, it has been reported that arsenic detected in urine in the inhabitants showing symptoms of arsenic poisoning in the arsenic contaminated area in West Bengal, India, was mainly DMA (III) but not DMA (V) (Mandal et al. 2001). Metabolically methylated MMA (V) and DMA (V) have low acute toxicity, thus arsenic methylation has been considered to be mechanism for detoxication of arsenic *in vivo*. However, metabolic methylation and metabolism to trivalent methylated arsenic (MMA(III), DMA(III)) which are intermediate metabolites of As(V), is considered to be a process of metabolic activation rather than detoxication of inorganic arsenic in these years (EFSA 2009; Food Safety Commission of Japan (FSCJ) 2009).

Figure 4 shows the metabolic pathway for methylation of inorganic arsenic compounds (Aposhian et al. 2000). Generally, oxidative methylation where the methyl group is transferred along with oxidation of As(III) to As(V) has been suggested as a metabolic pathway of arsenic (Challenger 1951; Aposhian et al. 2000). Also, a methylation mediated by formation of trivalent arsenic-glutathione conjugate shown in Figure 5has been also reported (Hayakawa et al. 2005; Thomas et al. 2007). Both methylations have been considered to be catalyzed by methyltransferase including trivalent arsenic methyltransferase (AS3MT) that requires *S*-adenosylmethionine (SAM) as the methyl donor in the redox cycle of arsenic (Thomas et al. 2007). It is also reported that in this process, reactive oxygen is produced and oxidative stress is induced as a result (Hu et al. 2002). On the other hand, the formation of free radicals such as the arsenic radical caused by the reaction of dimethylarsine which is generated through the process of reductive metabolism of DMA (III) with molecular oxygen has been reported (Yamanaka et al. 1990; Kitchin 2001). Moreover, sulfur-containing arsenic compounds such as dimethylarsine acid have been detected in urine and possible reactions of dimethylarsinic with endogenous sulfur containing compounds were suggested for the mechanism of the formation (Yoshida et al. 2003; Raml et al. 2007; Naranmandura et al. 2007).

(ii) Organic arsenic compounds

Concerning the metabolism of arsenic derived from marine products, only a few reports are available even from animal studies. A study on the chemical species of arsenic in urine and blood of sheep which lived on arsenosugar-rich seaweed revealed that the main metabolite in urine and blood was DMA (V) and the arsenic concentration in urine, blood, organs and in wool was higher than that of sheep which were not exposed with arsenic (Feldmann et al. 2000). Moreover, a study on biotransformation of arsenosugar using mice cecum flora and cecum tissue showed that 95% of arsenosugar were converted to thio arsenic in the reaction mixture for 1 hour at 37°C in which microbial flora was added, but the conversion rate in the reaction mixture composed of cecum tissue alone was low where arsenosugar converted for 48 hours at 37°C was as low as 77% (Conklin et al. 2006). Although thio-DMA(V), thio-dimethyl arseno ethanol (DMAE), and thio-arsenosugar, these arsenic metabolites in urine of humans who had taken in arsenosugar, these arsenic metabolites in urine except DMA(V) were found to be non-cytotoxic even with exposure to high concentration of 10 mM (Raml et al. 2005).

Arseno-lipid, which is a lipid-soluble organic arsenic compound, is metabolized to DMA (V) *in vivo* in humans (Raml et al. 2009; Schmeisser et al. 2006).

The organic arsenic compounds such as AsBe are hardly metabolized and are excreted more rapidly into the urine compared to inorganic arsenic (WHO 2001).

(iii) Species difference and individual difference in metabolism

Species difference is observed in metabolic methylation of inorganic arsenic. In marmosets, chimpanzees and guinea pigs, excretion of MMA (V) or DMA (V) into urine has not been observed since these species are deficient in arsenic methyltransferase in the liver (Food Safety Commission of Japan 2009). On the other hand, rhesus monkeys, rabbits, mice, rats and hamsters have arsenic methyltransferase in the liver therefore arsenic is metabolically methylated in these species (Goering et al. 1999). Moreover, the rate of urinary excretion of MMA (V) in these experimental animals has been reported to be extremely lower than that in humans, suggesting effective methylation from MMA (V) to DMA (V) occurred in these species (Vahter 2000).

The strain difference arsenic metabolism in mice has been investigated in C57BL, C3H and B6C3F₁. No strain difference in metabolic methylation was found, though there was a difference in gastrointestinal absorption of orally administered arsenic acid (Hughes et al. 1999).

Recently, effects of AS3MT on distribution and form of arsenic was suggested by a study where sodium arsenate (As(III)) was administered through drinking-water, at the dose of 1.73, 17.3, 43.3 ppm that were 1, 10, 25 ppm As, to 28 wild-type female mice (C57BL/6) (hereafter referred to as WT) and 28 AS3MT knock-out mice (hereafter referred to as KO) for 33 days and the total arsenic concentration in plasma was measured. The total arsenic concentration in plasma was higher in WT than in KO, but the total arsenic concentration in red blood cells was higher in KO than in WT. The total arsenic concentration in the liver, kidneys and lungs were higher in KO than in WT. In these tissues, the proportion of methylated arsenic (mono-, di-, tri-methylated arsenic compounds) in total arsenic was 80% in WT but lower in KO. Methyl arsenic was detected in the tissues of KO despite very low activity of the metabolic methylation. The authors attributed these methylated arsenic observed in the tissue of KO to the arsenic metabolism by intestinal flora (Chen et al. 2011).

Regarding the individual difference in humans, the relationship between genetic polymorphism of enzyme associated with arsenic metabolism such as AS3MT and urinary excretion of methylated arsenic has been investigated (Lindberg et al. 2007; Hernández et al. 2008a). It was reported that MMA (V) in urine increased by a single nucleotide polymorphism of Met287Thr in the AS3MT gene in Chilean (Hernández et al. 2008b).



SAM: S-adenosyl-L-methionine

SAHC: S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine

AS3MT: Trivalent arsenic methyltransferase

Figure 4 Metabolism of arsenic compounds (oxidative methylation) (Adapted from the Food Safety Commission of Japan (2009))



Figure 5 Metabolism of arsenic compounds (Methylation mediated by formation of trivalent arsenic-glutathione conjugate) (Adapted from the Food Safety Commission of Japan (2009))

(4) Excretion

(i) Inorganic arsenic compounds

Arsenic and its metabolites are mainly excreted in urine and bile. Arsenic and its metabolites tend to be excreted preferentially into bile in rats, but arsenic compounds are mainly excreted in urine in many mammals and humans (Schuhmacher-Wolz et al. 2009; EFSA 2009). Generally DMA (V) (40-75%), arsenic acid and diarsenic trioxide (20-25%) and MMA (V) (15-25%) are the arsenic compounds detected in human urine (ATSDR 2007). However, after eating algae and seafood which contain many organic arsenic compounds such as arsenosugar and AsBe, these organic arsenic compounds are excreted into urine.

Chemical speciation of urinary arsenic and sequential changes in its urinary concentration following intake of processed food of hijiki which contains a high amount of inorganic arsenic have been studied. The data showed that arsenic acid, diarsenic trioxide, MMA(V) and DMA(V) reached its maximum level 4, 6.5, 13 and 17.5 hours after intake of hijiki, respectively (Nakajima et al. 2006), and that 50-90% of arsenic was excreted 48-50 hours after intake of hijiki (Yamauchi and Yamamura 1979; Fukui et al. 1981).

Inorganic arsenic in human blood has been reported to disappear with the half-time consists of three phases, i.e. the first phase with a half-time of 1 hour, the second with a halftime of 3 hours and the third phase with a half-time of over 200 hours, and most of the inorganic arsenic disappeared from blood in the first phase (Mealey et al. 1959; Pomroy et al. 1980). A 2 phasic model has been considered appropriate for the excretion of arsenic absorbed in the lung, where 75% of the arsenic was excreted from the lungs with a half-life of 4 days and the other 25% was excreted from the lungs with a half-life of 10 days (Thorne et al. 1986). In addition, the half-life of insoluble arsenic compounds has been reported to be extended considerably (Brune et al. 1980).

(ii) Organic arsenic compounds

In human, MMA and DMA are excreted mainly into urine by 75-85% of the intake within a day. This is also the case in mice, rats and hamsters, except that in animals MMA and DMA are excreted into feces as well (ATSDR 2007). It has been reported that MMA and DMA rapidly disappeared from the body in mice and hamsters. For example, 85% of the administered DMA were excreted with a half-life of 2.5 hours. In contrast, 45% of administered DMA is excreted with a half-life of 13 hours and 55% is excreted with a half-life of 50 days in rats (Quoted from Vahter et al. 1984; ATSDR 2007 for a review).

A survey of 210 Japanese volunteers has revealed that the median value of AsBe in urine and that of DMA (V) were as high as 61.3 μ g As/L and 42.6 μ g As/L respectively (Hata et al. 2007). Generally, most of AsBe is rapidly excreted into urine right after intake without being metabolized. However, it has been reported that arsenosugar is metabolized to DMA (V) and DMAE which are carcinogenic in some animals (Ma and Le 1998; Francesconi et al. 2002; Heinrich-Ramm et al. 2002).

(iii) Species difference in excretion

Ninety percent of inorganic arsenic administered intravenously in mice is excreted in 2 days (Vahter and Marafante 1983), while the biological half-life in humans is 4 days (Buchet et al. 1981). In rats, the affinity of hemoglobin to As(III) is higher than that of human hemo-globin (IARC 2012), thus a metabolite, DMA (V), is retained in red blood cells. Therefore, urinary excretion of arsenic in rats is slower and arsenic is retained in the body for longer compared to other animals such as humans, mice or hamsters (Vahter 1981; Marafante et al. 1982; Lerman and Clarkson 1983).

2. Effect of inorganic arsenic compounds

(1) Effect in humans

The demand of arsenic compounds has been consistently high since 20th century to date. Health impairment due to the occupational exposure in copper smelters, nonferrous metal smelters, the glass industry, and in the semiconductor industry has been a concern.

Meanwhile, contamination of arsenic compounds in foods has been reported inside and outside the country. Approximately 12,000 infants have developed subacute poisoning in Japan. Overseas, the effect of inorganic arsenic exposure through drinking-water has been reported.

(i) Acute and subacute effects

Intake of inorganic arsenic compounds can be fatal in human beings. Toxicity of arsenic differs by its solubility and chemical species. In general, As(III) is considered to have higher toxicity than As(V) (JECFA 2011). The lethal dose of diarsenic trioxide in a human adult has been estimated to be 100-300 mg/person as internal absorption based on past cases of accidents, and human adults are considered more sensitive than animals (Food Safety Commission of Japan, Cabinet Office, Government of Japan. 2009). Also, it was reported that the minimum lethal dose of orally administered diarsenic trioxide and sodium arsenite was 2 mg/kg body weight and the minimum oral toxic dose in children was 1 mg/kg body weight (RTECS 1998).

The symptom of acute arsenic poisoning includes fever, diarrhea, asthenia, loss of appetite, vomiting, excitation, rash, alopecia and other various symptoms. First, oral and/or esophagus membrane irritation develop and secondly, burning pain in esophagus and dysphagia develop, then abdominal symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain and diarrhea develop a few minutes to a few hours later. If the poisoning is severe, strong abdominal pain, severe vomiting, serous diarrhea, shock led by dehydration, muscle spasms, myocardial and renal disorder occur and he/she dies within 24 hours in the earliest case. Also, polyneuritis with cardinal symptom of abnormal sensation develops as peripheral nerve disorder 2 to 3 weeks after intake (Inoue et al. 1987). In infants, the signs appear within a few weeks after taking powder milk (equivalent to the dose, 1.3-3.6 mg/day) which has been contaminated with inorganic arsenic compounds. Even in adults, similar signs appear within 2 to 3 weeks after the intake of arsenic compounds of 3 mg/day (Food Safety Commission of Japan, Cabinet Office, Government of Japan. 2009).

The Wakayama curry-poisoning case of acute toxicity and Morinaga arsenic milk poisoning case of subacute toxicity are the examples of poisoning in Japan.

In acute poisoning by inhalation (respiratory) exposure where the dust with a large amount of arsenic compounds is inhaled, oral contamination occurs and arsenic is absorbed through the gastrointestinal tract by swallowing. Hence, similar to oral intake, digestive symptoms such as nausea, diarrhea, abdominal pain, and central and peripheral nervous system disorders may be observed (U.S. DHHS 1998). When high concentrated diarsenic trioxide is inhaled, irritation to nasal mucosa, cough, and dyspnoea are developed due to irritation to the respiratory system and corrosivity, and the patient may die because of pulmonary edema (Inoue et al. 1987).

a. The Wakayama curry-poisoning case

On July 25, 1998, 67 people developed the symptoms of acute arsenic poisoning and 4 people died after approximately 12 hours in Sonobe, Wakayama. Sixty-three people, 29 males and 34 females survived, where 20 people were in the range from 1 to 12 years old and 43 people were in the range from 13 to 67 years old. The cause of the poisoning was diarsenic trioxide, and the mean estimated intake (absorbed amount) in the 63 survivors was 53 mg, and 4 people had taken 100 mg or more and 25 people had taken 50-99 mg. Among them, the maximum intake was 141 mg, and the minimum intake was 18 mg. Arsenic intake of the 20 people aged 12 or younger was 48.5 ± 23 mg, and that of 43 people aged 13 or older was 55.5 ± 26.3 mg.

Diarsenic trioxide added in curry was mostly dissolved by remaining heat, and ionized. Some were taken as crystals. Abdominal symptoms were observed approximately 5 to 10 minutes after intake of the curry. Patients showed common symptoms such as feeling queasy and vomiting, and diarrhea or abdominal pain developed subsequently. However, diarrhea developed only in approximately half of the patients indicating that diarrhea was not a common symptom of acute arsenic poisoning. Hypotension persisted for a few days and tachycardia, and shock were also observed in the moderate and severe patients. Circulatory disturbance was the major cause for death. A disorder of the central nervous system such as headache, feelings of weakness, convulsion, and mental disorder were observed in severe patients. Symmetrical bilateral peripheral neuropathy developed in the distal portion of the extremities in moderate to severe patients approximately 2 weeks later, and sensory aberrations and pain were observed. In severe patients, painless erythematous rash appeared in the abdominal region, axilla, and on the back of the neck as a skin disorder about the same time. Moreover, Mees line (white line) gradually developed on the nails. Besides this, conjunctivitis, face edema, stomatitis, desquamation and loss of hair appeared in a few patients. In the patients who had taken crystalline diarsenic trioxide, punctate shadow of arsenic was observed in the gastrointestinal tract as a radio-opaque material by plain abdominal radiography.

Sixty-three patients were misdiagnosed with cyanide poisoning, so were not treated with BAL (British Anti Lewisite), a chelating agent for the basic treatment for acute arsenic poisoning.

Metabolic methylation activity of children is higher than that of adults, and arsenic was effectively excreted in urine in the early stage of arsenic intake. This strongly affected the outcome of poisoning. The majority of the children were on the process of recovery approximately 1 week to 10 days after the intake, while the poisoning symptoms in adults exacerbated. Some patients still did not show recovery from peripheral nervous disorder, even after approximately 10 years (Yamauchi et al. 2002).

b. Morinaga arsenic milk poisoning case

Morinaga arsenic milk poisoning case was the most serious case of food contamination with inorganic arsenic inside and outside the country. In 1955, dibasic sodium phosphate for industrial use which was to be added to milk powder was contaminated with inorganic As(V) by about 10% in the Tokushima factory of Morinaga Milk Industry Co., Ltd. The Okayama prefecture Inst. of Public Health measured arsenic concentration in the milk powder by the Gutzeit method and reported the concentration of diarsenic trioxide to be 20-60 μ g/g though the values depend upon the manufacturing batch (Kitamura and Kasuyama 1955).

Powder milk for infants manufactured by Morinaga Milk Industry Co., Ltd. was widely distributed around Western Japan and arsenic contaminated powder milk had been taken for approximately 3 months. About 12,000 infants suffered subacute arsenic poisoning and 133 infants died. Arsenic intake from powder milk was estimated to be 1.3-3.6 mg/infant per day and the total intake was estimated to be 90-140 mg (Hamamoto 1955).

Comprehensive summary of reported clinical findings indicated that the symptoms of subacute poisoning observed in the patients included fever, cough, rhinorrhea, conjunctivitis, vomiting, diarrhea, melanoderma, hepatomegaly, and abdominal distension. In addition, the laboratory test abnormalities such as anemia, granulocytopenia, abnormal electrocardiogram, and a band-like shadow in the X-ray image of epiphyseal area of long bone were indicated (NAS 1977).

The follow-up study which was conducted from 15th year on after the case by Faculty of Medicine, Osaka University observed growth retardation, leukomelanodermia, keratosis, hypacusis, mental retardation, and brain disorder such as epilepsy (NAS 1977).

The Osaka Medical Center for Cancer and Cardiovascular Diseases conducted a prospective cohort study (1982-2006) on the current condition, more than 50 years after the case, of 6,104 victims (3,738 males and 2,366 females). The mean starting age of observation was 27.4 years old and the mean observation period was 24.3 years. A total of 258 victims died and the standardized mortality ratio (SMR) through the observation period by all causes of death were 1.1 in total (95% Confidence Interval (95%CI): 1.0-1.2), 1.0 for males (95%CI: 0.9-1.2), and 1.2 for females (95%CI: 1.0-1.6). No significant excess of the total mortality was observed. However, significant excess deaths due to nervous system disease was observed (SMR: 3.7, 95%CI: 1.9-6.2). The risk of death of 408 male victims who had been unemployed at the initiation of observation was significantly higher in all causes of death (SMR: 2.8, 95%CI: 2.1-3.6, p < 0.01) and a significant increase was also observed in nervous system disease (SMR: 25.3, 95%CI: 10.8-58.8, p < 0.01), respiratory system disease (SMR: 8.6, 95%CI: 3.1-16.8, p < 0.01), circulatory system disease (SMR: 3.2, 95%CI: 1.6-5.2, p < 0.01) and in external factors (car accident, suicide etc.) (SMR: 2.6, 95%CI: 1.4-4.1, p < 0.01). The authors reported that the death risk due to nervous system disease in the victims of this case was significantly higher compared to the general population (Tanaka et al. 2010).

(ii) Chronic effect

Chronic arsenic poisoning is caused mainly by oral intake of arsenic and is observed in the cases of long-term oral intake of drinking-water contaminated with inorganic arsenic in Asia, Central and South America, and in North America and others.

The latent time to onset of chronic arsenic poisoning depends on exposure. The sign of toxicity potentially increases when the arsenic concentration in drinking-water exceeds 100 μ g As/L in the group where the people are chronically exposed to arsenic by using well water in daily life (Grantham and Jones 1977) (JECFA 1989).

Since the majority of the data of the arsenic effect on humans by oral intake concern the exposure through drinking-water containing arsenic, we focused on these data in this document.

a. Carcinogenicity

In 2012, IARC summarized the evaluation of carcinogenicity of arsenic exposure. According to it, sufficient evidences are available which indicate that arsenic in drinking-water cause bladder cancer, lung cancer and skin cancer, all in a dose-dependent manner (IARC 2012). The summary was mainly based on the results from the investigation on the effect of well water which was contaminated with inorganic materials and its compounds. Although carcinogenicity of arsenic exposure at high concentration has been considered consistently in many studies, a concentration of arsenic to exert carcinogenicity at low level has not been specified (NEDO 2008). Recent study by Baastrup and his colleagues also did not find relation between exposure to low-concentrated arsenic in drinking-water and risk of carcinogenicity (Baastrup et al. 2008). Concerning carcinogenicity of arsenic in foods, a risk of cancer was estimated on the basis of arsenic intake from hijiki cooked in Japan and found to exceed the permissible level (Nakamura et al. 2008). Moreover, a recent study suggested that arsenic intake in Japanese tends to have a dose-dependent relationship with the risk of lung cancer in current male smokers (Sawada et al. 2013). On the other hand, cases of inhaled (respiratory) exposure such as the cases of occupational exposure in copper smelters, nonferrous metal smelters, or in pesticide factories have been known. The excess death due to lung cancer, liver cancer and colon cancer was confirmed in the cohort study conducted from 1949 to 1971 on 839 workers in a copper smelter in Saganoseki, Oita in Japan (Tokudome and Kuratsune 1976).

(a) Skin cancer

IARC summarized the reevaluation of inorganic arsenic in drinking-water and confirmed the causal relationship between arsenic intake and skin cancer (particularly squamous cell carcinoma) in 2012. The reevaluation was based on surveys including an ecological survey conducted in Taiwan, mainly in south west area where many arsenic was observed, using incidence rate and mortality of skin cancer as index (Tseng et al.1968; Chen et al. 1985, 1988a; Wu et al. 1989; Chen and Wang, 1990; Tsai et al. 1999), and an ecological survey of mortality of skin cancer in Chile (Rivara et al. 1997; Smith et al. 1998). A cohort study in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1988b; Hsueh et al. 1995, 1997) was also investigated. IARC reported that consistent and significant increase in risk of skin cancer caused by inorganic arsenic exposure was suggested in all the above mentioned surveys (IARC 2012).

A geographic information system (GIS) analysis in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) conducted in Denmark by Baastrup (2008) did not find relation between arsenic in drinking-water, non-melanoma skin cancer, and melanoma after adjustment of data with the physiographic factor. However, subjects who had arsenic over 2 μ g/L were only a few.

(b) Bladder cancer

In the assessment of carcinogenicity of arsenic exposure conducted in 2012, IARC reported that the relationship between inorganic arsenic in drinking-water and bladder cancer was not due to coincidence or biased data while the dose-dependent relationship was found. Therefore, IARC concluded that arsenic was carcinogenic in bladder. The assessment included the ecological study in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1985,1988a; Wu et al. 1989; Chen and Wang 1990; Chiang et al. 1993; Tsai et al. 1999), Chile (Rivara et al. 1997; Smith et al. 1998; Marshall et al. 2007), and in Argentina (Hopenhayn-Rich et al. 1996, 1998), and a case-control study in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1986), cohort studies in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1988b; Chiou et al. 1995, 2001; Chen and Chiou 2001), Japan (Tsuda et al. 1995), and in the U.K. (Cuzick et al. 1992). Consequently, IARC confirmed dose-dependent effect, the effects of arsenic of high concentration and of long term exposure on bladder cancer risk from arsenic. (IARC 2012).

Kurttio et al. (1999) investigated the relationship between bladder cancer or kidney cancer and arsenic exposure through well water in 144,627 inhabitants living in the area with no waterworks in Finland between 1967 and 1980. The final assessment was conducted on the targeted population which included; 61 patients who had been diagnosed with bladder cancer (50 males and 11 females), 49 patients (24 males and 25 females) who had been diagnosed with kidney cancer both from 1981 to 1995, and 275 subjects (163 males and 112 females) in the control group who had been matched on age and sex. The sample water was collected from the well which had been used between 1967 and 1980. Arsenic concentration in well water in the control group was low where the median value was $0.1 \mu g/L$.

Regarding kidney cancer risk, neither arsenic concentration in well water, daily arsenic exposure, nor cumulative arsenic exposure was found to correlate with the risk. Regarding bladder cancer, the risk was found to correlate with arsenic concentration in well water 3 to 9 years before the diagnosis. The relative risk (RR) which had been adjusted with age, sex, and smoking status were 1.53 (95%CI: 0.75-3.09) for 0.1-0.5 µg/L exposure group and 2.44 (95%CI: 1.11-5.37) for \geq 0.5 µg/L exposure group, compared to that for < 0.1 µg/L exposure group. However, when the cumulative arsenic exposure was used as an index, the relative risk (RR) between bladder cancer risk and arsenic exposure in \geq 2,000 µg exposure group (RR = 1.50 (95%CI: 0.71-3.15)) was not different compare to <500 µg/L exposure group.

Bates et al. (1995) investigated the relationship between exposure to low-concentrated arsenic in drinking-water and bladder cancer using the data of National Bladder Cancer Study which was conducted on case group of 117 subjects consisted of 97 males and 20 females with mean age of 64.2, and on control group of 266 subjects consisted of 194 males and 72 females with mean age of 61.1, in Utah, U.S.A. in 1978. In the investigation, they used two indices for cumulative arsenic exposure, i.g. total arsenic cumulative exposure (index 1) and total arsenic intake concentration that reflected arsenic in urine to which bladder wall was exposed (index 2). The arsenic concentration in drinking-water was 0.5-160 µg/L with mean of 5.0 µg/L. Based on cancer risk adjusted with age, sex, smoking status, the duration of drinking surface water with chlorine disinfection, history of bladder infection, education, urbanization in the longest settled area, and engagement in high risk occupations, odds ratio (OR) of bladder cancer for the 19,000-33,000 µg (equivalent to 50-90 µg/day) exposed smokers group tended to increase, when index 1 was used as an index (OR: 3.33 (90%CI:1.0-10.8). When index 2 was used as an index after the same adjustment, odds ratio (OR) of bladder cancer for \geq 13,000 (µg/L·years) exposure group who had been exposed 30 to 39 years before diagnosis (OR: 3.07 (90%CI: 1.1-8.4)) showed a tendency to increase.

Steinmauset al. (2003) conducted a case-control study in the population in 6 counties in Western Nevada and Kings County in California in the U.S., who had been exposed to nearly 100 μ g/L of arsenic in drinking-water in the past, and investigated the relationship between bladder cancer and arsenic intake (2003). The case group was of 181 patients consisted of 34 males and 147 females, with mean age of 69.8 (20-85), who had first been diagnosed with

primary bladder cancer from 1994 to 2000. The control group was of 328 subjects consisted of 76 males and 252 females, mean age of 70.3 years, who had been matched on age and sex. Arsenic exposure was estimated by phone questionnaire survey on the source of drinking-water, the amount of drinking, occupation, and on smoking etc. The increase in bladder cancer risk was not observed even in the group exposed to cumulative arsenic of \geq 82,800µg after adjusting for age, sex, occupation, history of smoking, income, education and race (OR: 0.73, 95%CI: 0.45-1.17). In smokers, who were exposed to arsenic of high concentration (\geq 80 µg/day, median value: 177 µg/day) more than 40 years ago, a significant increase of risk was observed after adjusting the values according to age, sex, occupation, income, education, and race (OR: 3.67, 95%CI: 1.43-9.42, p < 0.01).

From 1996 to 2000 in Cordoba, Argentina, Bates et al. (2004) conducted a case-control study of bladder cancer in 114 case-control pairs based on age, sex, and states. The case group was consisted of 94 male pairs and 20 female pairs with mean age of 68.9. The control group was consisted of 94 male pairs and 20 female pairs with mean age of 68.3. Water samples were collected from subjects' residences which have been in use for the last 40 years. Statistical analyses showed no correlation between exposures which was estimated based on arsenic concentrations in drinking-water and bladder cancer. However, when well-water consumption itself was used as an index, the use of well water more than 50 years ago (51-70 years ago) adjusting for sex, years of birth, the use of mate tea with bombilla (a metal straw for mate), education, and the maximum number of cigarettes smoked per day, was associated with an increase of bladder cancer risk in smokers (OR: 2.5, 95%CI: 1.1-5.5) but not in other groups.

Chen et al. (2010a) followed up with a total of 8,086 inhabitants of northeast Taiwan for 12 years and assessed bladder cancer risk, effect of arsenic concentration of arsenic contaminated well water and of the duration of exposure through drinking. Incidence of bladder cancer was ascertained through linkage with the national cancer registry. The data were analyzed using Cox proportional hazards regression models. The analysis revealed that there were 450 incidences of bladder cancer and that a rate of the incidence monotonically increased in proportion to the increase in arsenic concentration (p < 0.001). The age- and sexadjusted RR, when compared with the < 10 µg/L group, were 4.18 (95%CI: 1.37-12.8) for the 50-99.9 µg/L exposure group, and 7.73 (95%CI: 2.69-22.3) for the group of exposure to arsenic as high as >100 µg/L. The RR for the high exposure group was more than 5 times higher compared with the < 10 µg/L group. The age- and sex-adjusted RR of 5,000-10,000 (µg/L · years) cumulative arsenic exposure group compared to 400µg/L · years cumulative arsenic exposure group was 3.88 (95%CI: 1.18-12.7).

However, excessive risk of bladder cancer was not confirmed in some studies. For example, Baastrup et al. (2008) estimated individual arsenic exposure for the period from 1970 to 2003

in 56,378 inhabitants, consisted of 26,876 males and 29,502 females with the median age of 56 at the time of enrollment, of Copenhagen and Aarhus who had been registered to prospective cohort study in Denmark between 1993 and 1997, and investigated the relationship between exposure to low concentration arsenic in drinking-water and cancer risk using Cox's proportional hazards regression models. The mean arsenic exposure concentration was 1.2 μ g/L (0.05-25.3 μ g/L) in the cohort. No significant association was found in the time-weighted average arsenic exposure and the risk of bladder cancer (p = 0.75) after the adjustment for smoking, education, body mass index (BMI), drinking alcohol, occupation and others.

Meliker et al. (2010) conducted a case-control study in 411 patients consisted of 315 males and 96 females who had been diagnosed with bladder cancer during the period from 2000 to 2004, and 566 controls consisted of 418 males and 148 females in Michigan, U.S.A., and restructured the individual life-time exposure profiles. As a result, 90% of bladder cancer patients and controls were exposed to arsenic within the range of 0.02-25 µg/L. After adjusted the risk of bladder cancer for history of smoking, education, history of high risk occupation, family history of bladder cancer, age, race and sex, the risk was not increased in the group with> 10 µg/L of the time-weighted average life-time exposure compared to the risk in the < 1 µg/L group (OR:1.10 (95%CI: 0.65-1.86)). Similarly, in smokers, an increase in risk of bladder cancer was not observed in the > 10 µg/L group after the adjustment for education, history of high risk occupation, family history of bladder cancer, age, race, and sex (OR: 0.94 (95%CI: 0.50-1.78)).

Mink et al. reviewed on arsenic and bladder cancer (Mink et al. 2008). Some discrepancies are attributed to weakness of the statistical power for detecting moderate effect from low level exposures.

(c) Lung cancer

In 2012, IARC judged inorganic arsenic exposure through drinking-water to be carcinogenic in the lungs in the carcinogenicity assessment of arsenic exposure. IARC concluded that there were enough evidences of carcinogenicity of inorganic arsenic in lung (IARC 2012), based on the result from ecological studies in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1985, 1988a; Wu et al. 1989; Chen and Wang 1990; Tsai et al. 1999), Chile and Argentina (Rivara et al. 1997; Smith et al. 1998, 2006; Hopenhayn-Rich et al. 1998), the result from case-control studies in Chile (Ferreccio et al. 2000) and Bangladesh (Mostafa et al. 2008), and from a cohort study in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1986),.

Ferreccio et al. (2000) conducted a case-control study in 151 patients (72% were males, mean age: 61) who had been diagnosed with lung cancer in 1994 to 1996 at northern Chile where arsenic concentration in drinking-water during the period from 1958 to 1970 had been

860 µg/L, and in 419 inpatients (61% were males, mean age: 61) with disease unrelated to arsenic. The subjects were interviewed on the source of drinking-water, smoking status and others. The logistic regression analysis showed that increase in OR of lung cancer associated with the increase of arsenic concentration in drinking-water. After adjustment for sex, age, cumulative life-time smoking, occupational exposure to copper, and socio-economic status, OR for each exposure group compared to the < 10 µg/L exposure group were 1.6 (95%CI: 0.5-5.3), 3.9 (95%CI: 1.2-12.3), 5.2 (95%CI: 2.3-11.7), and 8.9 (95%CI: 4.0-19.6) for 10-29 µg/L, 30-49 µg/L, 50-199 µg/L and 200-400 µg/L exposure group respectively. For the interaction of arsenic exposure in drinking-water and smoking, the OR for the $\ge 200 \mu g/L$ exposure group in smokers was 32.0 (95%CI: 7.22-198.0) compared to the $\le 49 \mu g/L$ arsenic exposure group in non-smokers indicating a synergistic effect.

Arsenic exposure in utero and in early childhood and the mortality of respiratory disease were investigated in a cohort study (Smith et al. 2006). For the period from 1958 to 1970, arsenic concentration in waterworks in Antofagasta and its environs was high as approximately 1,000 µg/L. Mortality in the period from 1989 to 2000 of the population who were born from 1958 to 1970 therefore exposed in utero and in early childhood to high concentration of arsenic through waterworks and mortality in the same period of the population who were born just before the peak exposure period (1950-1957) therefore not exposed in utero, were compared to the mortality of the control subjects who were born in other areas in Chile. The SMR in early childhood exposure group was 7.0 ((95%CI: 5.4-8.9), p < 0.001) for lung cancer and 12.4 ((95%CI: 3.3-31.7), p < 0.001) for bronchiectasis. The SMR for the subjects who exposed in utero and in early childhood was 6.1 (95% CI, 3.5–9.9; p < 0.001) for lung cancer and 46.2 (95% CI, 21.1–87.7; p < 0.001) for bronchiectasis.

Chen et al. (2004) conducted a follow-up study in 2,503 subjects (1,154 males and 1,349 females) in southwest Taiwan and 8,088 subjects (4,053 males and 4,035 females) in northeast Taiwan for approximately 8 years. Information on arsenic exposure, smoking, and other risk factors were collected at the enrollment from a standardized questionnaire interview. The incidence of lung cancer was ascertained through linkage with national cancer registry profiles in Taiwan (1985- 2000). There were 139 newly diagnosed lung cancer cases during a follow-up period of 83,783 person-years. After adjustment for smoking, age, sex and other risk factors, lung cancer risk was associated with arsenic exposure concentration in drinkingwater (p < 0.001) and RR were 2.28 (95%CI: 1.22-4.27) and 3.29 (95%CI: 1.60-6.78) for the 100-299 µg/L exposure group and \geq 700 µg/L exposure group, respectively, compared to the < 10 µg/L exposure group. A synergistic effect of arsenic exposure and smoking on lung cancer risk was observed.

A total of 8,086 residents in northeast Taiwan were followed for 11.5 years by Chen et al (2010b) and 6,888 residents (3,481 males and 3,407 females, mean age:59.1) remained in the

final analysis after the excluding of 1,198 residents with an unknown arsenic concentration. The 178 incidents of lung cancer were ascertained through linkage with the national cancer registry profiles in Taiwan. Mean arsenic concentration in well water was 117.2 µg/L, the mean duration of well water use was 42.0 years, and the mean cumulative arsenic exposure was 3,523.5 µg/L · years. The analyses were conducted by Cox's proportional hazards regression models. A significant dose-response relationship between lung cancer risk and arsenic concentration was found (p = 0.001). The relative risk was 2.25 (95%CI: 1.43-3.55) for \geq 300 µg/L exposure group compared to < 10 µg/L exposure group after adjustment for age, sex, education, smoking, and drinking. The synergistic effect of arsenic exposure and smoking was found in squamous and small cell carcinomas, but not in pulmonary adenocarcinoma.

On the other hand, in the prospective cohort study by Baastrup et al. (2008) in Denmark as was mentioned in the previous section (b) bladder cancer, the evidence for the relation between the time-weighted mean arsenic exposure and increase in lung cancer incidence was not observed (p = 0.78).

Sawada et al. (2013) conducted a follow-up study in 90,378 Japanese (42,029 males and 48,349 females, age: 45-74 years) for approximately 11 years in 10 areas in Japan. Individual arsenic intake was estimated based on the Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ). Arsenic intake from foods and drinking-water was estimated for 12 groups (75 items) of arsenic-containing foods which were categorized from the examined 138 items. The estimation gave the mean total arsenic intake of 170.0 µg/day for this cohort. Since the arsenic concentration in tap-water was limited to ≤ 0.01 mg/L, intake from drinking-water was not considered. Though the validity of FFQ was evaluated in the comparison to a diet record, the biomarker was not measured in this study. Age, residential area, history of smoking, drinking alcohol, BMI, and exercise situation were used for adjustment as confounding factors. During the follow-up period, 7,002 subjects (4,323 males and 2,679 females) were diagnosed with cancer. They were analyzed by quartile arsenic intake. In the analysis by body part in male subjects, a dose-response relationship was found between total arsenic intake and incidence of lung cancer (trend p = 0.07), between inorganic arsenic intake and incidence of lung cancer (trend p = 0.05) and incidence of kidney cancer (trend p =0.06), though statistically insignificant. Hazard ratio of cancer risk comparing risk in group quartile 4 (total arsenic intake247.5 µg/day, inorganic arsenic 99.1 µg/day) to that in group quartile 1 (total arsenic intake: 88.3 µg/day, inorganic arsenic: 40.5 µg/day) were 1.23 (95%CI = 0.96-1.57) for risk of lung cancer from total arsenic, 1.28 (95%CI: 1.00-1.62) for lung cancer from inorganic arsenic and 2.05 (95%CI: 1.05-4.03) for kidney cancer from inorganic arsenic. In addition, the investigation of synergistic effect of arsenic exposure and smoking on lung cancer revealed a negative relationship between total arsenic

intake and incidence of lung cancer in males with no smoking history (p = 0.01). The HR of the risk in quartile 4 to that in quartile 1 was 0.49 (95%CI: 0.27-0.86).

However, in male group of current smokers, a proportional increase in HR of incidence of lung cancer to the increase in total arsenic intake was observed (p = 0.03) where HR of quartile 4 compared to quartile 1 was 1.37 (95%CI: 1.06-1.77). Similarly, association between inorganic arsenic intake and smoking was observed (HR: 1.38 (95%CI: 1.07-1.77, p = 0.01)). In females, a correlation between inorganic arsenic intake and incidence of lung cancer in the group with no smoking history was observed (p < 0.01), and HR of the risk in quartile 4 to that in quartile 1 was 1.57 (95%CI: 1.12-2.20). Consequently, the authors considered that a positive relationship between arsenic exposure observed in the current male smokers and the risk of lung cancer incidence suggests a causal relation between arsenic exposure and lung cancer risk, based on the fact that the results are consistent with other studies and that mechanisms to explain it are available, although the positive relationship might be a result from multihypothesis test method. Also, the authors suggested that smoking was a modification factor (Sawada et al. 2013).

Risk ratio observed in this report was relatively small being around 1.3, and it may not have been adjusted by the effect of smoking which was a strong risk factor. Also, the negative correlation between total arsenic intake and incidence of lung cancer in group of male with no smoking history was not sufficiently explained. This is attributable to the difficulty of estimating individual intake from FFQ.

(d) Other cancer

In the evaluation of carcinogenic risk to humans in 2012, IARC reported that although a causal relationship between inorganic arsenic and liver cancer, kidney cancer, prostate cancer and other cancers was suggested in some studies, the relationship was also attributable to coincident and bias. Despite some ecological surveys which have suggested the relationship between inorganic arsenic in well drinking-water and kidney cancer (Chen et al. 1985, 1988a; Wu et al. 1989; Chen and Wang 1990; Tsai et al. 1999; Rivara et al. 1997; Smith et al. 1998; Hopenhayn-Rich et al. 1996, 1998), data from cohort study were limited (Chiou et al. 2001). Regarding prostate cancer and liver cancer, the investigation of causal relationship between inorganic arsenic in drinking-water and the cancer is restrained by the fact that the outcome data of the cancers depend on the data of death but not on the data of onset. A significant dose-response relationship between exposure to inorganic arsenic in drinking-water and mortality of prostate cancer was observed in the study conducted in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1985, 1988a; Wu et al. 1989; Chen and Wang, 1990; Tsai et al. 1999). However, the validity of the

data was limited due to very high incidence of hepatitis B in the relevant cohort. No relationship between inorganic arsenic exposure and the mortality of prostate cancer was found in the study conducted in Chile by Rivara et al. (1997) (RR = 0.9: 95%CI: 0.54-1.53). Data from the studies on liver cancer were not consistent. Although the relationship was confirmed in a study conducted in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1985, 1988a; Wu et al. 1989; Chen and Wang, 1990; Chiang et al. 1993; Tsai et al. 1999), no significant relationship was found in a study conducted in Chile (Rivara et al. 1997). Regarding this discrepancy, a working group in IARC (2012) suggested that the sensitivity to arsenic was possibly higher in the cohort of Taiwan where hepatitis B was frequently observed than in the cohort of South America. Therefore, IARC considers the strong causal relationship between arsenic exposure and liver cancer which was suggested by these studies is still ascribable to a coincidence and a bias.

b. Effects on skin

The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (US EPA 2005a) suggested that the Lowest Observed Effect Level of chronic arsenic poisoning due to oral exposure or inorganic arsenic contamination in drinking-water to be 700-1,400 μ g/day. If the exposure to this level of arsenic lasts for several years, raindrop-like pigmentation and depigmentation will be observed on the abdomen and trunk as the first symptom, and then keratosis (5-6 years) will develop on the palms or soles of the feet. If the daily exposure is as high as 3-5 mg/day, the symptoms don't develop in stages and keratosis develops at the same time along with the development of pigmentation and depigmentation. Bowen disease and skin cancer develop in some patients.

Skin lesion such as skin hyperpigmentation and palmoplantar hyperkeratosis is a sensitive marker of the effects of chronic inorganic arsenic oral intake. These effects on skin are pointed out in most surveys in humans including repeated oral exposure through arsenic contaminated drinking-water. In many of the surveys conducted in Bangladesh (Ahsan et al. 2006; Rahman et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2006), India (Haque et al. 2003), and in the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of China (Guo et al. 2006; Xia et al. 2009), an increased incidence rate of skin lesions has been reported to be developed in areas where the arsenic concentration in drinking-water is below 100 μ g/L.

Ahsan et al. (2006) investigated the dose-response relationship between arsenic exposure through drinking-water and premalignant skin lesions, using baseline data of 11,746 participants (714 males and 10,724 females) who were recruited for the Health Effects of Arsenic Longitudinal Study (HEALS) conducted in Araihazar, Bangladesh from 2000 to 2002. A dose-response relationship was observed consistently in 3 different regression models, such as logistic regression analysis, logarithmic binomial logistic regression analysis, and Poisson regression analysis. When time-weighted arsenic concentration in well water was used as an

index, the odds ratio (OR) of adjusted prevalence of skin lesions by age, sex, BMI, education, cigarette smoking, hookah smoking, sun exposure (male), and landownership (socio-economic index) were 1.91 (95%CI: 1.26-2.89), 3.03 (95% CI: 2.05-4.50), 3.71 (95% CI: 2.53-5.44), and 5.39 (95% CI: 3.69-7.86) for the 8.1-40.0 μ g/L group, 40.1-91.0 μ g/L group, 91.1-175.0 μ g/L group, and for the 175.1-864 μ g/L group, respectively, compared to the 0.1-8.0 μ g/L group. When the cumulative As index was used as an index, OR was 1.83 (95%CI: 1.25-2.69) for the 48,200-226,400 μ g group compared to the 100-48,100 μ g group.

Rahman (2006) assessed the prevalence of arsenic-induced skin lesions by age and sex in the population who were exposed to arsenic through well water in Matlab, Bangladesh. A total of 504 cases of arsenic-induced skin lesions were identified through a procedure with 3 steps: Step 1 - screening of the entire population of 166,934 above 4 years of age (74,408 males and 92,526 females); Step 2 - diagnosis by physicians; Step 3 - diagnosis by physicians and confirmation by experts based on the photograph. As for controls, 2,201 subjects were randomly selected from the population in Matlab, and 1,830 subjects (833 males and 997 females) who had matched on water drinking condition were selected. Individual history of arsenic exposure was estimated based on the interview on their water sources after 1970 and arsenic concentration in all artesian well water by AAS. As a result, arsenic concentration in well water after 1970 was higher for the skin lesion patients (200 µg/L for males and 211 μ g/L for females) than for the controls (143 μ g/L for males and 155 μ g/L for females). When cumulative arsenic exposure was used as index, the OR adjusted by age and economic index was 1.94 (95%CI: 1.10-3.42) for the female group with the exposure of 1,000-4,999 μ g/L· years. When the mean arsenic exposure was used as an index, the OR adjusted by age and economic index was 3.25 (95%CI: 1.43-7.38) for the male group exposed to 10-49 µg/L of arsenic. In quintile of mean arsenic exposure, OR of skin lesions in the maximum exposure group compared to the control group was significantly higher in males, whose OR was 10.9 (95%CI: 5.80-20.4), compared to OR of 5.78 (95%CI: 3.10-10.8) in females (p = 0.005).

Using the baseline data from 11,062 subjects (4,721 males and 6,314 females) in the HEALS in Araihazar, Bangladesh, Chen et al. (2006) conducted a cross-sectional analysis to examine whether the association between arsenic exposure through drinking-water and the risk of skin lesions is modified by smoking, excessive sunlight, the use of fertilizer or pesticides. A time-weighted well arsenic concentration was estimated from the individual history of well use. The adjusted OR by age, BMI, education, use of drinking-water, use of Areca catechu, the use of pesticides, the use of fertilizer, sun exposure (male) compared to the $\leq 28.1 \mu g/L$ exposure group was 2.3 (95%CI: 1.1-4.5) for female non-smokers group with exposure of 28.1-113.0 µg/L, and was 2.6 (95%CI: 1.5-4.5) for male smokers with exposure of 28.1-113.0 µg/L. A synergistic effect of smoking and the exposure more than 113.0 µg/L was

observed in the male group. Excessive sunlight exposure increased the risk of skin lesions in all arsenic exposure groups.

Haque et al. (2003) selected a group of the patients with arsenic-induced skin lesions and a group of age- and sex-matched controls from a 1995-1996 cross-sectional survey in West Bengal, India. Haque et al. conducted a detailed assessment of arsenic exposure that covered at least 20 years. The selected subjects were reexamined in 1998 and 2000. The OR adjusted for age, sex, smoking, BMI, sociodemographic factors (subject's education, education of household head, subject's occupation), and type of resident was 3.3 (95%CI: 1.7-6.4) in the 50-99 μ g/L exposure group when the mean life-time exposure was used as an index. The average latency for skin lesions from first exposure was 23 years. The strong dose-response relationship was found between arsenic exposure and skin lesions.

Guo et al. (2006) investigated the association between keratosis or pigmentation and arsenic exposure concentration in 227 patients who were diagnosed with skin lesions between 1996 and 1998, and in 221 non-patients in the village of Hetao Plain in Inner Mongolia, China. The targeted patients included 162 patients of keratosis (69 males, 93 females, mean age: 42.5 years, mean use of well water: 15.6 years), 65 patients of pigmentation (47 males, 18 females, mean age: 52.4 years, mean use of well water: 15.2 years). The targeted nonpatients consisted of 93 males and 128 females of mean age: 37.6 years, and mean use of well water was 15.2 years. Well-water which the subjects had been drinking was collected to analyze the arsenic concentration. A logistic regression analysis conducted after the adjustment for age, sex, and smoking, showed OR=5.25, 95%CI=1.32-83.24 for the 50-199 μ g/L group; OR=10.97, 95%CI=1.50-79.95 for the 200-499 μ g/L group; and OR=10.00, 95%CI=1.39-71.77 for the \geq 500 μ g/L group (p = 0.000), indicating that along with the increase of arsenic concentration in drinking-water, the risk of pigmentation also increased. However, the correlation between risk of keratosis and arsenic concentration was not significant (p = 0.346).

Xia et al. (2009) studied on arsenic exposure in the residents of the Bayingnormen region of Inner Mongolia, China, who have been exposed to arsenic-contaminated well water for over 20 years, where they evaluated the incidence of arsenic-associated skin lesions diagnosed by physicians and by self-assessment. Skin lesions such as keratoses, pigmentation, and depigmentation were identified in 632 residents which were more than 5% of the 12,334 targeted residents. In 11,416 subjects with completed data, OR for skin lesions adjusted for alcohol consumption, smoking, education, sex, farm work, income, water source, and age was 2.52 (95%CI: 1.47-4.30) in the 5.1-10 μ g/L low exposure group compared to the 0-5 μ g/L group , indicating a strong correlation between skin lesions and arsenic contained in well water (p < 0.01). There was also an association between prevalence rate of skin lesions and self-assessed cardiovascular disease.

c. Effects on reproduction and development

Studies on poisoning from drinking-water contaminated with inorganic arsenic have reported risks of spontaneous abortion, still-birth and preterm birth (Ahmad et al. 2001; Hopenhayn-Rich et al. 2003; Milton et al. 2005; von Ehrenstein et al. 2006; Kwok et al. 2006; Rahman et al. 2007, 2009; Cherry et al. 2008), and a decrease in body weight at birth (Hopenhayn-Rich et al. 2003; Rahman et al. 2009). However, in many cases, the information on the health effects was obtained by interviews conducted certain years after pregnancy. In this case, the mother who was aware of own status of the exposure may report harmful effects more than the mother who does not know her exposure status.

Ahmadet al. (2001) studied the pregnancy outcomes in terms of live birth, stillbirth, spontaneous abortion, and preterm birth in a group of 96 females of reproductive age (15–49 years) who were chronically exposed to arsenic through drinking-water in Bangladesh. They compared the pregnancy outcomes of the exposure group with that of a non-exposure group composed of 96 females of reproductive age (15–49 years) matched for age, socio-economic status, education, and age at marriage. In the exposure group, 98% of the group had taken drinking-water with arsenic concentration of $\geq 100 \ \mu g/L$. Skin symptoms due to chronic arsenic exposure were detected in 22.9% of the females in the exposure group. Adverse pregnancy outcomes in terms of spontaneous abortion, stillbirth, and preterm birth rates were significantly higher in the exposure group than those in the non-exposure group (p = 0.008, p = 0.046, and p = 0.018, respectively).

Milton et al. (2005) conducted a cross-sectional study to investigate association between arsenic in drinking water and adverse pregnancy outcomes (spontaneous abortion, stillbirth, and neonatal death). They measured the arsenic concentration in 223 wells in the arsenic contaminated area in Bangladesh. A total of 533 female non-smokers who used these wells and had history of pregnancy with the age of 15 to 49 were interviewed. Information was obtained through a structured pretested interview using a questionnaire. After adjusting for the participant's height, history of hypertension and diabetes, and for age at first pregnancy in the case of neonatal death only (within 28 days after birth), logistic regression analysis was performed.

As a result, the odds ratio of the group with exposure to arsenic of concentration higher than 50 g/L (51-100 μ g/L: 10 females, 101-500 μ g/L: 37 females, \geq 500 μ g/L: 20 females) comparing to the low exposure group which was exposed to arsenic lower than 50 g/L was 2.5 (95% CI:1.5–4.3) for spontaneous abortion, 2.5 (95% CI:1.3–4.9) for stillbirth, and 1.8 (95% CI:0.9–3.5) for neonatal death.

In 2001 to 2003, von Ehrenstein et al. (2006) investigated the reproductive histories among 202 married females aged 20-40 years old (median: 31) in West Bengal, India using structured interviews. And, arsenic concentration in the water from 409 wells which had been used during the pregnancy was measured. Logistic regression analysis was performed for pregnancy outcomes in 644 cases where arsenic concentration in the well water they used had been obtained. As a result, the odds ratio for the risk of still birth in the group with highly-concentrated arsenic exposure ($\geq 200 \ \mu g/liter$) was 6.07 (95% CI: 1.54-24.0; p = 0.01) after adjusted for potential confounding factors. Twelve females who were diagnosed with skin lesions caused by arsenic toxicity had a substantially increased risk of stillbirth and the OR was 13.1 (95% CI: 3.17-54.0; p = 0.002).

Cherry et al. (2008) investigated the epidemiological pattern of stillbirth and the effect of arsenic contamination in well water in approximately 600 villages in Bangladesh, using the data collected by Gonoshasthaya Kendra, a large non-governmental organization providing health care to these areas. The arsenic concentration in drinking-water in each area was obtained from National Hydrochemical Survey using the data of 30,984 pregnancies and pregnancy outcomes (live birth and still birth) between 2001 and 2003, and socio-economic data, data of smoking and pregnancy history. The overall stillbirth rate was 3.4% (1,056 subjects). The stillbirth rate in the group with exposure to arsenic of 10-49.9 µg/L was 3.79% which was higher than 2.96% in the group with exposure to arsenic concentrations of less than 10 µg/L, but was insignificant. The stillbirth rate was significantly increased to 4.43% in the group with exposure to arsenic concentration analysis after adjustment for confounding of socio-economic and health factors, OR of still birth to arsenic concentration of < 10 µg/L was 1.23 (95%CI: 0.87-1.74) for 10-50 µg/L and 1.80 (95%CI: 1.14-2.86) for the \geq 50 µg/L group.

Hopenhayn-Rich et al. (2003) conducted a prospective cohort study in 2 cities in Chile to investigate the effect of arsenic in drinking-water on fetus development. Arsenic concentration in drinking-water in each city was 40 μ g/L in Antofagasta and 1 μ g/L in Valparaiso. Target subjects had answered in detail at an interview and submitted urine samples. The information of pregnancy and birth was obtained from medical records. In the analysis of body weight at birth, among infants who were born between December 1998 and February 2000, still births and multiple births were excluded. As a result, 424 infants from Antofagasta and 420 infants from Valparaiso were selected for the final analysis. After adjustment for each confounding factors, multivariate statistics were performed. The mean body weight at birth of infants in Valparaiso was 57 g less than that of Antofagasta but the difference was insignificant (95%CI=- 123 to 9g).

Although the number of cohort studies which have reported the individual exposure data was limited, large scale studies conducted in Bangladesh have been reported. Kwok et al.

(2006) investigated the relationships between arsenic exposure level and pregnancy outcomes (live birth, still birth, spontaneous abortion) in 2,006 pregnant women (mean age:26.4) in 2002 chronically exposed to naturally-occurring concentration of arsenic in drinking-water in three upazilas in Bangladesh. To obtain the information about pregnancy, participants had an interview at home based on the record of the Community Nutrition Center, and the arsenic concentration of the major source of drinking-water was analyzed. The median arsenic concentration in 3 upazilas were 0.073 μ g/g (detected limit to 0.528 μ g/g), 0.139 μ g/g (detected limit to 0.635 μ g/g), and 0.024 μ g/g (detected limit to 0.668 μ g/g). Logistic regression analysis indicated a statistically significant association between arsenic exposure and birth-defects (neural tube defect) only (OR=1.005 (95%CI: 1.001-1.010)). However, other outcomes, such as still birth (OR = 0.999 (95%CI: 0.996-1.002)), low birth weight (OR = 0.999 (95%CI: 0.997-1.000)), childhood stunting (OR = 1.000 (95%CI: 1.000-1.001)), and childhood underweight (OR = 1.000 (95%CI: 0.999-1.001)) were not associated with arsenic exposure. However, OR was low for all confounding factors, indicating that the effect of many confounding factors such as a genetic effect and environmental factors were unlikely to be excluded sufficiently.

Rahman et al. (2007) conducted a prospective study on the effect of arsenic exposure during pregnancy on fetal and infant mortality in a cohort of 29,134 pregnancies identified by the health and demographic surveillance system in Matlab, Bangladesh, in between 1991 and 2000. Arsenic exposure, reflected by drinking-water history and by arsenic concentrations in well water used by women during pregnancy, was assessed in a separate survey conducted between 2002 and 2003. Pregnancy outcomes and infant death (within 12 months after birth) were investigated by home visits every month. The risk of fetal loss and infant death in relation to arsenic exposure was analyzed by a Cox proportional hazards model. Drinking the well water with arsenic concentration of 164-275 μ g/L (median: 224), 276-408 μ g/L (median: 339) and \geq 409 μ g/L (median: 515) significantly increased the RR to 1.19 (95%CI: 1.00-1.42), 1.29 (95%CI: 1.08-1.53) and 1.19 (95%CI: 1.00-1.41), respectively after the adjustment for a calendar year. Significant dose-response relations of arsenic exposure and risk of infant death were observed (p = 0.02).

Moreover, Rahman et al. (2009) conducted a prospective cohort study in 1,578 motherinfant pairs, in Matlab, Bangladesh, between 2002 and 2003 to investigate the association between prenatal arsenic exposure and size at birth (birth weight, birth length, head and chest circumferences). Arsenic exposure was estimated by the urinary concentration of inorganic arsenic and the methylated metabolites at around gestational weeks of 8 weeks and 30 weeks. The association between arsenic exposure and size at birth was evaluated by linear regression analyses. As a result, no dose-response relationship was found between arsenic exposure and birth size in the full range of exposure (6-978 μ g/L). Meanwhile, birth weight and head and chest circumferences at birth showed a negative dose-response relationship to arsenic exposure in a group with exposure to arsenic of low concentration such as < 100 μ g/L in urine (51% of mothers). Birth weight, head, and chest circumferences decreased by 1.68 g, 0.05 mm, and 0.14 mm, respectively for each 1 μ g/L increase of arsenic in urine. No association between birth size and exposure was observed in the exposure to highly-concentrated arsenic of \ge 100 μ g/L.

d. Effect on neural development

Considering huge species difference in arsenic metabolism in animals and the period of the brain development which is longer in humans than in experimental animals, the conclusive neurotoxicity dose may be lower in humans than in experimental animals. Effects of inorganic arsenic exposure on intellectual functions of infants and children have been reported in Bangladesh, Shanxi Province, China, and in West Bengal, India.

Wasserman et al. (2004) conducted a cross-sectional study to investigate the association between arsenic exposure and intellectual function in 201 children of 10 years of age randomly selected from 11,749 children (98 males, 103 females, mean age: 10.0 ± 0.4) who had participated in the ongoing prospective cohort study examining health effects of arsenic exposure in Araihazar, Bangladesh.. The concentration of arsenic and manganese in well water at each child's home was obtained from the survey for all wells in the study areas. A medical check was performed and Children's intellectual function on tests drawn from the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children was assessed. Arsenic concentration in drinking-water was $0.094-790 \ \mu g/L$ (mean: $117.8 \ \mu g/L$) and the mean manganese concentration was $1,386 \ \mu g/L$. The arsenic concentration in drinking-water was associated with reduced intellectual function dose-dependently after adjustment for sociodemographic covariates and water manganese concentrations. Full scale score and performance scale score in groups of arsenic concentration of 50.1-176 $\mu g/L$ or 177-790 $\mu g/L$ significantly decreased compared to the group of arsenic 0.1-5.5 $\mu g/L$.

Wasserman et al. (2007) investigated association between arsenic exposure and intellectual function in 301 children of 6 years of age (150 males and 151 females, mean age: 6.1 ± 0.18) randomly selected from 11,749 parents who participated in the prospective cohort study examining health effects of arsenic exposure in Araihazar, Bangladesh. They measured the arsenic and manganese concentration in the sample water from the well being used in each family, and performed a survey of the family environment and physical examination of targeted children between 2004 and 2005. Intellectual function was assessed by the subscale of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children. Arsenic concentration in drinking-water ranged from 0.10 to 864 µg/L with mean of 120.1 µg/L, and the mean manganese concentration was $1,302 \ \mu g/L$. Arsenic exposure in drinking-water was associated with the decrease in intellectual function before and after the adjustment for manganese in drinking-water, lead level in blood, and for sociodemographic characteristics.

In a study by Wang et al. (2007) conducted in 720 children between 8 and 12 years of age (376 males, 344 females, mean age:10) in Shanyin county, Shanxi province, China, the effects of arsenic and fluoride in drinking-water on children's intelligence and growth were investigated. IQ scores by "Combined Raves Test" and somatometry (height, body weight, chest measurement, lung capacity) data of the intermediately-concentrated arsenic group (91 children, $142 \pm 106 \ \mu g/L$), the highly -concentrated arsenic group (180 children, $190 \pm 183 \ \mu g/L$), and highly-concentrated fluoride group (253 children, fluorine $8,300 \pm 1,900 \ \mu g/L$ and arsenic $3 \pm 3 \ \mu g/L$) were compared to that of the control group (196 children, arsenic $2 \pm 3 \ \mu g/L$ and fluorine $500 \pm 200 \ \mu g/L$). IQ scores of $100.6 \pm 15.6 \ (p < 0.05)$ in the moderately-concentrated arsenic group, $95.1 \pm 16.6 \ (p < 0.01)$ in the highly-concentrated arsenic group, and $100.5 \pm 15.8 \ (p < 0.05)$ in the highly-concentrated fluoride group. In the control group were significantly low compared to 104.8 ± 14.7 in the control group. In the control group, height is significantly higher than that in the highly-concentrated arsenic group, (p < 0.05), and lung capacity heavier than that in the highly-concentrated arsenic group, (p < 0.05), and lung capacity heavier than that in the highly-concentrated arsenic group, (p < 0.05), and lung capacity is significantly larger than that in the intermediately-concentrated arsenic group (p < 0.05).

Von-Ehrenstein investigated the possible impairment of children's intellectual function in relation to arsenic exposure in a cross-sectional study conducted in 351 children (male: 54%, female: 46%, median age: 9) aged 5 to 15 years who were selected from a source population of 7,683 people in West Bengal, India, in 2001–2003.. Intellectual function was assessed with 6 subscales from the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children. Arsenic concentration was measured in urine and in sample water from 409 wells. By stratifying urinary arsenic concentrations into tertiles, arsenic concentration was associated with declines in the adjusted scores of the vocabulary test, the object assembly test, and the picture completion test. Relative decline of these scores in the upper tertile of urinary arsenic were 12% in the vocabulary test, 21% in the object assembly test, and of 13% in the picture completion test. However, an association between test results and arsenic concentrations in domestic water which was considered to show the long-term exposure amount was not found.

e. Effect on cardiovascular system

Tseng et al. (1996) investigated the correlation between cumulative arsenic exposure and peripheral arterial disease (PAD) in a population of 582 inhabitants (263 men and 319 women, mean age: 52.6 ± 10.6 years) who discontinued the use of well water after being exposed to the well water contaminated with highly-concentrated arsenic for more than 2 decades in black foot disease endemic area in Taiwan. Sixty-nine subjects were diagnosed with PAD
based on the clinical standard of ankle-brachial index of < 0.90 on either side. Three indices were used for the estimation of cumulative arsenic exposure: (1) duration of residence in a black foot disease endemic area, (2) duration of drinking well water, (3) history of residential addresses, and duration of drinking well water and the arsenic concentration in well water. The association between PAD and arsenic exposure was assessed by multiple logistic regression analysis. After the adjustment for age, sex, BMI, smoking, serum cholesterol and neutral fat as confounding factors, dose-response relationship was observed between long-term arsenic exposure and the prevalence rate of PAD, and the odds ratio was 4.28 (95%CI: 1.26-14.5) in the group with exposure to arsenic $\geq 20,000 \ \mu g/L \cdot years$.

The association between cardiovascular disease and arsenic exposure through contaminated drinking-water has been investigated in many studies. Navas-Acien et al. (2005) conducted a systemic review of the epidemiologic evidences, from thirteen epidemiologic studies in which drinking-water was an exposure source (of them, 8 references were from Taiwan). They selected the outcome of cardiovascular system such as black foot disease, morbidity of peripheral arterial diseases, mortality and morbidity of coronary heart disease, morbidity of myocardial infarction, mortality and morbidity of stroke as endpoints. In one casecontrolled study among 3 studies in Taiwan where the morbidity of black foot disease was used as an endpoint, OR of the group which used well water for or more than 30 years was 3.47 (95%CI: 2.20-5.48) compared to the group which did not use well water (Chen et al. 1988b). In another small scale case-control study (number of cases: 20, versus controls: 20) where urinary arsenic was measured, OR of 1.66 was obtained though it was not statistically significant (Lin and Yang 1988). In another small scale study in the accident victims (number of cases: 31, number of non-cases: 30), it was found that arsenic exposure measured in arterial tissue was statistically higher in the patients with black foot disease (Wang and Chang 2001). This review did not include the ecological survey (Tseng 2008) in the southwest part of Taiwan which showed an increase of black foot disease associated with arsenic concentration in drinking-water in the village.

f. Other effects

Association of oral exposure to inorganic arsenic with abnormal glucose metabolism and diabetes has been reviewed by EFSA (2009). The risk of diabetes from exposure to arsenic of high concentration was shown in a study in Bangladesh, Taiwan, and in China. However, the data were not adjusted for BMI in many of these studies. On the other hand, study of general population with low to moderate exposure found no association between arsenic exposure and diabetes. Navas-Acien et al. (2009) have reported that the prevalence rate of type II diabetes was increased in the high exposure group in 80th or above percentile to of urinary arsenic concentration compared to low-exposure group in 20th percentile or below of urinary

arsenic concentration, using the data of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) which were adjusted for AsBe. However, Steinmaus et al. (2009) reported that association between arsenic exposure and diabetes was not shown when total arsenic excepting AsBe was considered to be inorganic arsenic exposure, using the same data. EFSA concluded that although excess risk of diabetes from arsenic was suggested from the studies on the population with highly-concentrated arsenic exposure, association between arsenic exposure and diabetes remained uncertain and data are insufficient to suggest the dose-response relationship with low level exposure (EFSA 2009; JECFA 2011).

(2) Effect on experimental animals etc.

(i) Acute Toxicity

The median lethal dose (LD₅₀) of diarsenic trioxide (As(III)) in single oral administration was 26-39 mg As/kg body weight for mice (C3H, C57H46, Dba2, Swiss-Webster) and 15-145 mg As/kg body weight for rats (Sprague-Dawley, Sherman, wild Norway) (Dieke and Richer 1946; Gaines 1960; Harrison et al. 1958). When calcium arsenate (As(V)) was orally administered to Sherman rats, LD₅₀ was 112 mg As/kg body weight and LD₅₀ of lead arsenate (As(V)) was 175 mg As/kg body weight (Gaines 1960).

The dispersion in LD₅₀ of inorganic arsenic is attributable to the difference in animal species, strain, administered compounds, and laboratories, then many experimental animals have been said to die 1 day after the administration in acute toxicity studies (EFSA 2009).

(ii) Repeated-dose toxicity

In general, As(III) was considered to have stronger toxicity than As(V) and repeated oral administration of inorganic arsenic compounds is considered to largely affect circulation, respiratory system, digestive organ, myelopoietic organ, immune organ, genital organ, and on nerves (WHO 2001; ATSDR 2007).

a. Subacute toxicity study

(a) Four-week subacute toxicity study in mice

Subacute toxicity of arsenic was studied in mice by Yokohira et al. (2011), where sodium arsenite (As(III)) (0, 1.73, 17.3, 43.3, 86.5 ppm: 0, 1, 10, 25, 50 ppm As) in drinking water was administered to female AS3MT defect mice (hereafter referred to as KO) and wild-type (C57BL/6) mice (hereafter referred to as WT) (female, 7 mice in each group).

As one KO mouse administered with 50 ppm arsenic died 5 days after the initiation of the study, all mice of the 50 ppm administered group were dissected for examination the day after. All of 6 KO mice showed moderate simple hyperplasia in the bladder epithelium while

5 out of 7 WT mice showed mild simple hyperplasia. Moderate simple hyperplasia was observed in 1 WT mouse.

Four weeks after the start of study, all the survived mice were dissected for examination. Hyperplastic changes in the bladder were observed in KO and WT mice that were administered with arsenic of 10 ppm and more. However the hyperplasia in KO was more severe than in WT mice. Among 25 ppm arsenic administered KO mice, mild simple hyperplasia in the bladder epithelium was observed in 5 out of 7 mice and moderate simple hyperplasia in the other 2 mice. Similarly, mild simple hyperplasia was observed in the WT group but moderate or severe hyperplasia was not observed. Hydronephrosis was observed in 1 out of 7 KO mice administered with 10 ppm arsenic , in 3 out of 7 KO administered with 25 ppm arsenic showed mild acute inflammation in the liver. However, neither hydronephrosis nor mild acute inflammation was observed in WT mice.

The authors concluded that the effect of arsenic oral administration on bladder epithelium was observed in both KO and WT mice in a dose-response dependent manner, and that KO mice were more sensitive to it than WT. In addition, they suggested that no observable effect level (NOEL) of sodium arsenite to be 1 ppm As both for KO and WT mice (Yokohira et al. 2011).

(b) Four -week subacute toxicity study in rats

A 4-week study with administration of sodium arsenite (As(III)) at the dose of 0, 2, 5, 10, and 25 ppm(0, 0.12, 0.3, 0.6, and 1.5 mg As/kg bw/day as converted by ATSDR) in drinking-water in Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats (sex unknown, 3-5 rats for each dose) was conducted by Lee et al. (2002).

Increase in platelet aggregation was observed in the animals administered with sodium arsenite of 5 ppm and more. Increase in P-selectin positive cells in platelet and shortening the time for ligation of the pulmonary vessels by iron chloride in angioplasty were observed in the 10 ppm or 25 ppm administered group.

Based on these results, the authors suggested that the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) to be of sodium arsenite 0.38 mg/kg bw/day (5 mg/L \times 0.024 L (daily water intake) /0.31 kg (body weight)). ATSDR (2007) suggested that the NOAEL of this study to be 0.12 mg As/kg bw/day.

(c) Two- and four-week subacute toxicity study in rats

According to ATSDR (2007), Bekemeier and Hirschelmann (1989) reported a study with 2- and 4-week (5 days per week) oral administration of diarsenic trioxide (As(III)) (15 mg/kg bw/day: 11 mg As/kg bw/day; converted by ATSDR) in Wistar-Barby rats (female, number of rats in the group is unknown).

A decrease of vascular responsiveness to norepinephrine was observed in rats received 2and 4-week administration, and gastrointestinal tract stimulation as a clinical symptom was observed in the 2-week administration group.

(d) Twenty-eight-day subacute toxicity study in rats.

Subacute toxicity of sodium arsenite was studied with 28-day administration of sodium arsenite (As(III)) at dose of 0 and 0.4 ppm: (0 and 0.14 mg As/kg bw/day; as was converted by ATSDR) in drinking-water into Wistar rats (female, 18 rats in each dose group) (Chatto-padhyay et al. 2003).

The rats administered sodium arsenite showed significant decrease in absolute weight of the ovaries, uterus and liver, significant decrease in activities of Δ^5 , 3 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (HSD) and 17 β -HSD in the ovaries, decrease in follicle stimulating hormone, progesterone and estradiol in plasma, also decrease in peroxidase activity in the ovaries and uterus. Significant increase in the activities of alkaline phosphatase, acid phosphatase, glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase and glutamic-pyruvic transaminase in the liver and kidneys were also observed (ATSDR 2007).

(e) Six-week subacute toxicity study in rats

Effects of 6-week administration of disodium arsenate (As(V)) were studied in CD rats (male, 18 rats in each dose group) administrating As(V) at the dose of 0, 20, 40, 85 ppm (0, 3, 6, 12 mg As/kg bw/day; converted by ATSDR) in drinking-water (Fowler et al. 1977).

In the 85 ppm dose group, growth rate was significantly decreased due to a delayed increase in body weight. Mitochondrial swelling and lowering of the density in liver cells were observed in the 40 ppm and 85 ppm arsenic administration groups. In the 85 ppm dose group, huge fat droplets in liver cells, and fascicular connective tissue between liver cells were observed.

ATSDR (2007) determined the NOAEL of this study in terms of effect on the body weight gain as 6 mg As/kg bw/day, and as 3 mg As/kg bw/day in terms of histologic change in liver.

(f) Sixteen-week subacute toxicity study in rats and guinea pigs.

According to ATSDR (2007), Kannan et al. (2001) reported about a 16-week administration study of As(III) of 0, 10, 25 ppm in rats and in guinea pig, which correspond to 0, 0.92, 2.3 mg As/kg bw/day in rats and 0, 0.69, 1.7 mg As/kg bw/day in guinea pig, converted by ATSDR. Arsenic was administrated in drinking-water in male rats and in male guinea pigs, although strain of both animals and number in each dose group is unknown. In rats, number of red blood cell, number of leukocyte and the mean red blood cell hemoglobin concentration were decreased in the 10 ppm dose group. In the 25 ppm dose group, changes in neurotransmitter levels (dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin) were observed.

In guinea pigs, decrease in the number of red blood cell, number of leukocyte, δ -aminolevulinic acid dehydratase activity in blood, and increase in the mean corpuscular volume, mean red blood cell hemoglobin level, and δ -aminolevulinic acid synthase activity in liver were observed in the 10 ppm dose group. In the 25 ppm group, changes in neurotransmitter (dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin) levels were observed.

ATSDR (2007) determined the lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) of this study for the changes in number of red blood cell and leukocyte in rats as 0.92 mg As/kg bw/day, and 0.69 mg As/kg bw/day for changes in number of red blood cells and leukocyte and changes in liver in guinea pigs. Also ATSDR determined the NOAEL of 0.92 mg As/kg bw/day and of 0.69 mg As/kg bw/day for the changes of neurotransmitter in rats and in guinea pigs, respectively.

(g) Two-hundred-day subacute toxicity study in rats.

A 200-day subacute toxicity study was conducted in Wistar rats administrating sodium arsenite (As(III)) or disodium arsenate (As(V)) at dose of 0 and 50 mg/L in drinking-water, using 8 males in each dose group.(Yang et al. 2007).

In all sodium arsenite and disodium arsenate administered rats, systolic blood pressure was significantly increased from 80 days after the administration onwards. This change was more prominent in the sodium arsenite group than in the disodium arsenate group. In the sodium arsenite group, significant increase of superoxide dismutase activity and significant decrease of catalase activity in plasma were observed throughout the administration period, while significant decreases of glutathione peroxidase activity and of catalase activity in plasma were observed in disodium arsenate group. No significant change in angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) which is the most common index for hypertension was observed in both administration groups. However, expression of CYP4A protein in the liver and kidney was significantly increased in both groups. From these results, the authors suggested a more important role for CYP4A than for ACE in arsenic induced hypertension (EFSA 2009).

b. Chronic toxicity study and carcinogenicity study

(a) Forty-eight-week chronic toxicity study in mice.

Chronic toxicity of arsenic was studied in metallothionein (MT) gene deficit MT-I/II knock-out mice (MT-null) and in wild type mice, where sodium arsenite (As(III)) at dose of 0, 7.5, 22.5, 45 ppm: (for 22.5, 45 ppm, 5.6, 11.1 mg As/kg bw/day; converted by ATSDR) or disodium arsenate (As(V)) at dose of 0, 37.5, 75 ppm: (for 75 ppm, 18.5 mg As/kg bw/day;

converted by ATSDR) in drinking-water were administered into 4 to 6 male and female mice in each dose group, for 48 weeks (Liu et al. 2000).

There was no effect of sodium arsenite or disodium arsenate administration on body weight. In the 75 ppm disodium arsenate dose group, relative organ weights in the kidneys were significantly increased both in MT-null mice and in wild type mice.

In the disodium arsenate 75 ppm dose group, significant increase of blood urea nitrogen (BUN) which is an index of nephropathy was observed both in MT-null and in wild type mice. The increase of BUN was more significant in MT-null mice than in wild type mice. However, in the sodium arsenite 45 ppm dose group, significant increase of BUN was observed only in the MT-null mice group. Serum cytokine was not changed by the administration of sodium arsenite 45 ppm. In the sodium arsenite 22.5 ppm dose group, histopathological test revealed vacuolar degeneration of tubular epithelial cell in the kidneys, glomerulus swelling, atrophy of interstitial nephritis and tubular epithelial cells, and fibrosis of stroma in both the MT-null mice group and the wild type mice group. Although severe hepatic necrosis was not observed in the liver, fatty degeneration in liver cells and inflammatory cellular infiltration associated with focal hepatic necrosis were observed in the administered animals. MT-null mice showed histopathological changes in the kidneys and in the liver which were observed more frequently and were more severe compared to that in the wild type mice.

From these results, the authors inferred that chronic exposure of inorganic arsenic induced multiorgan failure, and that generally MT-null mice had higher sensitivity to arsenic induced toxicity than wild type mice regardless of administration method, and that metallothionein was a cell factor which had protective effects on chronic arsenic toxicity.

ATSDR (2007) determined the NOAEL of sodium arsenite and disodium arsenate administered in drinking-water in this study as 11.1 mg As/kg bw/day for change in body weight, and 18.5 mg As/kg bw/day for histological change in liver of mice. LOAEL of sodium arsenite and disodium arsenate in effect on the kidneys were determined as 5.6 and 18.5 mg As/kg bw/day, respectively.

(b) Two-year chronic toxicity study in rats and dogs.

Chronic toxicity was studied in rats and in dogs with 2-year feed studies of sodium arsenite (As(III)) and disodium arsenate in drinking water (Fowler et al. 1977). For the study in rats, sodium arsenite (As(III)) at the dose of 31.25, 62.5, 125, 250 ppm, which correspond to 2, 4, 9, 20 mg As/kg bw/day as was converted by ATSDR or disodium arsenate (As(V)) at dose of 31.25, 125, 250, 400 ppm which correspond to 2, 9, 20, 30 mg As/kg bw/day as was converted by ATSDR was administered into Osborne-Mendel rats (male and female, 25 rats in each dose group). Also, a 2-year feed study of sodium arsenite (As(III)) or disodium arsenate (As(V)) was conducted in beagles (male and female, 3 beagles for each dose group) with

the dose of 50 and 125 ppm which correspond to 1 and 2.4 mg As/kg bw/day as was converted by ATSDR.

In rats administered sodium arsenite, increases in body weight in both male and female were inhibited at the dose of 62.5 ppm. Swelling and proliferation of the bile duct were observed in the 125 ppm administered group, transient mild decrease in hemoglobin and hematocrit value, and pigmentation in tubular epithelial cell in the kidneys were observed in rats administered 250 ppm. In the rats administered arsenate, increase in body weight in male rats was inhibited in the 31.25 ppm group. Swelling of the bile duct, pigmentation in tubular epithelial cells and small sacculation in the kidneys were observed in the 250 ppm group.

In the beagles administered sodium arsenite, all male and female beagles died by 19 months after the administration of 125 ppm. Decrease in body weight by 44% to 61%, very mild to moderate anemia, hemorrhage in the gastrointestinal tract, and hemosiderosis in hepatic macrophage were observed. In the beagles administered 125 ppm disodium arsenate, one female died 13.5 months after the administration showing severe reduction of body weight gain, mild anemia, and hemosiderosis in hepatic macrophage.

ATSDR (2007) determined the NOAEL of sodium arsenite in this study to be 2 mg As/kg bw/day for reduction of body weight gain of rats, 4 mg As/kg bw/day for pathological changes in the liver, 9 mg As/kg bw/day for hematological and histological changes in the kidneys, 20 mg As/kg bw/day for changes in respiratory system, circulation, and digestive organ. ATSDR (2007) also determined the NOAEL of sodium arsenite in this study to be 1 mg As/kg bw/day for reduction of body weight gain, hematological changes, gross changes of the gastrointestinal tract, and histological changes in the liver, and 2.4 mg As/kg bw/day for changes in the liver, and circulation in dogs.

The NOAEL of disodium arsenate in this study was determined to be 9 mg As/kg bw/day for histological changes in the liver and kidneys in rats, 30 mg As/kg bw/day for blood, respiratory system, circulation, and digestive organ in rats, 1 mg As/kg bw/day for reduction of body weight gain, hematological changes, histological changes in the liver in dogs, and 2.4 mg As/kg bw/day for reduction of body weight gain, respiratory system, circulation and digestive organ in dogs for reduction of body weight gain,

(c) Twenty-seven-month chronic toxicity study in rats.

According to ATSDR (2007), Kroes et al. (1974) reported about a 27-month feed study on chronic toxicity of disodium arsenate (As(V)) or lead arsenate (As(V)) in Wistar rats. Although sex of the used animals and number of animals in each dose group was not reported, reduction of body weight gain was observed in rats administered disodium arsenate of 7 mg

As/kg bw/day. Meanwhile, in rats administered lead arsenate of 30 mg As/kg bw/day, increase of mortality, reduction of body weight gain, very mild anemia, swelling of the bile duct associated with severe expansion and inflammation were observed.

ATSDR (2007) determined the NOAEL of disodium arsenate in this study to be 7 mg As/kg bw/day for changes in blood, liver, kidneys, respiratory system, circulation, digestive organ, endocrine organs, and muscle/bone, LOAEL to be 7 mg As/kg bw/day for reduction of body weight, and NOAEL of lead arsenate as 7 mg As/kg bw/day for changes in body weight, blood, and the liver, and as 30 mg As/kg bw/day for changes in the kidneys, respiratory system, circulation, digestive organ, endocrine organs, and muscle/bone.

(d) Eighteen- month chronic toxicity study in rats, and 10-month subacute toxicity study in rabbits.

Chronic toxicity of sodium arsenite (As(III)) or disodium arsenate (As(V)) at the concentration of 50 mg As/L in drinking water had been studied with an 18-month administration in Wistar rats. (Male, number of rats in each dose group is unknown) and with 10-month administration of sodium arsenite (As(III)) (0, 50 mg As/L) in drinking-water in New Zealand rabbits (female, number of rats in each dose group is unknown) (Carmignani et al. 1985).

In rats and rabbits both administered with 50 mg As/L sodium arsenite, decrease in cardiac stroke volume and cardiac output per minute and increase in vascular resistance were observed. Decrease in coronary flow per minute was also observed in rats. Elevation of blood pressure by a vasoconstrictor tyramine (250 μ g/kg body weight) in rats, and by an adrenergic drug phenylephrine (20 μ g/kg body weight) in rabbits were significantly inhibited.

Administration of 50 mg As/L disodium arsenate was found to significantly inhibit an elevation of blood pressure by vagotomy, a decrease in blood pressure by a ganglion blocker hexamethonium (2.5 μ g/kg body weight), and an elevation of blood pressure by tyramine (250 μ g/kg body weight) (WHO 2001).

(e) Eighteen-month carcinogenicity study in mice.

Carcinogenicity of disodium arsenate (As(V)) was studied in an 18-month administration study in A/J male mice, a strain that exhibits development of spontaneous lung adenomas, where disodium arsenate at the dose of 0, 1, 10 and 100 ppm in drinking water were administered using 30 mice of 5-weeks old at the initiation in each dose group (Cui et al., 2006).

After 18 months, the lungs from all animals were examined histopathologically and RNA and DNA were collected. Epigenetic effects of disodium arsenate (As(V)) on p16^{INK4a} and on DNA methylation pattern of RASSF1A gene were investigated by methylated specific PCR. The mRNA and change in protein level of p16^{INK4a} and RASSF1A gene were investigated by RT-PCR and by immunohistochemistry.

A dose-dependent accumulation of total arsenic in lung tissue was observed after the administration. In the administrated mice, increase in the number and size of lung tumors, and increase in the incidence rate of anaplastic pulmonary adenocarcinoma were observed compared to the non-administrated mice. Moreover, a dose-dependent increase in frequency of DNA-methylation in lung tumors was observed in the administrated group. Expression of p16^{INK4a} and RASSF1A gene were decreased or abolished in lung tumor tissue of mice in the administrated group. This decrease in gene expression and gene hypermethylation were consistent.

The incidence number of lung adenoma in 0, 1, 10 ppm dose groups were 0. However, 4 mice in the 100 ppm group developed lung adenoma and the incidence rate of pulmonary adenocarcinoma increased by 9, 10, 11, 19 in the 0, 1, 10, 100 ppm dose groups, respectively.

The authors inferred that epigenetic changes in p16^{INK4a} and RASSF1A gene, tumor suppressor genes, were associated with the development of lung tumors induced by As(V) (IARC 2012).

(f) A hundred-four-week carcinogenicity study in rats.

A 104-week administration study of sodium arsenite As(III) (0, 50, 100, 200 mg/L) in drinking-water was conducted in SD rats (male and female, 50 rats in each dose group, 8 weeks-old at the initiation). The observation was continued until the last animal died a natural death at 167 weeks-old. All lesioned parts, organs, and tissues were collected after the autopsy and histopathologic examination was performed (Soffritti et al. 2006).

Body weight, water and food intake decreased dose-dependently in both male and female groups. Benign and malignant renal tumors were observed in 5 out of 50 male rats (10.0%) to which 100 mg/L and 200 mg/L of As(III) had been administered. This incidence rate was not statistically significant compared to that of 1 out of 50 rats in the control group. The tumor observed in the 200 mg/L group included renal adenoma in 2 rats (4.3%), renal adenocarcinoma in 2 rats (4.3%), and renal pelvis carcinoma in 1 rat (2.2%). The tumors observed in the 100 mg/L group included renal adenoma in 3 rats (6.0%), renal adenocarcinoma in 1 rat (2.0%), and transitional cell papilloma of renal pelvis in 1 rat (2.0%). The increase in the tumor incidence in males was not significant as much as in females (IARC 2012).

(g) Studies on transplacental carcinogenicity and on carcinogenicity of life-time exposure in mice.

Waalkes and his colleagues have reported results from a series of studies on carcinogenicity of transplacental and life-time exposure to sodium arsenite in mice.

In one study, Waalkes et al. (2003) administered sodium arsenite (As(III)) into C3H mice (10 females in each dose group) on 8 to 18 days of the gestation period. The doses of As(III)

administered were 0, 42.5 and 85 ppm: (42.5 ppm for male offspring and 85 ppm for female offspring) that correspond to 9.55, 19.13 μ g As/kg bw/day as was converted by ATSDR, in drinking-water. Their offspring were divided into each study group (male and female, 25 mice in each dose group) at 4 weeks-old and then, male offspring were raised for 74 weeks and female offspring were raised for 90 weeks till examinations

The change in body weight and water intake of dam animals was not observed during the administration period of sodium arsenite, and change in body weight was not observed also in offspring.

In male offspring, a decrease in the number of survivors due mainly to malignant liver tumors was observed after 52 weeks. Incidence rate of hepatocellular carcinoma and adrenocortical adenoma significantly increased in the 42.5 ppm and 85 ppm administered groups, and the number of developments of hepatocellular carcinoma and adrenocortical adenoma significantly increased in the 85 ppm dose group. Also, frequency of development of all neoplastic lesions and malignant tumors significantly increased in the 42.5 ppm and 85 ppm group.

Number of survivors in male offspring did not change during the study period. Incidence rate of ovarian tumors (benign and all neoplastic lesions), proliferative lesions in lung cancer and the oviducts (hyperplasia, all proliferative lesions) significantly increased in the 85 ppm dose group. Incidence rate of proliferative lesions in the uterus (hyperplasia, all proliferative lesions) significantly increased in the 42.5 ppm and 85 ppm dose group. Also, Incidence of malignant tumors significantly increased in the 42.5 ppm and 85 ppm groups (IARC 2004; EFSA 2009; ATSDR 2007).

In another report (Waalkes et al., 2004a) they studied transplacental carcinogenicity of As(III), examining the effects of 12-*O*-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA) which is a tumor promotor, in C3H mice. They administered As(III) with the dose of 0, 42.5 and 85 ppm into C3H mice (10 females in each dose group) on 8 to 18 days of the gestation period in drinking-water. Their offspring were divided into each study group which composed of male and female, 25 mice for each dose, at 4 weeks-old. To these offspring, TPA at the concentration of 2 μ g/0.1 mL acetone,(control group: acetone only) was applied twice a week on the animal's shaved back skin for 21 weeks, and then the offspring were raised for 104 weeks.

In the animals received a single dose with sodium arsenite, the incidence rate of ovarian tumors (ovarian adenoma, all ovarian tumor) in female offspring (42.5 ppm, 85 ppm), and the incidence rate of hepatocellular adenoma and/or cancer, neoplastic lesions of hepatic cells (85 ppm) and adrenocortical adenoma (42.5 ppm, 85 ppm) in male offspring were significantly increased. Multiple doses of sodium arsenite and TPA resulted significant increases in the incidence rate of several tumors which had not been observed with the single doses.

Those were the incidence rate of neoplastic lesions of hepatic cells and number of tumors, lung adenoma in female offspring (85 ppm); significant increase in incidence rate of lung adenoma and neoplastic lesions of the lungs in male offspring (85 ppm). Either the single dose or the multiple dose of sodium arsenite and TPA in female offspring significantly increased hyperplasia lesions of the uterus (42.5 ppm, 85 ppm) and oviduct (85 ppm) which were considered as pre-neoplastic lesions. Although TPA did not affect the development of skin tumors, it promoted the development of liver tumors which was induced by arsenic in female offspring and lung tumors in male and female offspring (EFSA 2009; ATSDR 2007; IARC 2012).

In another series of study, Waalkes et al. (2004b) examined transplacental effects of As(III) administered with the dose of 0 ppm and 85 ppm into female C3H mice, 10 mice in each dose group, on 8 to 18 days of the gestation period in drinking-water. After raised their male offspring, for 74 weeks, the livers from the 0 ppm group (5 mice), 85 ppm group (8 mice), and from the control group which is untreated C3H mice (10 male and female each) were removed , and cryopreserved or formalin fixed for the following tests. In addition, in this study, human liver was obtained from 3 males who had skin lesions (keratosis, pigmentation)evoked by exposure to highly-concentrated arsenic in China, and from 5 males s who had surgery in the U.S. as controls. These human tissues were cryopreserved for the same tests. The test results of these samples were reported as follows.

Quantitative analysis of gene expression was performed by the real-time RT-PCR method on Estrogen Receptor - α (ER- α) and cyclin D1 gene in the liver of mouse and humans. Expression of CYP2A4, CYP2B9 and CYP7B1 gene in the liver of mice was also analysed, using β -actin gene as a control gene in all anlyses. Frequency of methylation of cytosine phosphate guanine (CpG) island in the ER- α promoter domain of genome DNA was studied in the cryopreserved liver of mice. Immunohistochemical examination using anti-ER- α and anti-cyclin D1 antibodies was performed in the histopathological specimen prepared from formalin fixed tissues.

In the liver of mice exposed to arsenic in-utero, expression of ER- α and cyclin D1 mRNA was significantly increased. Positive reaction to anti-ER- α and anti-cyclin D1 antibodies in immunohistochemical detection was also increased by the in-utero exposure compared to the control mice. In addition, significant increase in the expression of CYP2A4 and CYP2B9 mRNA, significant decrease in the expression of CYP7B1 mRNA, and significant decrease of methylation of CpG in the ER- α promoter domain were observed in the liver of the mice exposed to arsenic in-utero. Similarly, in the liver of humans who had exposure to highly-concentrated arsenic, expression of ER- α and cyclin D1 mRNA was significantly increased compared to that in the non-exposed subjects. From these results, the authors concluded that the abnormality of estrogen signaling pathway may be a factor which induced hepatocellular

carcinoma by in-utero exposure to arsenic, and that especially over expression of ER- α in the liver may be caused through decreased methylation in the promoter domain and relating to the carcinogenicity of arsenic.

Moreover, Waalkes et al. (2006a, b) studied transplacental carcinogenicity of As(III) in CD1 mice, where 85 ppm of As(III) was administered in female mice in drinking-water on 8 to 18 days of the gestation period. The offspring were divided into each study group (which consists of 35 male for each dose group after weaning, and received diethylstilbestrol (DES) (2 µg/mouse/day) which induced urogenital neoplasm or tamoxifen (TAM) (10 µg/mouse/day) by subcutaneous administration 1 to 5 days after the birth and were raised for 90 weeks. As a control of DES or TAM, corn oil solvent were administered. A single administration of As(III) resulted increase in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma, hepatocellular adenoma, and all neoplastic lesions in the liver compared to the control group. Also increases of pulmonary adenocarcinoma, adrenocortical adenoma and renal cyctichyperplasia of tubular epithelium were observed with the single administration compared to that in control animals. Multiple doses of arsenic and DES resulted an increase in the incidence rate of neoplastic lesions in the liver, and the number of neoplastic lesions was significantly increased compared to the single arsenic administration group. Incidence of urinary bladder transitional epithelium cell tumors (papilloma and cancer) which had not been observed in the animals administered single dose of arsenic was also increased. Increase of proliferative bladder lesions (tumor and hyperplasia) was observed in the arsenic and DES administered animals or the animals additionally administered with TAM compared to the control animals or the animals received a single dose of arsenic. Lesions in the bladder and hepatocellular carcinoma observed with the multiple doses of arsenic and DES or with the additional dose of TAM were associated with the overexpression of ER- α which indicates abnormality in an estrogen signaling pathway, suggesting that the overexpression of ER- α may be one of factors which potentiate carcinogenic response (EFSA 2009; ATSDR 2007; IARC 2012).

A study on the lifelong administration of As(III) was performed in CD1 mice by the same group based on the result of the above mentioned transplacental carcinogenicity study. The administration of As(III) of 0,6, 12 and 24 ppm in drinking-water was started 2 weeks before mating and continued for 104 weeks through the gestation period, lactation period, and after weaning, using 30 male and female mice for each dose.

Lifelong arsenic exposure increased incidence of pulmonary adenocarcinoma in male and female, hepatocellular carcinoma in male and female, gallbladder neoplasm in male and uterus cancer significantly and dose-dependently. Dose-dependent increase in the incidence of ovarian tumors including ovarian cancer and adrenal tumors in male and female by arsenic exposure were observed with the lowest dose onward. Lifelong exposure to arsenic elicited

carcinogenic activity in mice at target tissues which were almost same to that in mice exposed to arsenic through the placenta in dam animals in the series of transplacental carcinogenicity studies. However, oncogenesis in the mice with lifelong exposure to arsenic was observed at the dose lower than that in mice with exposure in-utero. In addition, the tumor was more malignant and its incidence rate was higher than in the mice exposed to arsenic in-utero in dam animals in the series of transplacental carcinogenicity studies.

In the uterine adenocarcinoma of lifelong exposed female mice, expression of ER- α was remarkably higher than that in the spontaneously developed tumors in the control group. Moreover, expression of gene which were controlled by estrogen α such as cyclin D1, NF- κ B and Cox-2, was also increased. The authors considered the contribution of the pathway mediated by ER as one of the carcinogenic mechanisms of lifelong arsenic exposure (Tokar et al. 2011).

[References]

(h) Combined carcinogenic test in mice.

Combined carcinogenicity of arsenic and ultraviolet irradiation was studied in SK-1-*hr*BR hairless mice. Female SK-1-*hr*BR mice were divided into the control (5 mice), a group of 5 mice dosed with a single sodium arsenite (10 mg/L) administration in drinking-water, a group of 15 mice for a single dose of ultraviolet rays (UVR) (1.7 KJ/m²: UVB85%, UVC < 1%, UVA4%, 3 times/week), and a group of 15 mice for the combined dose of sodium arsenite in drinking-water and UVR irradiation, and were observed for 26 weeks (Rossman et al. 2001).

No effect on body weight gain was observed in the mice with a single sodium arsenite in drinking-water compared to the control mice. Development of skin tumors was not observed in the control mice and in the mice dosed single sodium arsenite in drinking-water. The first oncogenesis was observed 8 weeks after UVR irradiation in the animals exposed to sodium arsenite administration in drinking-water combined with UVR irradiation and tumor development was not observed up to 12 weeks after UVR radiation in the single UVR irradiation group. The combined exposure to sodium arsenite and UVR irradiation. At least 1 tumor was developed in all animals by the single UVR irradiation was 33% compared to 100% by the sodium arsenite combined with UVR irradiation 19 weeks after UVR irradiation. The total number of tumors observed in the animals with the combined exposure to sodium arsenite and UVR irradiation group. A very strong invasive skin squamous cell carcinoma was observed in 64 out of 127 (50.4%) cases in the animals with the combined exposure, while 14 out of 53 (26.4%) tumors in the UVR single

irradiation group. Difference in the number of development of squamous cell carcinoma between these two groups was statistically significant (IARC 2004; EFSA 2009; IARC 2012).

(i) Combined carcinogenic test in mice.

Combined carcinogenicity of arsenic and ultraviolet irradiation was also studied in Skh1 hairless mice (sex and number of mice unknown). Sodium arsenite at the concentration of 0.0, 1.25, 2.5, 5.0 and 10 mg/L in drinking-water was administered in the Skh1 hairless mice from 21-days-old for 29 weeks and ultraviolet ray (UVR) (1.0, 1.7 kJ/m²) was irradiated 3 times a week from 42-days-old for 182 days (Burns et al. 2004).

Number of the development of skin squamous cell carcinoma was increased in the group exposed to the combined sodium arsenite and UVR irradiation compared to the single UVR irradiation group (EFSA 2009; IARC 2012).

(j) Combined carcinogenic test in mice.

Combined carcinogenicity of arsenic in drinking-water with 9,10-Dimethyl-1,2-benzanthracene (DMBA) was also studied in Swiss-bald hairless mice. The study was conducted in Swiss-bald hairless mice divided into 4 groups of 10 males for each. One was an untreated group, the second was a single DMBA administration group in which the mice were painted with 9,10-Dimethyl-1,2-benzanthracene (DMBA) (25 μ L/mouse) twice a week for 2 weeks, the third was a group of animals exposed to disodium arsenate of 25 mg/Lin drinking-water for 25 weeks, and the fourth was the animals for the combined exposure to disodium arsenate and DMBA (Motiwale et al. 2005).

No development of skin tumors was observed in the untreated mice and in mice with the disodium arsenate administration in drinking-water. However, development rate of tumors and the number of tumor developments per mouse increased and the development of large-sized skin papilloma with a diameter of above 3 mm significantly increased in the animals with the combined exposure compared to that in the animals with the single DMBA administration (EFSA 2009; IARC 2012).

(iii) Neurotoxicity

According to EFSA, lack of apparent systemic toxicity of inorganic arsenic has been confirmed by many studies in rats and mice. However, mild neurobehavioral effects have been observed (Rodriguez et al. 2003; EFSA 2009).

a. A study with sixty-day administration in drinking-water in mice.

Neurotoxicity of inorganic arsenic was studied in mice (sex unknown), where diarsenic trioxide (As(III)) of 0, 1 and 4 ppm in drinking-water was administrated for 60 days, using 6 or 10 mice for each dose (Wang et al. 2009a).

Dose-dependent prolonged latency was observed in a Morris water maze test. Expression of crucial genes related to the Creb dependent long-term depression (LTD) in cerebellum was analyzed, and significant decrease in expression of $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase IV (Camk4), Fos and Jun among 25 genes was detected in the animals dosed with 4 ppm of As(III).

Since administration of antioxidant such as taurine or vitamin C with As(III) could not inhibit decrease in Camk4 expression, the authors attributed the decrease in Camk4 expression by arsenic to a pathway which was independent of oxidation.

b. A study with administration in drinking-water for 4 months in mice.

A study on neurotoxicity of sodium arsenite with 4-month administration of As(III) was conducted in mice, where As(III) at the doses of 0, 0.05, 0.5, 5.0 and 50 mg/L which correspond to 0.034-0.044, 0.043-0.057, 0.122-0.156, 1.56-1.62 and 6.58-7.34 mg As/kg bw/day in drinking-water were given to C57BL/6J mice of male and female(number of mice in each dose group is unknown) (Bardullas et al. 2009).

Spontaneous behavior was measured every month. In male mice, locomotor activity (horizontal movement, stereotyped behavior: repetition of movement at the same place) increased significantly after 4 months of administration at the dose of 0.05 mg/L and 0.5 mg/L , but significant increase and significant decrease were both observed in horizontal movement only in the 50 mg/L dosed group. In female mice, significant increase in horizontal movement was observed 2 months after the administration in the animals dosed with As(III) above 0.5 mg/L, and 3 and 4 months after the administration in all treatment groups. Stereotyped behavior was significantly increased in the animals administered with 0.5 mg/L and 5.0 mg/L dose 1 and 2 months after the administration, and in the animals with all doses3 and 4 months after the administration of As(III) at 0.5 mg/L and above into the female mice decreased dopamine in the striatum, and administration of As(III) with all doses significantly doses decreased expression of mRNA of tyrosine hydroxylase and of thioredoxin-1 in striatum of males and in nucleus accumbens of females.

From these data, the authors considered that chronic exposure to arsenic caused genderdependent changes of locomotor activity, dopaminergic nervous system, and the thioredoxin system which had an antioxidative effect on the central nervous system in mice. The authors also suggested that female is more sensitive to arsenic than male is. c. Fifteen-day and four-week study with oral gavage in rats.

Neuroroxicity of inorganic arsenate was studied with 15-day (study 1) and 4-week (study 2) oral gavage of As(III) in SD rats, where 8 male rats were used for each dose of 0, 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg bw/day for study1, and of 10 mg/kg bw/day for study 2 (Rodriguez et al. 2001).

A significant decrease in locomotor activity was observed in Week 1 and Week 2 in the 20 mg/kg bw/day dosed animals in Study 1. A significant decrease was observed only in duration time of vertical activity in Week 1 among other index of locomotor activities in the 10 mg/kg bw/day dosed animals. In study 2, decrease in locomotor activity in Week 2 and Week 3 was observed in the administration group. Among 3 tasks in study 1 and study 2 (T-maze task, redial-arm maze task, spatial learning task), decrease in the number of errors in the T-maze task was observed in the administration group in Study 2.

d. Four to twelve-week oral gavage study in rats.

Toxic effects of inorganic arsenate on the nervous system was studied with oral gavage of As(III) in Wistar rats, where dose of 0, 3 and 10 mg/kg body weight were administered into 3 male each for four to twelve-week. In ischiadic nerves, no change was observed in the expression of neurofilament subunit proteins medium chain (NF-M) or of neurofilament subunit proteins heavy chain (NF-H). However, the expression of neurofilament subunit proteins light chain (NF-L) significantly decreased by the gavage of all doses for 4, 8 and 12 weeks depending on the dose and duration of administration. No significant change in the expression of microtubule-associated protein (MAP) -tau was observed (Vahidnia et al. 2008a).

Since oral gavage of the all doses caused significant increases in the expression of μ -calpain and m-calpain proteins, the authors suggested that the disintegration of NF-L was probably progressed. The authors also considered that hyperphosphorylation of NF-L and MAPtau likely occurred which consequently resulted unstableness and destruction of cytoskeletal framework, and eventually induced degeneration of axons. The authors concluded that this study importantly demonstrated the pathological changes induced by arsenic in the peripheral nervous system, showing the decrease in the expression of NF-L which is the only NF protein that can form and coassemble itself *in vivo*.

e. Four to twelve-week oral gavage study in rats.

Neurotoxicity of As(III) was also studied with oral gavage in Wister rats where 10 male rats were exposed to each dose of 0, 3.33, 6.66, 13.3 and 26.6 mg/kg bw/day of As(III) for 4- to 12-week (Schulz et al. 2002). A significant decrease in walking and grooming was observed in Week 4 in an open field study in the 26.6 mg/kg bw/day dose group, but no significant decrease was observed in Week 8 or Week 12.

f. Twenty-eight-day oral administration study in rats.

A twenty-eight-day oral administration study of sodium arsenite (As(III)) (0, 20 mg As/kg bw/day) in Wistar rats (female, 5 rats in each administration group) was conducted (Yadav et al. 2009).

Oral administration of As(III) caused significant decrease in the locomotor activity (moving distance, moving time, rest period, stand-up motion), and in a result of a gripping force and rotor rod test (coordination of motor function).

g. Three-month study with administration in drinking-water in rats.

Neurotoxic effects of As(III) administered for 3 months in drinking-water at the dose of 0, 2.72, 13.6, and 68 mg/L were studied in SD rats using 20 male rats for each dose (Luo 2009).

Spatial perception in the Morris water maze test was significantly decreased (disability in obtaining platform) in the animals administered with As(III) of 68 mg/L. Pathological changes of neuron and endothial cells, and dose-dependent decrease in gene expression of NR2A mRNA of the aspartate receptor in hippocampus were also observed after the administration of As(III).

h. Four-month study with administration in drinking-water in rats.

Neurotoxicity of As(III), that was administered in drinking-water at the dose of 0 and 36.7 mg As/L from 15 days of gestation or from 1 day after the birth till approximately 4 months, was studied in SD rats using 4 females for each dose (Rodriguez et al. 2002).

Locomotor activity was increased in the animals in which arsenic was administered from 15 days of gestation, and test scores on the delayed alternation task in T-maze was reduced (error increased) in the animals administered both doses compared to the control animals.

[References] in vitro

EFSA (2009) referred on the effect of As(III) and As(V) in vitro as follows:

The expression of NF-L gene was not affected by treatment *in vitro* with sodium arsenite (As(III)) or with disodium arsenate (As(V)) at the dose of 0, 0.3, 1 and 3 μ M for 24 or 48 hours in culture (Vahidnia et al. 2007b). However, cellular calcium was increased by As(III) *in vitro* (Florea et al. 2007). Consequently calcium induced Calpine activity may decomposep35 protein to p25 protein. Hyperphosphorylation of cytoskeletal protein including MAP-tau caused by the decomposition was considered to be highly likely (Vahidnia et al. 2008b).

Moreover, the loss of normal cytoskeleton of axon by arsenic has been attributed to the hyperphosphorylation and deregulation of MAP-tau as a consequence of hyperphosphorylation. (Vahidnia et al. 2007a).

[References] Mechanism of neurotoxicity

According to EFSA (2009), arsenic is considered to enter into the brain through a yet unknown pathway and accumulate in the choroid plexus more than in other parts of the brain. Arsenic affects cholinergic, glutamic, and monoaminergic neurotransmitter in adult rodents and it affects the dopaminergic system the most. Since the structure of arsenate is similar to that of inorganic phosphate arsenite, it causes substrate competition which inhibits conversion of 3,4 dihydroxyphenylalanine (l-DOPA) to 2- (3,4-dihydroxyphenyl) ethylamine (dopamine). Since arsenite interacts with the thiol group, it may disturb the enzyme function related to carbohydrate metabolism such as succinic acid or pyruvate dehydrogenase (Rodriguez et al. 2003; Vahidnia et al. 2007a).

Moreover, it is known that inorganic arsenic induces oxidative stress to which the brain cells are particularly sensitive. Hence, oxidative stress induced by arsenic is considered to be a molecular mechanism of inorganic arsenic-induced neurotoxicity *in vivo* (Mishra and Flora 2008; Hong et al. 2009).

(iv) Immunotoxicity

a. Three-week subacute toxicity study in mice.

Subacute toxicity of arsenic was studied in White Swiss cross mice with a 3-week administration of As(III) at the dose of 0, 0.5, 2.0 and 10.0 ppm in drinking-water using 8 to 10 male mice for each dose (Blakley et al. 1980).

A decrease in plaque forming cell response in spleen cells to sheep erythrocyte was observed in 0.5 ppm, 2.0 ppm, 10.0 ppm dose groups, and inhibition of humoral immunity which inhibits both primary and secondary immune responses was observed (EFSA 2009).

b. Five-week subacute toxicity study in mice.

A 5-week study with administration of As(III) at the dose of 0.1, 1, and 50 μ g/L in drinking-water was conducted in C57/BL6 mice using 3-4 male mice for each dose (Andrew et al. 2007).

At the end of the administration in drinking-water for 5 weeks, a comprehensive gene analysis using mouse lung was performed. Significant changes in gene expression associated with angiogenesis, lipid metabolism, oxygen transfer, apoptosis, cell cycle, and immune response were detected. Similar changes in some part of these responses were confirmed by semi-quantitative RT-PCR or immunoblotting techniques.

From this result, the authors suggested that the factors which were affected in this study may be a useful biological marker on searching the disease associated with arsenic and are useful for the assessment of disease risk (EFSA 2009).

c. Five- to six-week subacute toxicity study in mice.

Subacute toxicity of arsenic was studied in C57BL/6J mice with administration of As(III) in drinking-water or in feed at the dose of 10 and 100 ppb using 4 to 6 male mice for each dose (Kozul et al. 2009).

A comprehensive gene analysis using mice lung was performed at the end of the study. Significant changes in many genes relating to cell adhesion, cell division, channel, receptor, differentiation, proliferation, and innate immune response were observed in the animals of administration group. Some parts of these changes were similarly observed by semi-quantitative RT-PCR or by immunoblotting techniques.

Since the effects observed in the results were that on the factors related to natural immunity, the authors suggested that arsenic may especially associate with the increase of the disease risk of the lung (EFSA 2009).

d. Ten to twelve-week subacute toxicity study in mice.

Subacute toxicity study of disodium arsenate (As(V)) was conducted in C57BL6/6 B6 mice with administration of As(V) in drinking-water at the dose of 2.5, 25 and 100 ppm (20 mg As/kg bw/day for 100 ppm as converted by ATSDR using male mice (the number in each dose group is unknown) (Kerkvliet et al. 1980).

Abnormality in immune function, liver, and in the kidneys was not observed in disodium arsenate administered mice.

ATSDR (2007) determined the NOAEL in terms of immune function, liver, and the kidneys as 20 mg/kg bw/day.

e. Twelve-week subacute toxicity study in mice.

Subacute toxicity of disodium arsenate (As(V)) was studied with 12-week administration of As(V) at the dose of 0.5, 5, and 50 mg As/L in drinking-water in C57BL/6J/Han mice (female, 10 mice in each dose group) (Arkusz et al. 2005).

In examination of the peritoneal macrophage which was isolated from mice at the end of the administration for 12 weeks, significant decrease was observed in the production of reactive oxygen species by phorbol myristate stimulation and the production of nitric oxide by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation. No change was observed in the production of LPS stimulation-induced nitric oxide synthase, TNF- α production and mRNA expression.

The authors suggested that exposure to As(V) may affect the progress of infection and tumor cells based on the finding that the production of reactive oxygen species or of nitric oxide in peritoneal macrophage was decreased by the exposure (EFSA 2009).

(v) Toxicity on reproduction and development

Although it is known that inorganic arsenic poses fetal toxicity or teratogenicity in experimental animals, many studies have been conducted with doses as high as that with maternal toxicity (Golub et al. 1998; Wang et al. 2006).

In recent studies on the toxicity of arsenic, mostly on As(V), with a dose which did not have maternal toxicity, growth delay in fetus, neurotoxicity, and changes in lung structure were observed depending on the oral dose (Wang et al. 2006; Hill et al. 2008). Exposure inutero or exposure at the postnatal early stage of mice to arsenic in drinking-water, which contains arsenite at the concentration of 100 μ g/L or less, was found to cause a change in airway response to methacholine stimulation in 28-day-old mice. This change was accompanied with morphological structural change around the respiratory tract which was related to protein and gene expression (Lantz et al. 2009).

(vi) Developmental neurotoxicity

The brain is fragile especially at the development and arsenic exposure of fetus and arsenic exposure right after the birth are known to induce neurotoxicity which leads to behavioral changes as a result (Rodriguez et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2006). According to the report from EFSA (2009), in-utero exposure of fetuses to inorganic arsenic through oral administration into the mother caused neurotoxicity including neural tube aplasia, fetal growth retardation, changes in motor activity and of spatial learning in offspring. Arsenic exposure in-utero also caused changes in neuroendocrine markers associated with depression-like behaviors in offspring. In addition, inhibition of methylation by arsenic was reported to enhance the developmental neurotoxicity. However, EFSA also suggested that it was difficult to extrapolate these findings to humans since the specie difference was large and information was insufficient.

a. Study with perinatal administration in drinking-water in mice.

Developmental neurotoxicity of As(V) was studied with the administration in drinkingwater with the dose of 0 and 50 μ g/L in C57BL/6J mice. Administration of As(V) of each dose into 5-12 female mice was initiated before the gestation and continued until the birth of offspring. (Martinez et al. 2008).

An unenthusiastic behavior in learning, immobility in a forced swimming task and change in neuroendocrine markers related to depressive and depressive-like behaviors were observed in offspring in the As(V) administered animals. Significant increase in serum corticosterone, significant decrease of CRFR1 protein in hippocampus, and significant increase in binding affinity of serotonin 5HT1A receptors and the receptor-effector coupling in the dorsal hippocampus were observed. But no such a change was observed in the ventral hippocampus, entorhinal cortex, cortex of frontal lobe, and in colliculus inferior.

The authors reported that perinatal exposure to arsenic inhibited regulatory interaction between the HPA axis and serotoninergic system in the dorsal hippocampus which related to depression-like behavior in children. It was also suggested that exposure to arsenic of low concentration in the developmental stage had adverse effects for long periods on the neurobiological markers which associated with the changes in neuronal system and behavior.

b. Study with perinatal administration in drinking-water in rats.

Administration with sodium arsenite 100 mg/L in drinking-water into pregnant rats from 6th day in gestation to 42nd post-parturition day was reported to cause changes in learning and memory behavior and in several reflex reactions (Xia et al. 2009).

3. Effect of organic arsenic compounds

The toxicity of methylated organic arsenic has been considered to be lower than that of inorganic arsenic, and the methylation *in vivo* has been considered to be a mechanism for detoxication of inorganic arsenic. However, trivalent methylated arsenic such as MMA (III) or DMA (III) which are highly reactive and strongly carcinogenic are known to be formed through the methylation process. Based on these findings, it has been suggested that MMA (III) or DMA (III) likely has adverse effects on organisms (Jomova et al. 2011).

(1) Effect on humans

Toxicity of organic arsenic compound is compound specific among several types of it, thus it is difficult to compare toxicity of each compound equally. Toxic risk of each organic arsenic compound should be evaluated separately (ATSDR 2007; EFSA 2009).

AsBe is not metabolized *in vivo* in humans and excreted as an unaltered substance. Since little toxicity of it has been reported in humans and experimental animals, AsBe has been considered not toxic (EFSA 2009). Although arsenosugar and arsenolipid which is a lipid-soluble organic arsenic compound are metabolized to DMA (V) *in vivo* in humans (Raml et al. 2009; Schmeisser et al. 2006), no information about toxicity of arsenosugar or arsenolipid has been available.

(i) Acute effect

According to ATSDR (2007) and EFSA (2009), any investigation of acute poisoning and mortality caused by oral intake of organic arsenic compounds in humans has not been reported.

(ii) Chronic effect

a. Cutaneous effects

No epidemiologic study about cutaneous effect caused by oral administration of organic arsenic compound alone is available. However, it has been reported that the risk of arsenic-induced skin lesions is high in the people who had inorganic arsenic exposure and excretes MMA (V) with a high proportion, since whose OR of skin lesions was 1.5 to 2.8 times higher than that in the people who excrete inorganic arsenic with a lower proportion (Ahsan et al. 2007; McCarty et al. 2007; Lindberg et al. 2008). However, it was pointed out that MMA (III) and MMA (V) were not distinguished at the measurement in these reports (EFSA 2009). Also, Valenzuela (2005) et al. reported that, among the people who had inorganic arsenic exposure through drinking-water, the people with skin lesions had mean urinary concentration of MMA (III) significantly higher than that of the people without skin lesions.

b. Carcinogenicity

According to IARC, although organic arsenic such as AsBe and AsC are considered to be contained in seafood, no epidemiologic data which is applicable to the assessment of the cancer risk of organic arsenic derived from seafood is available for the moment (IARC 2012).

c. Effects on nervous system

EFSA (2009) reported that there are only few reports about neurotoxicity of chronic exposure to organic arsenic compounds in human peripheral nervous system, and it is still difficult to distinguish neurotoxicity in peripheral nervous system caused by inorganic arsenic from that by organic arsenic in human pathology. Also, neurotoxicity in peripheral nervous system caused by organic arsenic compounds in foods such as AsBe and AsC has not been observed in humans. Similarly, no neurotoxicity of various arsenic metabolites such as MMA (methylarsonate) and DMA (III)) has been clarified in the clinical area (EFSA 2009). (2) Effects on experimental animals.

(i) Acute Toxicity

According to ATSDR (2007), the oral LD₅₀ for MMA(V) was reported to be 1,800 mg MMA(V)/kg body weight in mice and the oral LD₅₀ for DMA(V) was reported as 1,200 mg DMA(V)/kg body weight in mice (Kaise et al. 1989).

Arsenosugar has been considered not to have acute toxicity like that organic arsenic hAs (Sakurai et al. 1997; Andrewes et al. 2004).

(ii) Repeated-dose toxicity

a. Subacute toxicity

When DMA (V) was orally administered to Fischer344 rats 5 times a week for 4 weeks, 50% of the males and 20% of the females died with the dose of 57 mg/kg bw/day (Murai et al. 1993). With the administration in drinking-water for 8 weeks, 100% of F344 male rats died with the dose of 17 mg/kg bw/day (Wanibuchi et al. 1996). With a 13-week feeding administration of DMA (V), 100% of F344 male rats died with the dose of 190 mg/kg bw/day (Crown et al. 1987).

b. Chronic toxicity

MMA (V) is known to have effects on the gastrointestinal tract, kidneys, thyroid gland and genital organ system (ATSDR 2007). The effect which is most sensitive to MMA (V) is diarrhea and it is reported that diarrhea occurs associated with the extension of the treatment period even in the lower dose in rats, mice, rabbits and dogs. Pathological change in the gastrointestinal tract was observed more frequently with higher doses than with lower doses which normally cause diarrhea. According to Arnold et al. (2003), the lowest NOAEL in the feeding study was 3 mg/kg bw/day in a 2-year feeding study in rats and LOAEL in terms of diarrhea was 25.7 mg/kg bw/day (Arnold et al. 2003).

DMA (V) has effects on the bladder, kidneys, thyroid gland, and fetus development, and the effect with the highest sensitivity to DMA (V) has been considered to be carcinogenicity in the bladder (ATSDR 2007).

(iii) Carcinogenicity

a. DMA (V)

While carcinogenicity of DMA (V) in the bladder of rats has been confirmed, carcinogenicity of DMA (V) in the bladder of mice has not been found.

(a) Mice

Carcinogenicity of DMA (V) was examined in OGG1 KO and wild type mice, where DMA (V) in drinking-water was administered with the dose of 0 and 200 ppm for 72 weeks. The animals were 14 weeks-old male and female at the initiation of the study, and 10 OGG1 KO mice and 12 wild type mice were used for each dose. As a result, incidence rate and number of lung tumors in mice deficit in OGG1, an enzyme that repairs oxidative damage of DNA, were significantly increased by DMA (V) when compared to the control animals. In contrast, the development of lung tumors was not observed in wild type mice. From these results, the authors suggested that DMA (V) is carcinogenic to the lungs in OGG1 deficit mice (Kinoshita et al. 2007a).

Effects of DMA (V) administered in AJ mice in drinking-water was reported as follows. DMA (V) of 0, 50, 200 and 400 ppm in drinking-water was administered in AJ male mice of 5 weeks old at the initiation for 50 weeks using 24 mice for each dose. Although administration of the maximum dose of 400 ppm significantly increased the number of tumors per mouse, no clear dose-response relationship was observed between the administered concentration of DMA(V) and indexes such as number and size of lung tumors, number of mice in which oncogenesis was observed (Hayashi et al.1998). The authors suggested that it is difficult to judge the presence or absence of carcinogenicity of DMA (V) in mice only from this study since AJ mice are the strain in which lung tumor is very easily developed, and that studies in other strains of mouse using more number of animals are required to judge it.

There is another report of a feeding study of DMA(V) in B6C3F1 mice, where 0, 2, 10, 40 and 100 ppm of DMA(V) in feed was administered to 56 male and female mice of 5 weeksold at the initiation for 104 weeks. Neither preneoplasia in the bladder which is considered to be associated with DMA (V) administration nor oncogenesis was observed in both males and females in this study (Arnold et al. 2006).

(b) Rats

Carcinogenicity of DMA (V) in rats was studied with administration of 0, 12.5, 50 and 200 ppm of DMA (V) in drinking-water for 104 weeks, using 36 male F344 rats of 10 weeks old for each dose. In the 50 ppm administered group, bladder cancer was developed in 19% of the animals and tumors including papilloma were developed in 26% of the group. In the 200 ppm administered group, bladder cancer was developed in 39% of the animals (among them, 2 cases were accompanied with papilloma), and no development of tumors was observed in the 12.5 ppm administered group and in the control group. Carcinogenicity was observed only in bladder in this study (Wei et al. 1999; Wei et al. 2002).

A feeding study of DMA (V) with the dose of 0, 2, 10, 40 and 100 ppm for 104 weeks was conducted in male F344 rats of 5 weeks old at the initiation, using 60 in each dose group. In

the bladder of male rats, papilloma was observed in 1 case each in the 10 ppm and in the 40 ppm dose groups, and bladder cancer was observed in 1 case in the 2 ppm dose group and 2 cases in the 10 ppm dose group. In female rats, 4 cases of papilloma and 6 cases of bladder cancer were observed in the 100 ppm dose group. No tumor development was observed both in the males and females of the control groups. Carcinogenicity was observed only in the bladder (Arnold et al. 2006).

b. MMA(V)

No carcinogenicity was observed in the administration study of MMA (V) in experimental animals.

(a) Mice

A feeding study of MMA (V) with the dose of 0, 10, 50, 200 and 400 ppm for 104 weeks in B6C3F1 mice of 6 week-old at the initiation was conducted using 52 male and female mice in each dose group. Significant oncogenesis associated with the MMA (V) administration was not observed, and it was reported that although a decrease in body weight was observed in the 400 pm group, the survival rate was not changed significantly (Arnold et al. 2003).

(b) Rat

Effects of MMA (V) administered in drinking-water at the dose of 0, 50 and 200 ppm for 2 years were examined in F344 rats of 10 weeks old at initiation, using 42-45 males for each dose. No significant increase associated with MMA (V) administration was observed in any index of body weight, food intake, water intake, and survival rate. Although autopsy revealed oncogenesis in the liver or in the bladder in all dose groups including the control group, these were histologically similar to the tumors which spontaneously formed in F344 rats. These results indicated that significant oncogenesis was not caused by 2-year administration of MMA (V) in the liver or in other organs (Shen et al. 2003a).

In another feeding study conducted in F344 rats of 6 weeks-old at the initiation, MMA (V) was administered with the dose of 0, 50, 400 and 1,300 ppm in male rats for 104 weeks, using 60 rats in each dose group. No significant oncogenesis associated with administration was observed from this study. On the other hand, the maximum dose of 1,300 ppm was changed to 1,000 ppm in week 53 and further to 800 ppm in week 60, because of the rapid increase in the mortality (Arnold et al. 2003).

c. TMAO

In a study conducted in F344 rats of 10 weeks-old at the initiation, TMAO was administered in drinking-water with the dose of 0, 50 and 200 ppm in male rats for 2 years, using 42-45 rats in each dose group. The incidence rate and the number of incidence of hepatic adenoma increased significantly in the 200 ppm dose group compared to the control group. Although oncogenesis was also observed in other organs, these tumors were observed even in the control group and were histologically similar to tumors spontaneously developed in F344 rats (Shen et al. 2003b).

(iv) Carcinogenicity of simultaneous exposure

a. DMA(V)

(a) Mice

Tumor promoting activity of DMA (V) was examined in mice that were administered with 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide, a tumor initiator, then administered with DMA (V) in drinking-water at the dose of 0, 200 and 400 ppm for 25 weeks in ddY mice of 6 weeks-old at the initiation using 9-13 male mice in each dose group. Prior to the DMA (V) administration, animals were administered with 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide of 10mg/kg body weight subcutaneously. The incidence rate of lung tumors in the DMA (V) dose group tended to increase compared to the control group, and the incidence number of lung tumors significantly increased in the 400 ppm dose group (Yamanaka et al. 1996).

In another study, 200 ppm of DMA (V) mixed in cream was applied to K6/ODC transgenic mice of 10-14 weeks-old twice a week for 18 weeks prior to which the mice were administered with a tumor initiator DMBA, using 7-8 male mice in each administration group. The number of skin tumors in the mice which had DMA(V) application after DMBA was two times higher than that in the mice which had only DMBA pretreatment, indicating that DMA(V) had skin tumors promoting activity similar to that of TPA. Although skin tumors were not developed in the animals that were not treated with the initiator DMBA regardless of the application of DMA(V) (Morikawa et al. 2000), it was considered to be difficult to interpret appropriately since the study was conducted in only 2 DMBA non-treated animals (IARC 2012).

(b) Rats

A medium-term multi-organ carcinogenicity of DMA (V) was studied in F344 rats. Prior to the administration of DMA(V), F344male rats of 7 weeks-old at the initiation were administered with 5 different carcinogens such as diethylnitrosamin (DEN), methylnitrosourea (MNU), N-Butyl-N-butan-4-ol-nitrosamine (BBN), 1,2-dimethylhydrazine(DMH), N-bis (2hyroxypropyl)nitrosamine (DHPN) (DMBDD for short) for 4 weeks followed by 1 week of washout period. After this washout period, DMA (V) was administered in drinking-water with the dose of 0, 50, 100, 200 and 400 ppm for 25 weeks using 20 rats in each dose group. The carcinogenesis in the bladder was enhanced by DMA (V) at 50 ppm and above that in the liver and the kidneys was enhanced by DMA (V) of 200 ppm and above. Furthermore, tumor promoting activity of DMA (V) in the thyroid gland was observed from 400 pm. In contrast, carcinogenesis was not observed even after 25 weeks of DMA (V) administration in rats which were not pretreated with DMBDD (Yamamoto et al. 1995).

Tumor promoting activity of DMA (V) to carcinogenesis by BBN, a carcinogen of bladder cancer, was examined in F344 rats (Wanibuchi et al.1996). After 4 weeks of treatment with BBN, DMA(V) in drinking-water was administered with the dose of 0, 2, 10, 20, 50 and 100 ppm for 32 weeks in F344 male rats of 6 weeks-old at the initiation using 20 rats for each dose.,. As a result, incidence of bladder tumors was significantly increased already with 10 ppm DMA(V), and tumor promoting activity of DMA(V) in the bladder at the dose of and above 25 ppm was significantly different from that in control animals.

As a comparative study, the effects of an administration of 0, 10, 25 and 100 ppm of DMA (V) in drinking-water for 8 weeks were studied without the initiation with BBN in rats of 6 weeks-old at the initiation. The cell proliferation in bladder epithelium increased dose-dependently by DMA (V). The authors suggested that DMA (V) had tumor promoting activity in the bladder of rats, and that the stimulation of cell proliferation in bladder epithelium was one of the mechanisms.

b. DMA(V), MMA(V), TMAO

Effects of DMA(V), MMA(V) and TMAO on the initiation activity of DEN was studied in male F344 rats of 6 weeks old at the initiation of the study. The animals were administered with 0 and 100 ppm of DMA (V), MMA (V) and TMAO in drinking-water after 2 weeks of washout following the initiation treatment with DEN. The number and area of GST-P positive foci in the liver increased significantly in MMA and TMAO administered animals compared to the control animals, and it was revealed that that MMA(V) and TMAO accelerated the development of precancerous lesions in the liver of rats (Nishikawa et al. 2002).

(v) Neurotoxicity

Organic arsenic compounds in foods including AsBe and AsC have been considered not to relate to peripheral or central neurotoxicity (EFSA 2009). The administration of MMA(V) with the dose of 72.4 mg/kg bw/day to rats or MMA(V) with the dose of 67.1 mg/kg bw/day to mice have been reported not to cause any clinical symptoms or brain lesions (Arnold et al. 2003). Similarly, the chronic administration of DMA (V) with the dose of 7.8 or 94 mg/kg bw/day has been reported not to cause any clinical symptoms or histologic changes (Arnold et al. 2006; ATSDR 2007; EFSA 2006).

Kuger et al. (2009) investigated the effects of MMA (V) and MMA (III) on the synaptic function in hippocampus, where the field excitatory postsynaptic potential (fEPSPs) in Schaffer collateral in the slice preparation of hippocampus from juvenile (14-21 days-old) and adult (2-4 months-old) rats were recorded. The slice preparations were treated with MMA (V) or MMA (III) prior to the recording of fEPSPs. The synaptic function in the slice preparation from neither adult nor juvenile rats was affected by MMA (V). However, MMA (III) at the dose of 50 and 25 µmol/L strongly suppressed the synaptic potential in the slice preparation from both adult and juvenile rats. MMA (III) also strongly suppressed amplitude of long-term potentiation (LTP) at the dose of 25 µmol/L and 10 µmol/L, both in the slice preparation from adult and juvenile rats. On the contrary, treatment with 1 µmol/L MMA (III) enhanced the LTP amplitude in the slice from juvenile rats. This effect was attributed to the enhancement of N-Methyl-D-Aspartic Acid (NMDA) receptor and lack of an antagonistic effect of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid. The authors suggested that these impairments of excitatory synapse in CA1 region of hippocampus was caused by the activity of MMA(III) to postsynaptic glutamate receptor and may be a cause of cognitive impairment by arsenic (Kruger et al. 2009; EFSA 2009).

(vi) Immunotoxicity

Effects of oral administration of organic arsenic compounds on the immune system or lymphoid organs associated with immune function have not been observed.

Exposure of rats and mice to MMA(V) of 72.4, 67.1 mg/kg bw/day (Arnold et al. 2003) and to DMA(V) of 7.8, 94 mg/kg bw/day or (Arnold et al. 2006) were found to cause no histologic changes in the immune system. Oral administration of MMA (V) in Finch chicks with the dose of 4-72 mg/kg bw/day for 20 days has been reported to have no effect on immune function (Albert et al. 2008).

(vii) Reproductive and developmental toxicity

According to EFSA (2009), reproductive toxicity of AsBe has not been observed, and there is little information on early toxicity of MMA (V) and DMA (V) (EFSA 2009).

A study on reproductive and developmental toxicity of MMA(V), DMA(V) that were orally administered in Sprague-Dawley rats and New Zealand White Rabbits reported that developmental toxicity associated with the administration was not observed with the exposure dose which did not cause maternal toxicity. With the repeated oral administration of MMA(V) 0, 10, 100 and 500 mg/kg bw/day in rats, and 0, 1, 3, 7 and 12 mg/kg bw/day in rabbits, and the repeated oral administration of DMA(V) 0, 4, 12 and 36 mg/kg bw/day in

rats and, 0, 3, 12 and 48 mg/kg bw/day in rabbits, during the organogenesis period (gestation day (GD) 6-15 for rats, GD7-19 days for rabbits), maternal toxicity and fetal toxicity were observed with the highest dose which was 500 mg/kg bw/day for rats and 12 mg/kg bw/day for rabbits, but developmental toxicity associated with the administration was not observed in lower doses. Teratogenicity was not observed with MMA (V) administration. With DMA (V) administration, maternal toxicity and developmental toxicity were observed with the dose of 36 mg/kg bw/day in rats. In rabbits, the DMA (V) administration of 48 mg/kg bw/day resulted spontaneous abortion in most mother rabbits and evident maternal toxicity where no live fetus for assessment existed. The dose which did not cause maternal toxicity or developmental toxicity associated with the administration was 12 mg/kg bw/day and less in rats and rabbits (Irvine et al. 2006; EFSA 2009).

(viii) Developmental neurotoxicity

In mice, similar to inorganic arsenic, DMA (V) is transferred from mother's body to fetus through the placenta, easily passes through the immature blood-brain barrier and is distributed widely in the fetus brain (Jin et al. 2006).

4. Effect of synthetic organic arsenic compounds

Based on ATSDR (2007) and EFSA (2009), we have summarized the toxicological data of man-made organic arsenic compounds, but it was very limited.

(1) Effect on humans

(i) Acute effect

According to ATSDR (2007), several cases of acute poisoning from organic arsenic compounds caused by the administration of pesticide have been reported. Vomiting, shock disease, liver and kidney failure were observed in a male who received 1,714 mg MSMA/kg body weight of organic arsenic compounds (Shum et al. 1995), and vomiting, abdominal pain, and diarrhea were observed in the patients who received organic arsenic compounds 78 mg DMA/kg body weight (Lee et al. 1995).

(ii) Chronic effect

Organic arsenic compounds have been used as therapeutic agents. Arsphenamine (3,3'diamino-4,4'-dihydroxy-arsenobenzene) used to be the therapeutic drug for syphilis, and currently melarsoprol ((2-(4-(4,6-diamino-1,3,5-triazin-2-ylamino)phenyl)-1,3,2-dithiarsolan-4-yl) methanol) has been used for the treatment of human African trypanosomiasis (sleeping sickness) in the overseas countries of disease outbreak. Although it has been known that acute central neurotoxicity were caused by these compounds, a few cases of peripheral neuropathy in the patients with syphilis or with trypanosomiasis were reported (Gherardi et al. 1990). For example, in a few syphilis patients who were treated with arsphenamine, the acute symptom (hemorrhagic encephalitis, brain purpura) called arsphenamine encephalitis which was characterized by brain hemorrhage is known to occur with the common symptoms such as paralysis, attack, vomiting, headache, fever and delirium. It has been reported that attack was observed in an examination of brain, and that hypostasis of blood vessels, necrosis, demyelinating in meninges, moderate to severe tigrolysis of neurons were observed in some patients (Roseman and Aring 1941; Globus and Ginsburg 1933). It has been reported that treatment with melarsoprol developed severe reactive arsenic encephalopathy, and may develop acute nonfatal mental disorder without evident neurological signs, rapidly progressing coma without seizure, or duplicate attack of seizure associated with acute brain swelling (Haller et al. 1986; Adams et al. 1986; EFSA 2009).

Contamination of well water with DPAA and DPAA poisoning with major symptoms of the cerebellum due to the drinking of the contaminated well water occurred in Kamisu town (currently Kamisu city), Ibaraki, in 2003 (Ishii et al. 2004). Highly-concentrated arsenic of 4,500 μ g As/L was detected in the well water for drinking and DPAA was detected in urine by HPLC-ICP-MS analysis. Although the early symptoms such as staggering was observed and was considered to be the health effect of DPAA, no relationship between symptom development and exposure was found. However, the toxicity was estimated to be observed at the concentration of 1,100 μ g As/L (140-2,400 μ g As/L) from time series analysis of the data. In addition, it is reported that no DPAA was detected in urine of the non-exposed subjects (Nakajima et al 2006).

(2) Effect on experimental animals

(i) Acute Toxicity

ATSDR (2007) reported that oral LD_{50} of roxarsone as 244 mg/kg body weight in mice (NTP 1989), 81 mg /kg body weight (NTP 1989) and 155 mg /kg body weight (Kerr et al. 1963) in rats. Also, oral LD_{50} of MSMA which is an organic arsenic pesticide to be 2,449-3,184 mg MSMA/kg body weight in rats (Gur and Nyska 1990) and 102 mg MSMA/kg body weight in rabbits (Jaghabir et al. 1988).

(ii) Repeated-dose toxicity

a. Subacute toxicity

(a) Fourteen-day subacute toxicity study in mice.

A 14-day feeding study of roxarsone, with the dose of 0, 60, 120, 250, 500 and 1,000 ppm, was conducted in B6C3F1 mice using 5 male and female for each dose.

Two out of 5 male mice and 5 out of 5 female mice in 1,000 ppm dose group died. The final body weight decreased 34% in males of the 1,000 ppm group and 10% in females of the 500 ppm group. Also, significant decrease in activity was observed in the mice dosed with 250 ppm and over (NTP 1989).

ATSDR (2007) determined the NOAEL for body weight decrease and NOAEL for decrease in activity in this study as 84 mg/kg bw/day (500 ppm) and 20 mg/kg bw/day (120 ppm), respectively.

(b) Thirteen-week subacute toxicity study in mice

A 13-week feeding study of roxarsone with the dose of 0, 50, 100, 200, 400 and 800 ppm was conducted in B6C3F1 mice using 10 male and female mice each for each dose.

Six out of 10 male mice and 8 out of 10 female mice in the 800 ppm dose group, and 1 male and 1 female mouse out of 10 mice each in the 400 ppm group died. In the 800 ppm dose group, the final body weight decreased 18% in male mice and 11% in female mice compared to the control group. Decrease in absolute liver weight was observed in male mice with the dose of 800 ppm (NTP 1989).

Subsequently, the authors conducted another 13-week feeding study of roxarsone in B6C3F1 mice where 30 male and 30 female mice were fed with each of 0, 100 and 400 ppm of roxarsone. However, no effect of the roxarsone administration was observed (NTP 1989).

(c) Fourteen-days subacute toxicity study in rats

Subacute toxicity of roxarsone at the dose of 0, 100, 200, 400, 800 and 1600 ppm was examined with a 14-day feeding study in F344 rats where 5 males and 5 females were fed with each dose of roxarsone.

Three out of 5 male mice and 5 out of 5 female mice died in the 1,600 ppm dose group. The final body weight decreased 22% in males and 5% in females in the 400 ppm dose group compared to the control group. The decrease of food intake was observed in male mice with the dose of 1,600 ppm and in female mice with the dose of 800 ppm. Also, mild hypoactivity was observed with the dose of 400 ppm or above (NTP 1989).

(e) Thirteen-week subacute toxicity study in rats

Subacute toxicity of roxarsone was examined in a 13-week feeding study in Holtzman rats where 6 male and female mice each were fed with each of 0, 25, 50, 100, 200 and 400 ppm of roxarsone.

Ten out of 12 male rats and 10 out of 10 female rats in the 400 ppm dose group died (Kerr et al. 1963; ATSDR 2007).

(e) Thirteen-week subacute toxicity study in rats

A 13-week subacute toxicity study of roxarsone was also conducted in F344 rats administrating each of 0, 50, 100, 200, 400 and 800 ppm of roxarsone in feeds in 10 males and females each.

Three out of 10 male rats and 2 out of 10 female rats in the 800 ppm dose group died. The final body weight decreased in the 200 ppm, 400 ppm, and 800 ppm dose group by 14%, 26%, and 50% in male rats and by 8%, 11%, and 33% in female rats, respectively. Relative weight of the liver was increased with the dose of 50, 100, 200 and 400 ppm in males and with the dose of 800 ppm and over in females (NTP 1989).

Subsequently, the authors conducted another 13-week feeding study of roxarsone with the dose of 0, 100 and 400 ppm in F344 rats where 30 males and females each were fed with each dose of roxarsone.

The decrease in an absolute weight of the liver and increase in a relative weight of the liver were observed in female rats of the 400 ppm dose group. The decrease in an absolute weight of the liver was observed in the males with the dose of 100 ppm and over. An increase in a relative weight of the kidney, mild renal toxicity such as mild degeneration of tubular epithelial cell, tubular cast and focal calcification was observed in males in the 400 ppm dose group. No effect associated with the administration was observed in female rats (NTP 1989).

ATSDR determined the NOAEL for the decrease in body weight in this study as 8 mg/kg bw/day (100 ppm), NOAEL for the effect on the liver as 4 mg/kg bw/day (50 ppm), and NOAEL for the effect on the kidneys as 16 mg/kg bw/day (200 ppm) (ATSDR 2007).

b. Chronic toxicity

(a) Two-year chronic toxicity study in mice

A 2-year feeding study of roxarsone was conducted in B6C3F1 mice where 50 male and female mice each were fed with the dose of 0, 100, 200 ppm; that is 0, 21, 43 mg/kg bw/day for males, and 0, 27, 54 mg/kg bw/day for females. No effect of the administration was observed on the respiratory system, cardiovascular system, digestive system, blood, musculoskeletal, liver, kidneys, skin, eyes, body weight, immune system, reproduction and development, and carcinogenicity (NTP 1989; ATSDR 2007).

ATSDR determined the NOAEL as 43 mg/kg bw/day in this study (ATSDR 2007).

(b) Two-year chronic toxicity study in rats

A 2-year feeding study of roxarsone was conducted in F344 rats, where 50 males and 50 females were fed with each dose of 0, 50 and 100 ppm; that is 0, 2.1 and 4 mg/kg bw/day.

The frequency of development of pancreas adenoma tended to increase in male rats in the 100 ppm dose group.

No effect of the administration on respiratory system, cardiovascular system, digestive system, blood, musculoskeletal, liver, kidneys, skin, eyes, body weight, immune system, reproduction and development, and carcinogenicity was observed (NTP 1989; ATSDR 2007).

ATSDR determined the NOAEL as 4 mg/kg bw/day in this study (ATSDR 2007).

(iii) Carcinogenicity

It was reported that no clear evidence for carcinogenicity of roxarsone in mice or rats () was observed in a 2-year feeding study conducted by NTP (1989) where the dose of 100 and 200 ppm that is 21 and 43 mg/kg bw/day for male mice, 27 and 54 mg/kg bw/day for female mice, and the dose of 50 and 100 ppm; that is 2.1 and 4 mg/kg bw/day were administered (NTP 1989; ATSDR 2007; EFSA 2009).

(iv) Neurotoxicity

ATSDR (2007) reported that pigs were the most sensitive to neurotoxicity of roxarsone in the animal studies as the effect on nervous system was observed with the oral administration of 6.3 mg/kg bw/day for 30 days. (Rice et al. 1985; Edmonds and Baker 1986; Kennedy et al. 1986; ATSDR 2007; EFSA 2009).

(v) Immunotoxicity

According to ATSDR (2007), no effect of oral administration of organic arsenic compounds on the immune system and on the lymphoid organ associated with immune function has been observed. In a 2-year chronic toxicity study in mice and rats conducted by NTP (1989), exposure of mice to roxarsone 200 ppm that is 43 mg/kg bw/day and of rats to 100 ppm that is 4 mg/kg bw/day caused no histological changes in the immune organ (NTP 1989; ATSDR 2007).

(vi) Reproductive and developmental toxicity

There was no report about an animal study regarding reproductive and developmental toxicity associated with oral administration of synthetized organic arsenic compounds.

5. Genotoxicity

(1) Effect on humans

(i) Gene mutation

Ostrosky-Wegman et al. (1991) investigated gene damage caused by arsenic exposure in a pilot survey in Mexico, collecting the blood and urine samples from 11 subjects (2 males and 9 females) of high exposure group who had been chronically exposed to arsenic in the well water with arsenic concentration of 390 μ g/L (As(V) 98%, As(III) 2%) and from 13 subjects (2 males and 11 females) of low exposure group who were exposed to arsenic the well water with arsenic concentration of 19-60 μ g/L. () The mean age of the subjects was 38 years old (range: 21-62 years old) in the high exposure group, and 38 years old (range: 21-55) in the high exposure group and 34 years (range: 5-56 years) in the low exposure group. The frequency of mutation of *HPRT* locus in peripheral blood lymphocyte was higher in the high exposure group than the low exposure group, but with no significant difference (IARC 2004).

As per the data of occupation exposure, Harrington-Brock et al. (1999) investigated the relationship between arsenic exposure and mutagenesis of *HPRT* locus of 15 male workers in a copper refining factory in Chile. The 15 subjects were 24 to 66 years old with the mean working period of 43 months in the relevant factory. Exposure conditions were confirmed by analyzing arsenic level in urine and were classified into 3 groups, i.e., low (mean: $120\mu g/L$), middle (mean: $190 \mu g/L$), and high (mean: $260 \mu g/L$). The *HPRT* mutant frequencies for the three exposure groups were 9×10^{-6} in the low exposure group, 11×10^{-6} in the moderate exposure group, and 24×10^{-6} in the high exposure group. No significant difference was observed in the mutation of *HPRT* locus in peripheral blood lymphocyte by arsenic exposure (IARC 2004).

(ii) Chromosome aberration

a. Chromosome aberration test

Gonsebatt et al. (1997) investigated cytogenetic effects of arsenic exposure in the population of the similar socio-economic status in the same area but with different inorganic arsenic exposure in drinking-water in Mexico. The exposure group (35 subjects) who have been drinking the well water of the mean arsenic concentration of 408 μ g/L (range: 396-435 μ g/L) was compared to the control group (34 subjects) who have been drinking the well water of the mean arsenic concentration of 29.9 μ g/L (range: 7.4-62 μ g/L). The mean age was 41 years old (range: 24-68) in the exposure group and 39 years old (range: 22-66) in the control group, and duration of residence was 3-65 in the exposure group and 10-64 years

in the control group. The sex ratio of the exposure group and the control group was equivalent. The subject who was exposed to suspected genotoxicity substance for a professional reason or the subjects who had some kind of treatment were excluded from the study. The chromosome aberration frequency in human peripheral blood lymphocyte in the exposure group was 7.1% (male: 8.9%, female: 5.7%) and was 3.0% (male: 2.8%, female: 3.1%) in the control group, indicating that the frequency was significantly increased by arsenic exposure Since the smoking rate was almost equivalent in exposure group (29%) and in the control group (33%), IARC considered that the smoking effect on the analysis result of the frequency of chromosome aberration was unlikely. In addition, IARC attributed the difference between the effect observed in males and in females of exposure group to the fact that water intake of men was higher than that of women because men in the targeted area worked in the field under the dry weather (IARC 2004).

Mäki-Paakkanen et al. (1998) investigated the relationship between chromosome aberration and arsenic exposure in 42 subjects who were exposed to arsenic contaminated well water in Finland. 32 out of 42 subjects, whose mean age was 52 ranging 15 to 83, had been using the well water contaminated with arsenic for the mean duration of 8 years ranging 1-29 yeas. The median value of arsenic concentration in drinking-water for these 32 subjects (exposure group) was 410 μ g/L (range: 17-510 μ g/L), and the median value of cumulative arsenic exposure for life-time was calculated to be 455 mg (range: 48-6,869 mg). Meanwhile, the other 10 out of 32 subjects (past exposure group), whose mean age was 46 ranging 17-68, and whose mean duration of exposure was 10 years ranging 5-30 years, had discontinued the use of contaminated well water 2 to 4 months before sampling. The median value of arsenic concentration in drinking-water for these 10 subjects of the past exposure group was 296 µg/L (range: 20-980 µg/L) and the median value of cumulative arsenic exposure concentration for life-time was calculated to be 828 mg (117-5,902 mg). The arsenic concentration in drinking-water of 8 subjects with mean age of 50, ranging 37-76, in the control group who lived in the same area, was less than 1 µg/L. Smoking habit, sex, intake of algae and seafood, and history of residence were used as confounding factors. The mean chromosome aberration frequency in peripheral blood lymphocyte was 6.9 (p = 0.02) for the exposure group, 4.2 for the past-exposure group, 8.6 for the control group without the adjustment for confounding factors, and 3.5 (p = 0.1) for the exposure group, 1.9 for the past-exposure group, 3.6 for the control group after the adjustment. No effect of smoking on chromosome aberration was observed. However, a significant relationship was observed between arsenic concentration in urine and chromosome aberration by generalized linear model (GLM) regardless of the adjustment for confounding factors (before adjustment: r^2 = 0.25, p = 0.008, after adjustment: $r^2 = 0.27$, p = 0.04). Also, significant relationship was

observed between cumulative arsenic exposure and chromosome aberration (before adjustment: r2 = 0.21, p = 0.008, after adjustment: r2 = 0.24, p = 0.25) (IARC 2004).

Mahata et al. (2003) examined cytogenetic effect by chronic arsenic exposure using chromosome aberration as the endpoint. The study was conducted in 59 subjects (male 37, female 22, mean age: 37 (range: 15-71)) of the exposure group who had skin symptoms from arsenic and 36 subjects of the control group (male 27, female: 9, mean age: 33 (range: 18-60)) who had matched on age and socio-economic status, of in West Bengal, India. The mean arsenic concentration in drinking-water was 212 μ g/L (range: 60-580 μ g/L) and 6.4 μ g/L (3.0-12.6 μ g/L) in the exposure group and in the control group, respectively. Also, cigarette smokers were included in the exposure group. The mean duration of arsenic exposure through drinking-water in the exposure group was 15.1 years (range: 3-35). The arsenic concentrations in nails, hairs, and in urine in the exposure group were significantly higher than those in the control group. The chromosome aberration frequency in peripheral blood lymphocyte was significantly higher in the exposure group (8.1%) than in the control group (2.0%). No effect of smoking was observed.

Ghosh et al. (2006) investigated the cytogenetic damage in three groups of subjects, in West Bengal in India, that were a group of 244 subjects with skin symptoms (male: 141, female: 103, smoking rate: 38.9%) who were taking drinking-water containing arsenic with the mean concentration of 242 μ g/L, 178 subjects without skin symptoms (male: 77, female: 101, smoking rate: 27.53%) taking drinking-water with mean arsenic concentration of 202 μ g/L, and 102 control subjects (male: 51, female: 51, smoking rate: 33.3%) taking drinking-water with mean arsenic concentration of 7.2 μ g/L. The mean number of chromosome aberration per cell in peripheral blood lymphocyte for the group with the skin symptoms and the group without the skin symptoms are significantly higher than that for the control group. Ninety-five percent confidence interval (CI) of each difference to the control group were 0.063-0.076 (p = 0.001) and 0.041-0.050 (p = 0.001), respectively.

Chakraborty et al. (2006) conducted a cytogenetic survey in 45 subjects (exposure group) consisted of 12 males and 33 females with mean age of 34 who had been taking drinking-water of mean arsenic concentration of 66.8 μ g/L for at least 10 years in the past, and 25 subjects (control group) consisted of 6 males and 19 females with mean age of 34 who were matched on sex and age and who had been taking drinking-water of the mean arsenic concentration of 6.4 μ g/L. The socio-economic status in both groups was almost equivalent. The chromosome aberration in oral mucosal epithelial cells was observed in the exposure group with significantly higher rate (mean 4.9%) compared to the rate in the control group (mean 1.3%). The authors concluded that the significant increase of cytogenetic damage
was observed in oral mucosal epithelial cells as well as in peripheral blood lymphocyte by arsenic exposure through drinking-water.

b. Micronucleus test

Warner et al. (1994) investigated the micronucleus frequency in exfoliated bladder cells and in oral mucosal epithelial cells in the population who had chronic arsenic exposure through well water in Nevada, U.S.A. Subjects of the exposure group were 8 males and 10 females, whose mean age was 38 ranging 14-74 years old. The mean arsenic concentration in the drinking-water for the exposure group was 1,310 µg/L (2,260 µg As/day), and the mean duration of residence was 4 years ranging from 1 to 13 years. The control group consisted of 8 males and 10 females with the mean age of 37 years old ranging from 16 to 70 years, who were matched on age, sex, and history of smoking. The mean arsenic concentration in the drinking-water for the control group was 16 μ g/L (36 μ g As/day), and the mean duration of residence was 5 years ranging from 1 to 13 years. The micronucleus frequency per 1,000 bladder cells were in the exposure group (2.79) was 1.8 times higher than that in the control group (1.57) (90%CI: 1.06-2.99, p = 0.09). There was a positive relationship between micronucleus frequency in bladder cells and arsenic concentration in urine. Meanwhile, the micronucleus frequencies per 1,000 oral mucosal epithelial cells were 2.49 in the exposure group and 2.50 in the control group. The ratio of the frequency in the exposure group to that in the control was 1.0 (90%CI: 0.65-1.53, p = 0.5), indicating no increase in the frequency associated with arsenic exposure (IARC 2004, 2012).

Biggs et al. (1997) examined an association of the micronucleus frequency of bladder cells by arsenic exposure with the urinary concentration of arsenic comparing the subjects from the high exposure group and the low exposure group in Chile. The high exposure group consisted of 124 subjects that are 70 males and 54 females, with a mean age of 41.1 ranging from 18 to 81 and a smoking rate of 29%. The low exposure group consisted of 108 subjects that are 55 males and 53 females, with a mean age of 41 ranging from 19 to 75 and a smoking rate of 31%. The subjects in the low exposure group were matched on sex, age composition, and smoking habit. Subjects in the high exposure group had been taking drinking-water of the maximum arsenic concentration of 670 μ g/L (range: 560-670 μ g/L) for the mean duration of residence of 20.0 years, while subjects in the low exposure group had been taking drinking-water of the mean arsenic concentration of 15 μ g/L (range: 12-17 μ g/L) for 27.7 years (range: 0.2-73). When urinary concentration of arsenic was classified into 5 classes from lower to higher concentration, micronucleus frequency of bladder cells was the lowest in the group of the lowest urinary concentration (Group 1) and increased proportionally to the increase in the urinary concentration up to Group 4 of which urinary concentration of arsenic was 53.9-729 µg/L. However, micronucleus frequency of bladder cells in group 5, where arsenic concentration in urine was the highest as 729 μ g/L and over, was even lower than that in group 1. Although the authors attributed the decrease in micronucleus frequency in the highest exposure group (group 5) to the cytotoxicity or cytostasis, they also suggested that further investigation of its mechanism was desirable.

Gonsebatt et al. (1997) investigated micronucleus in oral mucosal epithelial cells and in urothelial cells in addition to chromosome aberration in peripheral blood lymphocyte in the above mentioned study. The mean micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells were 2.21 (male: 3.08, female: 1.28) in oral mucosal epithelial cells and 2.22 (male: 4.18, female: 1.24) in the urothelial cells in exposure group. The mean micronucleus frequency in the exposure group was significantly higher than that in the control group where the frequency was 0.56 (male: 0.55, female: 0.57) in oral mucosal epithelial cell and 0.48 (male: 0.58, female: 0.43) in urothelial cells (IARC 2004).

Moore et al. (1997a) conducted a cross-sectional study of arsenic exposure only in the males who were in the targeted population of the above mentioned Biggs's study. Micronucleus in bladder cells was measured in 70 subjects with mean age of 42 (ranging 20-74) from the high exposure group who had been exposed to the drinking-water of mean arsenic concentration of 600 µg/L, and 55 subjects with mean age of 42 (ranging 19-75) in the low exposure group who had been exposed to the drinking-water of mean arsenic concentration of 15 μ g/L for a long period of time. Mean duration of residence in the high exposure group and the low exposure group were 19.3 years ranging 0.4-61 years, and 28.3 years ranging 0.2-73 years, respectively. Age, smoking history, duration of residence, education, and race were matched. Micronucleus frequency was analyzed in 104 subjects from the relevant population except those with arsenic exposure of background level or below. As 104 subjects were classified into 5 groups by their urinary arsenic concentration, micronucleus frequency increased from the lowest group, group 1, to group 4 where the urinary arsenic concentration was 54-729 µg/L with a statistically significant dose-response relationship. However, the increase in the frequency was not significant in the highest exposure group, group 5, with urinary arsenic concentration of 729 µg/L and over. Centromere-positive micronucleus increased by 3.1 times (95%CI: 1.4-6.6) in group 4 and centromere-negative micronucleus increased by 7.5 times in group 3 (95%CI: 2.8-20.3), suggesting that the micronucleus was mainly attributable to chromosome breakage (IARC 2004).

Moreover, Moore et al. (1997b) conducted an intervention survey changing arsenic concentration in drinking-water of 600 μ g/L to 45 μ g/L in 34 targeted subjects of the survey. The micronucleus frequency in exfoliated bladder cells in all subjects decreased after 8 weeks. Micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells was 2.63 before the intervention and 1.79 after the intervention. In terms of the smoking habit of the population, the micronucleus frequency in smokers was 4.55 before the intervention and decreased to 1.44 after the intervention, but no change was observed in non-smokers where the frequency was 2.05 before intervention and 1.90 after intervention. The authors suggested from these data that the bladder cells of smokers are more sensitive to genotoxic damage by arsenic than the bladder cells of non-smokers (IARC 2004).

In a pilot survey conducted by Tian et al. (2001) in Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region in China, micronucleus frequency in various epithelial cells of people who had chronic arsenic exposure through drinking-water was investigated. The people were classified into two groups, one of which was the high exposure group of 19 subjects (male: 14, female: 5, mean age: 38) who drank drinking-water with arsenic concentration of 528 μ g/L for over the mean 17 years. The other was the low exposure group of 13 subjects (male: 8, female: 5, mean age: 38) who drank drinking-water with arsenic concentration of 4.4 μ g/L and being considered on smoking habit, occupation, diet, demographic factors, age, and health condition. In comparison with the low exposure group, micronucleus frequency in oral mucosal epithelial cells and cells in sputum collected from respiratory epithelium was 3.4 times higher in the high exposure group. The micronucleus in bladder urothelial cells were increased by 2.7 times in the high exposure group and by 2.4 times in non-smokers. When the smokers were excluded from the subjects, the effect of arsenic exposure increased in oral mucosal epithelial cells and in sputum and micronucleus frequency increased by 6 times (IARC 2004).

Basu et al. (2002) investigated the micronucleus formation in oral mucosal epithelial cells, urothelial cells and in peripheral blood lymphocyte by arsenic exposure through drinkingwater in 45 subjects of 30 males and 15 females with mean age of 30 (ranging15-58) who had a skin disease associated with arsenic, and in 21 control subjects of 17 males and 4 females with mean age of 35 (range: 19-60) who lived in the 2 areas without arsenic contamination in West Bengal, India. The mean arsenic concentration in drinking-water of the exposure group was 368 μ g/L (range: 15-800 μ g/L) and that of the control group was 5.5 μ g/L (range: $3-12 \mu g/L$). The age composition and socio-economic status of the two groups were equivalent. The mean duration of arsenic exposure through drinking-water of the exposure group was 11.3 years (range: 2-22). The mean micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells in the exposure group was 6.39 in peripheral blood lymphocyte, 5.15 in oral mucosal epithelial cells, and 5.74 in urothelial cells. While the mean frequency in the control group was 0.53 in peripheral blood lymphocytes, 0.77 in oral mucosal epithelial cells, and 0.56 in urothelial cells. Thus, the micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells was significantly higher in the exposure group than that in the control group. In this report, the data were not adjusted for smoking habit (IARC 2004).

In addition, Basu et al. (2004) conducted the same type of survey as that mentioned above in 163 subjects (male: 86, female: 77, mean age: 35 (15-65)) in the exposure group who had been taking drinking-water with arsenic concentration of 214.7 μ g/L and in 154 subjects

(male: 88, female: 66, mean age: 34 (15-60)) in the control group who had been taking drinking-water with the arsenic concentration of 9.2 µg/L. The age composition and socio-economic status of the exposure group and the control group were equivalent. The mean micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells in the exposure group was 9.34 in peripheral blood lymphocyte, 5.94 in oral mucosal epithelial cells, and 6.65 in urothelial cells. While, the mean frequency in the control group was 1.66 in peripheral blood lymphocytes, 1.28 in oral mucosal epithelial cells, and 1.41 in urothelial cells. Thus, the micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells was significantly higher in the exposure group than that in the control group. Martínez et al. (2004) investigated a potential of arsenic exposure through ground water to induce a remarkable increase of micronucleus frequency in peripheral blood lymphocyte in Chile. Arsenic concentration in drinking-water in the exposure group was 750 µg/L and 0.2 µg/L in the control group. The survey was conducted in 106 subjects of the exposure group which consisted of 24 males and 82 females with mean age: 40 and smoking rate: 19%, and in 111 subjects of the control group that consisted of 42 males and 69 females with mean age: 38, smoking rate: 32%. The mean micronucleus frequency in peripheral blood lymphocyte in the exposure group was 14.44 which was higher than 11.96 in the control group but it was statistically insignificant.

Moreover, Martínez et al. (2005) investigated micronucleus frequency in oral mucosal epithelial cells in 105 subjects in the exposure group (male: 24, female: 81, mean age: 40) and 102 subjects in the control group (male: 40, female: 62, mean age: 37.28) who lived in the same area. The mean micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells in the exposure group and in the control group was 3.14 and 2.74, respectively. The mean micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells was higher in the exposure group than in the control group, but the difference was not statistically significant.

The above mentioned Chakraborty et al. (2006) investigated the micronucleus in addition to chromosome aberration in oral mucosal epithelial cells. The frequency of micronucleus formation in oral mucosal epithelial cells was 1.0% in the exposure group and 0.3% in the control group of 0.3%. The frequency of micronucleus formation in the exposure group was significantly higher than that in the control group. (Chakraborty et al. 2006).

Above-mentioned Ghosh et al. (2006) investigated micronucleus in peripheral blood lymphocyte, oral mucosa and urothelial cell in addition to chromosome aberration in peripheral blood lymphocyte. The mean micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells was 9.13, 5.62, and 6.01 in peripheral blood lymphocyte, oral mucosal epithelial cells, and in urothelial cell, respectively in the group with skin symptoms, and 6.30, 3.56, and 4.18, respectively in the group without skin symptoms. In the control group, the mean micronucleus frequency per 1,000 cells was 2.03, 1.67, and 1.70, in peripheral blood lymphocyte, oral mucosal epithelial cells are specificated blood lymphocyte.

cells, and urothelial cells, respectively. A ninety-five percent confidence interval for the difference between the group with skin symptoms and the control group was 6.65-7.55 (p < 0.000), 3.50-4.40 (p < 0.000), 3.85-4.33 (p < 0.000) for peripheral blood lymphocyte, oral mucosal epithelial cells, and for urothelial cell, respectively, and 95%CI for the difference between the group without skin symptoms and the control group was 3.79-4.74 (p = 0.001), 1.53-2.25 (p = 0.001), 2.15-2.78 (p = 0.001), respectively. These CI in the exposure groups were significantly higher than that in control group.

Although it was the data on occupation exposure, Vuyyuri et al. (2006) investigated genotoxic damage in oral mucosal epithelial cells in 200 workers of arsenic-based glass manufacture (male: 144, female: 56, smoking rate: 60%, mean duration of exposure: 12.3 years) and 165 subjects in the control group (male: 107, female: 58, smoking rate: 62%) in South India. The mean arsenic concentrations in the blood were 56.8 μ g/L and 11.7 μ g/L in the exposure group and in the control group, respectively. Micronucleus frequency in oral mucosal epithelial cells in the exposure group was 1.52% while that in the control group was 0.21%. Also, micronucleus frequency was higher in smokers than in non-smokers both in the exposure group and in the control group (exposure group: smokers 1.51, nonsmokers 0.32; control group: smokers 0.25, nonsmokers 0.12), suggesting a significant effect of smoking.

(iii) Sister chromatid exchange (SCE)

Lerda (1994) investigated SCE in human peripheral blood lymphocyte in the population who had been exposed to arsenic through drinking-water for at least 20 years in Argentina. The mean arsenic concentration in drinking-water for 282 subjects, the exposure group, with mean age of 57 (ranging 27-82) was 130 µg/L (ranging 10-660 µg/L), and that for 155 subjects with mean age of 39 (ranging 29-51) in the control group was 20 µg/L (ranging 0-70 μ g/L). The estimated exposure to genotoxic substances other than arsenic was also considered. SCE frequency per cell in peripheral blood lymphocyte was 10.46 (7.23-14.90) in the exposure group and 7.49 (5.17-10.87) in the control group. The SCE frequency in the exposure group was significantly higher than that in the control group (p < 0.001). When the subjects aged 50 years and over in the exposure group were excluded from the survey to homogenize the age in the exposure group and control group, no significant correlation was found between SCE and sex, and between SCE and age in the population under 50. Moreover, arsenic concentration in drinking-water was associated with SCE both in males and females, and no significant difference was observed between sexes. The details of the statistic evaluation were not reported in this document and assay of arsenic in urine was a colorimetric analysis with low sensitivity. Therefore, the working group in IARC considered the value of this study limited (IARC 2004).

Above-mentioned Mahata et al. (2003) investigated SCE along with chromosome aberration. SCE frequency per cell in peripheral blood lymphocyte was 7.26 in the exposure group and was 5.95 in the control group, indicating that arsenic exposure increased SCE frequency.

(iv) DNA damage

Although it was the data on occupation exposure, the above-mentioned Vuyyuri et al. (2006) investigated genotoxic damage in leukocyte along with micronucleus in oral mucosal epithelial cells. Comet assay of DNA damage showed that the tail length detected with DNA of the exposure group was significantly longer than that of the control group, as were 14.95 μ m in the exposure group and 8.29 μ m in the control group. No significant difference of DNA damage was observed between males and females in either group, while significant increase of DNA damage was observed in elderly population and in smoker group.

(v) Summary of genotoxicity studied in epidemiological research

Only a few surveys of gene mutation induced by arsenic are available in epidemiological studies, and no significant increase in frequency of gene mutation has been observed in these surveys. However, statistical insignificancy of the observed increase in the gene mutation frequency could be due to the very small number of targeted subjects having huge individual variance in each survey. Therefore, further reports will be necessary for conclusion. Regarding chromosome aberration and SCE, although some negative data have been reported, significantly positive relationship between arsenic exposure and frequency of gene mutation in urothelial cells, in oral mucosal epithelial cells and in peripheral blood lymphocyte cells have been suggested from comparison of the arsenic exposure level in drinking-water in many reports. Moreover, dose-response relationship with arsenic concentration in drinking-water has been observed in micronucleus frequency in human urothelial cells, oral mucosal epithelial cells, in peripheral blood lymphocytes. It was also observed between chromosome aberration in human peripheral blood lymphocytes and arsenic concentration in drinking-water, and between SCE in human peripheral blood lymphocytes and arsenic concentration in drinking-water. Some reports suggest that the sensitivity of arsenic exposure is modified by smoking, whereas some reports contradict this suggestion.

(2) Effect on experimental animals

(i) In vitro studies (including human cells)

Table 10 shows the result of *in vitro* studies of arsenic compounds.

- a. Gene mutation
 - (a) Inorganic arsenic compounds

• As(III)

Data on the effects of sodium arsenite were negative in a reverse mutation test (each test was with the dose of 1,873,000 µg/L and 144 µg As/plate) using Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium and in a gene mutation test (dose unknown) using yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) (Rossman et al. 1980, Singh 1983, Kligerman et al. 2003). As per a study using cultured mammalian cell, sodium arsenite was all negative in the following gene mutation studies: A study ,) in Syrian hamster embryo cells using ouabain resistant (with the dose of 750 μ g As/L) or using 6-thioguanine tolerance (with the dose of 750 μ g As/L) as an index; a study (with the dose of 749 μ g As/L) in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells using 6-thioguanine tolerance as an index; a study in CHO cells using ouabain resistant as an index (with the dose of 375 and 750µg As/L), or using 6-thioguanine resistance as an index (with the dose of 7,492µg As/L) (Rossman et al. 1980, Lee et al. 1985a, b, Yang et al. 1992). Meanwhile, sodium arsenite was positive in a study with the dose of 3,746 µg As/L at which cell viability significantly decreased for CO-AS52 cells (Meng and Hsie 1996). Also, sodium arsenite was positive in a study (with 577, 865 µg As/L) in mice lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK^{+/-}). Sodium arsenite was also positive in a gene mutation study (577µg As/L) in Human-Hamster Hybrid Cells (S1), although it was not a standard study (Oberly et al. 1996, Moore et al. 1997, Hei et al. 1998).

 \circ As(V)

Disodium arsenate was negative in a reverse mutation test (1,200 μ g As/plate) using *S. typhimurium* and in a gene mutation study (7,492 μ g As/L for both indexes) in Syrian hamster embryo cells which used ouabain resistant or 6-thioguanine resistance as an index (Lee et al. 1985a, Kligerman et al. 2003). However, it was positive in a study (4,571 μ g As/L) in mice lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK^{+/-}) (Moore et al. 1997).

(b) Organic arsenic compounds

Organic arsenic compounds such as MMA(III) (7.07 μ g As/plate), DMA(III) (161 μ g As/plate), MMA(V) (1,156 μ g As/plate), and DMA(V) (1,170 μ g As/plate) were all negative in a reverse mutation test using *S. typhimurium*, but DMA(V) was positive in a reverse mutation test using *E. coli* at the dose of 749,200 μ g As/L even though it was highly concentrated (Yamanaka et al. 1989b, Kligerman et al. 2003). Yamanaka et al. (1989b) attributed mutagenicity of DMA(V) in *E. coli* to the involvement of a reaction product from dimethylarsine, a metabolite of DMA(V), and oxygen molecules.

In a gene mutation test using mouse lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK^{+/-}), MMA(III), DMA(III), MMA(V) and DMA(V) were positive at the concentration of 21, 96.6,

1,156,530 and 2,341,543 μ g As/L, respectively, with which the cell viability was relatively low (Kligerman et al. 2003, Moore et al. 1997c). In CHO derived cells (G12), MMA(III) induced mutagenesis of *gpt* locus at 45 μ g As/L and over with which cell viability was low (survival rate: 43%) (Klein et al. 2007).

(c) Synthetized organic arsenic compounds

Roxarsone was negative in a gene mutation test (2,848 μ g As/plate) in *S. typhimurium*, but was positive in mouse lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK^{+/-}) (284,824 μ g As/L) (NTP 1989b).

(d) Summary of gene mutation

Arsenic compounds are considered to be negative in a mutation test using bacteria. Although some arsenic compounds were positive in mutation tests using cultured animal cells with a relatively high concentration that resulted a low cell viability, most of them were positive in a test using mouse lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK^{+/-}). Even though arsenic compounds may induce large deletion mutation, the potential to induce point mutation is considered to be low.

b. Chromosome Aberration

(a) Chromosome aberration test

• Inorganic arsenic compounds

As(III)

Studies in cultured mammalian cells demonstrated that sodium arsenite increased chromosome aberration at the concentration of 865 μ g As/L in mouse lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK⁺/-) and at 465 μ g As/L in Syrian hamster embryo cells (Moore et al. 1997c, Lee et al. 1985a). Sodium arsenite has been reported to induce chromosome aberration in CHO Cells at the concentration of 75, 749 and 2,997 μ g As/L (Wan et al. 1982, Lin and Tseng 1992, Haung et al. 1993, Kochhar et al. 1996). However, tetraploid formation was not observed with at the dose of 285 μ g As/L in Chinese Hamster Lung Fibroblast Cell Line (V79) (cell proliferation was inhibited by 50% with 476 μ g As/L) (Eguchi et al. 1997).

In human peripheral blood lymphocytes, sodium arsenite increased an euploidy due to impairment of microtubules at the concentration of 0.75×10^{-8} µg As/L (Vega et al. 1995) and 0.07 µg As/L (Ramirez et al. 1997), and induced chromosome aberration at 58 µg As/L (Nordenson et al. 1981) and 187 µg As/L (Kligerman et al. 2003). Also, in human leucocyte, sodium arsenite, arsenic trichloride, and arsenic trioxide induced chromosome aberration at 1,800 μ g As/L, 450 μ g As/L, and at 1,800 μ g As/L, respectively (Nakamuro and Sayato 1981). Sodium arsenite induced chromosome aberration in human umbilical cord fibroblast at 285 μ g As/L (Oya-Ohta et al. 1996). Chromosome aberration was observed at 375 μ g As/L (cell viability 13%) in human dermal fibroblast (Yih et al. 1997). In human epithelial carcinoma cells, sodium arsenite at 225 μ g As/L and over increased aneuploidy by inhibitory action of sodium arsenite on perturbation of spindle apparatus (Huang and Lee 1998).

$\underline{As(V)}$

A study in cultured mammalian cells has shown that disodium arsenate at 4,571µg As/L induced chromosome aberration in a mouse lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK^{+/-}) (Moore et al. 1997c). Disodium arsenate has been reported also to significantly increase polyploid in Syrian hamster embryo cells at 2,397 µg As/L and to increase chromosome aberration at 4,795 µg As/L (Lee et al. 1985a). Disodium arsenate has been reported not to induce tetraploid formation at 13,486 µg As/L in V79 cells where the 50% inhibition dose of cell proliferation was 21,104 µg As/L (Eguchi et al. 1997), whereas, chromatid exchange and chromosome aberration have been reported to be significantly increased by disodium arsenate at 749 µg As/L in CHO Cells (Kochhar et al. 1996).

In human peripheral blood lymphocytes, disodium arsenate did not induce chromosome aberration at 232 μ g As/L (Nordenson et al. 1981), but induced it at 749 μ g As/L (Kligerman et al. 2003). It has been reported that chromosome aberration was induced by arsenic acid and by arsenic pentoxide at 5,400 μ g As/L in human leucocytes (Nakamuro and Sayato 1981), and by disodium arsenate at 1,199 μ g As/L in human umbilical cord fibroblast (Oya-Ohta et al. 1996).

• Organic arsenic compounds

In a study in cultured mammalian cells, chromosome aberration were induced by MMA(V), DMA(V) at 1,850,448 As/L and 3,746,468µg As/L, respectively, in mouse lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK⁺/-). However, the data, as were insufficient, did not allow the authors to conclude that MMA(V) and DMA(V) induced chromosome aberration (Moore et al. 1997c). In Syrian hamster embryo cells, chromosome aberration was induced by DMA(III) at 75 µg As/L (Ochi et al. 2004). In V79 cells, MMA(V) at 104,888 µg As/L, arsenobetaine at 5,244,400 µg As/L and arsenocholine at 457,012 µg As/L did not induce tetraploid formation, whereas DMA(V), TMAO induced it at 52,444 µg As/L and 524,440 µg As/L, respectively (Eguchi et al. 1997). In addition, DMA(V) has been reported to induce tetraploid formation at 33,931 µg As/L in V79 cells (Endo et al. 1992).

It has been reported that, in human peripheral blood lymphocyte, MMA(III), DMA(III), MMA(V), and DMA(V) induced chromosome aberration at the concentration of 45.0, 101, 224,760 and 224,760 μ g As/L, respectively (Kligerman et al. 2003). On the other hand, another study reported that DMA(V) at 8,469 μ g As/L failed to induce chromosome aberration in human peripheral blood lymphocytes (Endo et al. 1992).

In human umbilical cord fibroblast, chromosome aberration were induced by MMA(V), DMA(V), TMAO, arsenobetaine, arsenocholine, tetramethyl arsonium iodide, and arsenosugar (2',3'-Dihydroxypropyl-5-deoxy-5-dimethylarsinoyl-b-D-riboside) at the concentration of 104,888, 52,444, 277,204, 824,120, 2,247,600, 1,423,480 and 1,123,800 µg As/L, respectively (no data of cell viability available for all arsenic compounds) (Oya-Ohta et al. 1996).

(b) Micronucleus test

\circ As(III) and As(V)

Sodium arsenate and disodium arsenate were reported to enhance micronucleus formation in mouse lymphoma cells (L5178Y/TK⁺/⁻) at 865 μ g As/Land 4,571 μ g As/L, respectively (Moore et al. 1997c). Micronucleus formation, in CHO-K1 cells and in CHO-XRS-5 cells, was increased by sodium arsenite at 375 μ g As/L and at 749 μ g As/L, respectively (Fan et al. 1996, Wang and Huang 1994). Wang and Huang (1994) reported that arsenous acid probably induce micronucleus through excessive production of hydrogen peroxide. In V79 cells, micronucleus formation was significantly enhanced by diarsenic trioxide at 75 μ g As/L (Gebel 1998). Meanwhile, gallium arsenide in Syrian hamster embryo cells was negative in a micronucleus test at 5,180 μ g As/L.

In human peripheral blood lymphocyte, micronucleus formation by sodium arsenite was observed at the concentration of 37.5 μ g As/L (Schaumloffel and Gebel 1998). In human fibroblast cells, sodium arsenite formed micronucleus with centromere acting as aneugen by interfering spindle function at low concentration (375 μ g As/L). In contrast, sodium arsenite at high concentration (2,248 μ g As/L) formed micronucleus without centromere by acting as clastogen (Yih and Lee 1999).

• Organic arsenic compounds

In a mouse lymphoma cell (L5178Y/TK⁺/ $^-$), it has been reported that MMA(V) increased frequency of micronucleus formation at 1,850,448 µg As/L. While, DMA(V) failed to increase frequency of micronucleus formation even at 4,683,085 µg As/L (Moore et al. 1997c).

(c) Summary of chromosome aberration

The chromosome aberration both in functional abnormality and in numerical abnormality was induced by arsenic compounds in mammal cells and in several cultured human cells. It is considered that clastogenicity of trivalent arsenic was higher than that of pentavalent arsenic, and that clastogenicity of inorganic arsenic compounds is higher than that of organic arsenic compounds.

c. Sister Chromatid Exchange (SCE)

(a) As(III) and As(V)

In CHO Cells, the frequency of SCE was increased by sodium arsenite at 1, 75, 375, 1,498 μ g As/L and t by disodium arsenate at 0.75 μ g As/L to a level higher than that in the control group (Wan et al. 1982, Lee et al. 1985b, Fan et al. 1996, Kochhar et al. 1996). In Syrian hamster embryo cells, SCE was induced by sodium arsenite and by disodium arsenate at 60 μ g As/L and 749 μ g As/L, respectively (Lee et al. 1985a).

Studies in human peripheral blood lymphocytes have reported that sodium arsenite at the concentration of 60, 292 and 375 μ g As/L induced SCE (Nordenson et al. 1981, Beckman and Nordenson 1986, Jha et al. 1992, Hartmann and Speit 1994), whereas another study reported that no SCE was induced by sodium arsenite at 749 μ g As/L (Kligerman et al. 2003). Disodium arsenate was negative even at the high concentration of 11,238 μ g As/L (Kligerman et al. 2003). In a study using human lymphoblastoid, sodium arsenite was positive at 37.5 μ g As/L and arsenic acid was negative at 749 μ g As/L (Rasmussen and Menzel 1997).

(b) Organic arsenic compounds

A study in human peripheral blood lymphocytes has reported that SCE was induced by DMA(III) at 230 μ g As/L and weak abnormality was induced by MMA(V) and DMA(V) at 224,760 μ g As/L and 749,200 μ g As/L, respectively. However, MMA(III) was negative at 135 μ g As/L (Kligerman et al. 2003). Also, DMA(V) was negative at 749 μ g As/L in a study using human lymphoblastoid, (Rasmussen and Menzel 1997).

(c) Summary of sister chromatid exchange

When SCE is induced by arsenic compounds, the toxicity of the compound depends on its chemical form. In cultured animal cells, As(III) and As(V) induced SCE, but no report was found for organic arsenic compounds. As(III) induced SCE in human peripheral blood lymphocyte and in human lymphocyte, but As(V), MMA(III) and DMA(V) did not.

d. DNA damage

(a) DNA damage

Tests using bacteria

Inorganic arsenic compounds

It has been reported that sodium arsenite did not induce SOS gene expression in *E. coli* (WP2_s (λ), PQ37) at 60,386 µg As/L and at 239,749 µg As/L (Rossman et al. 1984, Lantzsch and Gebel 1997). Also, in rec assay using *Bacillus subtilis*, sodium arsenite, arsenic trichloride, and disodium arsenate were positive at a dose as high as 3,746,000 µg As/L (Nishioka 1975).

Organic arsenic compounds

In an induction test of MMA(III) and DMA(III) in *E. coli* (WP2_s(λ) using prophage inducing activity as an index, MMA(III) and DMA(III) were both negative at 0-749 µg As/L (Kligerman et al. 2003).

• Alkaline elution procedure

<u>As(III)</u>

A study in which diarsenic trioxide was dissolved with alkali and used as arsenous acid, DNA strand break was observed at 75 μ g As/L in human fetal lung fibroblasts (Dong and Luo 1993).

Organic arsenic compounds

DNA strand break induced by DMA(V) was observed at the concentration of 370-749,200µg As/L in human type II alveolar epithelial cells (Tezuka et al. 1993, Rin et al. 1995, Kato et al. 1994, Kawaguchi et al. 1996, Yamanaka et al. 1990, 1995, 1997).

Synthetized organic arsenic compounds

DNA strand break by alkaline elution procedure was detected in a mouse lymphoma cell (L5178Y/TK⁺/⁻) with roxarsone at the cytotoxic dose of 299,680 μ g As/L (Storer et al. 1996).

Unscheduled DNA synthesis test

In an unscheduled DNA synthesis test in which diarsenic trioxide was dissolved with alkali and used as arsenous acid, diarsenic trioxide was positive at 75 μ g As/L in human fetal lung fibroblasts (Dong and Luo 1994).

•DNA nicking assay

Inorganic arsenic compounds

Sodium arsenite (22,476,000 μ g As/L) and disodium arsenate (74,920,000 μ g As/L) were both negative in a DNA nicking assay using bacteriophage φ X174 DNA (Mass et al. 2001).

Organic arsenic compounds

MMA(III) (2,247,600 μ g As/L) and DMA(III) (11,238 μ g As/L) were positive and MMA(V) (224,760,000 μ g As/L) and DMA(V) (22,476,000 μ g As/L) were negative in a DNA nicking assay using bacteriophage ϕ X174 DNA (Mass et al. 2001).

(b) Comet assay

• As(III) and As(V)

Sodium arsenite was positive at 749 μ g As/L in a comet assay using CHO Cells, and at 375 μ g As/L in the assay using bovine arterial endothelial cells (Lynn et al. 1997, 1998, Liu and Jan 2000).

A slight and dose-dependent increase of DNA strand break was induced by sodium arsenite and disodium arsenate at 74,902 μ g As/L in the assay using human leucocyte (Mass et al. 2001). In the assay using human leukemia cell, sodium arsenite was positive at 14,984 μ g As/L (Hartmann and Speit 1994) and at 7.49 μ g As/L (Wang et al. 2002).

• Organic arsenic compounds

In a comet assay using human leucocyte, MMA(III) at 1,498 μ g As/L and DMA(III) at 394 μ g As/L were positive , , while MMA(V) at 65,555 μ g As/L and DMA(V) at 74,920 μ g As/L were negative and (Mass et al. 2001). MMA(III), MMA(V) and DMA(V) were positive at 7.49, 7.49 and 74.9 μ g As/L, respectively, in a study using human leukemia cells (Wang et al. 2002).

(c) Summary of DNA damage

Arsenic compounds have been reported to be either positive or negative in a DNA damage test using bacteria. Although only a few reports are available regarding the study of DNA damage in cultured animal cells, there are several studies on DNA damage in cultured human cells that reported DNA strand break induced by both inorganic and organic arsenic compounds. Regarding a result of comet assay, it should be noted that the effect of apoptosis is also observed together with a positive reaction as a characteristic of the method.

e. Others

(a) Cell transformation assay

\circ As(III) and As(V)

A cell transformation assay in mouse fibroblast cells indicated that sodium arsenite increased colony-forming ability at 749 μ g/L (Sabbioni et al. 1991). In Syrian hamster embryo cells, a dose-dependent increase in colony formation was induced by sodium arsenite at the concentration of0-375 μ g/L, and by disodium arsenate at 599-8,990 μ g/L (Lee et al. 1985a). Also, the significant increase in frequency of transformation was induced by gallium arsenide at 129 μ g/L (Kerckaert et al. 1996).

Organic arsenic compounds

Arsenobetaine was negative in cell transformation assay using mouse fibroblast cells even at $37,460 \ \mu g/L$ (Sabbioni et al. 1991).

f. Summary of in vitro studies

Arsenic compounds are considered to induce DNA damage and chromosome aberration in cultured cells including human cells. The toxicity of As(III) is considered to be higher than that of As(V), and inorganic arsenic compounds are considered to be more toxic than organic arsenic compounds in terms of DNA damage and chromosome aberration.

(ii) In vivo study

Table 11 shows the result of *in vivo* studies of arsenic compounds.

a. Gene mutation study

Intraperitoneal administration of diarsenic trioxide or DMA(V) with the dose of 5,756 μ g As/kg body weight for 5 times into MutaTM mice did not induce *LacZ* gene mutation in the lungs, kidneys, bladder, and bone marrow (Noda et al. 2002).

b. Chromosome aberration

- (a) Chromosome aberration test
 - As(III)

Subcutaneous administration of 58 μ g As/kg body weight of sodium arsenite for 4 times or a single oral gavage of 1,442 μ g As/kg body weight to Swiss mice has been reported to induce chromosome aberration in bone marrow cells (Das et al. 1993, Roy Choudhury et al. 1996, Biswas et al. 1999, Poddar et al. 2000). However, diarsenic trioxide was reported to induce no chromosomal virulence in bone marrow cells or in spermatogonium when administered 250,000 μ g As/L through drinking-water for 2 to

8 weeks or administered 12,000 μ g As/kg body weight intraperitoneally, (Poma et al. 1981, 1987).

• Organic arsenic compounds

Intraperitoneal administration of DMA(V) of 162,870 μ g As/kg body weight into ICR mice induced aneuploidy in bone marrow cells, but not chromosome aberration (Kashiwada et al. 1998).

(b) Micronucleus test

• As(III)

Oral administration of sodium arsenite with the dose of 2,884 μg As/kg body weight to B6C3F1 mice for 4 times, or intraperitoneal administration of a dose of 288 As/kg body weight to BALB/c mice was reported to increase micronucleus formation in bone marrow cells (Tice et al. 1997, Deknudt et al. 1986, Tinwell et al. 1991). Significant increase of micronucleus formation in reticulocyte comparing to the control group was observed after intraperitoneally administered (5 times) of diarsenic trioxide into MutaTM mice at a dose of 5,756 μg As/kg body weight (Noda et al. 2002).

Organic arsenic compounds

Micronucleus formation was not observed in reticulocyte by intraperitoneal administration of DMA(V) to MutaTM mice with the dose of 5,755 μ g As/kg body weight for 5 times (Noda et al. 2002).

c. DNA Damage

(a) DNA Damage

In a study using alkaline elution procedure, single oral administration of high dose of DMA(V) (702,463 μ g As/kg body weight) to ICR mice induced DNA strand break in the lungs 12 hours after the administration, but the same effect was not observed in the liver, kidneys, and spleen (Yamanaka et al. 1989, 1993, Yamanaka and Okada 1994).

(b) Comet assay

The increase of DNA strand break in leukocyte was observed 24 hours after the oral administration of diarsenic trioxide (98-1,629 μ g As/kg body weight) to Swiss albino male mice (Sleha et al. 2001).

d. Others

(a) Dominant lethal test

oAs(III)

No significant difference was detected in the effects of intraperitoneal administration of sodium arsenite in a dominant lethal test with the dose of 2,884 μ g As/kg body weight to BALB/c mice, indicating that sodium arsenite was not genotoxic in reproductive cells (Deknudt et al. 1986).

(b) Sex-linked recessive lethal test

Synthetized organic arsenic compounds

No increase in sex-linked recessive lethal mutation rate was observed after infusion of roxarsone at 1,953,890 μ g As/L or oral administration of roxarsone at 1,988,638 μ g As/L to drosophila. (NTP 1989b).

e. Summary of in vivo study

Although only a few reports of *in vivo* study about arsenic compounds are available, oral, intraperitoneal and subcutaneous administration of As(III) in mice have been reported to induce chromosome aberration, increase of micronucleus formation and DNA damage. While DMA(V) administration was reported to induce DNA damage in the lungs or aneuploidy in bone marrow, induction of gene mutation or micronucleus were not observed.

Test	Compounds	Target	Dose (µg As/L)	Result	References	
a. Gene mutat	tion					
(Prokaryote)						
Reverse muta- tion test	Sodium arse- nite	Escherichia coli WP2	1,873,000	_	Rossman et al. 1980	
		<i>Salmonella typhimurium</i> TA98, TA100, TA104	144 μg As/plate	—	Kligerman et al. 2003	
	Disodium ar- senate	S. typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA104	1,200 μg As/plate	-	Kligerman et al. 2003	
	MMA(III)	S. typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA104	7.07 μg As/plate	-	Kligerman et al. 2003	
	DMA(III) (C ₂ H ₆ AsI)	<i>S. typhimurium</i> TA98, TA100, TA104	161 μg As/plate	-	Kligerman et al. 2003	
	MMA(V)	S. typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA104	1,156 μg As/plate	-	Kligerman et al. 2003	
	DMA(V)	E. coli	749,200	+	Yamanaka et al. 1989b	
		S. typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA104	1,170 μg As/plate	_	Kligerman et al. 2003	

Table 10 Results of *in vitro* genotoxicity study of arsenic

Gene mutation test	Roxarsone	<i>S. typhimurium</i> TA100, TA1535, TA1537, TA98	2,848 µg As/plate	_	NTP 1989b
(Eukaryote)					·
Gene mutation test	Sodium arse- nite	Saccharomyces cere- visiae	749,200	_	Singh 1983
(Mammal cell	ls)	I	1		
Gene mutation	Sodium arse-	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	577 (cell via-		
test	nite		bility: 50%	+	Moore et al. 1997c
			or 44%)		
			865	+	Oberly et al. 1996
		Syrian hamster embryo cells (ouabain resistant)	750	_	Lee et al. 1985a
		Syrian hamster embryo cells (6-thioguanine toler- ant)	750	_	Lee et al. 1985a
		CHO Cells (ouabain re- sistant)	375	-	Lee et al. 1985b
		CHO Cells (6-thiogua- nine tolerant)	750	_	Lee et al. 1985b
		CHO Cells (CHO-AS52)	3,746 (cell viability: 24.04%)	+	Meng and Hsie 1996
		CHO Cells (ouabain re- sistant)	375	-	Rossman et al. 1980
		CHO Cells (6-thiogua- nine tolerant)	7,492	_	Rossman et al. 1980
		CHO Cells	749	_	Yang et al. 1992
		Human-Hamster Hybrid Cells (S1)	577 (cell via- bility: 60%)	+	Hei et al. 1998
	Disodium ar- senate	Mouse L5178Y (tri- fluorothymidine-tolerant)	32,651	_	Amacher and Paillet 1980
		Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	4,571 (cell viability: 6% or 35%)	+	Moore et al. 1997
		Syrian hamster embryo cells (ouabain resistant)	7,492	_	Lee et al. 1985a
		Syrian hamster embryo cells (6-thioguanine toler- ant)	7,492	_	Lee et al. 1985a
	MMA(III)	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	21.0 (cell vi- ability: 53%)	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
			21.0 (cell vi- ability: 43%)	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
		Chinese hamster ovary cells (<i>gpt</i> gene)	45.0 (cell vi- ability: 43%)	+	Klein et al. 2007

I			<u>г</u>		
	DMA(III) (C ₂ H ₆ AsI)	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	96.6 (cell vi- ability: 43%)	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
	(02116/431)		176 (cell via-		
			bility: 16%)	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
	MMA(V)	Mouse L5178Y (Tk+/-)	1,156,530		
			(cell viabil-	+	Moore et al. 1997
			ity: 55 or	Ŧ	1001e et al. 1997
			66%)		
	DMA(V)	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	2,341,543		
			(cell viabil-	+	Moore et al. 1997
			ity: 38, 64 or 70%)		
	Roxarsone	Mouse L5178 (trifluoro-	284,824 (cy-		
		thymidine-tolerant)	totoxicity:	+	NTP 1989b
			341,840)		
b. Chromosom					
	me aberration te	est			
(Cultured anir			<u>г</u>		1
Chromosome aberration test	Sodium arse- nite	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	865	+	Moore et al. 1997
		Syrian hamster embryo cells	465	+	Lee et al. 1985a
		Syrian hamster embryo cells	225	+	Barrett et al. 1989
		CHO Cells	75	+	Wan et al. 1982
			749	+	Lin and Tseng 1992
		CHO Cells(CHO-K1)	2,997	+	Huang et al. 1993
			75	+	Kochhar et al. 1996
		Chinese hamster V79	285 (50% in-	_	
		cells	hibition of		Equalities at al. 1007
			cell prolifer-		Eguchi et al. 1997
			ation: 476)		
	Diarsenic tri- oxide	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	-	Endo et al. 1992
-	Arsenic tri- chloride	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992
	Disodium ar- senate	Mouse L5178Y(TK+/-)	4,571	+	Moore et al. 1997
		Syrian hamster embryo cells	4,795	+	Lee et al. 1985a
			4,795	+	Barrett et al. 1989
		CHO Cells	3,746	+	Wan et al. 1982
			749	+	Kochhar et al. 1996
		Chinese hamster V79	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992
		cells	13,486 (50%	_	Eguchi et al. 1997
			inhibition of		

		cell prolifer- ation: 21,104)		
DMA(III) (C ₂ H ₆ AsI)	Syrian hamster embryo cells	75	+	Ochi et al. 2004
MMA(V)	Mouse L5178Y (Tk+/-)	1,850,448	+	Moore et al. 1997
	Chinese hamster V79 cells	104,880 (50% inhibi- tion of cell proliferation: 374,600)	_	Eguchi et al. 1997
DMA(V)	Mouse L5178Y(TK ⁺ /-)	3,746,468	+	Moore et al. 1997
	Chinese hamster V79 cells	33,931	+	Endo et al. 1992
		52,444 (50% inhibition of cell prolifer- ation: 1,791,565)	+	Eguchi et al. 1997
ΤΜΑΟ	Chinese hamster V79 cells	524,440 (50% inhibi- tion of cell proliferation: > 5,508,823)	+	Eguchi et al. 1997
AsBe	Chinese hamster V79 cells	5,244,400 (50% inhibi- tion of cell proliferation: > 4,208,989)	_	Eguchi et al. 1997
AsC	Chinese hamster V79 cells	457,012 (50% inhibi- tion of cell proliferation: > 4,540,606)	-	Eguchi et al. 1997
p-Arsenoso- benzoic acid, sodium salt	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992
Methylthio- arsine	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992
Oxo- phenylarsine	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	-	Endo et al. 1992
(2-Diphe- nylarsino ethyl)diphe- nyl phosphine	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992

	4-Amino- phenyl ar- sonic acid (p-Arsanilic	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992
	acid) Tetraphenyl arsonium chloride, hy- drochloride	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992
	4-((2-Ar- sonophe- nyl)azo)-3- hydroxy-2,7- naphthalen disulfonic acid, diso- dium salt	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	-	Endo et al. 1992
	2-Amono- benzene arsonic acid	Chinese hamster V79 cells	Not listed	_	Endo et al. 1992
(Cultured hu	Í		1		
Chromosome aberration test	Sodium arse- nite	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	58	+	Nordenson et al. 1981
			37	+	Wan et al. 1982
			172	+	Sweins 1983
			60	+	Beckman and Norden- son 1986
			225	+	Eastmond and Tucker 1989
			375	+	Jha et al. 1992
			0.75×10 ⁻⁸	+	Vega et al. 1995
			0.07	+	Ramírez et al. 1997
			674	(+)	Rupa et al. 1997
			187	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
		Human leucocyte	1,800	+	Nakamuro and Sayato 1981
		Human dermal fibroblast	375 (cell via- bility: 13%)	+	Yih et al. 1997
		Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	285	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
		Human cervical carci- noma cells (HelaS3)	375	+	Huang and Lee 1998
		Human cervical carci- noma cells (Hela CCL2)	225	+	Huang and Lee 1998
		Human cervical carci- noma cells (KB)	225	+	Huang and Lee 1998

	Human cervical carci- noma cells (HFW)	375	+	Huang and Lee 1998
	Human cervical carci- noma cells (HFLF)	375	+	Huang and Lee 1998
	Human cervical carci- noma cells (C33A)	375	+	Huang and Lee 1998
	Human cervical carci- noma cells (293)	375	+	Huang and Lee 1998
Arsenic tri- chloride	Human leucocyte	450	+	Nakamuro and Sayato 1981
Arsenic tri- oxide	Human leucocyte	180	+	Nakamuro and Sayato 1981
Disodium ar- senate	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	232	-	Nordenson et al. 1981
		749	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
	Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	1,199	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
Arsenic acid	Human leucocyte	5,400	(+)	Nakamuro and Sayato 1981
Arsenic pentoxide	Human leucocyte	5,400	(+)	Nakamuro and Sayato 1981
MMA(III)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	45.0	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
DMA(III) (C ₂ H ₆ AsI)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	101	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
MMA(V)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	224,760	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
	Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	104,888	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
DMA(V)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	224,760	+	Kligerman et al. 2003
	Human lymphocyte	8,469	_	Endo et al. 1992
	Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	52,444	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
ТМАО	Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	277,204	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
AsBe	Human umbilical cord fi- broblast	824,120	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
AsC	Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	2,247,600	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
Tetramethyl arsonium io- dide (CH ₃) ₄ As ⁺ I ⁻	Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	1,423,480	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996

	Arsenosugar (2',3'-Dihy- droxypropyl- 5-deoxy-5-	Human umbilical cord derived fibroblast	1,123,800	+	Oya-Ohta et al. 1996
	dime- thylarsinoyl- b-D-ri- boside)		1,123,000	·	Gya-Onta et al. 1770
(b) Micronuc					
(Cultured and					1
Micronucleus test	Sodium arse- nite	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	865	+	Moore et al. 1997
		CHO Cells (CHO-K1)	749	+	Wang and Huang 1994
		CHO Cells (CHO-XRS- 5)	375	+	Fan et al. 1996
		CHO Cells	2,997	+	Liu and Huang 1996
			2,997	+	Liu and Huang 1997
			2,997	+	Wang et al. 1997
			749	+	Lynn et al. 1998
	Diarsenic tri- oxide	Chinese hamster V79 cells	75	+	Gebel 1998
	Gallium Ar- senide	Syrian hamster embryo cells	5,180	_	Gibson et al. 1997
	Disodium ar- senate	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	4,571	+	Moore et al. 1997
	MMA(V)	Mouse L5178Y (Tk+/-)	1,850,448	+	Moore et al. 1997
	DMA(V)	Mouse L5178Y (Tk ^{+/-})	4,683,085	-	Moore et al. 1997
(Cultured hu	man cells)	· · · · ·			
Micronucleus test	Sodium arse- nite	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	37.5	+	Schaumloffel and Gebel 1998
		Human fibroblast	375	+	Yih and Lee 1999
c. SCE test (Cultured and	mal cells)				
SCE test	Sodium arse- nite	Syrian hamster embryo cells	60	+	Lee et al. 1985a
		CHO Cells	75	+	Wan et al. 1982
			375	+	Lee et al. 1985b
			1,498	+	Fan et al. 1996
		CHO Cells (CHO-K1)	1	+	Kochhar et al. 1996
	Disodium ar- senate	CHO Cells	0.75	+	Kochhar et al. 1996
		Syrian hamster embryo cells.	749	+	Lee et al. 1985a
(Cultured hu	man cells)				
SCE test	Sodium arse- nite	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	292	+	Nordenson et al. 1981

1	1	1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
			60	+	Beckman and Norden- son 1986
			375	+	Jha et al. 1992
			375	+	Hartmann and Speit 1994
			749	_	Kligerman et al. 2003
		Human lymphoblastoid	37.5	+	Rasmussen and Menzel 1997
	Arsenic acid	Human lymphoblastoid	749	_	Rasmussen and Menzel 1997
	Disodium ar- senate	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	11,238	-	Kligerman et al. 2003
	MMA(III)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	135	_	Kligerman et al. 2003
	DMA(III) (C ₂ H ₆ AsI)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	230	(+)	Kligerman et al. 2003
	MMA(V)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	224,760	(+)	Kligerman et al. 2003
	DMA(V)	Human peripheral blood lymphocyte	749,200	(+)	Kligerman et al. 2003
		Human lymphoblastoid	749	_	Rasmussen and Menzel 1997
d. DNA dan (a) DNA da (Prokaryote	mage				
SOS test	Sodium arse- nite	E. coli PQ37	60,386 (cy- totoxic dose: 30,193)	-	Lantzsch and Gebel 1997
		E. coli	239,749	_	Rossman et al. 1984
rec-assay	Sodium arse- nite	Bacillus subtilis	3,746,000	+	Nishioka 1975
	Arsenic tri- chloride	Bacillus subtilis	3,746,000	+	Nishioka 1975
	Disodium ar- senate	Bacillus subtilis	3,746,000	+	Nishioka 1975
Prophage induction method	MMA(III)	<i>E. coli</i> WP2s(λ)	0-749	_	Kligerman et al. 2003
	DMA(III) (C ₂ H ₆ AsI)	<i>E. coli</i> WP2s(λ)	0-749	_	Kligerman et al. 2003
(In vitro)		1			1
DNA	Sodium arse-	bacteriophageqX174		-	
nicking	nite	DNA	22,476,000		Mass et al. 2001
assay	disodium ar- senate	bacteriophageøX174 DNA	74,920,000	-	Mass et al. 2001

		1 / 1 X174			
	MMA(III)	bacteriophageøX174 DNA	2,247,600	+	Mass et al. 2001
	DMA(III) bacteriophageφX174 (C ₂ H ₆ AsI) DNA		11,238	+	Mass et al. 2001
	MMA(V)	bacteriophageφX174 DNA	224,760,000	_	Mass et al. 2001
	DMA(V)	bacteriophageøX174 DNA	22,476,000	_	Mass et al. 2001
(Cultured anir	nal cells)	2101	I I		
Alkaline elu- tion procedure	Roxarsone	Mouse L5178Y	299,680 (Cy- totoxicity: 599,360)	+	Storer et al. 1996
(Cultured hun	nan cells)				
Alkaline elu- tion procedure	Sodium arse- nite	Human fetal lung fibro- blasts	75	+	Dong and Luo 1993
	DMA(V)	Human pulmonary alveo- lar epithelial cells	Unknown	+	Yamanaka et al. 1990
	DMA(V)	Human type II alveolar	374,600	+	Kato et al. 1994
		epithelial cells	749,200	+	Yamanaka et al. 1995
	DMA(V)	Human type II alveolar	37,460	+	Tezuka et al. 1993
	(C ₂ H ₆ AsO ₂ N	epithelial cells	749,200	+	Rin et al. 1995
	a)		749,200	+	Kawaguchi et al. 1996
	$DMA(V)$ $(C_2H_6AsO_2N)$ $a \cdot 3H_2O)$	Human type II alveolar epithelial cells	375	+	Yamanaka et al. 1997
Unscheduled DNA synthesis test	Sodium arse- nite	Human fetal lung fibro- blasts (2BS cells)	75	+	Dong and Luo 1994
Filter binding method	DMA(V)	Human type II alveolar epithelial cells	749,200	+	Kato et al. 1994
(b) Comet ass	ay				
(Cultured anir	nal cells)				
Comet assay	Sodium arse- nite	CHO Cells (CHO-K1)	749	+	Lynn et al. 1997
		CHO Cells	5,994	+	Lynn et al. 1998
		Bovine aortic endothelial cells	375	+	Lynn et al. 1998
		Bovine arterial endothe- lial cells	375	+	Liu and Jan 2000
(Cultured hun	nan cells)		· · ·		•
Comet assay	Sodium arse- nite	Human leucocyte	0-74,920	(+)	Mass et al. 2001
	Sodium arse-	Human leucocyte cells			Hartmann and Speit
	nite		14,984	+	1994

	Disodium ar- senate	Human leucocyte	0-74,920	(+)	Mass et al. 2001
	MMA(III) Human leucocyte		1,498	+	Mass et al. 2001
		Human leukemia cells	7.49	+	Wang et al. 2002
	DMA(III)	Human leucocyte	394	+	Mass et al. 2001
	(C ₂ H ₆ AsI)		394	I	Wass et al. 2001
	MMA(V)	Human leucocyte	65,555	-	Mass et al. 2001
		Human leukemia cells	7.49	+	Wang et al. 2002
	DMA(V)	Human leucocyte	74,920	_	Mass et al. 2001
	DMA(V)	Human leukemia cells			
	(C ₂ H ₆ AsO ₂ N		74.9	+	Wang et al. 2002
	a·3H ₂ O)				
e. Others					
Cell transfor-	Sodium arse-	Mouse fibroblast			
mation assay	nite	(BALB/3T3 C1 A 31-1-	749	+	Sabbioni et al. 1991
		1)			
		Syrian hamster embryo cells	0-375	+	Lee et al. 1985a
	Gallium Ar- senide	Syrian hamster embryo cells	129	+	Kerckaert et al. 1996
	Disodium ar- senate	Syrian hamster embryo cells	1,008	+	DiPaolo and Casto, 1979
			599-8,990	+	Lee et al. 1985a
	carbox-	Mouse fibroblast			
	ymethylene	(BALB/3T3 C1 A 31-1-			
	trimethylar-	1)			
	sonium bro-		37,460	-	Sabbioni et al. 1991
	mide:				
	C ₅ H ₁₂ As-				
	BrO ₂				

+: Positive, (+) : Slightly positive, -: Negative

			Dose ¹⁾				
Test	Compounds	Target	(µg As/kg	Result	Reference		
	-		body weight)				
a. Gene muta	ation	I	, , ,		I		
Mutagenicity	Diarsenic trioxide	Muta TM mouse lung,		_			
test		kidney, bladder,					
		bone marrow (intra-	5,756		Noda et al. 2002		
		peritoneal admin-					
		istration: 5 times)					
	DMA(V)	Muta TM mouse lung,		_			
		kidney, bladder,					
		bone marrow (intra-	5,755		Noda et al. 2002		
		peritoneal admin-					
		istration: 5 times)					
b. Chromosome aberration							
(a) Chromoso	me aberration test						
Chromosome	Sodium arsenite	Swiss mouse bone					
aberration		marrow cells (oral	1,442	+	Das et al. 1993		
test		administration)					
		Swiss mouse bone					
		marrow cells (oral	1,442	+	Biswas et al. 1999		
		administration)					
		Swiss mouse bone					
		marrow cells (oral	1,442	+	Poddar et al. 2000		
		administration)					
		Swiss mouse bone					
		marrow cells (sub-	58	+	Roy Choudhury et al.		
		cutaneous admin-	50	I	1996		
		istration: 4 times)					
	Diarsenic trioxide	Swiss mouse bone					
		marrow cells (ad-	250,000 μg				
		ministration in	230,000 μg As/L	_	Poma et al. 1987		
		drinking-water: 2-8	1 10/ L				
		weeks)					

	Table 11	Results of in	<i>vivo</i> genot	oxicity stuc	v of arsenic
--	----------	---------------	-------------------	--------------	--------------

I					
		Swiss mouse sper-	0.50.000	-	
		matogonia (admin-	250,000 μg		Poma et al. 1987
		istration in drinking-	As/L		
		water: 2-8 weeks)			
		Swiss mouse bone		_	
		marrow cells (intra-	12,000		Poma et al. 1981
		peritoneal admin-			Polita et al. 1981
		istration)			
		Swiss mouse sper-		_	
		matogonium (intra-	12 000		D (1 1001
		peritoneal admin-	12,000		Poma et al. 1981
		istration)			
		CFLP mouse (inha-			
		lation exposure in			
		pregnant mouse, 4	21,589 µg		Nagymajtenyi et al.
		hours each day dur-	As/m ³	(+)	1985
		ing gestation period			
		of 9 to 12 days)			
	DMA(V)	ICR mouse bone			
		marrow (intraperito-	162,870	+	Kashiwada et al. 1998
		neal administration)			
(b) Micronucl	eus test	•			
Micronucleus	Sodium arsenite	B6C3F1 mouse			
test		bone marrow (oral	2,884 +		
		administration: 4		+	Tice et al. 1997
		times)			
		BALB/c mouse			
		bone marrow (intra-	288		DeKnudt et al. 1986
		peritoneal admin-		+	
		istration)			
		BALB/c mouse			
		bone marrow (intra-	5,768	+	DeKnudt et al. 1986
		peritoneal admin-			
		istration)			

	Diarsenic trioxide	BALB/c mouse bone marrow (intra- peritoneal admin- istration) Muta TM mouse pe-	2,884	+	Tinwell et al. 1991
		ripheral blood retic- ulocytes (intraperitoneal ad- ministration: 5 times)	5,756	+	Noda et al. 2002
	DMA(V)	Muta [™] mouse pe- ripheral blood retic- ulocytes (intraperitoneal ad- ministration: 5 times)	5,755	_	Noda et al. 2002
c. DNA dama	-				
Alkaline elu- tion proce- dure	DMA(V) (Dimethyl arsinic acid sodium salt : C ₂ H ₆ AsO ₂ Na)	ICR mouse lung (oral administration)	702,463	+	Yamanaka et al. 1989
		ICR mouse lung (oral administration)	702,463	+	Yamanaka et al. 1993
		ICR mouse lung (oral administration)	702,463	+	Yamanaka and Okada 1994
		ICR mouse liver, kidney, spleen (oral administration)	702,463	_	Yamanaka and Okada 1994
		ICR mouse liver, kidney, spleen(oral administration)	702,463	_	Yamanaka et al. 1989
Comet assay	Diarsenic trioxide	Swiss albino mouse leukocyte (oral administra- tion)	98	+	Saleha et al. 2001
d. Others					

Dominant le- thal test	Sodium arsenite	BALB/c mouse (in- traperitoneal admin- istration)	2,884	_	Deknudt et al. 1986
Sex-linked recessive le- thal test	Roxarsone	Drosophila (oral ad- ministration)	1,988,638 μg As/L	_	NTP 1989b.
		Drosophila (infu- sion)	1,953,890 μg As/L	_	NTP 1989b.

+: positive, (+) : slightly positive, -: negative

¹⁾ If the result is + or (+), the dose denotes the minimum concentration at which the effect is confirmed and if the result is -, it denotes the maximum concentration at which no effect was confirmed, unless specified.

6. Mechanism of toxicity

Mechanism of action of arsenic has been discussed from several points of view in many reports. Despite investigations previously conducted by overseas organizations such as IARC, EFSA and ATSDR, the mechanism of action of arsenic has not been fully understood. In this section, scientific findings on the mechanism of carcinogenesis by arsenic compounds were summarized mainly based on the reports from IARC (2004, 2012) and ATSDR (2007).

(1) Gene mutation, chromosome aberration, DNA damage

After due consideration, FSCJ arrived at the conclusion regarding genotoxicity of arsenic as is summarized hereunder.

In epidemiologic studies, there is no report of arsenic induced significant increase in frequency of gene mutation. However, it should be noted that some of data on the increase by arsenic might be insignificant due to the large dispersion of the data between each subject. Meanwhile, it has been reported that the frequency of chromosome aberration and sister chromatid exchange (SCE) in urothelial cells, oral mucosal epithelial cells and peripheral blood lymphocyte cells were significantly increased by arsenic exposure through drinking-water. Moreover, dose-response relationship with the concentration of arsenic has been reported for arsenic-induced increase in the frequency of micronucleus formation in urothelial cells, oral mucosal epithelial cells, and in peripheral blood lymphocyte cells in humans. Dose-response relationship with arsenic exposure has been also reported for chromosome aberration and sister chromatid exchange in human peripheral blood lymphocyte. In some reports, however, arsenic was reported not to induce SCE. Effect of smoking on the sensitivity to arsenic exposure is also controversial. Arsenic compounds are considered to induce chromosome aberration and DNA damage in cultured cells including human cells. It is generally considered that trivalent compounds are more toxic than pentavalent compounds, and organic arsenic compounds are more toxic than organic arsenic compounds among pentavalent compounds.

Although reports of *in vivo* study of arsenic compounds are only a few, oral, intraperitoneal, and subcutaneous administration of As(III) have been reported to induce chromosome aberration, increase of micronucleus formation and DNA damage in mice. While DMA (V) administration has been reported to induce DNA damage in the lungs or aneuploidy in bone marrow, induction of gene mutation and micronucleus are not detected.

According to IARC (2004), this induction of genotoxicity may contribute to gene instabilizing effect of arsenic exposure. Also, it has been suggested that MMA(III) and DMA(III), intermediate metabolites in arsenic methylation, were molecules which induce DNA damage in cells *in vitro* leading to DNA strand break by reactive oxygen species, and that these metabolites and reactive oxygen played a major role in an induction of bladder cancer in rats (IARC 2004).

IARC has also suggested that reactive oxygen is formed both *in vitro* and *in vivo* by exposure to arsenic compounds and may be associated with DNA damage induced by As(III), MMA(III) and DMA(III) or with stress response which changes gene expression (IARC2004, 2012). Oxidative DNA damage induced by arsenic was summarized as follows:

The cell which was exposed to low-concentration of trivalent arsenic compounds showed oxidative DNA damage (Wang et al. 2002, IARC 2012). Induction potency of oxidative DNA damage and toxicity of As(III) and MMA(III) were equivalent in human bladder epithelial cells (IARC 2012).

For example, As(III) increased large deletion mutation in human-hamster hybrid cells through generation of reactive oxygenate cytotoxic concentration (Hei et al. 1998, IARC 2012). Ferritin is released from iron by DMA(III) and this free iron causes reactive oxygen through Fenton reaction or through Harber-Weiss reaction. Also, DNA strand break through generation of reactive oxygen was detected in φ X174 DNA when MMA(III) or DMA(III) was added *in vitro* (IARC 2004).

Despite the fact that low-concentration of trivalent arsenic compounds cause oxidative DNA damage that generate 8-OhdG which was considered to cause G/T base substitution, not only As(III) and MMA(III) but also DMA(III) is considered not to be a definite point mutation substance (Klein et al. 2007, IARC 2012). This is probably due to the effective repair and elimination of oxidative DNA damage (IARC 2012).

Meanwhile, there are reports about oxidative DNA damage caused by DMA(V).

In mice, reductively metabolized DMA(V) causes lung-specific DNA damage by the dimethylarsinic oxide peroxide radical ((CH₃)₂AsOO·) and may induce DNA break or DNA-protein cross-linking in cultured cells (Tezuka et al. 1993, Yamanaka and Okada 1994, IARC 2012). DMA(III) is contained in the urine of rats to which DMA(V) was administered, and reactive oxygen generated in the urine induces gene damage which may play an important role in induction of bladder cancer by arsenic in rats. For example, it was reported that the formation of 8-OHdG, the most commonly used marker of oxidative DNA damage, increased in bladder cancer which was induced by DMA(III) administration in rats (IARC 2004).

Despite the reports such as mentioned above, it should be noted that the data of gene mutation or DNA damage includes the data obtained from the test system which was not necessarily suitable for detection of indirect effect of formation of oxidative DNA adduct.

(2) Changes in DNA repair

It has been considered that arsenic enhanced mutagenicity by affecting both nucleotide excision repair and base excision repair. IARC (2012) reported that the inhibition of nucleotide excision repair in human dermal fibroblast was the most pronounced with MMA(III) and then with DMA(III) and As(III) in order.

(i) Inorganic arsenic compounds

According to the report of Hartwig et al. (1997) referred in IARC (2004), As(III) inhibits nucleotide excision repair of DNA damage induced by ultraviolet rays (UVC) in human fibroblast by inhibiting the DNA break process at 2.5 μ M and inhibiting DNA binding process at 20 μ M and 50 μ M. Also, according to IARC (2012), while As(III) suppresses the expression of certain DNA repair genes in addition to inhibiting specific protein, As(III) may have an opposite effect that increases DNA repair along with cellular antioxidant defense system at a very low concentration.

IARC (2004, 2012) summarized mechanism for the inhibition of DNA repair by inorganic arsenic as follows:

As(III) is not a specific inhibitor of DNA repair enzyme, but is a substance that affects DNA damage signaling system which controls DNA repair. *Poly* (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) -1 associated with signal transduction is involved in base excision repair by interacting with X-ray complementing group 1 gene (XRCC1) which is a DNA repair protein, DNA polymerase β and DNA ligase III. This involvement may suppress the binding process in the base excision repair process (IARC 2012).

As(III) inhibits several DNA repair enzymes including DNA ligase I and II, and zinc finger protein associated with disulfide covalent bond. It was shown that PARP activity, one of zinc finger DNA repair enzyme system, was inhibited by As(III) of low concentration such as 5 μ M and 10 nM in Molt-3 cell derived from human T cell lymphoma cells and in HeLa cells. However, other zinc finger DNA repair proteins such as xeroderma pigmentosum group A protein

or bacteria-derived DNA-formamidopyrimidine glycosylase in mammals are not inhibited by As(III) (IARC 2004).

(ii) Organic arsenic compounds

According to IARC (2012), MMA(III) and DMA(III) are more potent as PARP inhibitory substance than As(III). The inhibition of PARP is caused by permutation of zinc in zinc finger protein (IARC 2012).

(3) Changes in DNA methylation

Currently, the number of reports that indicate the epigenetic effect of arsenic compounds in cultured cells and *in vivo* is increasing. For example, the effect of arsenic and its metabolites on variety of DNA methylation and gene specific DNA methylation were reported. Histone modification by arsenic exposure and effects of exposure to arsenic compounds on chromatin structure and micro-RNA by were also reported (Rossman and Klein 2011).

Arsenic induced changes in DNA methylation may be involved in cancer progress, as has been suggested by *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies that carcinogenesis induced by arsenic was also induced by changes in DNA methylation condition, excessive methylation or low methylation (IARC 2004). Gene amplification induced by arsenic compounds or changes in gene expression by DNA methylation changes were also reported (Klein et al. 2007, IARC 2012). The reports on DNA methylation induced by arsenic compounds referred in IARC (2012) are as follows:

- Change in DNA methylation, accompanied by histone modification, was observed to be induced by As(III) and MMA(III) (Jensen et al. 2008, Zhou et al. 2008).
- In Chinese hamster V79-13 cells where DNA methylation changes and aneuploidy were induced by the exposure to As(III) of low-concentration, gene instability was observed in the earlier stage (Sciandrello et al. 2004).
- Low methylation of total DNA was observed along with excessive methylation of specific gene in several cells transformed by As(III) (Bendbrahim-Tallaa et al. 2005a, Liu and Waalkes 2008).
- Oxidative damage of DNA by As(III) changed the DNA methylation pattern (Cerda and Weitzman 1997).
- The change in DNA methylation pattern may be attributable to the changes in S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) accumulation in the cells or to a decrease in DNA methylation transferase activity (Hamadeh et al. 2002, Benbrahim-Tallaa et al. 2005a, Reichard et al. 2007, Liu and Waalkes 2008).

• The changes in DNA methylation were also observed in humans who were exposed to arsenic (Chanda et al. 2006, Marsit et al. 2006).

(4) Cell transformation

It has been reported that cell transformation is induced by arsenic exposure.

Arsenic induces cell transformation in Syrian hamster embryo cells, BALB/3T3 cells, and in rat liver cells, TRL1215. Formation of fibrosarcoma which indicates metastasis to lungs was confirmed by injecting the latter cells to nude mice (Lee et al. 1985a, IARC 2004). Although a long-term exposure of human osteosarcoma cells to As(III) of a low concentration was reported to induce the mutation and transformation as the secondary effect of gene instability, these changes were not induced by an exposure to MMA(III) (Mure et al. 2003, IARC 2012).

(5) Changes of cell proliferation

An increase in cell proliferation by arsenic exposure has been reported in several experimental systems directly or indirectly. According to IARC (2004), cell proliferation was induced by arsenic *in vitro* in normal human skin keratinocytes, and bladder hyperplasia was induced in rats by DMA(V) exposure. The increase of ornithine decarboxylase activity, a biomarker of cell proliferation, was observed in the kidneys or in the liver in arsenic administered rats (IARC 2004).

(6) Changes in cellular signal transduction

One of the important signaling pathways affected by As(III) is the pathway mediated by an antioncogene p53 (IARC 2012). Inorganic arsenic compounds have been reported to modify several gene expressions which relate to cell proliferation and cytophylaxis including p53 (ATSDR 2007). Trivalent arsenic compounds affect the activation of PARP and p53 protein possibly through the effect on the DNA repair system or through aneuploidy induction. While PARP is necessary for DNA repair or the formation and function of normal spindle apparatus, trivalent arsenic compounds inhibit PARP activation. Trivalent arsenic compounds inhibit signal transmission mediated by p53 protein which plays an important role in DNA damage response as a tumor suppressor gene product to maintain genome stability and to function as a cell cycle checkpoint (Rossman and Klein 2011).

As(III) suppresses activation of the p53 protein or decrease of the p21 gene expression after DNA being damaged. Since this suppression affects the arrest of the cell cycle (to obtain an opportunity for normal DNA repair before DNA replication) from G1 term to S term in DNA damaged cells, it may explain a part of mechanisms that enhances mutagenicity. The p53 protein is also important for nucleotide excision repair. The inhibition of thioredoxin reductase by As(III), MMA(III) and DMA(III) may possibly result p53 dysfunction through accumulation of oxidized form thioredoxin. The increase in the expression of cell proliferation regulator gene such as cyclin D by As(III) may lead to the failure of regulatory mechanism for cell cycle (IARC 2012).

Arsenic compounds stimulate Jun kinase which belongs to the family of cell mitogenic factor activating protein kinase, and increase AP-1 which is a DNA-binding transcription factor. Arsenic also induces proto-oncogene such as *c-jun, c-fos, c-myc,* and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) - α . The decrease of the *p53* protein accompanying the increase of Mdm2 protein has been observed in arsenic-added human epidermal keratinocyte cells (HaCaT cells). The arsenic induces skin cancer possibly by inhibiting the formation of *p53-MDM2* feedback control loop whereby disabling the control of normal proliferation, according to a model of arsenic-induced skin cancer (IARC 2004).

(7) Changes in binding to steroid receptors and gene expression

Inorganic arsenic inhibits binding of steroids to glucocorticoid receptors, but it does not affect binding of ligands to receptors for androgen, estrogen, mineralocorticoids, or progesterone. In other words, arsenic may be used as a selective inhibitor for glucocorticoid receptor for the assessment of progesterone receptor contained in breast cancer tissue. However, another report showed that arsenic inhibited binding of estradiol to estrogen receptor- α (ER- α) in MCF-7 cells. Moreover, arsenic inhibited expression of ER- α in the breast cancer cell system while did not affect the expression of ER- β , thus it was suggested that arsenic could be a new therapeutic method for ER- α positive breast cancer (IARC 2004).

(8) Gene amplification

Gene amplification has been considered as one of the mechanisms involved in arsenic carcinogenicity (IARC 2004). It has been reported that inorganic arsenic increased amplification of dihydrofolate reductase (*DHFR*) gene in Mouse 3T6 cells, and this effect of As(V) was stronger than that of As(III) (IARC 2004, ATSDR 2007).

(9) Acceleration of mutation and genotoxicity

It has been suggested that oncogenic action of arsenic is attributable to acceleration of carcinogenesis. An arsenic exposure alone does not cause skin tumors in mice. However, it was reported that combined exposure of arsenic and ultraviolet rays induced the skin tumors that were larger in number and in size than the skin tumors caused by ultraviolet exposure alone (ATSDR 2007). Arsenic has been considered as a co-mutagen which synergistically enhances genotoxicity in the combination with many genotoxic agents including ultraviolet rays (IARC 2004).

V. Evaluation in international organizations

1. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)

Carcinogenicity assessment by IARC categorized arsenic and arsenic compound (IARC 1987), arsenic (IARC 2004) and inorganic arsenic (IARC 2012) in drinking-water into group 1 (Carcinogenic to humans).

According to the assessment by IARC in 2004, the sufficient evidence has been reported that arsenic in drinking-water induces cancers of the urinary bladder, lung and skin dose-dependently. Regarding urinary bladder cancer, IARC conducted the risk assessment based on the results from ecological studies in Taiwan, China (Chen et al. 1985; Chen et al. 1988a; Wu et al. 1989; Chen and Wang 1990; Chiang et al. 1993; Guo et al. 1997; Tsai et al. 1999), in Chile (Rivara et al. 1997; Smith et al. 1998), and from other cohort studies. Dose dependent effect of arsenic to induce lung cancer was confirmed by ecological studies in Taiwan (Chen et al. 1988; Wu et al. 1989) and in Argentina (Hopenhayn-Rich et al. 1998). In addition to ecological studies in Taiwan (Tseng et al. 1968; Guo et al. 2001), the study on increased incidence in Mexico (Cebrian et al. 1983) and increased mortality in Chile (Smith et al. 1998) were used for the assessment of skin cancer. In addition, the evidence for carcinogenicity of inorganic arsenic in the experimental animals was considered to be limited (IARC 2004).

By the reassessment conducted in 2012, IARC retained the categorization of inorganic arsenic into group 1, considering that carcinogenicity in human by exposure to inorganic arsenic such as arsenic trioxide, arsenite, and arsenate was sufficiently proved. The carcinogenicity of inorganic arsenic in experimental animals was also considered to be sufficiently proved based on the carcinogenicity test results including increased incident rate of lung tumour (poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma) in mice by disodium arsenate (Cui et al. 2006) and increase of renal tumors in rats by sodium arsenite (Soffritti et al. 2006).

Furthermore, IARC reassessed the carcinogenicity of organic arsenic in 2012, and categorized DMA(V) and MMA(V) into group 2B (possibly carcinogenic to humans). This categorization was made on the basis of the fact that; oral administration of DMA(V) increased incidence of lung adenoma or lung cancer in A/J mic (Hayashi et al. 1998), due to dose-dependent induction of bladder transitional cell carcinoma was reported in F344 rats (Wei et al. 1999), and that oral administration of MMA(V) in rats or mice resulted the body weight suppression and decreased survival rate without the dose-dependent relationship in carcinogenicity. Based on these data, IARC concluded that there was sufficient evidence for carcinogenicity of DMA(V) in experimental animals but the data for MMA(V) was insufficient. Therefore, IARC categorized DMA(V) and MMA(V) into group 2B. Also, AsBe and other organic arsenic compounds which are not metabolized in human are categorized into group 3 (not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans). In addition, IARC (2012) conducted reassessment of genotoxicity of arsenic, and concluded that arsenic did not directly react with DNA but oxidative DNA damage could be observed in the cell treated with As(III) at low concentration. Also, IARC reported that As(III) at cytotoxic concentration induced DNA strand break and chromosome aberration.

2. FAO/WHO Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA)

JECFA specified provisional tolerable inorganic arsenic daily intake to be 0.002 mg As/kg bw/day based on the available data in the 27th conference in 1983. However, JECFA deemed that the data was not sufficient to recommend acceptable intake of arsenic in foods, therefore concluded that it was necessary to collect the information about (i) arsenic accumulation in human who were exposed to several chemical forms of arsenic in foods and drinking-water, (ii) identification, absorption, excretion, and toxicity of arsenic compounds in foods (especially in fish), (iii) contribution of arsenic in fish to body burden, (iv) epidemiological survey of the population who exposed to the known form of arsenic (JECFA 1984).

JECFA considered evaluation of the importance of organic arsenic in fish in the 33rd conference in 1988. At the same time, JECFA reconfirmed the Provisional Tolerable Weekly Intake (PTWI) of inorganic arsenic. Based on the data by Grantham and Jones (1977), JECFA specified PTWI to be 15 μ g As/kg bw/week assuming the water intake to be 1.5L/day and body weight to be 70 kg, considering that the sign of toxicity is possibly increased if arsenic concentration in drinking-water exceeds 100 μ g As/L . JECFA (1989) explained that JECFA retained the maximum weekly intake amount as the provisional value because the purpose of specifying PTWI is to reduce the arsenic intake in the people who were exposed to the high inorganic arsenic concentration through drinking-water, although it is evident that the margin of intake with which toxic effect is observed in the actual epidemiological survey and the margin of PTWI are small.. Also, JECFA stated that it is necessary to conduct an additional epidemiological survey on human health effect of naturally-derived organic arsenic in marine animals and algae, although organic arsenic intake of the ethnic group in the area where they consume a lot of fish was estimated as approximately 50 μ g/kg bw/day and no disease by arsenic has been reported in this group.

Subsequently, JECFA reevaluated PTWI in the 72th conference in 2010 and conducted a quantitative assessment on carcinogenicity risk of inorganic arsenic. Using the epidemiological data on inorganic arsenic concentration in drinking-water and lung cancer by Chen el al (2010), JECFA calculated the 95% lower confidence limit of benchmark dose (BMDL_{0.5}) to be 3.0 μ g/kg bw/day (2-7 μ g/kg bw/day based on the range of estimated value of the total oral exposure from food and drinking-water) specifying bench mark response (BMR) associated with onset of lung cancer at 0.5%. According to JECFA, uncertainty of this BMDL_{0.5} value is attributable to the assumption of total exposure, and to extrapolation of
BMDL_{0.5} to the other populations due to nutrition condition such as low-protein intake other life factors in the targeted population. JECFA considered the previous PTWI of 15 μ g As/kg bw/week (2.1 μ g/kg bw/day) not appropriate any longer since it was within the range of above mentioned BMDL₀₅, 2-7 μ g As/kg bw/day, therefore withdrew it. Thus JECFA also deemed that more accurate information about inorganic arsenic actually contained in foods at the time of consumption and reliable analytical method for iAs in foods are necessary to improve assessment of oral exposure to inorganic arsenic. In addition, JECFA considered adverse effects that could occur as a result of exposure to inorganic arsenic from water and food as follows. In areas where arsenic concentration in water are elevated (e.g. above the WHO guideline value of 10 μ g/l) but less than 50 μ g/l, adverse effects of arsenic could possibly occur. But these would be at a low incidence that would be difficult to detect in epidemiological studies (JECFA 2011).

3. World Health Organization (WHO) Guidelines for drinking-water quality

In Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 1996, WHO estimated the lifetime skin cancer risk associated with the ingestion of arsenic in drinking-water using a multistage model that is both linear and quadratic in dose. With this model and data on males, the concentration of arsenic in drinking-water associated with estimated excess lifetime skin cancer risk of 10-5 is 0.17 μ g/L. However, WHO noted that these values may overestimate the actual risk of skin cancer because of possible simultaneous exposure to other compounds in the water and possible dose-dependent variations in metabolism that could not be taken into consideration. Consequently, WHO recommended a provisional guideline value of 0.01 mg/L (10 μ g/L) with a view to reducing the concentration of arsenic in drinking-water. The excess lifetime risk of skin cancer associated with exposure to this concentration was estimated to be 6×10^{-4} (WHO 1996).

In the guidelines for drinking-water quality of 2004 (3rd edition, WHO 2004), WHO retained provisional guideline value of 0.01 mg/L (10 μ g/L) considering the scientific uncertainty. In the guideline of 2011 (4th edition, WHO 2011), WHO retained the guideline value of 0.01 mg/L (10 μ g/L) as provisional on the basis of treatment performance and analytical achievability.

In the 4th edition of guideline, WHO explained the basis of guideline value derivation as follows. There remains considerable uncertainty over the actual risks at low concentrations, and available data on the mechanism do not provide a biological basis for using either linear or non-linear extrapolation. In view of the practical difficulties in removing arsenic from drinking-water, as well as the practical lower limit of quantitative analysis is 1-10 μ g/L, WHO retained the guideline value of 10 μ g/L as provisional. As was described in the guideline, it is technically feasible to achieve arsenic concentration of 5 μ g/L or lower. However, WHO suggested that it is more reasonable to expect that 10 μ g/L should be achieve by conventional treatment (e.g.

coagulation), since careful optimization and control of process are required to achieve 5 μ g/L or lower (WHO 2011).

4. United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)

(1) Inorganic arsenic

EPA's Integrated Risk Information System (EPA/IRIS) conducts an assessment of chemical substances providing information about chronic non-carcinogenicity as oral reference dose (oral RfD) which is equivalent to TDI. On the other hand, regarding the carcinogenic effect, EPA/IRIS provides the information about carcinogenicity categorization, and also the risk information of oral exposure as required.

(i) Chronic non-carcinogenic effect

As an assessment of chronic non-carcinogenic effect of arsenic or inorganic arsenic, EPA/IRIS calculated NOAEL as 9 μ g/L (reduced value: 0.8 μ g/kg bw/day), using hyperpigmentation and increase in keratosis revealed from the cross-sectional study (Tseng et al. (1968) of arsenic contaminated well-water in the residents in Taiwan, as index. In the same manner, EPA/IRIS calculated LOAEL to be 170 μ g/L (an equivalent: 14 μ g/kg bw/day) based on the study by Tseng (1977) on dose-dependent increase of Blackfoot disease caused by arsenic in Taiwan. The arsenic intake through food in the targeted population was unknown when the well-water concentration of arsenic (μ g/L) was converted to the intake amount (μ g/kg bw/day). Therefore, EPA/IRIS calculated NOAEL and LOAEL estimating the arsenic intake from daily diet, rice and sweet potato, in Taiwan as 2 μ g/day. Uncertainty factor of 3, due to lack of data for eliminating potential of reproductive toxicity and uncertainty of whether this NOAEL is regarded as effect on all humans who have high sensitivity, was applied to NOAEL 0.8 μ g/kg bw/day and oral RfD was specified as 0.3 μ g/kg bw/day.

(ii) Carcinogenicity

a. Classification of carcinogenicity

Regarding carcinogenicity of arsenic and inorganic arsenic, increase in mortality due to lung cancer in several populations who were exposed by inhalation was observed, increase in mortality due to cancers of the liver, renal, lung and urinary bladder, and increase in the incidence of skin cancer in the population who had been exposed to drinking water with high concentrated inorganic arsenic are known. EPA/IRIS considered that these human data provide sufficient evidence of human carcinogenicity, therefore classified arsenic and inorganic arsenic into Group A (human carcinogen)

b. Carcinogenicity assessment by oral exposure

EPA/IRIS calculated excessive carcinogenicity risk of oral exposure to inorganic arsenic, using linearized multistage-model of low-dose extrapolation, based on the data of remarkable increase in incidence of skin cancer from arsenic exposure through well-water observed in cross-sectional study by Tseng et al. (1968) and Tseng (1977). As a result, the risk of developing cancer related to the oral exposure in life time at the rate of 1 mg dose of relevant substance per 1kg of bw (oral slope factor) was specified to be 1.5 per mg/kg/day. Based on this value, the carcinogenic unit risk (excessing carcinogenic risk when a person intakes drinking-water contained 1 μ g of this substance per liter for life time) by drinking-water was calculated to be $5x10^{-5}$ per μ g/L, assuming the body weight of adult to be 70 kg and the amount of drinking-water per day to be 2 L. Based on this value, the concentrations in drinking-water which reach a certain level of carcinogenic risk when the water is consumed, were calculated and shown in Table 12.

Risk level	Concentration					
10-4	2 μg/L					
10-5	0.2 μg/L					
10-6	0.02 µg/L					

Table 12 Concentration of arsenic in drinking-water by certain risk levels

Many mechanisms are involved in carcinogenic action of inorganic arsenic in human (US EPA 2007). Science Advisory Board of EPA stated that As(III) and its metabolites do not directly interact with DNA and they have no direct genotoxicity. However, the same report suggested that As(III) and its metabolites may induce indirect genotoxicity such as aneuploidy and increase in frequency of micronucleus formation due to the effect on DNA methylation (US EPA 2007).

(2) Organic arsenic

EPA conducted a review on MSMA, disodium methanearsonate (DSMA), calcium acid methanearsonate (CAMA), DMA(V) (cacodylic acid), and on sodium cacodylate) for reregistration of pesticide in 2006. In the diet risk assessment, EPA specified the Acute Reference Dose (ARfD) and Chronic Reference Dose (cRfD) for each MMA group (MSMA, DSMA, and CAMA) and DMA group (DMA and Sodium Cacodylate).

For MMA group, the ARfD of 100 μ g/kg bw was calculated by applying uncertainty factor 100 to NOAEL of 10 mg/kg body weight/day. The index of the NOAEL were diarrhea and vomiting observed 2 to 5 hours after the particular administration on the day 1 week after the start of the administration for chronic toxicity test in dogs. Chronic RfD of 30 μ g/kg bw/day was calculated by applying uncertainty factor of 100 to NOAEL 3.2 mg/kg bw/day. The index

of the NOAEL were decrease in body weight, diarrhea, body weight gain, food consumption, pathological findings in gastrointestinal tract and thyroid gland observed in chronic toxicity test in rats.

For DMA group (DMA and sodium cacodylate), EPA specified ARfD as 0.12 mg/kg bw/day by applying uncertainty factor 100 to NOAEL of 12 mg/kg bw/day which is derived from the NOAEL and LOAEL with following index: for NOAEL; decrease in fetus body weight, crown-rump length shortening, delayed ossification or lack of ossification observed in developmental toxicity study in rats, for LOAEL; mortality, abortion, decrease in body weight, and decrease in food consumption observed in developmental toxicity study in rabbits. Also, EPA specified cRfD as 0.014 mg/kg bw/day by applying uncertainty factor of 30 to BMDL₁₀ 430 µg/kg bw/day, for which regenerative proliferation of bladder epithelium in rats was used as index (US EPA 2006).

EPA classified MMA into "no evidence for carcinogenicity" due to insufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in rat and mouse in the assessment for reregistration of pesticide (US EPA 2006). EPA used to classify DMA into category D "not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity" because of no human data and of insufficient animal data for carcinogenicity in EPA/IRIS (1996). However, EPA designated DMA as "not carcinogenic up to doses resulting in regener-ative proliferation" in the assessment for reregistration of pesticide (US EPA 2006).

5. European Food Safety Authority (EFSA)

The EFSA scientific panel (CONTAM panel) on contaminant in food chain released a scientific opinion on arsenic in foods in 2009 and conducted an assessment of inorganic arsenic based on the epidemiological data for cancers of the urinary bladder, lung and skin, and dermal lesions caused by oral exposure to inorganic arsenic in humans. The COMTAM panel applied the arsenic concentration in drinking-water as the exposure metric for the assessment, since total dietary exposure to inorganic arsenic was not measured in all of the available studies. . The panel applied Bench-mark approach to the data on dermal lesions by Ahsan et al (2006), Rahman et al (2006a), and Xia et al (2009). For the assessment of skin cancer, the panel used change point calculated by Karagas et al. (2002). On applying Bench-mark approach, CONTAM panel selected a 1% extra risk which was within the range of observed data as BMR. A 95% lower confidence limit of the benchmark concentration (BMCL) calculated by NRC from the data of Chiou et al.(2001) and change point calculated by Karagas et al. (2004) were used for assessment of urinary bladder cancer. The BMCL calculated by NRC from the data of Ferreccio et al. (2000) was used for the assessment of lung cancer. Table 13 shows the calculated results of data and BMDL for dose-response assessment of inorganic arsenic by CONTAM panel

Population	Reference point of arsenic in drink- ing-water (µg/L water)	Reference point of arsenic intake (µg/kg bw/day)
Bangladesh	BMCL ₀₁ : 23 ^(a)	BMDL ₀₁ : 2.2-5.7 ^(b)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
e	BMCL ₀₁ : 5 ^(a)	BMDL ₀₁ : 1.2-4.1 ^(b)
Mongolia (Xia et al. 2009)	BMCL ₀₁ : 0.3 ^(a)	BMDL ₀₁ : 0.93-3.7 ^(b)
Chile	BMCL ₀₁ : 14	BMDL ₀₁ : 0.34-0.69 ^(c)
(Ferreccio et al. 2000)	(NRC, 2001)	$BMDL_{01}$. 0.34-0.09 (*)
North east part of Taiwan	BMCL ₀₁ : 42	BMDL ₀₁ : 3.2-7.5 ^(b)
(Chiou et al. 2001)	(NRC, 2001)	Divid L()[. 5.2-7.5
U.S. A.(New Hampshire)	Change point (d):	Change point: 0.16-0.31
(Karagas et al. 2002)	1-2	(c)
U.S. A. (New Hampshire)	Change point:	Change point: $0.0, 1.7$ (c)
(Karagas et al. 2004)	Approximately 50	Change point: 0.9-1.7 ^(c)
	Bangladesh (Ahsan et al. 2006) Bangladesh (Rahman et al. 2006a) Mongolia (Xia et al. 2009) Chile (Ferreccio et al. 2000) North east part of Taiwan (Chiou et al. 2001) U.S. A.(New Hampshire) (Karagas et al. 2002) U.S. A. (New Hampshire)	Populationof arsenic in drink- ing-water ($\mu g/L$ water)Bangladesh (Ahsan et al. 2006)BMCL_{01}: 23 (a)Bangladesh (Rahman et al. 2006a) Mongolia (Xia et al. 2009)BMCL_{01}: 5 (a)Chile (Ferreccio et al. 2009)BMCL_{01}: 0.3 (a)North east part of Taiwan (Chiou et al. 2001)BMCL_{01}: 42(Chiou et al. 2001)(NRC, 2001)U.S. A. (New Hampshire) (Karagas et al. 2004)Change point: (Approximately 50)

BMCL₀₁: 95% lower confidence limit of the benchmark concentration of 1% extra risk

BMDL₀₁: 95% lower confidence limit of the benchmark dose of 1% extra risk

(a): Calculated by CONTAM panel for this report

(b): Extrapolated from the BMCL $_{01}$ assuming 3-5 L water and 50-200µg/day inorganic arsenic in food per day, 55 kg bw.

(c): Extrapolated from BMCL₀₁ assuming 1-2 L water and 10-20 μg/day inorganic arsenic in food consumed per day, 70 kg bw.

(d): The maximum likelihood change point before the trend becomes significant, which provides an indication of a no effect level rather than a BMDL.

(Quoted from Table 43 of EFSA (2009))

The lowest calculated BMDL₀₁ was 0.34 μ g/kg bw/day which was estimated from the data of lung cancer in the targeted population in Chile by Ferreccio et al. (2000) and the highest calculated BMDL₀₁ was 7.5 μ g/kg bw/day which was estimated from the data of urinary bladder cancer in north-east part of Taiwan by Chiou et al (2001). However, CONTAM panel used the whole range of BMDL₀₁, 0.3-8 μ g/kg bw/day, instead of single reference value since there was uncertainty in exposure levels in these major epidemiological surveys.

Since inorganic arsenic is not directly DNA-reactive, many carcinogenic mechanisms such as oxidative damage, epigenetic effect, and interference with DNA repair have been suggested. And CONTAM panel considered that threshold mechanism may be assumed for all these carcinogenic mechanisms. However, considering the uncertainty with respect to the shapes of the dose-response relationships, CONTAM panel concluded that specifying TDI or TWI was not appropriate. Thus, CONTAM panel used the margin of exposure (MOE) approach in the assessment. However, estimated mean daily inorganic arsenic food exposure was 0.13-0.56 μ g/kg bw/day in Europe and 0.37-1.22 μ g/kg bw/day in high exposure adult group (95 percentile). These values were within the range of BMDL₀₁. Also, estimated daily inorganic arsenic food exposure in the population who ate huge amount of rice and in the population who ate huge amount of algae-based products in Europe were approximately 1 μ g/kg bw/day and 4 μ g/kg

bw/day, respectively. Since there was almost no MOE, or no MOE at all, the risk in some consumers could not be excluded. Based on this assessment, CONTAM panel recommended to reduce the exposure to inorganic arsenic in food. In addition, toward more accurate risk assessment of inorganic arsenic, CONTAM panel mentioned the necessity for accumulating data on each chemical species in each food products to support exposure assessment and dose-response data.

CONTAM panel did not consider organic arsenic species including arsenosugar and arsenolipid which are mainly metabolized to DMA in human and AsBe which was found largely in seafood in the risk assessment, because AsBe is known to have no adverse effects and because no toxicological data were available for other organic arsenic compounds (EFSA 2009).

6. Japan

(1) The Revision of Drinking-water Quality Standards, the Health Science Council, Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare

In the "Ministerial Ordinance Concerning Water Quality Standards" (Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare Ordinance No. 101, May 30, 2003), for the standards of arsenic and its compound, it is provided that arsenic should be 0.01 mg/L or less. In the assessment in revision of drinking-water quality standards, it was considered that "it is not possible to identify the TDI or the virtual safety dose (VSD) of arsenic based on the carcinogenicity and also not possible to calculate reliable health-based guideline for arsenic concentration in drinking-water based on these TDI and VSD at this stage", and concluded that " therefore provisional standards of $10 \mu g/L$ should be retained considering high uncertainty of risk assessment on carcinogenicity of arsenic and practical difficulty to eliminate arsenic from drinking-water" (Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare 2003).

(2) New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization (NEDO)

In initial risk assessment of chemical substances, NEDO assessed the chronic effects of oral exposure of arsenic and inorganic arsenic compounds on human health by calculating MOE as follows: NEDO used the converted NOAEL of 0.8 μ g/kg bw/day which was calculated by EPA (2005) with an index of increase in pigmentation and hyperkeratosis obtained from cross-sectional study (Tseng et al. 1968; Tseng 1977) in residents who had taken arsenic contaminated well-water in Taiwan. NEDO divided this converted NOAEL by estimated daily oral intake (from food and drinking-water) per 1 kg body weight, 0.73 μ g As/kg bw/day. As a result, MOE in oral pathway was calculated to be 1.1 which was smaller than the product of uncertainty factors of 10 obtained in NEDO assessment. Hence NEDO concluded that arsenic is suggested to be harmful on human health at present (NEDO 2008).

(3) Health Risk Subcommittee, Atmospheric Environment Committee, the Central Environment Council, Ministry of the Environment (reference)

The Central Environment Council conducted an assessment on health risk of arsenic and its compounds in the atmospheric environment in the Health Risk Subcommittee of Atmospheric Environment Committee, though it is not an assessment for oral exposure.

The committee considered it difficult to clearly conclude the presence or absence of threshold in carcinogenicity of arsenic compounds in atmospheric environment, since there was evidence of genotoxicity in inorganic arsenic compounds, while other evidences suggested that there were carcinogenicity mechanisms not associating with gene mutation. However, the Central Environment Council concluded that it was appropriate to conduct a risk assessment assuming that there was no threshold, since arsenic and inorganic arsenic compounds have been evidently shown to be carcinogenic to human lung with inhalation exposure and its genotoxicity was scientifically proven.

Regarding carcinogenicity, the Central Environment Council calculated the unit risk to be $1.7 \times 10^{-3}/(\mu g/m^3)$ using lung cancer excess death as endpoint, based on the 3 cohort studies in copper smelters in Tacoma, Washington, U.S.A. (Enterline et al. 1995), Anaconda, Montana, U.S.A. (Lubin et al. 2000), and Ronnskar, Sweden (Sandstrom & Wall 1993) where sufficient data of dose-response relationship were available. The Central Environment Council specified the evaluation value for carcinogenicity of arsenic and inorganic arsenic compounds as 6 ng As/m³, which is the atmospheric concentration corresponding to excess life time cancer risk of 10^{-5} .

Since sufficient quantitative data of toxicity except the data for carcinogenicity was not available, the Central Environment Council did not calculate the evaluation value for toxicity other than carcinogenicity (Ministry of the Environment, 2010).

(4) Committee for Recommendation of Occupational Exposure Limits, Japan Society for Occupational Health (reference)

Committee for Recommendation of Occupational Exposure Limits, Japan Society for Occupational Health (1997) evaluated carcinogenicity of arsenic and categorized it into Group 1 (Carcinogenic to humans). In the assessment of arsenic and arsenic compounds in 2000, the committee determined the excess mortality risk as 10^{-3} or 10^{-4} . Considering that a linear model without threshold dose was appropriate for the risk assessment, the committee suggested the excess respiratory cancer mortality risk as 3 µg As/m³ for 10^{-3} and 0.3 µg As/m³ for 10^{-4} in terms of the cumulative exposure for 40 years of work from the data in epidemiological survey (Enterline et al. 1995) on 2,802 workers in copper smelter in Washington, U.S.A. (Japan Society for Occupational Health, 2000).

VI. Risk assessment (extracted from Part III of the original risk assessment report)

Arsenic is a metalloid that occurs as various inorganic and organic compounds in environment. Arsenic in environment is derived from weathering of mineral, volcanic activity, and human intentional activities. Arsenic compounds are mainly taken through food and drinkingwater. Foods contain both inorganic and organic arsenic compounds, and drinking-water contains mainly inorganic arsenic. Especially, large amount of arsenic compounds are contained in marine animals and algae. Since Japanese have a dietary habit of eating seaweed or seafood traditionally, people intake larger amount of arsenic from food compare to other countries. Concerning arsenic intake from agricultural products, the intake from rice is relatively high. Taking these conditions into consideration, FSCJ conducted a risk assessment of arsenic in foods based on the data from various studies, epidemiological surveys and others. The data used in the assessment are on pharmacokinetics, acute toxicity, repeated dose toxicity, carcinogenicity, reproduction and developmental toxicity, genotoxicity of inorganic and organic arsenic compounds and synthetized organic arsenic compounds.

1. Pharmacokinetics

As(III) and As(V) administered orally in experimental animals are rapidly absorbed from gastrointestinal tract. Particularly, As(III) and As(V) contained in drinking-water are absorbed completely. However, the absorption rate decreases depending on solubility of arsenic compound and on other food ingredients and nutrient present in gastrointestinal tract. In human, absorbed inorganic arsenic compound are methylated *in vivo*, and mainly arsenic acid, arsenite as well as MMA(V), DMA(V) are excreted in urine. Methylation activities are different in species. Excretion of MMA(V) and DMA(V) in urine are not observed in marmoset, chimpanzee and guinea pig, due to the deficiency of arsenic methyltransferase in liver. However, mouse, rat, hamster, rabbit, and rhesus monkey have arsenic methylation from MMA(V) to DMA(V) occurred effectively and the excretion rate of MMA(V) in urine is significantly lower than that of human. In addition, methylation has been suggested to largely contribute to the toxicity of inorganic arsenic.

Although only limited data on pharmacokinetics of organic arsenic are available, most of the MMA(V), DMA(V) and arsenosugar which are orally taken are rapidly absorbed from gastrointestinal tract and mainly excreted into urine in human. Arsenosugar is mainly metabolized to DMA(V) in human but most of AsBe are not metabolized and rapidly excreted into urine.

2. Toxicity

In human, neurotoxicity caused by acute and subacute exposure to inorganic arsenic through oral intake in an accident and others has been observed. Also, potential of long-term oral intake of inorganic arsenic to induce dermal lesions, cancer, developmental effect, neuro developmental effect, and cardiovascular disease, has been reported. Of them, regarding cancer, an epidemiological survey on exposure to inorganic arsenic through drinking-water in arsenic contaminated area revealed dose-dependency between inorganic arsenic intake and incidence of cancers of the skin, lung and urinary bladder... Recently, it was reported that a dose-dependent tendency between inorganic arsenic intake estimated by FFQ and lung cancer risk in Japanese male current smokers was reported. On the other hand, oral administration of inorganic arsenic to experimental animals has been reported to effect on cardiovascular system, respiratory organ system, digestive organ system, hematologic system, immune system, neuro system, and neuro development. However, carcinogenicity was found only in some studies with administration through drinking-water in rodents, and in trans-placental carcinogenicity studies in mice.

Regarding effects of organic arsenic on human, available data is only few. In experimental animals, except a report of urinary bladder cancer observed in rats with oral administration of DMA(V), data concerning the effects of organic arsenic including synthetized compounds are limited and data which contributes to risk assessment is not available.

Genotoxicity of arsenic compound such as DNA damage and chromosomal aberration has been known in human cells and cultures cells. In general, the toxicity of As(III) is considered to be higher than that of As(V) both in inorganic and organic arsenic compound. It is also considered that the toxicity of inorganic arsenic compound is higher than that of organic arsenic compounds. Although reports of *in vivo* experiments on genotoxicity of arsenic compound are not many, a chromosome aberration, increase of micronucleus formation, and DNA damage have been observed after oral, intraperitoneal and subcutaneous administration of As(III) in mice. Concerning DMA(V) administration, induction of gene mutation or micronucleus formation were not observed, although DNA damage in lung and induction of chromosome mutagenicity in marrow and others are reported. Arsenic-induced chromosome aberration, SCE and micronucleus formation have been reported in epidemiological studies, while there is no epidemiological data of a significant increase in arsenic-induced gene mutation.

In addition, it is unlikely that gene mutation is the main cause of arsenic-induced carcinogenesis. Though chromosome aberration, DNA damage, changes in DNA repair, changes in DNA methylation, cell transformation, changes in cell proliferation, changes in cellular signal transduction, changes in binding to steroid receptors and following gene expression, gene amplification, acceleration in induction of mutation/genotoxicity are suggested as mechanisms of the carcinogenesis, how much these mechanisms are involved in arsenic-carcinogenicity is unknown.

From the above, FSCJ concluded that it was appropriate to conduct a dose-response assessment using reliable epidemiological data of inorganic arsenic instead of the data of experimental animals which contained a large species difference in pharmacokinetics or development of toxicity. After examining epidemiological data about effects of oral exposure to inorganic arsenic, FSCJ selected the data for dose-dependent assessment as follows. Data concerning noncarcinogenic effect were the data of dermal lesions (Haque et al.2003; Ahsan et al.2006; Chen et al.2006; Guo et al.2006; Rahman et al.2006; Xia et al.2009), the effects on nervous system (decreased IQ) (Wasserman et al. 2004) and the effects on reproduction and development (Milton et al. 2005; von Ehrenstein et al. 2006; Rahman et al. 2007; Cherry et al. 2008). Data concerning carcinogenic effects were the data of lung cancer (Ferreccio et al. 2000; Chen et al. 20004; Chen et al. 2010b) and of urinary bladder cancer (Chen et al. 2010a). Regarding dermal lesions, it could be taken as precancerous lesions because skin cancer was observed in the epidemiological study of inorganic arsenic exposure through drinking-water. However, FSCJ decided to evaluate dermal lesions as a chronic non-carcinogenic effect of arsenic, since evaluation of dermal lesions was not an evaluation of carcinogenicity itself. Organic arsenic was not evaluated in a dose-dependent assessment because few data of toxicity of organic arsenic was available.

3. Exposure level

Duplicate diet studies in adults in Japan on inorganic arsenic intake have reported following mean value: 10.3µg/day (1.8-22.6 µg/day) (mean per body weight: 0.206 µg/kg bw/day) by Mohri et al. (1990), 33.7 µg/day (8.34-101 µg/day) (mean per body weight: 0.674 µg/kg bw/day) by Yamauchi et al. (1992), 6.52 µg/day (2.0-57 µg/day) (mean per body weight: 0.130 µg/kg bw/day) by Oguri et al.(2012), 18.6 µg/day (2.18-161 µg/day) (mean per body weight: 0.315 µg/kg bw/day) by FSCJ (2013). Also FSCJ (2013) reported that 95 percentile value to be 0.754 µg/kg bw/day. Although, the number of target subjects was not necessarily sufficient in the study by Mohri et al. (1990), Yamauchi et al. (1992) and by Oguri et al. (2012) , and some of the studies by Oguri et al. (2012) and by FSCJ (2013) included intake amount only for 1 day. Nonetheless, FSCJ indicates these values as reference values since the values in these studies were within the certain range despite the time and place of investigation being different.

4. Dose-dependent assessment

(1) Applying the NOAEL/LOAEL method and BMD method

(i) Method for selecting a point of departure (POD)

Generally, in the risk assessment of chemical substances in foods, the following methods are used for the substance which shows no carcinogenicity. If quantitative epidemiological data is not available NOAEL or LOAEL obtained from animal studies are taken as the point of departure $(POD)^2$ for calculating TDI, and uncertainty factor for species difference is applied. Even if it is not clear that the genotoxicity of the substance is the main cause of its carcinogenicity, TDI may be calculated using NOAEL or LOAEL in the same manner. On the other hand, if the epidemiological data applicable to quantitative assessment is available, it is not necessary to consider the uncertainty of species difference. However, if NOAEL/LOAEL method is applied to epidemiological data, the following problems will arise: i.e. it will be difficult to specify the cut-off value of dose group based on the objective evaluation criteria, availability of significance in risk ratio will be changed depend on the number of targeted subjects by dose group, LOAEL will be specified regardless of how much is the risk ratio, LOAEL will differ because the statistical power will differ depend on whether the several studies are combined or not. In such a situation, recently BMD method is used to specify POD also in dose-dependent assessment using epidemiological data. EFSA (2009a) stated that BMD method can be applied for all chemical substances in foods, and recommended to use BMD method especially in the case where only LOAEL not NOAEL is available, or in the case in which POD is required for calculating the amount of exposure margin for carcinogenic substance or for dose-response assessment of epidemiological data. However, even if the BMD method is applied, there are still some problems such as ambiguous criteria in selection of model as premise, large dependency on model to be used in some cases, and difficulty of adjusting confounding factor.

As a result of the investigation by FSCJ, the problems for applying BMD method for this assessment are clarified as follows:

- Reference literatures which are applicable to the analysis are limited
- BMCL will vary greatly with models to which the same data is applied
- It is not possible to adjust confounding in the analysis where Benchmark Dose Software (BMDS) of EPA is used.

In contrast, when BMD method is used for supplementing NOAEL/LOAEL, some effectiveness for covering the defects of NOAEL/LOAEL method were confirmed as follows:

- The range of the confidence limit becomes wider and BMDL becomes lower if the sample size is small or dispersion of data is large
- It is not limited to the dose setting used in the investigation
- It is possible to consider the shape of dose-response curve

Therefore, taking these problems into consideration, FSCJ concluded to calculate BMCL using BMD method for supplementing NOAEL/LOAEL in the arsenic risk assessment.

² Value at the starting point which is a standard of toxicity response curve at specifying the standard value of health effect assessment in normal intake range for human in the result of dose-response assessment from the animal studies or from epidemiologic survey in human. Generally, NOAEL, LOAEL, BMDL are used. (ILSI JAPAN 2011).

(i) Applying BMD method

In the calculation of BMCL by BMD method, each model of Gamma, Logistic, LogLogistic, LogProbit, Multistage, Multistage-Cancer, Probit, Weibull, and Quantal-Linear were used for the analysis of the data in 8 literatures (Table 14, 15) in which BMCL can be calculated by BMDS ver 2.1.2 of EPA.

a. Selection of BMR

Regarding selection of BMR, EFSA (2009a) specified the standard of BMR as 5% for the case where the endpoint is continuous data in animal studies, and as 10% for quantal data. Also, EFSA considered that it is possible to use BMR of 1% if the number of targeted population is large in human studies. In addition, EFSA stated that BMR of 10% was appropriate for the substance which showed genotoxicity and carcinogenicity. However, when BMD method is applied to epidemiological data, BMR should be specified based on the upper limit of socially tolerable risk increase and not by type of subjects or by the consistency with NOAEL/LOAEL. That is, BMR should be specified severely (e.g. 1% or 5%) for the incident rate of grave diseases such as cancer, and not so severely for non-fatal disease (5% or 10%). Since the test value such as IQ is a surrogate marker, BMR should be specified according to the minimal clinical important difference. However, the level of 1% increase may be practically meaningless even though the increase rate can be calculated mathematically, since background data seem to vary

In addition, BMR largely depends on the model used when extrapolation is required because of no 0 exposure and other reasons. When the contribution of confounding factor is large, this should be taken into account, too. Thus, in these cases, a careful calculation is required unless the dose-response relationship is theoretically established clearly in the relevant data.

Therefore, FSCJ specified BMR in this assessment as follows: 1% for carcinogenic effect, 5% for dermal lesions since most of the cases are not fatal as cancer, and 5% for reproductive and developmental effects considering that infant death and fetus death observed in the case of arsenic exposure through drinking-water are possibly caused by the factors other than arsenic exposure.

b. Model selection

For the selection of model, we analyzed the data in table 14 and 15 using BMDS. We decided basically to select the model which provided the lowest BMCL, from among models that the p-value was not less than 0.10, fitted well around BMCL, and with low Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC). However, considering that the models which result large deviation between calculated BMC and BMCL are of less reliable, the model with BMC/BMCL ratio of 10 or less

was selected. In addition, we excluded the model that provided the extrapolation value exceeding the range of the measured value for BMCL calculated in the relevant analysis.

				Number of	,
T 1		Exposure	Exposure concentra-		Number of
Literature	Endpoint	concentration	tion used in BMD-	targeted indi-	cases with
		(µg/L)	analysis*(µg/L)	viduals	endpoint
Haque et al. 2003	Dermal lesions	≥300	404	34	26
		200-299	242	54	40
		100-199	147	115	66
		50-99	74	70	32
		<50	12	132	28
Ahsan et al. 2006	Dermal lesions	175.1-864.0	255	2,183	242
		91.1-175.0	125	2,185	162
		40.1-91.0	62	2,202	144
		8.1-40.0	23	2,122	90
		0.1-8.0	1.8	2,259	57
Rahman et al. 2006	Dermal lesions	≥300	400	345	108
		150-299	224.5	745	194
		50-149	99.5	675	124
		10-49	29.5	314	53
		<10	5	255	25
Xia et al. 2009	Dermal lesions	>300	400	95	9
		100.1-300	200.05	1,072	107
		50.1-100	75.05	1,624	128
		20.1-50	35.05	3,670	235
		10.1-20	15.05	1,336	53
		5.1-10	7.55	900	32
		0-5	2.5	3,467	58
Rahman et al. 2007	Reproduction and	≥409	515	5,607	511
	development	277-408	340	5,606	528
	(fetus death)	167-276	225	5,611	488
		10-166	77	5,602	453
		<10	0.5	5,612	464
	Reproduction and	≥409	515	5,109	285
	development	276-408	339	5,131	308
	(infant death)	164-275	224	5,131	282
	(interior double)				
		10-163	74	5,113	269
		<10	0.5	5,119	229

Table 14 Data from reports used in BMD-analysis (non-carcinogenic effect)

* Median exposure concentration calculated from the value in each report. However, the exposure concentration of Haque et al. 2003 and Rahman et al. 2007 are the values originally indicated in respective reports.

Literature	Endpoint	Exposure concentration(µg/L)	Exposure concentra- tion used for BMD- analysis ^{*1} (µg/L)	Number of targeted in- dividuals	Number of cases with end- point
Ferreccio et al. 2000	Lung cancer	200-400	300	208	79
		50-199	124.5	174	50
		30-49	39.5	31	8
		10-29	19.5	44	5
		0-10	5	113	9
Chen et al. 2010b	Lung cancer	≥10,000	12500	632	29
	(cumulated exposure	5,000-<10,000	7500	524	23
	in 40 years)	1000-<5,000	3000	2,078	51
		<1000	500	2,583	43
		0	0	1,071	32
	Lung cancer	≥300	400	7,809*2	31
		100-299.9	199.95	10,409*2	28
		50-99.9	74.95	10,309*2	20
		10-49.9	29.95	24,171 ^{*2}	51
		<10	5	26,519*2	48
Chen et al. 2010a	Bladder cancer	≥10,000	12500	632	11
	(cumulated exposure	5,000-<10,000	7500	524	5
	in 40 years)	1,000-<5,000	3000	2,078	12
		400-<1,000	700	1,120	3
		<400	300	2,534	6
	Bladder cancer	≥300	400	691	11
		100-299.9	199.95	909	8
		50-99.9	74.95	907	5
		10-49.9	29.95	2,093	8
		<10	5	2,288	5

Table 15 Data from reports used in BMD analysis (carcinogenic effect)

^{*1} Median exposure concentration calculated from the value in each report.

^{*2} Number of targeted individuals are calculated from the incident per 100,000 persons and number of cases with each endpoint.

(2) Non-carcinogenic effects

In addition to identifying NOAEL/LOAEL for arsenic in drinking-water in each epidemiological survey, FSCJ attempted to calculate BMCL using BMD method to complement NO-AEL/LOAEL on the data of non-carcinogenic effects which can be used for dose-dependent assessment. The data used for this examination were on: dermal lesions (Haque et al.2003; Ahsan et al.2006; Chen et al.2006; Guo et al.2006; Rahman et al.2006; Xia et al.2009), effects on nervous system (decreased IQ) (Wasserman et al. 2004) and effects on reproduction and development (Milton et al. 2005; von Ehrenstein et al. 2006; Rahman et al. 2007; Cherry et al. 2008). The NOAEL and LOAEL identified for arsenic in drinking-water, and the results of BMD -analysis were shown in Table 16. For dermal lesions, though the NOAEL could not be identified, the LOAEL, BMCL₀₅, BMC₀₅ were 7.6-124.5 μ g/L, 19.5-54.1 μ g/L, and 23.2-84.4 μ g/L, respectively. The NOAEL and LOAEL for effects on nervous system (decreased IQ) were 27.8 μ g/L and 113 μ g/L, respectively. The BMCL could not be calculated since appropriate data which could be applied in BMD-analysis were not available. The NOAEL and LOAEL for effects on reproduction and development were 30-221.5 μ g/L and 70-342 μ g/L, respectively. The BMCL ₀₅ could not be calculated since there was no model where BMR 5% could be applied in BMD-analysis.

Based on these results, FSCJ concluded that the most sensitive index among non-carcinogenic effects of inorganic arsenic exposure was dermal lesions.

(3) Carcinogenic effects

Regarding the data on carcinogenic effects which can be used for dose-dependent assessment (lung cancer: Ferreccio et al. 2000; Chen et al. 2004; Chen et al. 2010b, urinary bladder cancer: Chen et al. 2010a), FSCJ attempted to identify NOAEL/LOAEL for arsenic in drinking-water in each epidemiological survey, and to calculate BMCL by BMD method. Table 17 shows NO-AEL and LOAEL of arsenic in drinking water and results of BMD-analysis.

The NOAEL and LOAEL for lung cancer were 19.5-200 μ g/L and 39.5-400 μ g/L, respectively. The BMCL₀₁ could not be calculated since no model was applicable in BMD analysis with BMR 1%. The NOAEL, LOAEL, BMCL₀₁, and BMC₀₅ for urinary bladder cancer were 75 μ g/L, 187.5-200 μ g/L, 140-186 μ g/L, and 230-288 μ g/L, respectively.

Denulation		NOAEL ^{*1,*2}	LOAEL ^{*2}	BMD model	BMC05	BMCL ₀₅
Population	Endpoint	$(\mu g/L)$	(µg/L)	BMD model	(µg/L)	(µg/L)
India	Dermal lesions	<50	50-99	Lappachit	32.0	26.2
(Haque et al. 2003)	Dermai lesions	(25.0)	(74.5)	LogProbit	32.0	20.2
Bangladesh	Dermal lesions	0.1-8.0	8.1-40	Gamma	84.4	38.8
(Ahsan et al. 2006)	Dermai lesions	(4.05)	(24.05)	Gamma	84.4	30.0
Bangladesh	Dermal lesions	0.1-28.0	28.1-113	No applicable data for BMDS		
(Chen et al. 2006)	Dermai lesions	(14.05)	(70.55)	No applicable data for BIVIDS		
Bangladesh	Dermal lesions	< 10.0	10-49	LogLogistic	68.3	54.1
(Rahman et al. 2006)	Dermai lesions	(5.0)	(29.5)	LogLogistic	08.5	34.1
The Inner Mongolia Autonomous		<50	50-199			
Region of China	Dermal lesions	(25.0)	(124.5)	No applicable data for BMDS		
(Guo et al. 2006)		(23.0)	(124.3)			
The Inner Mongolia Autonomous		0-5	5.1-10			
Region of China	Dermal lesions	(2.5)	(7.55)	LogProbit	23.2	19.5
(Xia et al. 2009)		(2.3)	(7.55)			
Bangladesh	Nervous system	5.6-50	50.1-176	No applicable data for BMDS		
(Wasserman et al. 2004)	(decreased IQ)	(27.8)	(113.05)	No applicable data for BMDS		
	Reproduction and de-					
Bangladesh (Milton et al. 2005)	velopment		51-100	No applicable data for BMDS		
	(Spontaneous abor-	-	(75.5)			
	tion)					

Table 16 NOAEL/LOAEL and BMCL of inorganic arsenic in drinking-water for non-carcinogenic effect

India (von Ehrenstein et al. 2006)	Reproduction and development (Stillbirth)	50-199 (124.5)	≥200 (274.5)	No applicable data for BMDS		
Bangladesh	Reproduction and de- velopment (Fetus death)	167-276 (221.5)	277-408 (342.5)	No applicable model	-	-
(Rahman et al. 2007)	Reproduction and de- velopment (Infant death)	164-275 (219.5)	276-408 (342)	No applicable model	-	-
Bangladesh (Cherry et al. 2008)	Reproduction and de- velopment (Stillbirth)	10-50 (30)	≥50 (70)	No applicable data for BMDS		

- BMCL was not calculated in BMD analysis

*1 Since NOAEL was not identified for dermal lesions, reference dose was shown

*2 Median of each concentration group are in brackets in the NOAEL and LOAEL columns

		NOAEL*			BMC01	BMCL ₀₁	
Population	Endpoint	(µg/L)	*(µg/L)	BMD model	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	
Chile	I was sourced	10-29	30-49	Na ampliashla madal			
(Ferreccio et al. 2000)	Lung cancer	(19.5)	(39.5)	No applicable model	-	-	
Taiwan	I was sourced	10-99	100-299	Na analizable data fan DMDS			
(Chen et al. 2004)	Lung cancer	(54.5)	(200)	No applicable data for BMDS			
		25-125	125-250				
Taiwan	Lung cancer	(75)	(187.5)	No applicable model	-	-	
		*Accumulated expo	sure in 40 years				
(Chen et al. 2010b)	Ţ	100-299.9	≥300	Na annliaghla madal			
	Lung cancer	(200)	(400)	No applicable model	-	-	
		25-125	125-250	Multistana Canaan			
Tainan	Bladder cancer	(75)	(187.5)	Multistage Cancer	210	140	
Taiwan		*Accumulated expos	ure in 40 years	Quantal-Linear			
(Chen et al. 2010a)	Dladdar aanser	50-99.9	100-299.9	L ogl agistia	200	196	
	Bladder cancer	(74.95)	(200)	LogLogistic	288	186	

Table 17 NOAEL/LOAEL and BMCL of inorganic arsenic in drinking-water for carcinogenic effect

- BMCL was not calculated in BMD analysis

* Median of each concentration population group are in brackets in the NOAEL and LOAEL columns

(4) Estimation of daily intake of inorganic arsenic in the area with contaminated drinking-water

In the report of epidemiological survey which was used for dose-dependent assessment, the total exposure of inorganic arsenic including arsenic derived from meal was not revealed, although inorganic arsenic concentration in drinking-water was used as an exposure index. Therefore, the conversion from inorganic arsenic concentration in drinking-water to the daily total intake including the exposure derived from meal was required. FSCJ summarized the information about inorganic arsenic intake derived from meal and intake of drinking-water in the targeted areas of the dose-response assessment in the report that are West Bengal in India, Bangladesh, the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of China, Taiwan, and Chile, and estimated the daily inorganic arsenic intake in the area with contaminated water.

- (i) Inorganic arsenic intake from meal and intake of drinking-water in the areas with contaminated water
- a. West Bengal in India

There were several reports on arsenic intake from meal in West Bengal in India. Roychowdhury et al. (2002) reported that the total arsenic intake in adult from cooked food was 171 and 189 μ g/day based on the daily intake of grains, bread products, vegetables, spices and others which had been collected from each household in 2 different areas in West Bengal. They reported also that the mean arsenic concentration in drinking-water was 133 μ g/L, and the amount of drinking-water for male and female in the entire area were 4 L/day and 3 L/day, respectively.

From the inorganic arsenic concentration in rice cooked with water at 50, 250, 500 μ g/L, Signes et al. (2008) estimated inorganic arsenic intake through the cooked rice to be 104, 399, 750 μ g/day, respectively. The assumed amount of drinking-water used in this estimation was 2.5 L/day.

Signes-Pastor et al. (2008) reported the mean inorganic arsenic intake from meal and from drinking-water to be 63 μ g/day and 88 μ g/day based on the analysis of As(III) and As(V) in rice, vegetables, and in drinking-water collected in diet survey.

Pal et al. (2009) calculated the mean inorganic arsenic intake from cooked rice prepared with two different groups of rice which were grown in two different seasons in an arsenic contaminated area. They calculated the inorganic arsenic concentration in two groups of cooked rice, both of which were cooked with water with inorganic arsenic concentration lower than 3 μ g/L, to be 34 and 97 μ g /day respectively.

b. Bangladesh

There were several reports on the total arsenic intake in Bangladesh. Watanabe et al. (2004) estimated the total arsenic intake from meal (rice, bread, potato) to be 214 μ g/day for male and 120 μ g/day for female based on the results of FFQ and from total arsenic concentration contained in foods. This estimation did not calculate the intake from water used in cooking, but estimated separately the volume of the water used in cooking rice, bread and curry to be 1.6

L/day for male and 0.95 L/day for female. Also, the daily intake of drinking-water was reported to be 3 L/day for male and for female based on the measured data.

Smith et al. (2006) reported the mean intake of inorganic arsenic from different groups of cooked rice prepared with water containing 200, 300, 400, 500 μ g/L of total arsenic. According to the report, the mean intake of inorganic arsenic from cooked rice of each group was 19, 153, 232, and 53 μ g/day. The daily intake of drinking-water was reported to be 2-4 L/day in their report

Kile et al. (2007) reported the median value of the total arsenic intake derived food and drinking-water to be 48.4 μ g/day based on the 6-day duplicate diet study in 47 females. Kile et al. specified the median value of arsenic concentration in the relevant drinking-water to be 1.6 μ g/L (range<1-450 μ g/L), and the mean daily intake of drinking-water to be 2.7 L/day.

Rahman et al. (2008) reported that the total arsenic intake from rice was 200-350 μ g/day based on the average rice consumption of 400-650 g/day and the total arsenic concentration in rice of 0.5 mg/kg in Bangladesh.

JFCFA (2011) conducted a dose-response assessment based on the data of total arsenic intake including above mentioned data. This assessment was on the assumptions that 70% of the total arsenic was inorganic, that inorganic arsenic intake from meal tanged from 50 to 400 μ g/day, and that the mean exposure to inorganic arsenic from meal was 75 μ g/day. In addition, total intake of water in Bangladesh was estimated to be 4 L/day including water for cooking water, based on the above mentioned data of water intake, and the value was used for doseresponse assessment.

c. Taiwan

Schoof et al. (1998) have reported the mean intake of inorganic arsenic by an adult to be 50 μ g/day (range: 15-200 μ g/day) for Taiwan, based on the consumption of rice (225 g/day) and yam (500 g/day) and on the inorganic arsenic concentration. However, intake of inorganic arsenic from water used for cooking was not included.

JECFA (2011) conducted a dose-response assessment of the survey in Taiwan. As the data to use for the dose-response assessment, they estimated the intake of inorganic arsenic from meal to be 50-200 μ g/day and mean exposure level to be 75 μ g/day, based on the available data. The daily intake of water was estimated to be 3 L/day including cooking water that was required for cooking yum, and the value was used for the dose-response assessment.

d. The Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of China

The data on inorganic arsenic intake from meal and intake of water in the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of China could not be obtained.

e. Asia

EPA (2007) recommended to use the inorganic arsenic intake from meal within the range from the lowest $50\mu g/day$ to the highest 200 $\mu g/day$ in the sensitive analysis of a population in

Asia, based on the arsenic exposure data in each Asian region. , EFSA (2009) uses the value of 50-200 μ g/day as the inorganic arsenic intake from foods for dose-response assessment in a survey of Asian region, based on the above mentioned information of intake.

Based on the information of water intake in each region in Asia, EFSA (2009) adopted a value of 3-5 L/day as the daily water intake including the amount of cooking water in rural area in Asia for the dose-response assessment.

f. Chile

Concerning the inorganic arsenic intake in Chile, Diaz et al. (2004) estimated the daily intake from the analysis of inorganic arsenic in raw vegetables, cooked vegetables, bread and drinking-water of 2 different seasons in which arsenic concentrations in drinking-water are different. Accordingly, a mean daily intake of inorganic arsenic for the season when drinkingwater contains inorganic arsenic at 572 μ g/L was reported to be 55 μ g/day from meal only and to be 1,389 μ g/day from meal and drinking-water. While, a mean daily intake of inorganic arsenic for the season when drinking-water contains inorganic arsenic at 41 μ g/L was reported to be 31 μ g/day from meal only and to be 125 μ g/day from meal and drinking-water. (Diaz et al. 2004). Based on this report, JECFA (2011) considered that the mean intake of inorganic arsenic in adults who eat moderately was 0.52-0.92 μ g/kg bw/day from food only and 2.08-21.48 μ g/kg bw/day from food and drinking-water (JECFA 2011).

EFSA (2009) assumed the total intake of water including water used for cooking in the population of North and South America to be 1-2 L/day based on the fact that the intake of water in the U.S. reported by NRC (1999, 2001) was 1-2 L/day and that approximately 10% of the total intake of water in the U.S. and Canada was water used for cooking.

(ii) Estimation of total daily intake based on the concentration of inorganic arsenic in drinking-water

Available data on daily intake of arsenic from meal are limited even the data on total arsenic is included. Moreover, in the targeted groups of food seemed to be biased by survey, and data on intake for the same country and region vary from survey to survey. In addition, in arsenic contaminated areas where the exposure to inorganic arsenic is considered to be due largely to drinking-water, intake of inorganic arsenic from meal is not necessarily high even that the data included the water used for cooking. Therefore, in selection of data for conversion, FSCJ attempted to collect data which contain a set of information on arsenic concentration in drinking-water, intake of water, intake of total arsenic or of inorganic arsenic from food as far as possible, and estimated the total daily intake of arsenic based on the information from the literatures listed in Table 18. The Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of China was excluded from the target for estimation of total daily intake since the data of arsenic intake from meal was not available.

A total daily intake of inorganic arsenic was estimated from inorganic arsenic concentration in drinking-water combining the intake from drinking-water and from meal following the equation below. The total intake was estimated based on the survey results in the relevant region using the data on cooked food as much as possible and considering information obtained. Two methods are applied for calculation. Method 1 calculated the total intake using the estimated value of inorganic arsenic intake in each region as fixed value. Method 2 calculated the total intake expressing intake from food as a function of inorganic arsenic concentration in water used for cooking. In method 2, the estimated value of inorganic arsenic intake from food was calculated as a function of arsenic concentration in drinking-water.



To estimate daily intake of inorganic arsenic from meal based on the reports which provided information on the intake of total arsenic but not on the intake of inorganic arsenic from meal, FSCJ assumed the proportion of inorganic arsenic in total arsenic in rice to be 0.7 (Rahman & Hasegawa 2011), 1 for vegetables and 0 for fishes. Regarding the intake of inorganic arsenic from food in which water used for cooking was not counted, FSCJ estimated the intake from cooked food assuming that 1.3 L/day of water was used for cooking in Asian region according to Watanabe et al (2004). Daily intake of water used for the estimation did not include water used for cooking. To estimate intake of water in Taiwan and Chile where relevant information was not available, FSCJ employed the value of 3 L/day for Taiwan and 1.5 L/day for Chile according to JECFA (2011) and EFSA (2009) respectively although the data include the amount of water for cooking. As for body weight used for estimation, the values that have been used for conversion by EFSA (2009) and JECFA (2011) were used. The values were 55 kg for West Bengal in India, Taiwan, Bangladesh and 60 kg for Chile. Table 19-22 shows the results of the calculation.

Regarding non-carcinogenic effects, LOAEL and BMDL₀₅ for dermal lesions were calculated to be 4.3-5.2 μ g/kg bw/day and 4.0-4.2 μ g/kg bw/day, respectively. For the effect on nervous system (decreased IQ), NOAEL and LOAEL were 3.0-4.1 μ g/kg bw/day and 7.7-10.7 μ g/kg bw/day, respectively. For the effect on reproduction and development, NOAEL and LOAEL were determined to be 8.8-11.1 μ g/kg bw/day and 11.9-15.7 μ g/kg bw/day, respectively.

Regarding carcinogenic effects, NOAEL and LOAEL for lung cancer were 4.1-4.9 µg/kg bw/day and 8.5-10.6 µg/kg bw/day, respectively. For urinary bladder cancer, NOAEL, LOAEL,

and BMDL $_{01}$ were 5.0-12.1 µg/kg bw/day, 11.5-16.0 µg/kg bw/day, and 9.7-13.5 µg/kg bw/day, respectively.

However, the above mentioned NOAEL, LOAEL, and BMDL are values calculated from the total intake which was estimated on the basis of insufficient data and many assumptions. In addition, there is a case where the value was calculated from the data on rice only, and the intake may have been underestimated throughout whole calculation. Furthermore, in the calculation for dermal lesions, many cases were with the contribution of drinking-water less than 50% of daily total intake. Various epidemiological surveys, where a dose-response relationship is considered between dermal lesions and the arsenic concentration in drinking-water, are assuming a high contribution of drinking-water on the other hand. This discrepancy seems to suggest that the calculation results may diverge from the actual status of exposure in the contaminated area.

					exposure from m	eal				
Coun- try/region	Literature	Concentration in drinking- water (µg/L)	Water in- take ^{*1} (L)	Total arsenic intake from meal (µg/day)	Inorganic arsenic in- take from meal (µg/day)	Foods used for the calculation of intake	Cooked/uncooked	Arsenic intake t	tion (µg/day)	ed for the estima- Method 2
	Watanabe et al. 2004	-	Male 3/Fe- male 3 (Actual value)	Male 214/Fe- male 120	127/83 (Converted from the total arsenic *2)	Rice, bread, potato	Uncooked 1.6L (man) and 0.95L (woman)(mean: 1.3L) of cooking water	-		Wc×1.3(L) + (127+ 83)/2
Bangladesh	Smith et al. 2006	200-500	3(2-4) (Actual value)	-	114	Only rice	Cooked 114			-
	Kile et al. 2007	1.6 (Median)	Female 2.7 (Actual value)	Female 48 (Median)	39 Converted from the total arsenic based on actual percentage of inorganic arsenic, 82%)	All (meal set for du- plicate diet study)	Cooked	$(39 \times 127/83 + 39)/2 = 49^{*3}$	82 (Mean)	-
Taiwan	Schoof et al. 1998	-	-	-	50 (15-200)	Yam, rice	Uncooked	50		Wc×1.3(L) ^{*4} + 50
Chile	Diaz et al. 2004	41/572	-	-	31/55	Corn, vegetables, po- tato, bread	Cooked	(31+55)/2	2 = 43	0.0452×Wc +29.1*5
	Roychowdhury et al. 2002	133 (Mean of overall area)	(Male 4/Fe- male 3)	171/189 (2 villages)	123/137 (Converted from the total arsenic ^{*2})	Rice, vegetables, spices	Cooked	(123+137)/	2 = 130	-
West Ben- gal in India	Signes et al. 2008	Signes et al. 50/250/500 (Assumed		-	104/399/750	Rice only	Arsenic intake was esti- mated from inorganic arsenic concentration in cooked rice. Rice is cooked with water with arsenic concentration of 50, 250, 500 µg/L.			1.434×Wc + 35*6

Table18 Water intake used for estimating daily intake of inorganic arsenic in the area with contaminated water and data related to inorganic

exposure from meal

Wc Inorganic arsenic concentration in drinking-water used in the thesis of dose-dependent assessment (µg/L)

- *1 Cooking water is not included
- *2 Assuming the proportion of inorganic arsenic in the total arsenic in rice, in vegetables, in fish as 0.7(Rahman & Hasegawa 2011), 1, 0, respectively
- *3 Intake amount of male was calculated based on the rate of male and female intake (Watanabe et al. 2004) and male and female mixed mean was calculated
- *4 The amount of cooking water in Bangladesh(male 1.6L,female 0.9L; mean 1.3L) was used since cooking water data in Taiwan could not be obtained
- *5 Derive regression equation using 31, 55 μg/day as inorganic arsenic intake from meal where the drinking-water concentrations were 41,572 μg/L
- *6 Derive regression equation using 104, 399, 750 μg/day as inorganic arsenic intake from meal where the drinking-water concentrations were 50,250,500 μg/L

				;;_ = =	ALL, and DMDL	(= = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =			/			
	Literatures used for dose- dependent assessment	Country/re- gion	Concentration in drinking- water (µg/L)	Water in- take (L/day)	Daily intake from drinking-wa- ter(µg/day)	Daily intake from food (µg/day)	Daily intake (µg/day)	bw (kg)	Daily intake (μg/kg bw/day)	Geometric mean value (µg/kg bw/day)		
	LOAEL											
Der	Haque et al. 2003	India	74.5	3.5	261	130	391	55.0	7.1			
	Ahsan et al. 2006	Bangladesh	24.1	3.0	72.3	82.0	154	55.0	2.8			
Dermal lesions	Chen et al. 2006	Bangladesh	70.6	3.0	212	82.0	294	55.0	5.3	4.3		
esion	Rahman et al. 2006	Bangladesh	29.5	3.0	88.5	82.0	171	55.0	3.1			
S	BMDL ₀₅											
	Rahman et al. 2006	Bangladesh	54.1	3.0	162	82.0	244	55.0	4.4			
	Ahsan et al. 2006	Bangladesh	38.8	3.0	116	82.0	198	55.0	3.6	4.0		
	Haque et al. 2003	India	26.2	3.5	91.7	130	222	55.0	4.0			
Ner	NOAEL											
vous	Wasserman et al. 2004	Bangladesh	27.8	3.0	83.4	82.0	165	55.0	3.0	3.0		
Nervous system	LOAEL											
m	Wasserman et al. 2004	Bangladesh	113.1	3.0	339	82.0	421	55.0	7.7	7.7		
Rep velo	NOAEL											
Reproduction and de- velopment	von Ehrenstein et al. 2006 (Stillbirth)	India	125	3.5	436	130	566	55.0	10.3	0 0		
and de-	Rahman et al. 2007 (Fetus death)	Bangladesh	222	3.0	665	82.0	747	55.0	13.6	8.8		

Table 19 Summary of NOAEL, LOAEL, and BMDL (Non-carcinogenic effect: Method 1)

Rahman et al. 2007 (Infant death)		220	3.0	660	82.0	741	55.0	13.5	
Cherry et al. 2008 (Stillbirth)	Bangladesh	30	3.0	90.0	82.0	172	55.0	3.1	
LOAEL									
Milton et al. 2005 (Spontaneous abortion)	Bangladesh	75.5	3.0	227	82.0	309	55.0	5.6	
von Ehrenstein et al. 2006 (Stillbirth)	India	275	3.5	961	130	1093	55.0	19.8	
Rahman et al. 2007 (Fetus death)	D 111	343	3.0	1029	82.0	1111	55.0	20.2	11.9
Rahman et al. 2007 (Infant death)	Bangladesh	342	3.0	1026	82.0	1108	55.0	20.1	
Cherry et al. 2008 (Stillbirth)	Bangladesh	70	3.0	210	82.0	292	55.0	5.3	

	Table 20 Summary of NOALL, LOALL, and DMDL (Non-catchinggine criteri. Method 2)										
	Literatures used in dose- dependent assessment	Country/region	Concentration in drinking- water (µg/L)	Water intake (L/day)	Daily intake from drinking- water (µg/day)	Intake from meal considering inor- ganic arsenic con- centration in cook- ing water (µg/day)	Daily intake (µg/day)	bw (kg)	Daily intake (µg/kg bw/day)	Geometric mean value (µg/kg bw/day)	
	LOAEL	•									
	Haque et al. 2003	India	74.5	2.5	186	142	328	55.0	6.0		
De	Ahsan et al. 2006	Bangladesh	24.1	3.0	72.2	136	208	55.0	3.8	5.2	
Dermal lesions	Chen et al. 2006	Bangladesh	70.6	3.0	212	197	408	55.0	7.4	5.2	
al le	Rahman et al. 2006	Bangladesh	29.5	3.0	88.5	143	232	55.0	4.2		
esio	BMDL ₀₅										
ns	Haque et al. 2003	India	26.2	2.5	65.5	72.6	138	55.0	2.5		
	Ahsan et al. 2006	Bangladesh	38.8	3.0	116	155	272	55.0	4.9	4.2	
	Rahman et al. 2006	Bangladesh	54.1	3.0	162	175	338	55.0	6.1		
s N	NOAEL							-			
Nervous system	Wasserman et al. 2004	Bangladesh	27.8	3.0	83.4	141	225	55.0	4.1	4.1	
m suo	LOAEL										
	Wasserman et al. 2004	Bangladesh	113	3.0	339	252	591	55.0	10.7	10.7	
R	NOAEL										
eprod	von Ehrenstein et al. 2006 (Stillbirth)	India	125	2.5	311	214	525	55.0	9.6		
uction	Rahman et al. 2007 (Fetus death)	Bangladesh	222	3.0	665	393	1058	55.0	19.3	11.1	
n and	Rahman et al. 2007 (Infant death)	Dangiauesh	220	3.0	659	390	1049	55.0	19.1	11.1	
Reproduction and development	Cherry et al. 2008 (Stillbirth)	Bangladesh	30	3.0	90.0	144	234	55.0	4.3		
ndc	LOAEL	4					•				
ıent	Milton et al. 2005 (Spontaneous abortion)	Bangladesh	75.5	3.0	227	203	430	55.0	7.8		
	von Ehrenstein et al. 2006 (Stillbirth)	India	275	2.5	686	429	1115	55.0	20.3		
	Rahman et al. 2007 (Fetus death)	Bangladesh	343	3.0	1028	550	1578	55.0	28.7	15.7	
	Rahman et al. 2007 (Infant death)	Dungladesh	342	3.0	1026	550	1576	55.0	28.6		
	Cherry et al. 2008 (Stillbirth)	Bangladesh	70	3.0	210	196	406	55.0	7.4		

Table 20 Summary of NOAEL, LOAEL, and BMDL (Non-carcinogenic effect: Method 2)

-	II.		5			,	0		,	•			
	Literatures used in dose-dependent as- sessment	Coun- try/region	Concentra- tion in drinking- water (µg/L)	Water intake (L/day)	Daily intake from drinking-water (µg/day)	Daily intake from food (µg/day)	Daily intake (µg/day)	Body weigh t (kg)	Daily intake (µg/kg bw/day)	Geometric mean value (µg/kg bw/day)			
Lut	NOAEL												
Lung cancer	Ferreccio et al. 2000	Chile	19.5	1.5	29.3	43.0	72.3	60.0	1.2				
ncer	Chen et al. 2004	Taiwan	54.5	3.0	164	50.0	214	55.0	3.9				
	Chen et al. 2010b (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	75	3.0	225	50.0	275	55.0	5.0	4.1			
	Chen et al. 2010b		200	3.0	600	50.0	650	55.0	11.8				
	LOAEL												
	Ferreccio et al. 2000	Chile	39.5	1.5	59.3	43.0	102	60.0	1.7				
	Chen et al. 2004	Taiwan	200	3.0	600	50.0	650	55.0	11.8				
	Chen et al. 2010b (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	188	3.0	564	50.0	614	55.0	11.2	8.5			
	Chen et al. 2010b		400	3.0	1200	50.0	1250	55.0	22.7				
	NOAEL					•							
Blad	Chen et al. 2010a (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	75	3.0	225	50.0	275	55.0	5.0	5.0			
Bladder cance	Chen et al. 2010a		75	3.0	225	50.0	275	55.0	5.0				
ancer	LOAEL												
	Chen et al. 2010a (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	188	3.0	563	50.0	613	55.0	11.2	11.5			

Table 21 Summary of NOAEL, LOAEL, and BMDL (Carcinogenic effect: Method 1)

Chen et al. 2010a		200	3.0	600	50.0	650	55.0	11.8	
BMDL ₀₁									
Chen et al. 2010a (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	140	3.0	420	50.0	470	55.0	8.5	9.7
Chen et al. 2010a		186	3.0	558	50.0	608	55.0	11.1	

	Literatures used in dose-dependent as- sessment	Coun- try/region	Concentra- tion in drinking- water (µg/L)	Water intake (L/day)	Daily intake from drinking-water (µg/day)	Intake from meal considering inor- ganic arsenic con- centration in cooking wa- ter(µg/day)	Daily in- take (µg/day)	Body weigh t (kg)	Daily intake (µg/kg bw/day)	Geometric mean value (μg/kg bw/day)
Lu	NOAEL		ب ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ				<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
Lung cancer	Ferreccio et al. 2000	Chile	19.5	1.5	29.3	30.0	59.2	60.0	1.0	
ncer	Chen et al. 2004	Taiwan	54.5	3.0	164	121	284	55.0	5.2	
	Chen et al. 2010b (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	75	3.0	225	148	373	55.0	6.8	4.9
	Chen et al. 2010b		200	3.0	600	310	910	55.0	16.5	
	LOAEL					•				
	Ferreccio et al. 2000	Chile	39.5	1.5	59.3	30.9	90.1	60.0	1.5	
	Chen et al. 2004	Taiwan	200	3.0	599	309	908	55.0	16.5	
	Chen et al. 2010b (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	188	3.0	563	294	856	55.0	15.6	10.6
	Chen et al. 2010b		400	3.0	1200	570	1770	55.0	32.2	
	NOAEL		-			-			-	
Bladder	Chen et al. 2010a (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	75	3.0	225	440	665	55.0	12.1	12.1
	Chen et al. 2010a		75.95	3.0	225	440	665	55.0	12.1	
cancer	LOAEL	-	-							
3T	Chen et al. 2010a (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	188	3.0	563	294	856	55.0	15.6	16.0

Table 22 Summary of NOAEL, LOAEL, and BMDL (Carcinogenic effect: Method 2)

Chen et al. 2010a		200	3.0	600	310	910	55.0	16.5	
BMDL ₀₁									
Chen et al. 2010a (Accumulated mean in 40 years)	Taiwan	140	3.0	420	232	652	55.0	11.9	13.5
Chen et al. 2010a		186	3.0	558	292	850	55.0	15.5	

5. Summary and issues to be solved

According to the epidemiological survey in the area where the people drink arsenic contaminated water for a long period of time, non-carcinogenic effects of inorganic arsenic exposure such as dermal lesions, neurodevelopmental effect, and reproductive and developmental effects depending on the inorganic arsenic concentration in drinking-water were observed. Among these effects, the effect observed with the lowest concentration of inorganic arsenic was dermal lesions. The LOAEL and BMCL₀₅ were 7.6-124.5 μ g/L and 19.5-54.1 μ g/L, respectively.

Also, carcinogenesis (cancers of the lung, urinary bladder and others) and genotoxicity such as chromosomal aberration due to inorganic arsenic exposure was observed in human. The risk assessment of these substances has been conducted assuming that there was no threshold in carcinogenesis. However, in these years, the approach of recognizing threshold in carcinogenesis by indirect genotoxic substances which shows interaction such as chromosomal numerical abnormalities, oxidative stress, DNA-Synthesis inhibition, has been introduced. Also, it was suggested that even it was a direct genotoxic substance, actual threshold of carcinogenicity by direct genotoxic carcinogen could be specified if the strength of genotoxicity and involvement of mechanism of secondary interaction in carcinogenesis (producing an adduct by binding to DNA) was taken into account (Morita et al. 2005).

Since chromosome aberration is induced by arsenic in human, genotoxicity is suggested to be involved in the mechanisms for carcinogenesis caused by inorganic arsenic exposure. However, potential direct effects of arsenic on DNA cannot be confirmed from the currently available data. The data from animal studies in rodents suggest that, in the mechanism of carcinogenesis by arsenic exposure, DNA damage is caused by indirect interaction of arsenic with DNA rather than by direct interaction with DNA such as mutagenesis which produces DNA adduct. From this point of view, threshold mechanism may be assumed. However, the data is insufficient at this particular stage.

Taken together, FSCJ concluded that the situation does not allow us to discuss whether a threshold dose exists for carcinogenic exposure level.

In this assessment, FSCJ calculated the NOAEL (or LOAEL) or BMDL of inorganic arsenic by adding intake amount from meal to the concentration in drinking-water based on the above mentioned epidemiological survey of long-term intake of arsenic contaminated water. The result obtained were: LOAEL 4.3-5.2 µg/kg bw/day and BMDL₀₅ 4.0-4.2 µg/kg bw/day for dermal lesions; NOAEL 3.0-4.1 µg/kg bw/day for effect on nervous system (decreased IQ); NO-AEL 8.8-11.1 µg/kg bw/day for effect on reproduction and development; NOAEL 4.1-4.9 µg/kg bw/day for cancer of the urinary bladder. However, in calculation of NOAEL or BMDL from the epidemiological survey based on the concentration in drinking-water, the intake may have been underestimated overall when the daily intake of inorganic arsenic was calculated from the concentration in drinking-water. Also, non-negligible deviation was considered to be contained in

the results since the exposure from food was relatively high even in some cases where exposure from drinking-water was also high, as shown in Table 19-22.

In contrast, the intake of inorganic arsenic of people living a normal life without any excessive exposure to arsenic by accident or contaminations were estimated from several duplicate diet studies in Japan. The mean intake thus estimated was 0.130-0.674 μ g/kg bw/day. Of them, the data from the survey conducted by FSCJ (2013) provided the mean value of 0.315 μ g/kg bw/day and 95 percentile value of 0.754 μ g/kg bw/day.

The NOAEL and BMDL calculated in this assessment and the estimated intake of inorganic arsenic are considered to be with each uncertainty. However, the difference between them is not so big. Thus, some highly exposed Japanese may have taken inorganic arsenic higher than NOAEL or BMDL calculated in this assessment.

It is necessary to consider adequacy for estimating the total intake of inorganic arsenic from the arsenic concentration in drinking-water in the area contaminated with arsenic. It is also necessary to consider adequacy for applying the result of dose-dependent assessment based on this estimated value to the assessment of arsenic exposure conditions in Japan where the people hardly intake arsenic from drinking-water. In addition, there are still many issues to be solved for conducting the detailed risk assessment in which TDI and unit risk are evaluated by calculating NOAEL or BMDL. For example, the difference in dietary habit, environment, sanitary conditions, medical care system, and lifestyles, between Japan and areas with contaminated drinking-water are likely associated with several factors. And such factors may have implications for the difference in health effect outcomes of inorganic arsenic exposure. The Implications of smoking or other compounds in health effects observed in inorganic arsenic exposure are mostly unknown.

There are yet many factors which cannot be revealed by a risk assessment with the latest scientific knowledge, if findings on carcinogenic mechanisms and others that are required for a hazard assessment, or if the uncertainty of exposure assessment is high. Then, an estrangement between the estimation and reality shall be considered to be the consequence. If there is discrepancy between the result of hazard assessment and the current situation in Japan, the real situation shall be taken into consideration.

Therefore, it is necessary to reveal the actual status of exposure and the arsenic exposure from food in Japan to support the exposure assessment and dose-response data in future. Then, an epidemiological survey in the population who are exposed to a normal level in life and study of toxic mechanism need to be conducted. In addition, it is necessary to accumulate additional data on the toxicological effects of organic arsenic because the relevant data which contributes to risk assessment are yet insufficient.

AAS	atomic absorption spectrometry					
ACE	angiotensin-converting enzyme					
AFS	atomic fluorescence spectrometry					
AES	atomic emission spectrometry					
As(III)	trivalent arsenic					
As(V)	pentavalent arsenic					
AS3MT	trivalent arsenic methyltransferase					
AsBe	arsenobetaine					
AsC	arsenocholine					
ATSDR	The Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (USA)					
BBN	N-Butyl-N-butan-4-ol-nitrosamine					
BMCL	95% confidence limit of benchmark concentration					
BMD	benchmark dose					
BMDL	95% confidence limit of benchmark dose					
BMDS	bench mark dose software					
BMI	body mass index					
BMR	bench mark response					
BUN	blood urea nitrogen					
CAMA	calcium acid methanearsonate					
Camk4	Ca ²⁺ / calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV					
CHO Cell	Chinese hamster ovary cells					
CI	confidence interval					
CONTAM panel	The EFSA Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain					
CpG	cytosine phosphate guanine					
DEN	N-Nitrosodiethylamine					
DES	diethylstilbestrol					
DMA(III)	dimethyl arsinous acid					
DMA(V)	dimethyl arsenic acid (Cacodylic acid)					
DMAE	thio-dimethyl arseno ethanol					
DMBA	9,10-Dimethyl-1,2-benzanthracene					
DMBDD assay	multiorgan initiation assay					
DPAA	diphenylarsinic acid					
DSMA	disodium methanearsonate					
EC	European Commission					
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority					
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency					
EPA/IRIS	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency/Integrated Risk Infor-					
	mation System					

<Appendix: Abbreviation etc.>
ER-α	estrogen receptor-α
ETAAS	electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry
EU	European Union
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FFQ	Food Frequency Questionnaire
GC	gas-chromatography
HEALS	Health Effects of Arsenic Longitudinal Study
HEPO	high efficiency photo-oxidation
HGAAS	hydride generation atomic absorption spectrometry
HR	hazard ratio
HSD	hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
IC ₅₀	50% inhibitory concentration
ICP	inductively coupled plasma
ICSC	International Safety Chemical Cards
JECFA	Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives
LC	liquid chromatography
LD ₅₀	median lethal dose
LE rat	Long Evans rat
LTP	long-term potentiation
LOAEL	lowest observed adverse effect level
LOD	limit of detection
LOEL	lowest observed effect level
LOQ	limit of quantitation
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAP	microtubule-associated protein
MMA(III)	methyl arsonous acid
MMA(V)	monomethyl arsonic acid
MOE	margin of exposure
MOS	margin of safety
MS	mass spectrometry
MSMA	sodium methylarsonate
МТ	metallothionein
MT-null	metallothionein-I/II-knock out
NA	Not applicable
ND	Not detected
NEDO	New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organiza-
NEDO	tion
NF-H	neurofilament protein heavy subunits

NF-L	neurofilament protein light subunits
NF-M	neurofilament protein medium subunits
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NOAEL	no observed adverse effect level
NOEL	no-observable-effect level
NTP	National Toxicology Program
OR	odds ratio
PAD	peripheral arterial disease
РО	photooxidation
PTWI	provisional tolerable weekly intake
RfD	reference dose
RR	relative risk
SAM	S-adenosyl-L-methionine
SCE	sister chromatid exchange
SD	standard deviation
SD rat	Sprague-Dawley rat
SE	standard error
SMR	standardized mortality ratio
TAM	tamoxifen
TDI	tolerable daily intake
TeMA	tetramethyl arsonium
TMAO	trimethyl arsine oxide
TPA	12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate
TWI	tolerable weekly intake
UVR	ultraviolet rays
V79 cell	Chinese hamster lung fibroblast cell line
WHO	World Health Organization

<References>

- Adams JH, Haller L, Boa FY, Doua F, Dago A, Konian K. (1986) Human African trypanosomiasis (T.b. gambiense): a study of 16 fatal cases of sleeping sickness with some observations on acute reactive arsenical encephalopathy. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 12(1): 81-94.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). (2000) Toxicological Profile for Arsenic. AT, NE. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). (2007) Toxicological Profile for Arsenic [Internet]. AT, NE. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/substances/toxsubstance.asp?toxid=3.
- Ahmad SA, Sayed MH, Barua S, Khan MH, Faruquee MH, Jalil A, Hadi SA, Talukder HK. (2001) Arsenic in drinking water and pregnancy outcomes. Environ Health Perspect 109(6): 629-631.
- Ahsan H, Chen Y, Kibriya MG, Slavkovich V, Parvez F, Jasmine F, Gamble MV, Graziano JH. (2007) Arsenic metabolism, genetic susceptibility, and risk of premalignant skin lesions in Bangladesh. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 16(6): 1270-1278.
- Ahsan H, Chen Y, Parvez F, Zablotska L, Argos M, Hussain I, Momotaj H, Levy D, Cheng ZQ, Slavkovich V, van Geen A, Howe GR, Graziano JH. (2006) Arsenic exposure from drinking water and risk of premalignant skin lesions in Bangladesh: baseline results from the health effects of arsenic longitudinal study. Am J Epidemiol 163(12): 1138-1148.
- Albert C, Williams TD, Morrissey CA, Lai VW, Cullen WR, Elliott JE. (2008) Tissue uptake, mortality, and sublethal effects of monomethylarsonic acid (MMA(V)) in nestling zebra finches (Taeniopygia guttata). J Toxicol Environ Health A 71(6): 353-360.
- Albertini RJ, Anderson D, Douglas GR, Hagmar L, Hemminki K, Merlo F, Natarajan AT, Norppa H, Shuker DE, Tice R, Waters MD, Aitio A. (2000) IPCS guidelines for the monitoring of genotoxic effects of carcinogens in humans. International Programme on Chemical Safety. Mutat Res 463(2): 111-172.
- Almela C, Clemente MJ, Velez D, Montoro R. (2006) Total arsenic, inorganic arsenic, lead and cadmium contents in edible seaweed sold in Spain. Food Chem Toxicol 44(11):1901–1908.
- Amacher DE, Paillet SC. (1980) Induction of trifluorothymidine-resistant mutants by metal ions in L5178Y/TK+/- cells. Mutat Res 78(3): 279-288.
- Amayo KO, Petursdottir A, Newcombe C, Gunnlaugsdottir H, Raab A, Krupp EM, Feldmann J. (2011) Identification and quantification of arsenolipids using reversed-phase HPLC coupled simultaneously to high-resolution ICPMS and high-resolution electrospray MS without species-specific standards. Anal Chem 83: 3589-3595.
- Anawar HM. (2012) Arsenic speciation in environmental samples by hydride generation and electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry. Talanta 88: 30-42.
- Andreae MO. (1983) Biotransformation of arsenic in the marine environment. In: Lederer WH, Fensterheim RJ Chemical Manufacturers Association (U.S.); United States. National Bureau of Standards.Arsenic-Industrial, Biomedical, Environmental Perspectives. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold Co. Inc; pp.378-391.

- Andreae MO. (1978) Distribution and speciation of arsenic in natural waters and some marine algae. Deep Sea Res 25: 391-402.
- Andrew AS, Bernardo V, Warnke LA, Davey JC, Hampton T, Mason RA, Thorpe JE, Ihnat MA, Hamilton JW. (2007) Exposure to arsenic at levels found in US drinking water modifies expression in the mouse lung. Toxicol Sci 100: 75-87.
- Andrewes P, Demarini DM, Funasaka K, Wallace K, Lai VW, Sun H, Cullen WR, Kitchin KT. (2004) Do arsenosugars pose a risk to human health? The comparative toxicities of a trivalent and pentavalent arsenosugar. Environ Sci Technol 38(15): 4140-4148.
- Aposhian HV, Gurzau ES, Le XC, Gurzau A, Healy SM, Lu X, Ma M, Yip L, Zakharyan RA, Maiorino RM, Dart RC, Tircus MG, Gonzalez-Ramirez D, Morgan DL, Avram D, Aposian MM. (2000) Occurrence of monomethylarsonous acid in urine of humans exposed to inorganic arsenic. Chem Res Toxicol 13(8): 693-697.
- Arkusz J, Stańczyk M, Lewińiska D, Stepnik M. (2005) Modulation of murine peritoneal macrophage function by chronic exposure to arsenate in drinking water. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol 27(2): 315-330.
- Arnold LL, Eldan M, Nyska A, van Gemert M, Cohen SM. (2006) Dimethylarsinic acid: results of chronic toxicity/oncogenicity studies in F344 rats and in B6C3F1 mice. Toxicology 223(1-2): 82-100.
- Arnold LL, Eldan M, van Gemert M, Capen CC, Cohen SM. (2003) Chronic studies evaluating the carcinogenicity of monomethylarsonic acid in rats and mice. Toxicology. 190(3): 197-219.
- Arroyo-Abad U, Mattusch J, Mothers S, Moder M, Wennrich R, Elizalde-Gonzalez MP, Matysik F-M. (2010) Detection of arsenic-containing hydrocarbons in canned cod liver tissue. Talanta 82: 38-43.
- Baastrup R, Sorensen M, Balstrom T, Frederiksen K, Larsen CL, Tjonneland A, Overvad K, Raaschou-Nielsen O. (2008) Arsenic in drinking-water and risk for cancer in Denmark. Environ Health Perspect 116(2): 231-237.
- Bardullas U, Limon-Pacheco JH, Giordano M, Carrizales L, Mendoza-Trejo MS, Rodriguez VM. (2009) Chronic low-level arsenic exposure causes gender-specific alterations in locomotor activity, dopaminergic systems, and thioredoxin expression in mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 239(2): 169-177.
- Barrett JC, Lamb PW, Wang TC, Lee TC. (1989) Mechanisms of arsenic-induced cell transformation. Biol Trace Elem Res 21: 421-429.
- Basu A, Mahata J, Roy AK, Sarkar JN, Poddar G, Nandy AK, Sarkar PK, Dutta PK, Banerjee A, Das M, Ray K, Roychaudhury S, Natarajan AT, Nilsson R, Giri AK. (2002) Enhanced frequency of micronuclei in individuals exposed to arsenic through drinking water in West Bengal, India. Mutat Res 516: 29–40.
- Basu A, Ghosh P, Das JK, Banerjee A, Ray K, Giri AK. (2004) Micronuclei as biomarkers of carcinogen exposure in populations exposed to arsenic through drinking water in West Bengal, India: A comparative study in three cell types. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 13(5): 820-827.
- Bates MN, Rey OA, Biggs ML, Hopenhayn C, Moore LE, Kalman D, Steinmaus C, Smith AH. (2004) Case-control study of bladder cancer and exposure to arsenic in Argentina. Am J Epidemiol 159(4): 381-389.

- Bates MN, Smith AH, Cantor KP. (1995) Case-control study of bladder cancer and arsenic in drinking water. Am J Epidemiol 141: 523-530.
- Beauchemin D, Bednas ME, Berman SS, McLaren JW, Siu KWM, Sturgeon RE. (1988) Identification and quantitation of arsenic species in a dogfish muscle reference material for trace elements. Anal Chem 60: 2209-2212.
- Becker N, Wahrendorf J.(1998) Krebsatlas der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. (In German). In: Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum, ed. Krebsatlas der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Heidelberg, Germany: Springer Verlag,:306-36.
- Beckman L. (1986) Nordenson I. Interaction between some common genotoxic agents. Hum Hered. 36: 397-401.
- Bekemeier H, Hirschelmann R. (1989) Reactivity of resistance blood vessels ex vivo after administration of toxic chemicals to laboratory animals: arteriolotoxicity. Toxicol lett 49(1): 49-54.
- Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Waterland RA, Styblo M, Achanzar WE, Webber MM, Waalkes MP. (2005a). Molecular events associated with arsenic induced malignant transformation of human prostatic epithelial cells: aberrant genomic DNA methylation and K-ras oncogene activation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 206: 288–298. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2004.11.017
- Bhumbla DK, Keefer RF. (1994) Arsenic mobilization and bioavailability in soils. In: Nriagu JO, editors. Arsenic in the Environment Part I: Cycling and Characterization. New York: John Wiley & Sons; pp. 51-82.
- Biggs ML, Kalman DA, Moore LE, Hopenhayn-Rich C, Smith MT, Smith AH. (1997) Relationship of urinary arsenic to intake estimates and a biomarker of effect, bladder cell micronuclei. Mutat Res 386: 185–195
- Biswas S, Talukder G, Sharma A. (1999) Prevention of cytotoxic effects of arsenic by short term dietary supplementation with selenium in mice in vivo. Mutat Res 441: 155–160.
- Blakley BR, Sisodia CS, Mukkur TK. (1980) The effect of methylmercury, tetraethyl lead, and sodium arsenite on the humoral immune response in mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 52: 245–254.
- Boutakhrit K, Claus R, Bolle F, Degroodt JM, Goeyens L. (2005) Open digestion under reflux for the determination of total arsenic in seafood by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry with hydride generation. Talanta 66(4): 1042-1047.
- Brown RM, Newton D, Pickford CJ, Sherlock JC. (1990) Human Metabolism of arsenobetaine ingested with fish. Human & Experimental Toxicology 9 (1), 41-46.
- Brune D, Nordberg G, Wester PO. (1980) Distribution of 23 elements in the kidney, liver and lungs of workers from a smeltery and refinery in North Sweden exposed to a number of elements and of a control group. Sci Total Environ 16(1): 13-35.
- Buchet JP, Lauwerys R, Roels H. (1981) Urinary excretion of inorganic arsenic and its metabolites after repeated ingestion of sodium metaarsenite by volunteers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 48(2): 111-118.
- Burns FJ, Uddin AN, Wu F, Nadas A, Rossman TG. (2004) Arsenic-induced enhancement of ultraviolet radiation carcinogenesis in mouse skin: a dose-response study. Environ Health Perspect 112(5): 599-603.

- Butte W, Heinzow B. (2002) Pollutants in house dust as indicators of indoor contamination. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 175: 1-46.
- Byrne AR, Slejkovec Z, Stijve T, Fay L, Gossler W, Gailer J, Irgonic KJ. (1995) Arsenobetaine and other arsenic species in mushrooms. Appl Organomet Chem 9(4): 305-313.
- Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2001) Inorganic Arsenic and Hijiki Seaweed Consumption [Internet]. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.inspection.gc.ca/english/fssa/con-cen/specif/arsenice.shtml.
- Carmignani M, Boscolo P, Castellino N. (1985) Metabolic fate and cardiovascular effects of arsenic in rats and rabbits chronically exposed to trivalent and pentavalent arsenic. Arch Toxicol Suppl 8: 452-455.
- Cebrian ME, Albores A, Aguilar M, Blakely E. (1983) Chronic arsenic poisoning in the north of Mexico. Hum Toxicol 2(1): 121-133. (A1S025)
- CEN (European Committee for Standardization). (2005) EN 14546:2005. Foodstuffs Determination of trace elements Determination of total arsenic by hydride generation atomic absorption spectrometry (HG-AAS) after dry ashing.
- CEN (European Committee for Standardization). (2006) EN 14627:2006. Foodstuffs Determination of trace elements Determination of total arsenic and selenium by atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) hydride technique after pressure digestion.
- CEN (European Committee for Standardization). (2008) EN 15763:2008. Foodstuffs Determination of trace elements Determination of arsenic, cadmium, mercury and lead in foodstuffs by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) after pressure digestion.
- Cerda S, Weitzman SA (1997). Influence of oxygen radical injury on DNA methylation. *Mutat Res*, 386: 141–152.
- Chakraborty T, Das U, Poddar S, Sengupta B, De M. (2006) A study in an arsenic exposed population in West Bengal, India. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol.76: 970-976.
- Challenger F. (1951) Biological methylation. Adv Enzymol Relat Subj Biochem 12: 429-491.
- Chanda S, Dasgupta UB, Guhamazumder D, Gupta M, Chaudhuri U, Lahiri S, Das S, Ghosh N, Chatterjee D. (2006) DNA hypermethylation of promoter of gene p53 and p16 in arsenic-exposed people with and without malignancy. Toxicol Sci 89(2): 431-437.
- Chattopadhyay S, Pal Ghosh S, Ghosh D, Debnath J. (2003) Effect of dietary co-administration of sodium selenite on sodium arsenite-induced ovarian and uterine disorders in mature albino rats. Toxicol Sci 75(2): 412-422.
- Chen CJ, Chuang YC, You SL, Lin TM, Wu HY. (1986) A retrospective study on malignant neoplasms of bladder, lung and liver in blackfoot disease endemic area in Taiwan. Br J Cancer, 53: 399–405.
- Chen CJ, Chiou HY. (2001) Chen and Chiou Respond to 'Arsenic and cancer of the urinary tract' by Cantor. Am J Epidemiol, 153: 422–423.
- Chen B, Arnold LL, Cohen SM, Thomas DJ, Le XC. (2011) Mouse arsenic (+3 oxidation state) methyltransferase genotype affects metabolism and tissue dosimetry of arsenicals after arsenite administration in drinking water. Toxicol Sci 124(2): 320-326.

- Chen CL, Chiou HY, Hsu LI, Hsueh YM, Wu MM, Wang YH, Chen CJ. (2010a) Arsenic in drinking water and risk of urinary tract cancer: a follow-up study from northeastern Taiwan. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 19(1): 101-110.
- Chen CL, Chiou HY, Hsu LI, Hsueh YM, Wu MM, Chen CJ. (2010b) Ingested arsenic, characteristics of well water consumption and risk of different histological types of lung cancer in northeastern Taiwan. Environ Res 110(5): 455-462.
- Chen CJ, Chuang YC, Lin TM, Wu HY. (1985) Malignant neoplasms among residents of a blackfoot disease-endemic area in Taiwan: high-arsenic artesian well water and cancers. Cancer Res 45(11 Pt 2): 5895-5899.
- Chen H, Li S, Liu J, Diwan BA, Barrett JC, Waalkes MP. (2004) Chronic inorganic arsenic exposure induces hepatic global and individual gene hypomethylation: implications for arsenic hepatocarcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 25(9): 1779-1786.
- Chen CJ, Wang CJ. (1990) Ecological correlation between arsenic level in well water and age-adjusted mortality from malignant neoplasms. Cancer Res 50(17): 5470-5474.
- Chen CJ, Kuo TL, Wu MM. (1988a) Arsenic and cancers. Lancet 331: 414-415.
- Chen CJ, Wu MM, Lee SS, Wang JD, Cheng SH, Wu HY. (1988b) Atherogenicity and carcinogenicity of high-arsenic artesian well water. Multiple risk factors and related malignant neoplasms of blackfoot disease. Arteriosclerosis 8: 452–460.
- Chen Y, Graziano JH, Parvez F, Hussain I, Momotaj H, van Geen A, Howe GR, Ahsan H. (2006). Modification of risk of arsenic-induced skin lesions by sunlight exposure, smoking, and occupational exposures in Bangladesh. Epidemiology 17(4): 459-467.
- Cheng CN, Focht DD. (1979) Production of arsine and methylarsines in soil and in culture. Appl Environ Microb 38(3): 494-498.
- Cherry N, Shaikh K, McDonald C, Chowdhury Z. (2008) Stillbirth in rural Bangladesh: arsenic exposure and other etiological factors: a report from Gonoshasthaya Kendra. Bull World Health Organ 86(3): 172-177.
- Chiang HS, Guo HR, Hong CL, Lin SM, Lee EF. (1993) The incidence of bladder cancer in the black foot disease endemic area in Taiwan. Br J Urol 71(3): 274-278.
- Chiou HY, Hsueh YM, Liaw KF Horng SF, Chiang MH, Pu YS, Lin JSN, Huang CH, Chen CJ. (1995). Incidence of internal cancers and ingested inorganic arsenic: a seven-year follow-up study in Taiwan. Cancer Res, 55:1296–1300.
- Chiou HY, Chiou ST, Hsu YH, Chou YL, Tseng CH, Wei ML, Chen CJ. (2001) Incidence of transitional cell carcinoma and arsenic in drinking water: A follow-up study of 8,102 residents in an arseniasis-endemic area in northeastern Taiwan. Am J Epidemiol 153(5): 411-418.
- Cogbill EC, Hobbs ME. (1957) Transfer of metallic constituents of cigarettes to the main-stream smoke. Tobbaco Science, 1, 68-73.
- Cohen SM, Yamamoto S, Cano M, Arnold LL. (2001) Urothelial cytotoxicity and regeneration induced by dimethylarsinic acid in rats. Toxicol. Sci 59: 68–74.

- Cohen SM, Wanibuchi H, FukushimAs(2002a) Lower urinary tract. In: Handbook of Toxicologic Pathology, 2nd edn, Haschek WM, Rousseaux CG, MA Wallig (eds), Vol. 2. Academic Press: San Diego, CA; pp. 337–361.
- Colognato R, Coppedè F, Ponti J, Sabbioni E, Migliore L. (2007) Genotoxicity induced by arsenic compounds in peripheral human lymphocytes analysed by cytokinesis-block micronucleus assay. Mutagenesis 22(4): 255-261.
- Concha G, Vogler G, Lezcano D, Nermell B, Vahter M. (1998a) Exposure to inorganic arsenic metabolites during early human development. Toxicol Sci 44(2): 185-190.
- Conklin SD, Ackerman AH, Fricke MW, Creed PA, Creed JT, Kohan MC, Herbin-Davis K, Thomas DJ. (2006) In vitro biotransformation of an arsenosugar by mouse anaerobic cecal microflora and cecal tissue as examined using IC-ICP-MS and LC-ESI-MS/MS. Analyst 131(5): 648-655.
- Crecelius EA. (1977). Changes in the chemical speciation of arsenic following ingestion by man. Environ Health Perspect, 19: 147–150.
- Crown S, Kenan G, Nyska A, et al. (1987) Cacodylic acid toxicity in dietary administration to rats for 13 weeks: a preliminary study. Luxembourg Industries (Pamol) Ltd. Submitted to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Cui X, Wakai T, Shirai Y, Hatakeyama K, Hirano S. (2006) Chronic oral exposure to inorganic arsenate interferes with methylation status of p16(INK4a) and RASSF1A and induces lung cancer in A/J mice. Toxicol Sci 91(2): 372-381.
- Cullen WR, Reimer KJ. (1989) Arsenic speciation in the environment. Chem Rev 89(4): 713-764.
- Cuzick J, Sasieni P, Evans S. (1992) Ingested arsenic, keratoses, and bladder cancer. Am J Epidemiol 136: 417–421.
- Dang HS, Jaiswal DD, Somasundaram S. (1983) Distribution of arsenic in humans tissues and milk. Sci Total Environ 29: 171–175.
- Das T, Roychoudhury A, Sharma A, Talukder G. (1993) Modification of clastogenicity of three known clastogens by garlic extract in mice in vivo. Environ Mol Mutagen 21(4): 383-388.
- Deknudt G, Léonard A, Arany J, Jenar-Du Buisson G, Delavignette E. (1986) In vivo studies in male mice on the mutagenic effects of inorganic arsenic. Mutagenesis 1: 33–34.
- Dieke SH, Richter CP. (1946) Comparative assays of rodenticides on wild Norway rats. Public Health Rep 61: 672-679.
- DiPaolo JA, Casto BC. (1979) Quantitative studies of in vitro morphological transformation of Syrian hamster cells by inorganic metal salts. Cancer Res. 1979; 39: 1008-1013.
- Dong JT, Luo XM. (1993) Arsenic-induced DNA-strand breaks associated with DNA-protein crosslinks in human fetal lung fibroblasts. Mutat Res 302(2): 97-102.
- Dong JT, Luo XM. (1994) Effects of arsenic on DNA damage and repair in human fetal lung fibroblasts. Mutat Res 315(1): 11-15.
- Eastmond DA, Tucker JD. (1989) Identification of aneuploidy-inducing agents using cytokinesis-blocked human lymphocytes and an antikinetochore antibody. Environ Mol Mutag 13: 34-43.

- Edmonds MS, Baker DH. (1986) Toxic effects of supplemental copper and roxarsone when fed alone or in combination to young pigs. J Anim Sci 63(2): 533-537.
- Edmonds JS, Francesconi KA, Cannon JR, Raston CL, Skelton BW, White AH. (1977) Isolation, crystal structure and synthesis of arsenobetaine, the arsenical constituent of the western rock lobster Panulirus longipes cygnus George. Tetrahedron Lett 18(18): 1543-1546.
- Edmonds JS, Francesconi KA, Healy PC, White AH. (1982) Isolation and crystal structure of an arseniccontaining sugar sulphate from the kidney of the giant clam, Tridacna maxima. X-Ray crystal structure of (2S)-3-[5-deoxy-5-(dimethylarsinoyl)-D-ribofuranosyloxy]-2-hydroxypropyl hydrogen sulphate. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1: 2989-2993.
- Edmonds JS, Shibata Y, Francesconi KA, Rippingale RJ, Morita M. (1997) Arsenic transformations in short marine food chains studied by HPLC-ICP MS. Appl Organometal Chem 11(6): 281-287.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority). (2006) Guidance of the Scientific Committee on a request from EFSA related to Uncertainties in Dietary Exposure Assessment. The EFSA Journal 438, pp. 54
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) .(2009) Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain. Scientific opinion on arsenic in food: Vol. 7: 1351. http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/1351.pdf
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) .(2009a) Use of the benchmark dose approach in risk assessment Guidance of the Scientific Committee. The EFSA Journal (2009) 1150, 1-72
- Eguchi N, Kuroda K, Endo G. (1997) Metabolites of arsenic induced tetraploids and mitotic arrest in cultured cells. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 32(2): 141-145.
- Endo G, Kuroda K, Okamoto A, Horiguchi S. (1992) Dimethylarsenic acid induces tetraploids in Chinese hamster cells. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 48(1): 131-137.
- Enterline PE, Day R, Marsh GM. (1995) Cancers related to exposure to arsenic at a copper smelter. Occup. Environ. Med., 52, 28–32.
- Fan SR, Ho IC, Yeoh FL, Lin CJ, Lee TC. (1996) Squalene inhibits sodium arsenite-induced sister chromatid exchanges and micronuclei in Chinese hamster ovary-K1 cells. Mutat Res 368(3-4): 165-169.
- Fangstrom B, Moore S, Nermell B, Kuenstl L, Goessler W, Grander M, Kabir I, Palm B, Arifeen SE, Vahter M. (2008) Breast-feeding protects against arsenic exposure in Bangladeshi infants. Environ Health Perspect 116(7): 963-969.
- Feldmann J, John K, Pengprecha P. (2000) Arsenic metabolism in seaweed-eating sheep from Northern Scotland. Fresenius J Anal Chem 368(1): 116-121.
- Ferreccio C, González C, Milosavjlevic V, Marshall G, Sancha AM, Smith AH. (2000) Lung cancer and arsenic concentrations in drinking water in Chile. Epidemiology. 11: 673-679.
- Fischer JM, Robbins SB, Al-Zoughool M, Kannamkumarath SS, Stringer SL, Larson JS, Caruso JA, Talaska G, Stambrook PJ, Stringer JR. (2005) Co-mutagenic activity of arsenic and benzo[a]pyrene in mouse skin. Mutat Res 588(1): 35-46.
- Florea AM, Splettstoesser F, Busselberg D. (2007) Arsenic trioxide (As₂0₃) induced calcium signals and cytotoxicity in two human cell lines: SY-5Y neuroblastoma and 293 embryonic kidney (HEK). Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 220(3): 292-301.

- Food Standards Agency (FSA). (2004) Agency advises against eating hijiki seaweed [Internet]. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.food.gov.uk/news/pressreleases/2004/jul/hijikipr
- Fowler BA, Woods JS, Schiller CM. (1977) Ultrastructural and biochemical effects of prolonged oral arsenic exposure on liver mitochondria of rats. Environ Health Perspect 19: 197-204.
- Francesconi KA, Edmonds JS. (1994) Biotransformation of arsenic in the marine environment. In: Nriagu JO, editors. Arsenic in the Environment Part I: Cycling and Characterization. New York: John Wiley & Sons; pp. 221-261.
- Francesconi KA, Edmonds JS. (1997) Arsenic and Marine Organisms. Adv Inorg Chem 44: 147-189.
- Francesconi KA, Tanggaar R, McKenzie CJ, Goessler W. (2002) Arsenic metabolites in human urine after ingestion of an arsenosugar. Clin Chem 48(1): 92-101.
- Gaines TB. (1960) The acute toxicity of pesticides to rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2: 88-99.
- Gebel T. (1998) Suppression of arsenic-induced chromosome mutagenicity by antimony. Mutat Res 412: 213–218.
- Gherardi RK, Chariot P, Vanderstigel M, Malapert D, Verroust J, Astier A, Brun-Buisson C, Schaeffer A. (1990) Organic arsenic-induced Guillain-Barré-like syndrome due to melarsoprol: a clinical, electrophysiological, and pathological study. Muscle Nerve 13(7): 637-645.
- Ghosh P, Basu A, Mahata J, Basu S, Sengupta M, Das JK, Mukherjee A, Sarkar AK, Mondal L, Ray K, Giri AK.(2006) Cytogenetic damage and genetic variants in the individuals susceptible to arsenicinduced cancer through drinking water. Int J Cancer 118:2470-2478.
- Gibson DP, Brauninger R, Shaffi HS, Kerckaert GA, LeBoeuf RA, Isfort RJ, Aardema MJ. (1997) Induction of micronuclei in Syrian hamster embryo cells: comparison to results in the SHE cell transformation assay for National Toxicology Program test chemicals. Mutat Res 392(1-2): 61-70.
- Globus JH, Ginsburg SW. (1933) Pericapillary encephalorrhagia due to arsphenamine: so-called arphenamine encephalitis. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 30: 1226-1247.
- Goering PL, Aposhian HV, Mass MJ, Cebrian M, Beck BD, Waalkes MP. (1999) The enigma of arsenic carcinogenesis: role of metabolism. Toxicol Sci 49(1): 5-14.
- Golub MS, Macintosh MS, Baumrind N. (1998) Developmental and reproductive toxicity of inorganic arsenic: animal studies and human concerns. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 1(3): 199-241.
- Gonsebatt ME, Vega L, Salazar AM, Montero R, Guzmán P, Blas J, Del Razo LM, García-Vargas G, Albores A, Cebrián ME, Kelsh M, Ostrosky-Wegman P. (1997) Cytogenetic effects in human exposure to arsenic. Mutat Res 386: 219–228.
- Goodman LS, Gilman A. (1980) Goodman and Gilman's the Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics.
- Grandjean P, Murata K. (2007) Developmental arsenic neurotoxicity in retrospect. Epidemiology 18(1): 25-26.
- Grantham DA, Jones JF. (1977) Arsenic contamination of water wells in Nova Scotia. J Am Water Works Assoc 69: 653-657.
- Guo HR, Chiang HS, Hu H, Lipsitz SR, Monson RR. (1997) Arsenic in drinking water and incidence of urinary cancers. Epidemiology 8(5): 545-550.

- Guo HR, Yu HS, Hu H, Monson RR. (2001) Arsenic in drinking water and skin cancers: cell-type specificity (Taiwan, ROC). Cancer Causes Control 12(10): 909-916.
- Guo X, Liu Z, Huang C, You L. (2006) Levels of arsenic in drinking-water and cutaneous lesions in Inner Mongolia. J Health Popul Nutr 24: 214-220.
- Gur E, Nyska A. (1990) Acute oral toxicity in rat with Target MSMA. 6.6. LSRI Project No. PAL/024/MSMA. Unpublished. 1990:55.
- Haller L, Adams H, Merouze F, Dago A. (1986) Clinical and pathological aspects of human African trypanosomiasis (T. b. gambiense) with particular reference to reactive arsenical encephalopathy. Am J Trop Med Hyg 35(1): 94-99.
- Hamadeh HK, Vargas M, Lee E, Menzel DB. (1999) Arsenic disrupts cellular levels of p53 and mdm2: a potential mechanism of carcinogenesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 263: 446-449.
- Hamadeh HK, Trouba KJ, Amin RP, Afshari CA, Germolec D. (2002). Coordination of altered DNA repair and damage pathways in arsenite-exposed keratinocytes. Toxicol Sci, 69: 306–316.
- Hamano-Nagaoka M, Nishimura T, Matsuda R, Maitani T. (2008) Evaluation of a nitric acid-based partialdigestion method for selective determination of inorganic arsenic in rice. J Food Hyg Soc Jpn 49(2): 95-99.
- Hanaoka K, Gossler W, Irgolic KJ, Ueno S, Kaise T. (1997) Occurrence of arsenobetaine and arsenocholine in micro-suspended particles. Chemosphere 35(11): 2463-2469.
- Hanaoka K, Yamamoto H, Kawashima K, Tagawa S, Kaise T. (1988) Ubiquity of arsenobetaine in marine animals and degradation of arsenobetaine by sedimentary microorganisms. Appl Organometal Chem 2(4): 371-376.
- Haque R, Mazumder DN, Samanta S, Ghosh N, Kalman D, Smith MM, Mitra S, Santra A, Lahiri S, Das S, De BK, Smith AH. (2003) Arsenic in drinking water and skin lesions: dose-response data from West Bengal, India. Epidemiology 14(2): 174-182.
- Harrington-Brock K, Cabrera M, Collard DD, Doerr CL, McConnell R, Moore MM, Sandoval H, Fuscoe JC. (1999) Effects of arsenic exposure on the frequency of HPRTmutant lymphocytes in a population of copper roasters in Antofagasta, Chile: a pilot study. Mutat Res 431: 247–257.
- Harrison JWE, Packman EW, Abbott DD. (1958) Acute oral toxicity and chemical and physical properties of arsenic trioxides. Arch Ind Health 17: 118-123.
- Hartmann A, Speit G. (1994) Comparative investigations of the genotoxic effects of metals in the single cells gel (SCG) assay and the sister chromatid exchange (SCE) test. Environ Mol Mutagen 23(4): 299-305.
- Hartwig A, Groblinghoff UD, Beyersmann D, Natarajan AT, Filon R, Mullenders LHF. (1997) Interaction of arsenic (III) with nucleotide excision repair in UV-irradiated human fibroblasts. Carcinogenesis 18: 399-405.
- Hata A, Endo Y, Nakajima Y, Ikebe M, Ogawa M, Fujitani N, Endo G. (2007) HPLC-ICP-MS speciation analysis of arsenic in urine of Japanese subjects without occupational exposure. J Occup Health 49(3): 217-223.

- Hayakawa T, Kobayashi Y, Cui X, Hirano S. (2005) A new metabolic pathway of arsenite: arsenic-glutathione complexes are substrates for human arsenic methyltransferase Cyt19. Arch Toxicol 79(4): 183-191.
- Hayashi H, Kanisawa M, Yamanaka K, Ito T, Udaka N, Ohji H, Okudela K, Okada S, KitamurAs(1998) Dimethylarsinic acid, a main metabolite of inorganic arsenics, has tumorigenicity and progression effects in the pulmonary tumors of A/J mice. Cancer Lett 125(1-2): 83-88.
- Hei TK, Liu SX, Waldren C. (1998) Mutagenicity of arsenic in mammalian cells: role of reactive oxygen species. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95(14): 8103-8107.
- Heinrich-Ramm R, Mindt-Prufert S, Szadkowski D. (2002) Arsenic species excretion after controlled seafood consumption. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 778(1-2): 263-273.
- Hernandez A, Xamena N, Sekaran C, Tokunaga H, Sampayo-Reyes A, Quinteros D, Creus A, Marcos R. (2008b) High arsenic metabolic efficiency in AS3MT287Thr allele carriers. Pharmacogenet Genomics 18(4): 349-355. (A1S0177)
- Hernandez A, Xamena N, Surralles J, Sekaran C, Tokunaga H, Quinteros D, Creus A, Marcos R. (2008a) Role of the Met287Thr polymorphism in the AS3MT gene on the metabolic arsenic profile. Mutat Res 637(1-2): 80-92.
- Hill DS, Wlodarczyk BJ, Finnell RH. (2008) Reproductive consequences of oral arsenate exposure during pregnancy in a mouse model. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol 83(1): 40-47.
- Holland RH, Acevedo AR. (1966) Current status of arsenic in American cigarettes. Cancer 19(9): 1248-1250.
- Hong Y, Piao F, Zhao Y, Li S, Wang Y, Liu P. (2009) Subchronic exposure to arsenic decreased Sdha expression in the brain of mice. Neurotoxicology 30(4): 538-543.
- Hopenhayn-Rich C, Biggs ML, Fuchs A Bergoglio R, Tello EE, Nicolli H, Smith AH. (1996) Bladder cancer mortality associated with arsenic in drinking water in Argentina. *Epidemiology*, 7: 117–124.
- Hopenhayn-Rich C, Biggs ML, Smith AH. (1998) Lung and kidney cancer mortality associated with arsenic in drinking water in Cordoba, Argentina. Int J Epidemiol 27(4): 561-569.
- Hopenhayn-Rich C, Ferreccio C, Browning SR, Huang B, Peralta C, Gibb H, Hertz-Picciotto I. (2003) Arsenic exposure from drinking water and birth weight. Epidemiology 14(5): 593-602.
- Hsueh YM, Cheng GS, Wu MM, Yu HS, Kuo TL, Chen CJ. (1995) Multiple risk factors associated with arsenic-induced skin cancer: effects of chronic liver disease and malnutritional status. Br J Cancer, 71: 109–114.
- Hsueh YM, Chiou HY, Huang YL, Wu WL, Huang CC, Yang MH, Lue LC, Chen GS, Chen CJ. (1997) Serum β-carotene level, arsenic methylation capability, and incidence of skin cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 6: 589–596.
- Hu Y, Jin X, Snow ET. (2002) Effect of arsenic on transcription factor AP-1 and NF-kappaB DNA binding activity and related gene expression. Toxicol Lett 133(1): 33-45.
- Huang H, Huang CF, Wu DR, Jinn CM, Jan KY. (1993) Glutathione as a cellular defense against arsenite toxicity in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells. Toxicology. 79(3): 195-204.

- Huang SC, Lee TC. (1998) Arsenite inhibits mitotic division and perturbs spindle dynamics in HeLa S3 cells. Carcinogenesis 19: 889-896.
- Hughes MF, Devesa V, Adair BM, Styblo M, Kenyon EM, Thomas DJ. (2005) Tissue dosimetry, metabolism and excretion of pentavalent and trivalent monomethylated arsenic in mice after oral administration. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 208(2): 186-197.
- Hughes MF, Kenyon EM, Edwards BC, Mitchell CT, Thomas DJ. (1999) Strain-dependent disposition of inorganic arsenic in the mouse. Toxicology 137(2): 95-108.
- Hughes MF, Kitchin KT. (2006) Arsenic, Oxidative Stress, and Carcinogenesis. In: Singh KK, editors. Oxidative stress, disease and cancer. New York: Imperial Press; pp. 825-850.
- Inoue Y, Date Y, Yoshida K, Chen H, Endo G. (1996) Speciation of arsenic compounds in the urine of rats orally exposed to dimethylarsinic acid ion chromatography with ICP-MS as an element-selective detector. Appl Organomet Chem 10: 707-711.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). (2004) Some drinking-water disinfectants and contaminants, including arsenic. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans, Volume 84. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol84/index.php
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). (2012) A review of human carcinogens Part C: Arsenic, Metals, Fibres, and Dusts. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans, Volume 100 Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer.
- Irvine L, Boyer IJ, DeSesso JM. (2006) Monomethylarsonic acid and dimethylarsinic acid: developmental toxicity studies with risk assessment. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol 77(1): 53-68. (A1S0359)
- Ishii K, Tamaoka A, Otsuka F, Iwasaki N, Shin K, Matsui A, Endo G, Kumagai Y, Ishii T, Shoji S, Ogata T, Ishizaki M, Doi M, Shimojo M. (2004) Diphenylarsinic acid poisoning from chemical weapons in Kamisu, Japan. Ann Neurol 56(5): 741-745.
- Jacobson-Kram D, Montalbano D. (1985) The reproductive effects assessment group's report on the mutagenicity of inorganic arsenic. Environ. Mutagen 7: 787–804.
- Jaghabir MT, Abdelghani A, Anderson AC. (1988) Oral and dermal toxicity of MSMA to New Zealand white rabbits, Oryctalagus cuniculus. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 40(1): 119-122.
- Jin Y, Xi S, Li X, Lu C, Li G, Xu Y, Qu C, Niu Y, Sun G. (2006) Arsenic speciation transported through the placenta from mother mice to their newborn pups. Environ Res 101(3): 349-355.
- Jensen TJ, Novak P, Eblin KE, Gandolfi AJ, Futscher BW. (2008) Epigenetic remodeling during arsenical-induced malignant transformation. Carcinogenesis 29: 1500–1508.
- Jha AN, Noditi M, Nilsson R, Natarajan AT. (1992) Genotoxic effects of sodium arsenite on human cells. Mutat. Res. 284(2): 215-221.
- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). (1984) Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants (Twenty-eighth report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives). WHO Technical Report Series, No. 710, and corrigendum.
- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). (1989) Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants. 33rd report of the Joint FAO/WHO expert Committee on Food Additives, 759.

World Health Organization Technical Report Series; (Geneva).

- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). (2010) Summary report of the seventysecond meeting of JECFA, http://whqlibdoc.who.int/trs/ WHO_TRS_959_eng.pdf, (accessed in August 2011).
- Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA). (2011) Evaluation of certain contaminants in food (Seventy-second report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives). Technical Report Series, No. 959.
- Jomova K, Jenisova Z, Feszterova M, Baros S, Liska J, Hudecova D, Rhodes CJ, Valko M. (2011) Arsenic: toxicity, oxidative stress and human disease. J Appl Toxicol 31(2): 95-107.
- Juhasz AL, Smith E, Weber J, Rees M, Rofe A, Kuchel T, Sansom L, Naidu R. (2006) In Vivo Assessment of arsenic bioavailability in rice and its significance for human health risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect 114(12): 1826-1831.
- Juhasz AL, Smith E, Weber J, Rees M, Rofe A, Kuchel T, Sansom L, Naidu R. (2008) Application of an in vivo swine model for the determination of arsenic bioavailability in hydroponically-grown vegetables. Chemosphere 71, 1963-1969.
- Julshamn K, Thorlacius A, Lea P. (2000) Determination of arsenic in seafood by electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry after microwave digestion: NMKL collaborative study. J AOAC Int 83(6): 1423-1428.
- Julshamn K, Maage A, Norli HS, Grobecker KH, Jorhem L, Fecher P. (2007) Determination of arsenic, cadmium, mercury, and lead by inductively coupled plasma/mass spectrometry in foods after pressure digestion: NMKL interlaboratory study. J AOAC Int 90(3): 844-856. (EFSA 2009 より引用)
- Kaise T, Yamauchi H, Horiguchi Y, Tani T, Watanabe S, Hirayama T, Fukui S. (1989) A comparative study on acute toxicity of methylarsonic acid, dimethylarsinic acid and trimethylarsine oxide in mice. Appl Organomet Chem 3(3): 273-277.
- Kannan GM, Tripathi N, Dube SN, Gupta M, Flora SJ. (2001) Toxic effects of arsenic (III) on some hematopoietic and central nervous system variables in rats and guinea pigs. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 37(7): 675-682.
- Karagas MR, Stukel TA, Tosteson TD. (2002) Assessment of cancer risk and environmental levels of arsenic in New Hampshire. Int J Hyg Environ Health 205(1-2): 85-94.
- Karagas MR, Tosteson TD, Morris JS, Demidenko E, Mott LA, Heaney J, Schned A. (2004) Incidence of transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder and arsenic exposure in New Hampshire. Cancer Causes Control 15(5): 465-472.
- Kashiwada E, Kuroda K, Endo G. (1998) Aneuploidy induced by dimethylarsinic acid in mouse bone marrow cells. Mutat Res 413(1): 33-38.
- Kato K, Hayashi H, Hasegawa A, Yamanaka K, Okada S. (1994) DNA damage induced in cultured human alveolar (L-132) cells by exposure to dimethylarsinic acid. Environ Health Perspect. 102(Suppl 3): 285-288.
- Kawaguchi K, Oku N, Rin K, Yamanaka K, OkadAs(1996) Dimethylarsenics reveal DNA damage induced by superoxide anion radicals. Biol Pharm Bull. 19(4): 551-553.

- Kennedy S, Rice DA, Cush PF. (1986) Neuropathology of experimental 3-nitro-4-hydroxyphenylarsonic acid toxicosis in pigs. Vet Pathol 23(4): 454-461.
- Kenyon EM, Hughes MF, Adair BM, Highfill JH, Crecelius EA, Clewell HJ, Yager JW. (2008) Tissue distribution and urinary excretion of inorganic arsenic and its methylated metabolites in C57BL6 mice following subchronic exposure to arsenate in drinking water. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 232(3): 448-455.
- Kerckaert GA, Brauninger R, LeBoeuf RA, Isfort RJ. (1996) Use of the Syrian hamster embryo cell transformation assay for carcinogenicity prediction of chemicals currently being tested by the national toxicology program in rodent bioassays. Environ Health Perspect. 104(Suppl. 5): 1075-1084.
- Kerkvliet NI, Steppan LB, Koller LD, Exon JH. (1980) Immunotoxicology studies of sodium arsenateeffects of exposure on tumor growth and cell-mediated tumor immunity. J Environ Pathol Toxicol 4(5-6): 65-79.
- Kerr KB, Cavett JW, Thompson OL. (1963) The toxicity of an organic arsenical, 3-nitro-4-hydroxyphenylarsonic acid. I. Acute and subacute toxicity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 5: 507-525.
- Kinoshita A, Wanibuchi H, Morimura K, Wei M, Nakae D, Arai T, Minowa O, Noda T, Nishimura S, FukushimAs(2007a) Carcinogenicity of dimethylarsinic acid in Ogg1-deficient mice. Cancer Sci 98(6): 803-814.
- Kitchin KT. (2001) Recent advances in arsenic carcinogenesis: modes of action, animal model systems, and methylated arsenic metabolites. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 172(3): 249-261.
- Klein CB, Leszczynska J, Hickey C, Rossman TG. (2007) Further evidence against a direct genotoxic mode of action for arsenic-induced cancer. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 222(3): 289-297.
- Kligerman AD, Doerr CL, Tennant AH, Harrington-Brock K, Allen JW, Winkfield E, Poorman-Allen P, Kundu B, Funasaka K, Roop BC, Mass MJ, DeMarini DM. (2003) Methylated trivalent arsenicals as candidate ultimate genotoxic forms of arsenic: induction of chromosomal mutations but not gene mutations. Environ Mol Mutagen 42(3): 192-205.
- Kochhar TS, Howard W, Hoffman S, Brammer-Carleton L. (1996) Effect of trivalent and pentavalent arsenic in causing chromosome alterations in cultured Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells. Toxicol Lett 84(1): 37-42.
- Kozul CD, Hampton TH, Davey JC, Gosse JA, Nomikos AP, Eisenhauer PL, Weiss DJ, Thorpe JE, Ihnat MA, Hamilton JW. (2009) Chronic exposure to arsenic in the drinking water alters the expression of immune response genes in mouse lung. Environ Health Perspect 117(7): 1108-1115.
- Kroes R, van Logten MJ, Berkvens JM, de Vries T, van Esch GJ. (1974) Study on the carcinogenicity of lead arsenate and sodium arsenate and on the possible synergistic effect of diethylnitrosamine. Food Cosmet Toxicol 12(5-6): 671-679.
- Kruger K, Straub H, Himer AV, Hippler J, Binding N, Musshoff U. (2009) Effects of monomethylarsonic and monomethylarsonous acid on evoked synaptic potentials in hippocampal slices of adult and young rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 236(1): 115-123.
- Kumagai Y, Sumi D. (2007) Arsenic: signal transduction, transcription factor, and biotransformation involved in cellular response and toxicity. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47: 243-262.

Kumana CR, Au WY, Lee NS, Kou M, Mak RW, Lam CW, Kwong YL. (2002) Systemic availability of

arsenic from oral arsenic-trioxide used to treat patients with hematological malignancies. Eur J Clin Pharmacol (2002) 58: 521–526

- Kurttio PPE, Kahelin H, Auvinen A, Pekkanen J. (1999) Arsenic concentrations in well water and risk of bladder and kidney cancer in Finland. Environ Health Perspect 107(9): 705-710.
- Kwok RK, Kaufmann RB, Jakariya M. (2006) Arsenic in drinking-water and reproductive health outcomes: a study of participants in the Bangladesh Integrated Nutrition Programme. J Health Popul Nutr 24(2): 190-205.
- Lamble J, Hill S. (1996) Arsenic speciation in biological samples by on-line high performance liquid chromatography-microwave digestion-hydride generation-atmoci absorption spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 334: 261-270.
- Landsberger S, Wu D. (1995) The impact of heavy metals from environmental tobacco smoke on indoor air quality as determined by Compton suppression neutron activation analysis. Sci Total Environ 173-174: 323-337.
- Lantz RC, Chau B, Sarihan P, Witten ML, Pivniouk VI, Chen GJ. (2009) In utero and postnatal exposure to arsenic alters pulmonary structure and function. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 235(1): 105-113.
- Lantzsch H, Gebel T. (1997) Genotoxicity of selected metal compounds in the SOS chromotest. Mutat Res 389: 191–197.
- Larsen EH, Pritzl G, Hansen SH. (1993) Arsenic speciation in seafood samples with emphasis on minor constituents: an investigation using high-performance liquid chromatography with detection by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. J Anal At Spectrom 8: 1075-1084.
- Larsen EH, Hansen M, Gossler W. (1998) Speciation and health risk considerations of arsenic in the edible mushroom Laccaria amethystina collected from contaminated and uncontaminated locations. Appl Organomet Chem 12(4): 285-291.
- Lee MY, Bae ON, Chung SM, Kang KT, Lee JY, Chung JH. (2002) Enhancement of platelet aggregation and thrombus formation by arsenic in drinking water: a contributing factor to cardiovascular disease. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 179(2): 83-88.
- Lee TC, Oshimura M, Barrett JC. (1985a) Comparison of arsenic-induced cell transformation, cytotoxicity, mutation and cytogenetic effects in Syrian hamster embryo cells in culture. Carcinogenesis 6(10): 1421-1426.
- Lee DC, Roberts JR, Kelly JJ, Fishman SM. (1995) Whole-bowel irrigation as an adjunct in the treatment of radiopaque arsenic. Am J Emerg Med 13(2): 244-245.
- Lerda E.(1994) Sister-chromatid exchange (SCE) among individuals chronically exposed to arsenic in dinking water. Mutation Research 312: 111-120
- Lerman S, Clarkson TW. (1983) The metabolism of arsenite and arsenate by the rat. Fundam Appl Toxicol 3(4): 309-314.
- Lewis AS, Reid KR, Pollock MC and Campleman SL.(2012) Speciated arsenic in air: Measurement methodology and risk assessment considerations, J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. **62**:2-17
- Lin SM, Yang ML. (1988) Arsenic, selenium and zinc inpatients with blackfoot disease. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 15: 213–221.

- Lin JK, Tseng SF. (1992) Chromosomal aberrations and sister-chromatid exchanges induced by N-nitroso-2-acetylaminofluorene and their modifications by arsenite and selenite in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Mutat. Res. 265: 203-210.
- Lindberg AL, Ekstrom EC, Nermell B, Rahman M, Lonnerdal B, Persson LA, Vahter M. (2008) Gender and age differences in the metabolism of inorganic arsenic in a highly exposed population in Bangladesh. Environ Res 106(1): 110-120.
- Lindberg AL, Goessler W, Grander M, Nermell B, Vahter M. (2007) Evaluation of the three most commonly used analytical methods for determination of inorganic arsenic and its metabolites in urine. Toxicol Lett 168(3): 310-318.
- Lindgren A, Danielsson BR, Dencker L, Vahter M. (1984) Embryotoxicity of arsenite and arsenate: distribution in pregnant mice and monkeys and effects on embryonic cells in vitro. Acta Pharmacol Toxicol (Copenh) 54(4): 311-320.
- Liu Yee-Chien, Huang Haimei. (1996) Lowering extracellular calcium content protects cells from arseniteinduced killing and micronuclei formation. Mutagenesis. 11(1): 75-78.
- Liu YC, Huang H. (1997) Involvement of calcium-dependent protein kinase C in arsenite-induced genotoxicity in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Cell Biochem 64(3): 423-433.
- Liu J, Liu Y, Goyer RA, Achanzar W, Waalkes MP. (2000) Metallothionein-I/II null mice are more sensitive than wild-type mice to the hepatotoxic and nephrotoxic effects of chronic oral or injected inorganic arsenicals. Toxicol Sci 55: 460-467.
- Liu F, Jan KY. (2000) DNA damage in arsenite and cadmium-treated bovine aortic endothelial cells. Free Radical Biology & Medicine. 28(1): 55-63.
- Liu J, Waalkes MP. (2008) Liver is a target of arsenic carcinogenesis. Toxicol Sci 105(1): 24-32.
- Lubin JH, Pottern LM, Stone BJ, Fraumeni JF Jr. (2000) Respiratory cancer in a cohort of copper smelter workers: results from more than 50 years of follow-up. Am J Epidemiol 151: 554–565.
- Lunde G. (1977) Occurrence and transformation of arsenic in the marine environment. Environ Health Perspect 19: 47-52.
- Lunde G. (1973) Separation and analysis of organic-bound and inorganic arsenic in marine organisms. J Sci Food Agric 24(9): 1021-1027.
- Luo JH, Qiu ZQ, Shu WQ, Zhang YY, Zhang L, Chen JA. (2009) Effects of arsenic exposure from drinking water on spatial memory, ultra-structures and NMDAR gene expression of hippocampus in rats. Toxicol Lett 184(2): 121-125.
- Lynn S, Lai HT, Gurr JR, Jan KY. (1997) Arsenite retards DNA break rejoining by inhibiting DNA ligation. Mutagenesis. 12(5): 353-358.
- Lynn S, Shiung JN, Gurr JR, Jan KY. (1998) Arsenite stimulates poly (ADP-ribosylation) by generation of nitric oxide. Free Radic Biol Med 24: 442-449.
- Ma M, Le XC. (1998) Effect of arsenosugar ingestion on urinary arsenic speciation. Clin Chem 44(3): 539-550.

- Mäki-Paakkanen J, Kurttio P, Paldy A, Pekkanen J. (1998) Association between the clastogenic effect in peripheral lymphocytes and human exposure to arsenic through drinking water. Environ Mol Mutag 32: 301–313.
- Makris KC, Quazi S, Punamiya P, Sarkar D, Datta R. (2008) Fate of arsenic in swine waste from concentrated animal feeding operations. J Environ Qual 37(4): 1626-1633.
- Mahata J, Basu A, Ghosal S, Sarkar JN, Roy AK, Poddar G, Nandy AK, Banerjee A, Ray K, Natarajan AT, Nilsson R, Giri AK. (2003) Chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in individuals exposed to arsenic through drinking water in West Bengel, India Mutat Res 534(1-2): 133-143.
- Mandal BK, Ogra Y, Suzuki KT. (2001) Identification of dimethylarsinous and monomethylarsonous acids in human urine of the arsenic-affected areas in West Bengal, India. Chem Res Toxicol 14(4): 371-378.
- Mappes R. (1977) Experiments on the excretion of arsenic in urine. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 40: 267–272.
- Marafante E, Bertolero F, Edel J, Pietra R. (1982) Sabbioni E. Intracellular interaction and biotransformation of arsenite in rats and rabbits. Sci Total Environ 24(1): 27-39.
- Marshall G, Ferreccio C, Yuan Y, Bates MN, Steinmaus C, Selvin S, Liaw J, Smith AH. (2007) Fiftyyear study of lung and bladder cancer mortality in Chile related to arsenic in drinking water. J Natl Cancer Inst 99: 920–928.
- Marsit CJ, Karagas MR, Danaee H, Liu M, Andrew A, Schned A, Nelson HH, Kelsey KT. (2006) Carcinogen exposure and gene promoter hypermethylation in bladder cancer. Carcinogenesis 27(1): 112-116.
- Martinez V, Creus A, Venegas W, Arroyo A, Beck JP, Gebel TW, Surralles J, Marcos R. (2005) Micronuclei assessment in buccal cells of people environmentally exposed to arsenic in northern Chile. Toxicol Lett 155: 319-327.
- Martinez EJ, Kolb BL, Bell A, Savage DD, Allan AM. (2008) Moderate perinatal arsenic exposure alters neuroendocrine markers associated with depression and increases depressive-like behaviors in adult mouse offspring. Neurotoxicology 29(4): 647-655.
- Mass MJ, Tennant A, Roop BC, Cullen WR, Styblo M, Thomas DJ, Kligerman AD. (2001) Methylated trivalent arsenic species are genotoxic. Chem Res Toxicol 14(4): 355-361.
- McCarty KM, Chen YC, Quamruzzaman Q, Rahman M, Mahiuddin G, Hsueh YM, Su L, Smith T, Ryan L, Christiani DC. (2007) Arsenic methylation, GSTT1, GSTM1, GSTP1 polymorphisms, and skin lesions. Environ Health Perspect 115(3): 341-345.
- Mealey J, Brownwll GL, Sweet WH. (1959) Radioarsenic in plasma, urine, normal tissues, and intracranial neoplasms. Arch Neurol Psychiatr 81: 310–320.
- Meliker JR, Slotnick MJ, AvRuskin GA, Schottenfeld D, Jacquez GM, Wilson ML, Goovaerts P, Franzblau A, Nriagu JO. (2010) Lifetime exposure to arsenic in drinking water and bladder cancer: a population-based case-control study in Michigan, USA. Cancer Causes Control 21: 745-757.
- Meng Z, Hsie AW. (1996) Polymerase chain reaction-based deletion analysis of spontaneous and arseniteenhanced gpt mutants in CHO-As52 cells. Mutat Res 356(2): 255-259.

- Milstein LS, Essader A, Murrell C, Pellizzari ED, Fernando RA, Raymer JH, Akinbo O. (2003) Sample preparation, extraction efficiency, and determination of six arsenic species present in food composites. J Agric Food Chem. 51: 4180-4184.
- Milton AH, Smith W, Rahman B, Hasan Z, Kulsum U, Dear K, Rakibuddin M, Ali A. (2005) Chronic arsenic exposure and adverse pregnancy outcomes in bangladesh. Epidemiology 16(1): 82-86.
- Mink PJ, Alexander DD, Barraj LM, Kelsh MA, Tsuji JS. (2008) Low-level arsenic exposure in drinking water and bladder cancer: a review and meta-analysis. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 52(3): 299-310.
- Mishra D, Flora SJ. (2008) Differential oxidative stress and DNA damage in rat brain regions and blood following chronic arsenic exposure. Toxicol Ind Health 24(4): 247-256.
- Motiwale L, Ingle AD, Rao KV. (2005) Mouse skin tumor promotion by sodium arsenate is associated with enhanced PCNA expression. Cancer Lett 223(1): 27-35.
- Mohri T, Hisanaga A, Ishinishi N. (1990) Arsenic intake and excretion by Japanese adults: a 7-day duplicate diet study. Food Chem Toxicol 28(7): 521-529.
- Moore LE, Smith AH, Hopenhayn-Rich C, Biggs ML, Kalman DA, Smith MT. (1997a) Micronuclei in exfoliate bladder cells among individuals chronically exposed to arsenic in drinking water. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 6: 31–36.
- Moore LE, Smith AH, Hopenhayn-Rich C, Biggs ML, Kalman DA, Smith MT. (1997b) Decrease in bladder cell micronucleus prevalence after intervention to lower the concentration of arsenic in drinking water. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 6: 1051-1056.
- Moore MM, Harrington-Brock K, Doerr CL. (1997c) Relative genotoxic potency of arsenic and its methylated metabolites. Mutat Res 386(3): 279-290.
- Morikawa T, Wanibuchi H, Morimura K, Ogawa M, FukushimAs(2000) Promotion of skin carcinogenesis by dimethylarsinic acid in keratin (K6)/ODC transgenic mice. Jpn J Cancer Res 91(6): 579-581.
- Morita M, Shibata Y. (1987) Speciation of arsenic compounds in marine life by high performance liquid chromatography combined with inductively coupled argon plasma atomic emission spectrometry. Anal Sci 3: 575-577.
- Morrison JL. (1969) Distribution of arsenic from poultry litter in broiler chickens, soil, and crops. J Agr Food Chem 17: 1288-1290.
- Mukai H, Ambe Y, Muku T, Takeshita K, Fukuma T. (1986) Seasonal variation of methylarsenic compounds in airborne participate matter. Nature 324: 239-241.
- Murai T, Iwata H, Otoshi T, Endo G, Horiguchi S, FukushimAs(1993) Renal lesions induced in F344/DuCrj rats by 4-weeks oral administration of dimethylarsinic acid. Toxicol Lett 66(1): 53-61.
- Mure K, Uddin AN, Lopez LC, Styblo M, Rossman TG. (2003) Arsenite induces delayed mutagenesis and transformation in human osteosarcoma cells at extremely low concentrations. Environ Mol Mutagen 41(5): 322-331.
- Nagymajtenyi L, Selypes A, Berencsi G. (1985) Chromosomal aberrations and fetotoxic effects of atmospheric arsenic exposure in mice. J Appl Toxicol 5(2): 61-63.
- Nakajima Y, Endo Y, Inoue Y, Yamanaka K, Kato K, Wanibuchi H, Endo G. (2006) Ingestion of Hijiki seaweed and risk of arsenic poisoning. Appl Organomet Chem 20: 557-564.

- Nakamura Y, Narukawa T, Yoshinaga J. (2008) Cancer risk to Japanese population from the consumption of inorganic arsenic in cooked hijiki. J Agric Food Chem 56(7): 2536-2540.
- Nakamuro K, Sayato Y. (1981) Comparative studies of chromosomal aberration induced by trivalent and pentavalent arsenic. Mutat Res 88: 73-80.
- Naranmandura H, Suzuki N, Iwata K, Hirano S, Suzuki KT. (2007) Arsenic metabolism and thioarsenicals in hamsters and rats. Chem Res Toxicol 20(4): 616-624.
- Narukawa T, Kuroiwa T, Inagaki K, Takatsu A, Chiba K. (2005) Decomposition of organoarsenic compounds for total arsenic determination in marine organisms by the hydride generation technique. Appl Organometal Chem 19: 239-245.
- Narukawa T, Kuroiwa T, Yarita T, Chiba K. (2006) Analytical sensitivity of arsenobetaine on atomic spectrometric analysis and the purity of the synthetic arsenobetaine. Appl Organometal Chem 20: 565-572.
- Narukawa T, Inagaki K, Kuroiwa T, Chiba K. (2008) The etraction and speciation of arsenic in rice flour by HPLC-ICP-MS. Talanta 77: 427-432.
- National Academy of Science (NAS). (1977) Late effect of exposure to arsenic. In: Arsenic. Committee on Medical and Biologic Effects of Environmental Pollutants, editors. Washington, DC: Division of medical sciences assembly of life sciences national research council; pp. 186-187.
- National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). (2004) PubChem Substance [Internet]. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pcsubstance
- National Institutes of Health (NIH). (1994) Hazardous Substances Data Bank (HSDB) [Internet]. Maryland: US Department of Health and Human Services. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://tox-net.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/htmlgen?HSDB
- Navas-Acien A, Sharrett AR, Silbergeld EK, Schwartz BS, Nachman KE, Burke TA, Guallar E. (2005) Arsenic exposure and cardiovascular disease: a systematic review of the epidemiologic evidence. Am J Epidemiol 162(11): 1037-1049.
- Navas-Acien A, Umans JG, Howard BV, Goessler W, Francesconi KA, Crainiceanu CM, Silbergeld EK, Guallar E. (2009) Urine arsenic concentrations and species excretion patterns in American Indian Communities over a 10-year period. The Strong Heart Study. Environ Health Perspect. Neff JM. (1997) Ecotoxicology of arsenic in the marine environment. Environ Toxicol Chem 16: 917-927.
- Nishikawa T, Wanibuchi H, Ogawa M, Kinoshita A, Morimura K, Hiroi T, Funae Y, Kishida H, Nakae D, Fukushima S. (2002) Promoting effects of monomethylarsonic acid, dimethylarsinic acid and trimethylarsine oxide on induction of rat liver preneoplastic glutathione S-transferase placental form positive foci: a possible reactive oxygen species mechanism. Int J Cancer 100(2): 136-139.
- Nishioka H. (1975) Mutagenic activities of metal compounds in bacteria. Mutat Res 31(3): 185-189.
- Noda Y, Suzuki T, Kohara A, Hasegawa A, Yotsuyanagi T, Hayashi M, Sofuni T, Yamanaka K, OkadAs(2002) In vivo genotoxicity evaluation of dimethylarsinic acid in Muta mouse. Mutat Res 513(1-2): 205-212.
- Nordenson I, Sweins A, Beckman L. (1981) Chromosome aberrations in cultured human lymphocytes exposed to trivalent and pentavalent arsenic. Scand J Work Environ Health 7: 277-281.

- Nriagu JO, Pacyna JM. (1988) Quantitative assessment of worldwide contamination of air, water and soils by trace metals. Nature 333(6169): 134-139.
- NTP (National Toxicology Programme). (1989) Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Roxarsone (CAS No. 121-19-7) in F344/N Rats and B6C3F1 Mice (Feed Studies), National Toxicology ProgrammeTech Rep Ser 345. pp. 198
- Oberly TJ, Hoffman WP, Garriott ML. (1996) An evaluation of the twofold rule for assessing a positive response in the L5178Y TK*/-mouse lymphoma assay. Mutat. Res. 369(3-4): 221-232.
- Ochi T, Suzuki T, Barrett JC, Tsutsui T. (2004) A trivalent dimethylarsenic compound, dimethylarsine iodide, induces cellular transformation, aneuploidy, centrosome abnormality and multipolar spindle formation in Syrian hamster embryo cells. Toxicology. 203: 155-163.
- Oguri T, Yoshinaga J, Tao H, Nakazato T. (2012) Daily intake of inorganic arsenic and some organic arsenic species of Japanese subjects, Food Chem. Toxicol., 50, 2663-2667
- Ochi T, Kita K, Suzuki T, Rumpler A, Goessler W, Francesconi KA. (2008) Cytotoxic, genotoxicand cellcycle disruptive effects of thio-dimethylarsinate in cultured human cells and the role of glutathione. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 228(1): 59-67.
- Odanaka Y, Matano O, and Goto S. (1980) Biomethylation of inorganic arsenic by the rat and some laboratory animals. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 24: 452–459.
- Oremland RS, Stolz JF. (2003) The ecology of arsenic. Science 300: 939-944.
- Ostrosky-Wegman P, Gonsebatt ME, Montero R, Vega L, Barba H, Espinosa J, Palao A, Cortinas C, García-Vargas G, Del Razo LM, Cebrián M. (1991) Lymphocyte proliferation kinetics and genotoxic findings in a pilot study on individuals chronically exposed to arsenic in Mexico. Mutat Res 250: 477–482.
- Oya-Ohta Y, Kaise T, Ochi T. (1996) Induction of chromosomal aberrations in cultured human fibroblasts by inorganic and organic arsenic compounds and the different roles of glutathione in such induction. Mutat Res 357(1-2): 123-129.
- Pacyna JM. (1987) Atmospheric emissions of arsenic, cadmium, lead and mercury from high temperature processes in power generation and industry. In: Hutchinson TC, Meema KM, editors. Lead, Mercury, Cadmium and Arsenic in Environment. New York: John Wiley & Sons; pp. 69-87.
- Poddar S, Mukherjee P, Talukder G, Sharma A. (2000) Dietary protection by iron against clastogenic effects of short-term exposure to arsenic in mice in vivo. Food Chem Toxicol 38(8): 735-737.
- Poma K, Degraeve N, Kirsch-Volders M, Susanne C. (1981) Cytogenetic analysis of bone marrow cells and spermatogonia of male mice after in vivo treatment with arsenic. Experientia 37(2): 129-130.
- Poma K, Degraeve N, Susanne C. (1987) Cytogenetic effects in mice after chronic exposure to arsenic followed by a single dose of ethylmethane sulfonate. Cytologia. 52: 445-449.
- Pomroy C, Charbonneau SM, McCullough RS, Tam GKH. (1980) Human retention studies with 74-As. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 53: 550–556.
- Rahman A, Vahter M, Ekstrom EC, Rahman M, Golam Mustafa AH, Wahed MA, Yunus M, Persson LA. (2007) Association of arsenic exposure during pregnancy with fetal loss and infant death: a cohort study in Bangladesh. Am J Epidemiol 165(12): 1389-1396.

- Rahman A, Vahter M, Smith AH, Nermell B, Yunus M, El Arifeen S, Persson LA, Ekström EC. (2009) Arsenic exposure during pregnancy and size at birth: a prospective cohort study in Bangladesh. Am J Epidemiol 169(3): 304-312.
- Rahman M, Vahter M, Sohel N, Yunus M, Wahed MA, Streatfield PK, Ekstrom EC, Persson LA. (2006a) Arsenic exposure and age and sex-specific risk for skin lesions: a population-based casereferent study in Bangladesh. Environ Health Perspect 114(12): 1847-1852.
- Ramírez P, Eastmond DA, Laclette JP, Ostrosky-Wegman P. (1997) Disruption of microtubule assembly and spindle formation as a mechanism for the induction of aneuploid cells by sodium arsenite and vanadium pentoxide. Mutat Res 386(3): 291-298.
- Raml R, Goessler W, Traar P, Ochi T, Francesconi KA. (2005) Novel thioarsenic metabolites in human urine after ingestion of an arsenosugar, 2',3'-dihydroxypropyl 5-deoxy-5-dimethylarsinoyl-beta-D-riboside. Chem Res Toxicol 18(9): 1444-1450.
- Raml R, Raber G, Rumpler A, Bauernhofer T, Goessler W, Francesconi KA. (2009) Individual variability in the human metabolism of an arsenic-containing carbohydrate, 2',3'-dihydroxypropyl 5-deoxy-5-dimethylarsinoyl-beta-D-riboside, a naturally occurring arsenical in seafood. Chem Res Toxicol 22(9): 1534-1540.
- Raml R, Rumpler A, Goessler W, Vahter M, Li L, Ochi T, Francesconi KA. (2007) Thio-dimethylarsinate is a common metabolite in urine samples from arsenic-exposed women in Bangladesh. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 222(3): 374-380.
- Rasmussen RE, Menzel DB. (1997) Variation in arsenic-induced sister chromatid exchange in human lymphocytes and lymphoblastoid cell lines. Mutat Res 386(3): 299-306.
- Registry of Toxic Effects of Chemical Substances (RTECS). (1998)
- Reichard JF, Schnekenburger M, Puga A. (2007) Long term low-dose arsenic exposure induces loss of DNA methylation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 352 (1), 188-192.
- Rice DA, Kennedy S, McMurray CH, Blanchflower WJ. (1985) Experimental 3-nitro-4-hydroxyphenylarsonic acid toxicosis in pigs. Res Vet Sci 39(1): 47-51.
- Ridley WP, Dizikes LJ, Wood JM. (1977) Biomethylation of toxic elements in the environment. Science 197(4301): 329-332.
- Rin K, Kawaguchi K, Yamanaka K, Tezuka M, Oku N, OkadAs(1995) DNA-strand breaks induced by dimethylarsinic acid, a metabolite of inorganic arsenics, are strongly enhanced by superoxide anion radicals. Biol Pharm Bull 18(1): 45-48.
- Rivara MI, Cebrian M, Corey G, Hernandez M, Romieu I. (1997) Cancer risk in an arsenic-contaminated area of Chile. Toxicol Ind Health 13(2-3): 321-338.
- Rodriguez VM, Carrizales L, Jimenez-Capdeville ME, Dufour L, Giordano M. (2001) The effects of sodium arsenite exposure on behavioral parameters in the rat. Brain Res Bull 55(2): 301-308.
- Rodriguez VM, Carrizales L, Mendoza MS, Fajardo OR, Giordano M. (2002) Effects of sodium arsenite exposure on development and behavior in the rat. Neurotoxicol Teratol 24(6): 743-750.
- Rodriguez VM, Jimenez-Capdeville ME, Giordano M. (2003) The effects of arsenic exposure on the nervous system. Toxicol Lett 145(1): 1-18.

- Rodríguez VM, Del Razo LM, Limón-Pacheco JH, Giordano M, Sánchez-Peña LC, Uribe-Querol E, Gutierrez-Ospina G, Gonsebatt ME. (2005) Glutathione reductase inhibition and methylated arsenic distribution in Cd1 mice brain and liver. Toxicol Sci 84(1): 157-166.
- Rose M, Lewis J, Langford N, Baxter M, Origgi S, Barber M, MacBain H, Thomas K. (2007) Arsenic in seaweed--forms, concentration and dietary exposure. Food Chem Toxicol 45(7): 1263-1267.
- Roseman E, Aring CD. (1941) Encephalopathy following neoarsphenamine therapy. N Engl J Med 224: 550-553.
- Rossman TG. (1981) Enhancement of UV-mutagenesis by low concentrations of arsenite in E. coli. Mutat Res 91(3): 207-211.
- Rossman TG, Stone D, Molina M, Troll W. (1980) Absence of arsenite mutagenicity in E coli and Chinese hamster cells. Environ Mutagen 2(3): 371-379.
- Rossman TG, Molina M, Meyer LW. (1984) The genetic toxicology of metal compounds: I. Induction of lambda prophage in E coli WP2s (lambda). Environ Mutagen 6(1): 59-69.
- Rossman TG, Uddin AN, Burns FJ, Bosland MC. (2001) Arsenite is a cocarcinogen with solar ultraviolet radiation for mouse skin: an animal model for arsenic carcinogenesis. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 176(1): 64-71.
- Rossman TG, Klein CB.(2011) Genetic and epigenetic effects of environmental arsenicals. Metallomics. 3(11): 1135-1141.
- Roy Choudhury A., Das T, Sharma A, Talukder G. (1996) Dietary garlic extract in modifying clastogenic effects of inorganic arsenic in mice: two-generation studies. Mutat Res 359: 165–170.
- Rupa DS, Schuler M, Eastmond DA. (1997) Detection of hyperdiploidy and breakage affecting the 1cen1q12 region of cultured interphase human lymphocytes treated with various genotoxic agents. Environ Mole Mutagen. 29(2): 161-167.
- Sabbioni E, M.Fischbach, G.Pozzi, R.Pietra, M.Gallorini, J.L.Piette. (1991) Cellular retention, toxicity and carcinogenic potential of seafood arsenic. I. Lack of cytotoxicity and transforming activity of arsenobe-taine in the BALB/3T3 cell line. Carcinogenesis. 12(7): 1287-1291.
- Sakurai T, Kaise T, Ochi T, Saitoh T, Matsubara C. (1997) Study of in vitro cytotoxicity of a water soluble organic arsenic compound, arsenosugar, in seaweed. Toxicology 122(3): 205-212.
- Saleha Banu B, Danadevi K, Jamil K, Ahuja YR, Visweswara Rao K, Ishaq M. (2001) In vivo genotoxic effect of arsenic trioxide in mice using comet assay. Toxicology 162(3): 171-177.
- Sandström AM and Wall SG. (1993) Cancer incidence among male salaried employees at a smeltery in northern Sweden. Acta Oncol. 32: 9-14.
- Sawada N, Iwasaki M, Inoue M, Takachi R, Sasazuki S, Yamaji T, Shimazu T, Tsugane S. (2013) Dietary arsenic intake and subsequent risk of cancer: the Japan Public Health Center-based (JPHC) Prospective Study.Cancer Causes Control 24:1403–1415
- Schaumloffel N, Gebel T. (1998) Heterogeneity of the DNA damage provoked by antimony and arsenic. Mutagenesis 13: 281-286.
- Schmeisser E, Goessler W, Kienzl N, Francesconi KA. (2005) Direct measurement of lipid-soluble arsenic species in biological samples with HPLC-ICPMS. Analyst 130: 948-955.

- Schmeisser E, Rumpler A, Kollroser M, Rechberger G, Goessler W, Francesconi KA. (2006) Arsenic fatty acids are human urinary metabolites of arsenolipids present in cod liver. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 45: 150-154.
- Schulz H, Nagymajtenyi L, Institoris L, Papp A, Siroki O. (2002) A study on behavioral, neurotoxicological, and immunotoxicological effects of subchronic arsenic treatment in rats. J Toxicol Environ Health A 65(16): 1181-1193.
- Schroeder WH, Dobson M, Kane DM, Johnson ND. (1987) Toxic trace elements associated with airborne particulate matter: a review. Japca 37(11): 1267-1285.
- Schuhmacher-Wolz U, Dieter HH, Klein D, Schneider K. (2009) Oral exposure to inorganic arsenic: evaluation of its carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic effects. Crit Rev Toxicol 39 (4): 271-298.
- Schwerdtle T, Walter I, Mackiw I, Hartwig A. (2003) Induction of oxidative DNA damage by arsenite and its trivalent and pentavalent methylated metabolites in cultured human cells and isolated DNA. Carcinogenesis 24(5): 967-974.
- Sciandrello G, Caradonna FM, Mauro M, Barbata G (2004). Arsenic-induced DNA hypomethylation affects chromosomal instability in mammalian cells. Carcinogenesis, 25: 413–417
- Seifert B, Becker K, Helm D, Krause C, Schulz C, Seiwert M. (2000) The German Environmental Survey 1990/1992 (GerES II): reference concentrations of selected environmental pollutants in blood, urine, hair, house dust, drinking water and indoor air. J Exp Anal Environ Epidemiol 10(6 Pt1): 552-565.
- Shen J, Wanibuchi H, Salim EI, Wei M, Doi K, Yoshida K, Endo G, Morimura K, Fukushima S. (2003a) Induction of glutathione S-transferase placental form positive foci in liver and epithelial hyperplasia in urinary bladder, but no tumor development in male Fischer 344 rats treated with monomethylarsonic acid for 104 weeks. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 193(3): 335-345.
- Shen J, Wanibuchi H, Salim EI, Wei M, Kinoshita A, Yoshida K, Endo G, FukushimAs(2003b) Liver tumorigenicity or trimethylarsine oxide in male Fischer 344 rats-association with oxidative DNA damage and enhanced cell proliferation. Carcinogenesis 24(11): 1827-1835.
- Shibata Y, Morita M. (1989) Exchange of comments on identification and quantitation of arsenic species in a dogfish muscle reference material for trace elements. Anal Chem 61: 2116-2118.
- Shibata Y, Morita M. (1992) Characterization of organic arsenic compounds in bivalves. Appl Organomet Chem 6: 343-349.
- Shibata Y, Sekiguchi M, Otsuki A, Morita M. (1996) Arsenic Compounds in Zoo- and Phyto-plankton of Marine Origin. Appl Organometal Chem 10(9): 713-719.
- Shinagawa A, Shiomi K, Yamanaka H, Kikuchi T. (1983) Selective determination of inorganic arsenic (III), (V) and organic arsenic in marine organisms. Nippon Suisan Gakkai Shi 49: 75-78.
- Shiomi K. (1994) Arsenic in marine organisms: chemical forms and toxicological aspects. In: Nriagu JO, editors. Arsenic in the Environment part II: Human Health and Ecosystem Effects. New York: John Wiley & Sons; pp. 261-282.
- Shum S, Whitehead J, Vaughn L, Shum S, Hale T. (1995) Chelation of organoarsenate with dimercaptosuccinic acid. Vet Hum Toxicol 37(3): 239-242.

- Singh I. (1983) Induction of reverse mutation and mitotic gene conversion by some metal compounds in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat. Res. 117: 149-152.
- Small HG Jr, McCants CB. (1962) Residual arsenic in soils and concentration in tobacco. Tobacco Sci 6: 34-36.
- Smith AH, Goycolea M, Haque R, Biggs ML. (1998) Marked increase in bladder and lung cancer mortality in a region of Northern Chile due to arsenic in drinking water. Am J Epidemiol 147(7): 660-669.
- Smith AH, Marshall G, Yuan Y, Ferreccio C, Liaw J, von Ehrenstein O, Steinmaus C, Bates MN, Selvin S. (2006) Increased mortality from lung cancer and bronchiectasis in young adults after exposure to arsenic in utero and in early childhood. Environ Health Perspect 114(8): 1293-1296.
- Soffritti M, Belpoggi F, Degli Esposti D, Lambertini L. (2006) Results of a long-term carcinogenicity bioassay on Sprague-Dawley rats exposed to sodium arsenite administered in drinking water. Ann NY Acad Sci 1076: 578–591.
- Steinmaus C, Yuan Y, Bates MN, Smith AH. (2003) Case-control study of bladder cancer and drinking water arsenic in the Western United States. Am J Epidemiol 158(12): 1193-1201.
- Steinmaus C, Yuan Y, Liaw J, Smith AH. (2009) Low-level population exposure to inorganic arsenic in the United States and diabetes mellitus. Epidemiology 20(6): 807-815.
- Stolz JF, Perera E, Kilonzo B, Kail B, Crable B, Fisher E, Ranganathan M, Wormer L, Basu P. (2007) Biotransformation of 3-nitro-4-hydroxybenzene arsonic acid (roxarsone) and release of inorganic arsenic by Clostridium species. Environ Sci Technol 41(3): 818-823.
- Storer RD, McKelvey TW, Kraynak AR, Elia MC, Barnum JE, Harmon LS, Nichols WW, DeLuca JG. (1996) Revalidation of the in vitro alkaline elution/rat hepatocyte assay for DNA damage: improved criteria for assessment of cytotoxicity and genotoxicity and results for 81 compounds. Mutat Res 368(2): 59-101.
- Suzuki KT, Mandal BK, Ogra Y. (2002) Speciation of arsenic in body fluids. Talanta 58: 111–119.
- Sweins A. (1983) Protective effect of selenium against arsenic-induced chromosomal damage in cultured human lymphocytes. Hereditas. 98: 249-252.
- Tam GKH, Charbonneau SM, Bryce F, Bryce F, Pomroy C, Sandi E. (1979b) Metabolism of inorganic arsenic (⁷⁴As) in humans following oral ingestion. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 50:319-322.
- Tanaka H, Tsukuma H, Oshima A. (2010) Long-term prospective study of 6104 survivors of arsenic poisoning during infancy due to contaminated milk powder in 1955. J Epidemiol 20(6): 439-445.
- Tezuka M, Hanioka K, Yamanaka K, OkadAs(1993) Gene damage induced in human alveolar type II (L-132) cells by exposure to dimethylarsinic acid. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 191(3): 1178-1183.
- O'Neil MJ, Heckelman PE, Koch C, Roman KJ. (2006) The Merck Index. 14th ed. Merck and Co.
- Thomas DJ, Li J, Waters SB, Xing W, Adair BM, Drobna Z, Devesa V, Styblo M. (2007) Arsenic (+3 oxidation state) methyltransferase and the methylation of arsenicals. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 232(1): 3-13.
- Thorne PS, Hillebrand J, Magreni C, Riley EJ, Karol MH. (1986) Experimental sensitization to subtilisin. I. Production of immediate- and late-onset pulmonary reactions. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 86(1): 112-123.

- Tian D, Ma H, Feng Z, Xia Y, Le XC, Ni Z, Allen J, Collins B, Schreinemachers D, Mumford JL. (2001) Analyses of micronuclei in exfoliated epithelial cells from individuals chronically exposed to arsenic via drinking water in inner Mongolia, China J Toxicol Environ Health A 64(6): 473-484.
- Tice RR, Yager JW, Andrews P, Crecelius E. (1997) Effect of hepatic methyl donor status on urinary excretion and DNA damage in B6C3F1 mice treated with sodium arsenite. Mutat Res 386: 315–334.
- Tinwell H, Stephens SC, Ashby J. (1991) Arsenite as the probable active species in the human carcinogenicity of arsenic: mouse micronucleus assays on Na and K arsenite, orpiment, and Fowler's solution. Environ Health Perspect 95: 205-210.
- Tokar EJ, Diwan BA, Ward JM, Delker DA, Waalkes MP. (2011) Carcinogenic effects of "whole life" exposure to inorganic arsenic in CD1 mice. Toxicol Sci 119: 73–83.
- Tokudome S and Kuratsune M. (1976) A cohort study on mortality from cancer and other causes among workers at a metal refinery. Int J Cancer 17: 310-317.
- Tsai SM, Wang TN, Ko YC. (1999) Mortality for certain diseases in areas with high levels of arsenic in drinking water. Arch Environ Health 54(3):186-193.
- Tseng CH. (2008) Cardiovascular disease in arsenic-exposed subjects living in the arseniasishyperendemic areas in Taiwan. Atherosclerosis 199(1): 12-18.
- Tseng CH, Chong CK, Chen CJ, Tai TY. (1996) Dose-response relationship between peripheral vascular disease and ingested inorganic arsenic among residents in blackfoot disease endemic villages in Taiwan. Atherosclerosis 120(1-2): 125-133.
- Tseng WP. (1977) Effects and dose--response relationships of skin cancer and blackfoot disease with arsenic. Environ Health Perspect 19: 109-119.
- Tseng WP, Chu HM, How SW, Fong JM, Lin CS, Yeh S. (1968) Prevalence of skin cancer in an endemic area of chronic arsenicism in Taiwan. J Natl Cancer Inst 40(3): 453-463.
- Tsuda T, Babazono A, Yamamoto E, Kurumatani N, Mino Y, Ogawa T, Kishi Y, Aoyama H. (1995) Ingested arsenic and internal cancer: a historical cohort study followed for 33 years. American Journal of Epidemiology 141 (3), 198-209.
- Tsuji JS, Van Kerkhove MD, Kaetzel RS, Scrafford CG, Mink PJ, Barraj LM, Crecelius EA, Goodman M. (2005) Evaluation of exposure to arsenic in residential soil. Environ Health Perspect 113(12): 1735-1740.
- Uneyama C, Toda M, Yamamoto M, Morikawa K. (2007) Arsenic in various foods: cumulative data. Food Addit Contam 24(5): 447-534.
- United States Department of Health and Human Services (1998)
- United States Environmental Protection Agency(U.S.EPA).(1998) Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS). Arsenic, inorganic (CASRN 7440-38-2) [Internet]. Washington, DC: Environmental Protection Agency; [cited 2009 Mar 23].Available from: http://www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0278.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency(U.S.EPA).(1996) Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS). Cacodylic acid (CASRN 75-60-5) [Internet]. Washington, DC: Environmental Protection Agency; [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/NCEA/iris/subst/0587.htm.

- US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency), (2005a) Issue Paper: Inorganic Arsenic Cancer Slope Factor, Final Draft. July 23, 2005 report of the EPA Intra-Agency Arsenic Cancer Slope Factor Workgroup.
- US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). (2005b) Office of Pesticide Programs. Science Issue Paper: Mode of Action for Cacodylic Acid (Dimethylarsinic Acid) and Recommendations for Dose Response Extrapolation. July 26, 2005, Health Effects D
- United States Environmental Protection Agency(U.S.EPA). (2006) Revised Reregistration Eligibility Decision for MSMA, DSMA, CAMA, and Cacodylic Acid [Internet]. Washington, DC: Environmental Protection Agency; [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/oppsrrd1/REDs/organic_arsenicals_red.pdf. (A1S0452
- United States Encironmental Protection Agency (U.S.EPA). (2007) Framework formetals risk assessment. EPA120R07001. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/osa/metalsframework/pdfs/metals-risk-assessment-final.pdf.
- United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA). (2011) Arsenic in apple juice analytical results, 2005-2011 toxic elements food and foodware program. Available from: http://www.fda.gov/Food/Food-borneIIlnessContaminants/Metals/ucm273328.htm
- United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA). (2012). Arsenic in pear juice analytical results, 2005-2011. Available from: http://www.fda.gov/Food/FoodborneIIInessContaminants/Met-als/ucm275452.htm
- Vahidnia A, Romijn F, van der Voet GB, de Wolff FA. (2008a) Arsenic-induced neurotoxicity in relation to toxicokinetics: effects on sciatic nerve proteins. Chem Biol Interact 176(2-3): 188-195.
- Vahidnia A, van der Voet GB, de Wolff FA. (2007a) Arsenic neurotoxicity-a review. Hum Exp Toxicol 26(10): 823-832.
- Vahidnia A, van der Straaten RJ, Romijn F, van Pelt J, van der Voet GB, de Wolff FA. (2007b) Arsenic metabolites affect expression of the neurofilament and tau genes: an in-vitro study into the mechanism of arsenic neurotoxicity. Toxicol In Vitro 21(6): 1104-1112.
- Vahidnia A, van der Straaten RJ, Romijn F, van Pelt J, van der Voet GB, de Wolff FA. (2008b) Mechanism of arsenic-induced neurotoxicity may be explained through cleavage of p35 to p25 by calpain. Toxicol In Vitro 22(3): 682-687.
- Vahter M. (1981) Biotransformation of trivalent and pentavalent inorganic arsenic in mice and rats. Environ Res 25(2): 286-293.
- Vahter M. (1994) What are the chemical forms of arsenic in urine, and what can they tell us about exposure? Clin Chem 40(5): 679-680.
- Vahter M. (1999) Methylation of inorganic arsenic in different mammalian species and population groups. Sci Prog 82: 69–88.
- Vahter M. (2000) Genetic polymorphism in the biotransformation of inorganic arsenic and its role in toxicity. Toxicol Lett 112-113: 209-217.
- Vahter M. (2002) Mechanisms of arsenic biotransformation. Toxicol 181-182: 211-217.

- Vahter M, Marafante E. (1983) Intracellular interaction and metabolic fate of arsenite and arsenate in mice and rabbits. Chem Biol Interact 47(1): 29-44.
- Vahter M, Marafante E, Dencker L. (1984) Tissue distribution and retention of 74As-dimethylarsinic acid in mice and rats. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 13: 259-264. (EFSA 2009, ATSDR 2007 より引用)
- Vahter M, Norin H. (1980) Metabolism of 74 Aelabeled trivalent and pentavalent inorganic arsenic in mice. EnWon. Res. 24: 446-457.
- Valenzuela OL, Borja-Aburto VH, Garcia-Vargas GG, Cruz-Gonzalez MB, Garcia-Montalvo EA, Calderon-Aranda ES, Del Razo LM. (2005) Urinary trivalent methylated arsenic species in a population chronically exposed to inorganic arsenic. Environ Health Perspect 113(3): 250-254.
- Vega L Gonsebatt ME, Ostrosky-Wegman P. (1995) Aneugenic effects of sodium arsenite on human lymphocytes in vitro: an individual susceptibility effect detected. Mutat Res 334: 365-373.
- Velez D, Ybanez N, Montoro R. (1995) Percentages of Total Arsenic Represented by Arsenobetaine Levels of Manufactured Seafood Products. J Agr Food Chem 43(5): 1289-1294.
- Velez D, Ybanez N, Montoro R. (1996) Monomethylarsonic and Dimethylarsinic Acid Contents in Seafood Products. J Agr Food Chem 44(3): 859-864.
- Vilanó M, Rubio R. (2001) Determination of arsenic in seafood by focused microwave digestion and hydride generation-atomic fluorescence detection. J AOAC Int 84(2): 551-555.
- von Ehrenstein OS, Guha Mazumder DN, Hira-Smith M, Ghosh N, Yuan Y, Windham G, Ghosh A, Haque R, Lahiri S, Kalman D, Das S, Smith AH. (2006) Pregnancy outcomes, infant mortality, and arsenic in drinking water in West Bengal, India. Am J Epidemiol 163(7): 662-669.
- von Ehrenstein OS, Poddar S, Yuan Y, Mazumder DG, Eskenazi B, Basu A, Hira-Smith M, Ghosh N, Lahiri S, Haque R, Ghosh A, Kalman D, Das S, Smith AH. (2007) Children's intellectual function in relation to arsenic exposure. Epidemiology 18(1): 44-51.
- Vuyyuri SB, Ishaq M, Kuppala D, Grover P, Ahuja YR. (2006) Evaluation of micronucleus frequencies and DNA damage in glass workers exposed to arsenic. Environ Mol Mutagen. 47(7): 562-570.
- Waalkes MP, Ward JM, Liu J, Diwan BA. (2003) Transplacental carcinogenicity of inorganic arsenic in the drinking water: induction of hepatic, ovarian, pulmonary, and adrenal tumors in mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 186(1): 7-17.
- Waalkes MP, Ward JM, Diwan BA. (2004a) Induction of tumors of the liver, lung, ovary and adrenal in adult mice after brief maternal gestational exposure to inorganic arsenic: promotional effects of postnatal phorbol ester exposure on hepatic and pulmonary, but not dermal cancers. Carcinogenesis 25(1): 133-141.
- Waalkes MP, Liu J, Chen H, Xie Y, Achanzar WE, Zhou Y, Cheng M, Diwan BA. (2004b) Estrogen signaling in livers of male mice with hepatocellular carcinoma induced by exposure to arsenic *in utero*. J Natl Cancer Inst 96(6): 466-474.
- Waalkes MP, Liu J, Ward JM, Diwan BA. (2006a) Enhanced urinary bladder and liver carcinogenesis in male CD1 mice exposed to transplacental inorganic arsenic and postnatal diethylstilbestrol or tamoxifen. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 215(3): 295-305.

- Waalkes MP, Liu J, Ward JM, Powell DA, Diwan BA. (2006b) Urogenital carcinogenesis in female CD1 mice induced by in utero arsenic exposure is exacerbated by postnatal diethylstilbestrol treatment. Cancer Res 66(3): 1337-1345.
- Wallinga D. (2006) Playing Chicken: Avoiding Arsenic in Your Meat. Minneapolis, MN: Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.iatp.org/iatp/publications.cfm?accountID=421&refID=80529
- Wan B, Christian RT, Soukup SW. (1982) Studies of cytogenetic effects of sodium arsenicals on mammalian cells in vitro. Environ Mutagen 4(4): 493-498.
- Wang TS, Huang H. (1994) Active oxygen species are involved in the induction of micronuclei by arsenite in XRS-5 cells. Mutagenesis 9(3): 253-257.
- Wang TS, Shu YF, Liu YC, Jan KY, Huang H. (1997) Glutathione peroxidase and catalase modulate the genotoxicity of arsenite. Toxicology 121: 229–237.
- Wang A, Holladay SD. (2006) Reproductive and developmental toxicity of arsenic in rodents: a review. Int J Toxicol 25(5): 319-331.
- Wang FM, Chen ZL, Zhang L, Gao YL, Sun YX. (2006) Arsenic uptake and accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.) at different growth stages following soil incorporation of roxarsone and arsanilic acid. Plant Soil 285: 359-367.
- Wang Y, Li S, Piao F, Hong Y, Lin P, Zhao Y. (2009a) Arsenic down-regulates the expression of Camk4, an important gene related to cerebellar LTD in mice. Neurotoxicol Teratol 31(5): 318-322.
- Wang TS, Chung CU, Wang ASS, Bau DT, Sammikkannu T, Jan KY, Cheng YM, Lee TC. (2002) Endonuclease III, formamidopyrimidine-DNA glycosylase, and proteinase K additively enhance arsenic-induced DNA strand breaks in human cells. Chem Res Toxicol 15(10): 1254-1258.
- Wang CT, Chang WT. (2001) Arterial tissue of arsenic, selenium and iron in blackfoot disease patients. Clin Chem Lab Med 39: 645–648.
- Wang SX, Wang ZH, Cheng XT, Li J, Sang ZP, Zhang XD, Han LL, Qiao XY, Wu ZM, Wang ZQ. (2007) Arsenic and fluoride exposure in drinking water: children's IQ and growth in Shanyin county, Shanxi province, China. Environ Health Perspect 115(4): 643-647.
- Wanibuchi H, Yamamoto S, Chen H, Yoshida K, Endo G, Hori T, Fukushima S. (1996) Promoting effects of dimethylarsinic acid on N-butyl-N-(4-hydroxybutyl)nitrosamine-induced urinary bladder carcinogenesis in rats. Carcinogenesis 17(11): 2435-2439.
- Warner ML, Moore LE, Smith MT, Kalman DA, Fanning E, Smith AH. (1994) Increased micronuclei in exfoliated bladder cells of individuals who chronically ingest arsenic-contaminated water in Nevada. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 3: 583-590.
- Wasserman GA, Liu X, Parvez F, Ahsan H, Factor-Litvak P, Kline J, van Geen A, Slavkovich V, Lolacono NJ, Levy D, Cheng Z, Graziano JH. (2007) Water arsenic exposure and intellectual function in 6-year-old children in Araihazar, Bangladesh. Environ Health Perspect 115(2): 285-289.
- Wasserman GA, Liu X, Parvez F, Ahsan H, Factor-Litvak P, van Geen A, Slavkivuch V, Lolacono NJ. Cheng Z, Hussain I, Momotaj H, Graziano JH. (2004) Water arsenic exposure and children's intellectual function in Araihazar, Bangladesh. Environ Health Perspect 112(13): 1329-1333.

- Wedepohl KH. (1991) The composition of the upper earth's crust and the natural cycles of selected metals.Metals in natural raw materials. Natural Resources. In: Merian E, ed. Metals and Their Compounds in the Environment: Occurrence, Analysis and Biological Relevance. Weinheim, VCH; pp. 3-17.
- Wei M, Wanibuchi H, Morimura K, Iwai S, Yoshida K, Endo G, Nakae D, Fukushima S. (2002) Carcinogenicity of dimethylarsinic acid in male F344 rats and genetic alterations in induced urinary bladder tumors. Carcinogenesis 23(8): 1387-1397.
- Wei M, Wanibuchi H, Yamamoto S, Li W, FukushimAs(1999) Urinary bladder carcinogenicity of dimethylarsinic acid in male F344 rats. Carcinogenesis 20(9): 1873-1876.
- Wolz S, Fenske RA, Simcox NJ, Palcisko G, Kissel JC. (2003) Residential arsenic and lead levels in an agricultural community with a history of lead arsenate use. Environ Res 93(3): 293-300.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2011) Food Additives Series 63. Safety evaluation of certain contaminants in food. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, IPCS International Programme on Chemical Safety.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (1996) Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 2nd Edition. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO. Volume 2 - Health criteria and other supporting information, Inorganic constituents and physical parameters, 13.4 Arsenic [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/gdwq2v1/en/index1.html
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2001) Environmental health criteria 224. Arsenic and Arsenic Compounds. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, IPCS International Programme on Chemical Safety. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/ehc224.htm
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2004) Guidelines for drinking-water quality. 3rd Edition. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO. Chapter 12, Chemical fact sheets, 12.8 Arsenic; p. 306 [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/gdwq3rev/en/index.html
- Wu MM, Kuo TL, Hwang YH, Chen CJ. (1989) Dose-response relation between arsenic concentration in well water and mortality from cancers and vascular diseases. Am J Epidemiol 130(6): 1123-1132.
- Xia Y, Wade TJ, Wu K, Li Y, Ning Z, Le XC, He X, Chen B, Feng Y, Mumford JL. (2009) Well water arsenic exposure, arsenic induced skin-lesions and self-reported morbidity in Inner Mongolia. Int J Environ Res Public Health 6(3): 1010-1025.
- Yadav RS, Sankhwar ML, Shukla RK, Chandra R, Pant AB, Islam F, Khanna VK. (2009) Attenuation of arsenic neurotoxicity by cucumin in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 240(3): 367-376.
- Yamamoto S, Konishi Y, Matsuda T, Murai T, Shibata MA, Matsui-Yuasa I, Otani S, Kuroda K, Endo G, Fukushima S. (1995) Cancer induction by an organic arsenic compound, dimethylarsinic acid (cacodylic acid), in F344/DuCrj rats after pretreatment with five carcinogens. Cancer Res 55(6): 1271-1276.
- Yamanaka K, Hasegawa A, Sawamura R, OkadAs(1989b) Dimethylated arsenics induce DNA strand breaks in lung via the production of active oxygen in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 165(1): 43-50.
- Yamanaka K, Tezuka M, Kato K, Hasegawa A, OkadAs(1993) Crosslink formation between DNA and nuclear proteins by in vivo and in vitro exposure of cells to dimethylarsinic acid. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 191(3): 1184-1191.

- Yamanaka K, H. Hayashi, K. Kato, A. Hasegawa, S. Okada. (1995) Involvement of preferential formation of apurinic/apyrimidinic sites in dimethylarsenic induced DNA strand breaks and DNA protein crosslinks in cultured alveolar epithelial cells. Biophys. Res. Commun. 207: 244-249.
- Yamanaka K, Hayashi H, Tachikawa M, Kato K, Hasegawa A, Oku N, OkadAs(1997) Metabolic methylation is a possible genotoxicity-enhancing process of inorganic arsenics. Mutat Res Genetic Toxicol Environ Mutagenesis 394(1-3): 95-101.
- Yamanaka K, Hoshino M, Okamoto M, Sawamura R, Hasegawa A, OkadAs(1990) Induction of DNA damage by dimethylarsine, a metabolite of inorganic arsenics, is for the major part likely due to its peroxyl radical. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 168(1): 58-64.
- Yamanaka K, Ohtsubo K, Hasegawa A, Hayashi H, Ohji H, Kanisawa M, Okada S. (1996) Exposure to dimethylarsinic acid, a main metabolite of inorganic arsenics, strongly promotes tumorigenesis initiated by 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide in the lungs of mice. Carcinogenesis 17(4): 767-770.
- Yamanaka K, OkadAs(1994) Induction of lung-specific DNA damage by metabolically methylated arsenics via the production of free radicals. Environ Health Perspect 102(Suppl3): 37-40.
- Yamauchi H, Takahashi K, Mashiko M, Saitoh J, Yamamura Y. (1992) Intake of different chemical species of dietary arsenic by the Japanese, and their blood and urinary arsenic levels. Appl Organomet Chem 6(4): 383-388.
- Yamauchi H, Yamamura Y. (1983) Concentration and chemical species of arsenic in human tissue. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 31: 267–277.
- Yamauchi H, Yamamura Y. (1984) Metabolism and excretion of orally ingested trimethylarsenic in man. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 32: 682–687.
- Yang JL, Chen MF, Wu CW, Lee TC. (1992) Posttreatment with sodium arsenite alters the mutational spectrum induced by ultraviolet light irradiation in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Environ Mol Mutagen 20(3): 156-164.
- Yang HT, Chou HJ, Han BC, Huang SY. (2007) Lifelong inorganic arsenic compounds consumption affected blood pressure in rats. Food Chem Toxicol 45(12): 2479-2487.
- Yih LH, Ho IC, Lee TC. (1997) Sodium arsenite disturbs mitosis and induces chromosome loss in human fibroblasts. Cancer Res. 57(22): 5051-5059.
- Yih LH, Lee TC. (1999) Effects of exposure protocols on induction of kinetochore-plus and-minus micronuclei by arsenite in diploid human fibroblasts. Mutat Res 440: 75-82.
- Yokohira M, Arnold LL, Pennington KL, Suzuki S, Kakiuchi-Kiyota S, Herbin-Davis K, Thomas DJ, Cohen SM. (2011) Effect of sodium arsenite dose administered in the drinking water on the urinary bladder epithelium of female arsenic (+3 oxidation state) methyltransferase knockout mice. Toxicol Sci 121(2): 257-266.
- Yoshida K, Kuroda K, Zhou X, Inoue Y, Date Y, Wanibuchi H, Fukushima S, Endo G. (2003)Urinary sulfur-containing metabolite produced by intestinal bacteria following oral administration of dimethylarsinic acid to rats. Chem Res Toxicol 16(9): 1124-1129.
- Zheng Y, Wu J, Ng JC, Wang G, Lian W. (2002) The absorption and excretion of fluoride and arsenic in humans. Toxicol Lett 133(1):77-82.

Zhou X, Sun H, Ellen TP, Chen HB, Costa M. (2008) Arsenite alters global histone H3 methylation. Carcinogenesis 29 (9), 1831-1836.

<References > The following references are in Japanese, but some abstracts are available in English.

- Ogawa R, Sano S, Sakakibara M. (2006) Arsenic content in seaweed and food product safety. Bull Facul Edu Ehime Univ 53(1):131-136.
- Oguri T, Yoshinaga J, Tao H, Nakazato T. (2011) Determination of inorganic arsenic in a certified reference material of total diet matrix. Bunseki Kagaku 60 (8): 653-658.
- Oguri T, Ishibashi Y, Yoshinaga J. (2013) Total and inorganic arsenic content of residential soil and house dust. J Environ Chem 23(1): 43-47.
- Kawabe Y, Komai T, Sakamoto Y. (2003) Exposure and Risk Estimation of Inorganic Arsenic in Japan. Shigen-to-Sozai 119 (8): 489-493.
- Ministry of the Environment Government of Japan (2008) Interim report on risk assessment of DPAA. [Internet]. 2008a [cited 2009 Mar 23].
 - Available from: http://www.env.go.jp/press/press.php?serial=9545.

http://www.env.go.jp/press/file_view.php?serial=11141&hou_id=9545.

- Shiomi K. (1992) Chemical Form, Toxicity and Metabolism of Arsenic Contained in Marine Organisms. Food Hygiene and Safety Science (Shokuhin Eiseigaku Zasshi) 33(1): 1-10.
- New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization (2008) Arsenic and its inorganic compounds. Chemical Substances Hazard Assessment Report / Initial Risk Assessment Report. [Internet]. [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from:
 - http://www.safe.nite.go.jp/risk/riskhykdl01.html.

http://www.safe.nite.go.jp/risk/files/pdf_hyoukasyo/252riskdoc.pdf.

- Tatsumi K, Nakanowatari T, Narita T, Nagara Y, Tachibana H. (2002) Dynamic State of Arsenic Compounds in the Toyohira River. J Jpn Soc Water Environ 25(5): 289-296.
- Chiba K, Takata A, Katagiri H, Yamauchi H. (2008) Toxicological considerations of arsenic exposure via drinking hot spring water. Jpn J Clin Ecol 17(1):47-53.
- The Cabinet Office Food Safety Commission of Japan. (2009) A basic survey report on safety assessment information on arsenic in foods. (By International Medical Information Center). in A Comprehensive Study for Ensuring Food Safety (FY 2009).
- The Cabinet Office Food Safety Commission of Japan. (2013) A report on analytical study of chemicals and contaminants using duplicated dietary samples. (By Japan Food Research Laboratories). in A Comprehensive Study for Ensuring Food Safety (FY 2013).
- Nakajima Y, Endo G, Inoue Y, Yukita K, Endo Y. (2006) Biological monitoring of workers treating chemical warfare agents. Jpn J Occup Med Traumatol (JJOMT) 54: 29-33.
- Nakahara T. (1997) Chemical speciation by hydride generation-atomic spectrometry (Review). Bunseki Kagaku 46 (7): 513-536.

- Hagihara Y, Hagihara K, Sakai A, Yamamura S, Hatayama M, Kamiya D, Fukushima Y. (2004) Social Environmental Research on Arsenic Contaminated Drinking Water in Bangladesh. Disaster Prevention Research Institute Annuals No. 47(B):15-30.
- Hanaoka K. (2004) Studies on arsenic circulation in marine ecosystems. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 72(6): 284-287.
- Fukui S, Hirayama T, Nohara M, Sakagami Y. (1981) Studies on the Chemical Forms of Arsenic in Some Sea Foods and in Urine after Ingestion of These Foods. Food Hyg Safety Sci (Shokuhin Eiseigaku Zasshi) 22 (6): 513-519.
- Morita T, Ishimitsu S, Morikawa K. (2005) Genotoxicity in risk assessment —Global perspectives—. Environ Mutagen Res 27: 47-56.
- Yamauchi H, Yamamura Y. (1979) Urinary inorganic arsenic and methylarsenic excretion following arsenate-rich seaweed ingestion. Jpn J Industrial Health 21:47-54.

<References > The following references are available only in Japanese:

Inoue N. (1987) 井上尚英, 森 晃爾, 藤代一也. 臨床医からみた産業中毒例(3) 砒素中毒. 産業医 学ジャーナル. 10(6):45-49.

Kagakudaijiten (1963) 化学大辞典編集委員会. 化学大辞典 4. 共立出版

- Ministry of the Environment Government of Japan. (2010) 環境省. ヒ素及びその化合物に係る健康 リスク評価について中央環境審議会大気環境部会 健康リスク総合専門委員会報告
- Ministry of the Environment Government of Japan. (2013) 環境省 (2013) 平成 23 年度土壌汚染対策 法の施行状況及び土壌汚染調査・対策事例等に関する調査結果 [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 May 30]. Available from: http://www.env.go.jp/water/report/h25-01/index.html
- Kitamura N. (1955) 北村直次, 粕山敏明. 森永ドライミルク M.F.による砒素中毒について(1)M.F. 印粉乳中の砒素含有量に就いて. 岡山県衛生研究所年報. 6:42-43.
- Kuroiwa T. (1999) 黒岩貴芳, 高津章子, 内海 昭. カツオの目組織を中心としたヒ素化学形態分 析. 第9回ヒ素シンポジウム講演要旨集 82-83.
- Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry and Ministry of the Environment (2005) 経済産業省,環境 省. (2005) 特定化学物質の環境への排出量の把握等及び管理の改善の促進に関する法律(化学 物質排出把握管理促進法)に基づく届出排出量及び移動量の対象化学物質別集計結果 〈排出年 度:平成 15 年度〉[Internet]. 2005 [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.meti.go.jp/policy/chemical_management/law/ptr/ h15kohyo/todokedegaisanshutudata.htm.

(http://www.meti.go.jp/policy/chemical_management/law/prtr/h15kohyo/1-1.pdf)

- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2003) 厚生労働省. 水質基準の見直しにおける検討概要 平成15 年4 月、厚生科学審議会、生活環境水道部会、水質管理専門委員会 the "Ministerial Ordinance Concerning Water Quality Standards" (Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare Ordinance No. 101, May 30, 2003)
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2009) 厚生労働省トータルダイエット調査. In:農林水産省. 食品安全に関するリスクプロファイルシート. 作成日(更新日):平成 21 年 3 月 6 日. the Total

Diet Survey 2009. [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.maff.go.jp/j/sy-ouan/seisaku/risk_analysis/ priority/pdf/chem_as.pdf

Suzuki (1993) 鈴木泰夫編. (1993) 食品の微量元素含量表, 第一出版東京.

Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation (2012) 石油天然ガス・金属鉱物資源機構. Virtual 金 属資源情報センター 鉱物資源マテリアルフロー [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2013 May]. Available from:

http://mric.jogmec.go.jp/public/report/2012-05/44.As_20120619.pdf.

- The Cabinet Office Food Safety Commission of Japan. (2009) 内閣府食品安全委員会. (2009) 平成 20 年度食品安全確保総合調査. 財団法人国際医学情報センター. 食品中に含まれるヒ素の食品 影響評価に関する調査報告書. A basic survey report on safety assessment information on arsenic in foods. (By International Medical Information Center). in A Comprehensive Study for Ensuring Food Safety (FY 2009)
- The Cabinet Office Food Safety Commission of Japan. (2013) 平成 24 年度食品安全確保総合調査. 日本食品分析センター.陰膳サンプルを用いた化学物質・汚染物質の分析調査報告書. A report on analytical study of chemicals and contaminants using duplicated dietary samples. (By Japan Food Research Laboratories). in A Comprehensive Study for Ensuring Food Safety (FY 2013)
- Iwanami rikagaku jiten (1998) 長倉三郎, 井口洋夫, 江沢 洋, 岩村 秀, 佐藤文隆, 久保亮五. 岩波 理化学辞典 第 5 版. 岩波書店
- Nishimura M. (1998) 西村雅吉. 物質の動き. 環境化学(改訂版). 裳華房; 72.
- Committee for Recommendation of Occupational Exposure Limits, Japan Society for Occupational Health (1997) 日本産業衛生学会許容濃度等に関する委員会.許容濃度等の勧告.産業衛生学 雑誌.39(4):129-149.
- Committee for Recommendation of Occupational Exposure Limits, Japan Society for Occupational Health (2000) 日本産業衛生学会許容濃度等に関する委員会.発がん物質の過剰発がん生涯リスクレベルに対応する評価暫定値の提案理由(ヒ素及びヒ素化合物).産業衛生学雑誌. 42:186-92.
- Japan Water Works Association (2010) 日本水道協会. 水道統計 平成 22 年度版. The survey results of Japan Water Works Association 2010.
- Meeting of specialized groups on Environmental geology, The Geological Society of Japan (1998)日本地 質学会環境地質研究委員会編. 砒素をめぐる環境問題: 自然地質・人工地質の有害性と無害 東海大学出版会; Tokai University Press.
- MAFF. (2006) 農林水産省. 国産農産物の鉛、ヒ素及び水銀の含有実態調査の中間とりまとめ結 果について[Internet].2006 [cited 2009 Mar 23]. Available from: http://www.maff.go.jp/j/press/arc/0603.html.
- MAFF (2012) 農林水産. (2012b) 有害化学物質含有実態調査結果データ集(平成 15~22) The survey on hazardous chemical substance. http://www.maff.go.jp/j/press/syouan/sei-saku/pdf/chem15-22r.pdf
- Hanaoka K. (2011) レアメタル便覧 In: レアメタルと生態系・健康、ヒ素 (As). 東京: 丸善: 588-595.

Hamamoto E. (1955) 濱本英次. 粉乳による乳児砒素中毒症. 日医新報. 1649:3-12.

National Research Council (1985) 米国学術研究会議編. (1985) 環境汚染物質の生体への影響 16. 久 永 明・石西 伸 訳. 東京化学同人:15.

Abstract, the Japanese Alsenic Society (2007) ヒ素シンポジウム講演要旨集. (2007):32-33.

Matsuo (1991) in Geochemistry. 松尾禎士監修. 地球化学. 講談社サイエンティフィク.

- Yamauchi (1980) 山内 博, 山村行夫. 食品中の3価ヒ素、5価ヒ素、メチルヒ素について. 日本公 衆衛生雑誌 Jpn J Public Health 27(12):647-653.
- Yamauchi (2002) 山内 博, 木下純子, 永井尚子, 島崎久美子, 笠松美恵. (2002) 尿中砒素濃度から みた重症度分類及び砒素曝露と DNA 損傷評価に関する研究. 和歌山における毒物混入事件に 関する臨床報告:32-49.